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Two decades have gone by since the Meeting
of 81 communist and workers’ parties of the
world, which has gone down in history as one of
the most important events in the struggle which
is being waged between Marxism-Leninism and
opportunism. At this Meeting our Party opened
fire on the revisionist group of Khrushchev which
was ruling in the Soviet Union and struggling in
every way to subjugate the entire international
communist movement, all the communist and
workers’ parties of the world, and set them on its
road of betrayal.

Our open and principled attack on Khrush-
chevite modern revisionism at the Meeting in
November 1960 was not a surprise move. On the
contrary, it was the logical continuation of the
Marxist-Leninist stand which the Party of Labour
of Albania had always maintained, was the transi-
tion to a new, higher stage of the struggle which
our Party had long been waging for the defence
and consistent application of Marxism-Leninism.

From the time the Khrushchevites took power
to the moment when we came out in open con-
frontation with them, the relations of the Party of
Labour of Albania with the Communist Party of
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the Soviet Union passed through a complicated
process, with zig zags, with periods of exacerbation
and periods of temporary normalization. This was
the process of each getting to know the other
through encounters in the course of the struggle
and the continual clash of views. After the Khrush-
chevite revisionist putschists came to power, our
Party, basing itself on the events that were taking
place there, on certain stands and actions, which
were ill-defined at first, but which, step by step,
were becoming more concrete, began to sense the
great danger of this clique of renegades, which hid
behind a deafening pseudo-Marxist demagogy, and
to understand that this clique was becoming a great
threat both to the cause of the revolution and
socialism as a whole, and to our country.

We became more and more aware that the
views and stands of Nikita Khrushchev on im-
portant questions of the international communist
movement and the socialist camp differed from
our views and stands. The 20th Congress of the
CPSU, in particular, was the event which made
us adopt a stand of opposition to Khrushchev and
the Khrushchevites. As Marxist-Leninists and in a
Marxist-Leninist way, time after time we had
pointed out to the Soviet leaders our reservations
and objections to their conciliatory stands towards
the Yugoslav revisionists, about many aspects of
their unprincipled foreign policy, about many of
their wrong and completely un-Marxist stands and

4

actions on major international problems, etc. Al-
though they sometimes feigned a retreat, they
continued on their course, while we refused to
swallow what they served up to us, but on the
contrary, defended our views and implemented
our internal and external policy.

With the passage of time this brought about
that we became better acquainted with each
other’s positions, and neither side trusted the
other. For our part, we continued to preserve our
friendship with the Soviet Union,with its peoples,
continued to build socialism according to the
teachings of Lenin and Stalin, continued as be-
fore to defend the great Stalin and his work and to
fight unwaveringly against Yugoslav revision-
ism. OQur existing doubts about the Soviet revision-~
ists increased and deepened from day to day, be-
cause day by day Khrushchev and company were
acting in opposition to Marxism-Leninism.

Khrushchev was aware of our reservations
about the 20th Congress, and about the policy
which he followed with the Titoites, imperialism,
etc., but his tactic was not to hasten to exacerbate
the situation with us Albanians. He hoped to profit
from the friendship which we displayed for the
Soviet Union to take the Albanian fortress from
within and to get us into the bag through smiles
and threats, through giving us some reduced cre-
dits, as well as through pressure and blockades.
Khrushchev and the Khrushchevites thought: «We
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know the Albanians. However stubborn they are,
however hot-tempered they are, they have no-
where else to turn to, because we have them
pinned up and, if they prove difficult, if they don’t
obey us, then we will show our teeth, we’ll cut
them off and boycott them, and overthrow all
those who oppose us.»

The Khrushchev group prepared this course
of action, promoted and deepened it, thinking that
it would achieve its aim «quietly and gently» and
«without any fuss-~. However, the reality was
convincing them that this tactic was yielding no
fruit, and thus their impatience and arrogance
began to emerge. The situation became tense. Then
it was «eased» only to grow tense again. We un-
derstood where this course would lead Khrushchev
and company, therefore we strengthened our vigil-
ance, and while replying to manifestations of their
despotism, we tried to prolong the «peace» while
safeguarding our principles.

But the moment came when the cup was full
to overflowing. The «peace», which had seemed to
exist before, could continue no longer. Khrush-
chev went openly on to the attack to subjugate and
force us to follow his utterly opportunist line.
Then we told Khrushchev bluntly and loudly
«Nol», we said «Stop!» to his treacherous activity-
This marked the beginning of a long and vei'y
difficult struggle in which our Party, to its glory
and the glory of the people who gave birth to it

6

and raised it, consistently defended the interests
of its socialist Homeland, persistently defended
Marxism-Leninism and the genuine international
communist movement.

At that time many people did not understand
the stand of the Party of Labour of Albania; there
were even well-wishers of our Party and country
who considered this action hasty, some had not
yet completely understood the Khrushchevites’
betrayal, some others thought that we broke away
from the Soviet Union to link up with China, etc.
Today, not only the friends, but also the enemies
of socialist Albania have understood the principled
character of the uninterrupted struggle which our
Party has waged and is waging against opportun-
ists of every hue.

Time has fully confirmed how right the Party
of Labour of Albania was to fight the Khrush-
chevites and refuse to follow their line. To this
fight, which demanded and still demands great
sacrifices, our small Homeland owes the freedom
and independence it prizes so highly and its suc-
cessful development on the road of socialism. Only
thanks to the Marxist-Leninist line of our Party
did Albania not become and never will become
a protectorate of the Russians or anyone else.

Since 1961 our Party of Labour hasnot had
any link or contact with the Khrushchevites. In
the future, too, it will never establish party rela-
tions with them, and we do not have and will never
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have even state relations with the Soviet social-
imperialists. As up to now, our Party will con-
sistently wage the ideological and political struggle
for the exposure of these enemies of Marxism-
Leninism. We acted in this way both when
Khrushchev was in power and when he was
brought down and replaced by the Brezhnev
clique. Our Party had no illusions, but on the
contrary, was quite certain that Brczhnev Kosy-
gin, Suslov, Mikoyan, etc., who had been Kht'ush—
chev’s closest collaborators, who had jointly or-
ganized and put into practice the revisionist coun-
ter-revolution in the Soviet Union, Would persist
in their former line.*

They eliminated Khrushchev! Wlth the aim
of protecting Khrushchevism from the discredit
which the master himself was bringing upon it
with his endless buffoonery, eliminated the
«father» with the aim of implementing the com-
plete restoration of capitalism in the Soviet
Union with greater intensity and effectiveness.

In this direction Brezhnev and company have
proved to be «worthy pupils» of their ill-famed
teacher. Within the Soviet Union they established

* See article With the Downfall of N, Khrushchev Khrush-
chevite Revisionism Has not been Eliminated, Enver Hoxha
Selected Works, vol. 3, the «8 Néntori» Publishing House, Ti-
rana 1980, Eng. ed., pp. 657-665.

1 Khrushchev was relieved of his functions on October
14, 1964,

and strengthened the dictatorial fascist regime,
while they turned the foreign policy of their state
into a policy of great-state chauvinism, expansion
and hegemonism. Under the leadership of the
Brezhnev Khrushchevites, the Soviet Union has
been turned into an imperialist world power and,
like the United States of America, aims to rule

the world. Among the bitter evidence of the utterly

reactionary policy of Soviet social-imperialism
are the tragic events in Czechoslovakia,! the
strengthening of the domination of the Kremlin
over the countries of the Warsaw Treaty, the
deepening of their all-round dependence on Mos-
cow and the extension of the tentacles of Soviet
social-imperialism to Asia, Africa and elsewhere,

The correct assessments and forecasts of our
Party about the reactionary internal and foreign
policy of Brezhnev have been and are bemg con-
stantly confirmed. The most recent example is Af-
ghanlstan where the Brezhnev Khrushchevites
undertook an open fascist aggression’ and now
are trying to quell the flames of the people’s war
with fire and steel in order to prolong their so-
cialimperialist occupation.

The fact that our small Homeland and people
have not suffered the tragic fate of all those who

1 In August 1968 the armies of the Soviet revisionists and
their satellites occupied Czechoslovakia.
2 In the end of December 1979.
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are now languishing under imperialist or social-
imperialist slavery is the best testimony to the
correctness of the consistent, courageous and prin-
cipled line which our Party of Labour has always
followed.

The merit for this correct course belongs to
the whole Party and, in particular, to its leader-
ship, the Central Committee, which, imbued With
and loyal to the teachings of Marxism-Leninism,
our guiding theory, has always led the Par_ty and
the people correctly. In the great tests which we
have had to withstand, the unity of the Party with
its leadership and the unity of the people around
the Party have been brilliant and have become
further tempered. This steel unity gave the
Party support and strength in the difficult blllt
glorious struggle against the Khrushchevite revi-
sionists, too. This unity has been and is the
foundation of the stability and confidence with
which Albania has marched and is marching for-
ward, withstanding the pressure and blackmail,
the blandishments and demagogy of enemies of all
hues.

As a communist and leader of the Party, I,
too, have had to take part actively and make my
contribution to all this heroic struggle of our
Party. Charged by the Party and its leadership,
since the liberation of Albania, and especially
during the years 1950-1960, I have headed delega-
tions of the Party and the state many times in
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official meetings with the Soviet leaders and with
the main leaders of other communist and workers’
parties. Likewise, many times we have exchanged
reciprocal visits, I have taken part in consulta-
tions and international meetings of communist
parties at which I have expressed and defended
the correct line, decisions and instructions of the
Party. In all these meetings and visits I have be-
come closely acquainted with glorious, unforget-
table leaders, like Stalin, Dimitrov, Gottwald, Bie-
rut, Pieck and others, and likewise, I have had
to enter into contact with and know the Khrush-
chevite traitors, who, through a long and com-
plicated process, gradually usurped power in the
Soviet Union and in the former countries of peo-
ple’s democracy respectively.

The relations with them and the stands main-
tained by our Party during this period have been
reflected in the documents of the Party, in my
writings which are being published by decision
of the Central Committee, as well as in other
documents which are found in the Central Ar-
chives of the Party, Now I am handing over these
notes for publication as my reminiscences and
Impressions from the many contacts and clashes
with the Khrushchevites, which cover the period
trom 1953, after the death of Stalin, to the end of
1961, when the Khrushchev group broke off diplo-
matic relations with the People’s Republic of
Albania. Taken together with other published
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materials and documents covering that period,
these notes, too, I believe, will serve to acquaint
the communists and working masses better, both
with the counter-revolutionary activity of the Sov-
1et revisionists inside and outside the Soviet Union,
and with the always correct and consistent struggle
of our Party in defence of Marxism-Leninism, the
people and our socialist Homeland.

1980

1. IN-FIGHTING AMONG THE TOP
SOVIET LEADERS

Stalin dies. Next day the top Soviet leader-
ship divides up the portfolios. Khrushchev
climbs the steps to power. Disillusionment from
the first mecting with the «news Soviet leaders
in June 1953. Ill-intentioned criticism from
Mikoyan and Bulganin. The end of Beria’s
short-lived reign. The meeting with Khrushchev
in June 1954: «You helped in the exposure of
Beria.» Khrushchev’s «theoretical> lecture on
the roles of the first secretary of the party and
the prime minister. The revisionist mafia spins
its spider’s web inside and outside the Soviet
Union,

The way in which the death of Stalin was
announced and his funeral ceremony was organ-
ized created the impression amongst us, the Alban-
lan communists and people, and others like us,
that many members of the Presidium of the Cen-
tral Committee of the Communist Party of the
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Soviet Union had been awaiting his death im-
patiently.

One day after Stalin’s death on March 6, 1953,
the Central Committee of the party, the Council of
Ministers and the Presidium of the Supreme Soviet
of the USSR were summoned to an urgent joint
meeting. On occasions of great losses, such as the
death of Stalin, urgent meetings are necessary and
indispensable. However, the many important
changes which were announced in the press one
day later, showed that this urgent meeting had
been held for no other reason but... the sharing
out of posts! Stalin had only just died, his body
had not yet been placed in the hall where the final
homage was to be paid, the program for the organ-
ization of paying homage and the funeral cerem-
ony was still not worked out, the Soviet commun-
ists and the Soviet people were weeping over
their great loss, while the top Soviet leadership
found the time to share out the portfolios! Malen-
kov became premier, Beria became first deputy-
premier and minister of internal affairs, and Bul-
ganin, Kaganovich, Mikoyan, Molotov shared the
other posts. Major changes were made in all the
top organs in the party and the state within that
day. The Presidium and the Bureau of the Presi-
dium of the Central Committee of the party were
merged into a single organ, new secretaries of the
Central Committee of the party were elected, a
number of ministries were amalgamated or united,
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changes were made in the Presidium of the Su-
preme Soviet, etc.

These actions could not fail to make pro-
found and by no means favourable impressions on
us. Disturbing questions arose automatically: how
were all these major changes made so suddenly
within one day, and not just any ordinary day, but
on the first day of mourning?! Logic compels us
to believe that everything had been prepared in
advance. The lists of these changes had been work-
ed out long before in suspicious secrecy and they
were simply waiting for the occasion to proclaim
them in order to satisfy this one and that one...

It is never possible to take such extremely
important decisions within a few hours, evenona
completely normal day.

However, if at the start these were only
doubts which shocked and surprised us, later de-
velopments, the occurrences and the facts which
we were to learn about subsequently, made us
even more convinced that hidden hands had pre-
pared the plot long before and waited the op-
portunity to commence the course of the destruc-
tion of the Bolshevik Party and socialism in the
Soviet Union.

The lack of unity in the Presidium of the
Central Committee was made quite obvious at
Stalin’s funeral, too, when there was strife among
the members over who would take pride of place
and who would speak first. Instead of displaying
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unity at a time of misfortune before the peoples
of the Soviet Union and all the communists of the
world, who were deeply shocked and immense-
ly grieved by the sudden death of Stalin, the
<comrades» were competing for the limelight.
Khrushchev opened the funeral ceremony, and
Malenkov, Beria and Molotov spoke before Lenin
Mausoleum. The conspirators behaved hyprocri-
tically over Stalin’s coffin and rushed to get
the funeral ceremony over as quickly as possible
in order to shut themselves up in the Kremlin
again to continue the process of the division and
redivision of the posts.

We, and many like us, thought that Molotov,
Stalin’s closest collaborator, the oldest and the
most mature bolshevik, with the greatest ex-
perience and best known inside and outside the
Soviet Union, would be elected first secretary of
the Central Committee of the Communist Party
of the Soviet Union. But it did not turn out so.
Malenkov was placed at the head, with Beria in
second place. Behind them in those days, a little
more in the shade, stood a «panther» which was
preparing itself to gobble up and liquidate the for-
mer two. This was Nikita Khrushchev.

The way in which he rose was truly astonish-
ing and suspect: he was appointed only as chair-
man of the central commission fo organize the
funeral ceremony for Stalin, and on March 7,
when the division of posts was made public, he had
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not been appointed to any new post, but had
simply been freed from the task of first secretary
of the Party Committee of Moscow, since «he was
to concentrate on the work in the Central Com-
mittee of the party». Only a few days later, on
March 14, 1953, Malenkov, «at his own request-,
was relieved of the post of secretary of the Central
Committee of the party(!) and Nikita Khrushchev
was listed first in the composition of the new Sec-
retariat elected that same day.

Such actions did not please us at all, although
they were not our responsibility. We were disil-
lusioned in our opinions about the stability of the
top Soviet leadership, but we explained this with
our being totally uninformed about the situation
developing in the party and the leadership of the
Soviet Union. In the contacts which I had had with
Stalin himself, with Malenkov, Molotov, Khrush-
chev, Beria, Mikoyan, Suslov, V l’;‘}“c>z=;}1il()*»e"= Kagano-
vich, and other main leaders, I had not seen even
the smallest division or discord amongst them.

Stalin had fought consistently for and was
one of the decisive factors of the Marxist-Lenin-
1§t unity of the Communist Party of the Soviet
Union. This unity in the party for which Stalin
worked, was not created by means of terror, as
Khrushchev and the Khrushchevites claimed lajter,
continuing the slanders of the imperialists and the
world capitalist bourgeoisie, who were striving to
destroy and cverthrow the dictatorship of the pro-
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letariat in the Soviet Union, but was based on the
triumphs of socialism, on the Marxist-Leninist line
and ideology of the Bolshevik Party and on the
indisputably great personality of Stalin. The trust
which all had in Stalin was based on his justice
and the ability with which he defended the Soviet
Union and Leninism. Stalin waged the class
struggle correctly, dealing merciless blows at the
enemies of socialism (and he was quite right to do
s0). The concrete daily struggle of Stalin, the
Bolshevik Party and the whole Soviet people
proves this squarely, as do the political and ideo-
logical writings of Stalin, the documents and de-
cisions of the Communist Party of the Soviet
Union, and also the press and the mass propaganda
of those times against the Trotskyites, Bukharin-
ites, Zinovievites, the Tukhachevskies, and all
other traitors. This was a stern political and ideo-
logical class struggle to defend socialism, the
dictatorship of the proletariat, the party and the
principles of Marxism-Leninism. For this Stalin
has great merits.

Stalin proved himself to be an outstanding
Marxist-Leninist with clear principles, with great
courage and cool-headedness, and the maturity and
foresight of a Marxist revolutionary. If we just
reflect on the strength of the external and internal
enemies in the Soviet Union, on the manoeuvres
and unrestrained propaganda they indulged in, on
the fiendish tactics they used, then we can properly
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appreciate the principles and correct actions of
Stalin at the head of the Communist Party of the
Soviet Union. If there were some excesses in the
course of this just and titanic struggle, it was not
Stalin who committed them, but T
E}ema and company, who for sinister hidden mo—’
tives, showed themselves the most zealous for pur-
ges at the time when they were not yet so power-
ful. They acted in this way to gain credit as «ardent
defendcrg» of the dictatorship of the proletariat
as «m_ermless with the enemiess, with the aim of,
climbing the steps in order to usurp power later
The‘facts show that when Stalin discovered thé
hostile activity of a Yagoda or a Yezhov, the
rfa-vo_lutmnary court condemned them Withotft he-
sﬂa‘gon. Such elements as Khruchchev, Mikoyan
Bem.a and their apparatchiki hid the truth fron';
Stahp. In one way or another, they misled and
deceived Stalin. He did not trust them, therefore
he had told them to their faces, «..when I am
gone you will sell the Soviet Union.» Khrushchev
hlmself_ admitted this. And it turned out just
as Stalin foresaw. As long as he was alive, e{?en
these enemies talked about unity, but after his
de{ith they encouraged the split. This process was
bel_n% steadily extended. i

_ rom the visits which I made fr i /
t;me to the Soviet Union after 1953, flfin:a:}rlf:llﬁt;?
tmr_m over the problems of the polifical and Lecon—
omic situation, or over some problems.of interna-
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tional policy which were raised by the Soviets, who
allegedly sought our opinion, t00. I saw more and
more clearly the sharpening of contradictions
among the members of the Presidium of the Cen-
tral Committee of the Communist Party of the

Soviet Union.

A few months after Stalin’s death, in June
1953, I went to Moscow at the head of a party
and government delegation to scek an economic
and military credit.

It was the time when Malenkov seemed to

be the main leader. He was chairman of the
Council of Ministers of the Soviet Union. Although
Khrushchev had been listed first among the sec-
retaries of the Central Committee of the party
since March 1953, apparently he had not yet seized
power completely, had still not prepared the
putsch.
We normally made our requests in advance
in writing, thus the members of the Presidium of
the Central Committee of the party and govern-
ment of the Soviet Union had long been aware of
them and, indeed asit turned out, they had decided
what they would give us and what they would
not give us. They received us at the Kremlin.
When we entered the room the Soviet leaders
stood up and we shook hands with them. We ex-
changed the normal greetings.

I had met them all in the time of Stalin.
Malenkov looked just the same a heavy-built
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man with a pale, hairless face. I had met him years
before in Moscow, during meetings I had with
Stalin, and he had made a good impression on me.
He worshipped Stalin and it seemed to me that
Stalin valued him, too. At the 18th Congress Ma-
lenkov delivered the report on behalf of the Cen-
tral Committee of the party. He was one of the
relatively new cadres who came into the leader-
ship and who were liguidated later by the dis-~
guised revisionist Khrushchev and his associates.
But now he was at the head of the table, holding
the post of chairman of the Council of Ministers
of the USSR. Beside him stood Beria, with his
eyes glittering behind glasses and his hands never
still. After him came Molotov, quiet, good-looking,
one of the most serious and most honoured com-
rades for us, because he was an old bolshevik from
the time of Lenin and a close comrade of Stalin’s.
We still thought of Molotov in this way even after
Stalin’s death.

Next to Molotov was Mikoyan, his dark face
scowling. This merchant was holding one of those
thick pencils, half red half blue (something you
could see in all the offices of the Soviet Union),
and was keeping the «score». Now he had taken
even greater authority into his hands. On March
6, the day the posts were shared out, it was decided
that the Ministry of Foreign Trade and that of
Internal Trade should be combined in one, and the
?rmenian wheeler-dealer grabbed the port-
olio.
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Finally there was the bearded Marshal Bulga-
nin, with white hair and pale blue eyes, sitting a
little bit bemused at a corner of the table.

«Let us hear what you have to say!» said Ma-
lenkov in a very grave tone. This was not at all a
comradely beginning. This was to become the cus-
tom in talks with the new Soviet leaders, and no
doubt this behaviour was supposed to show the
pride of the great state. «Well, say what you have
to say to us, we shall listen to you and pronounce
our final opinion.»

I did not know Russian well, I could not speak
it, but I could understand it. The talk was con-
ducted through an interpreter.

I began to speak about the problems that were
worrying us, especially about military questions
and the problems of the economy. First, I gave an
introduction about the internal and external pol-
itical situation of our country, which was causing
us some concern. It was essential to give solid rea-
sons for our needs, to back up our requests in
both the economicand military sectors. In connec-
tion with the latter, the aid which they provided
for our army was always insufficient and mini-
mal, regardless of the fact that in public we always
spoke very highly of the value of that small amount
of aid which they granted us. Together with the
arguments in support of our modest requests, I
also portrayed thesituation of our country in con-
nection with our Yugoslav, Greek and Italian
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neighbours. From all around our country the
enemies were carrying out intensive hostile work
of diversion, espionage and sabotage from the sea,
the air and the land. We were having continual
clashes with armed bands of enemy agents and
needed aid in military materials.

My concern was to make my expose as con-
crete and concise as possible. I tried not to go on
at too great a length and I had been speaking for
no more than twenty minutes, when I heard Beria,
with his snake’s eyes, say to Malenkov, who was
sitting listening to me as expressionless as a
mummy:

«Can’t we say what we have to say and put
an end to this?»

Without changing his expression, without
shifting his eyes from me (of course, he had to
maintain his authority in front of his deputies!),
Malenkov said to Beria:

«Wait!~ ?

I was so annoyed I was ready to explode in-
ternally, but I preserved my aplomb and, in order
to let them understand that I had heard and un-
derstood what they said, I cut down my talk and
said to Malenkov:

«I have finished.»

«Pravilno!»* said Malenkov and gave Miko-
yan the floor.

# That's right (Russian in the original).
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Beria, pleased that I had finished, put his
hands in his pockets and tried to work out what
impression their replies were making on me. Of
course, I was not satisfied with what they had de-
cided to give us in response to the very modest
requests we had made. I spoke again and told them
that they had made heavy reductions in the things
we had asked for. Mikoyan jumped in to «explain~
that the Soviet Union itself was poor, that it had
gone through the war, that it had to assist other
countries, too, ete.

«When we drafted these requests,» I told
Mikoyan, «we took account of the reason you have
just given, indeed we cut our calculations very
fine, and your specialists who work in our coun-
try are witnesses to this.»

«Our specialists do not know what possibilities
the Soviet Union has. We who have told you our
opinions and possibilities know these things,» said
Mikoyan.

Molotov was leaning on the table. He said
something about Albania’s relations with its neigh-
bours, but he never raised his eyes. Malenkov and
Beria seemed to be the two «cocks of the walk»,
while Mikoyan who was cold and bitter, did not
say much, but when he did speak, it was only to
make some vicious and venomous remark. From
the way they spoke, the way they interrupted one
another, the arrogant tone in which they gave
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«advicer, the signs of discord among them were
quite clear.

«Since this is what you have decided, there
is no reason for me to prolong matters,» I said.

«Pravilno!» repeated Malenkov and asked in
a loud voice: «Has anyone anything to add?»

«I have,» said Bulganin at the end of the
table.

«You have the floor,» said Malenkov.

Bulganin opened a dossier and, in substance,
said:

«You, Comrade Enver, have asked for aid for

the army. We have agreed to give you as much as
we have allocated to you, but I have a number of
criticisms. The army ought to be a sound weapon
of the dictatorship of the proletariat, its cadres
loyal to the party and of prolefarian origin, the
party must have the army firmly under its leader-
Ship...»
Bulganin went on for a very long time with
a «moralizing» speech, full of words of «advice».
I listened carefully and waited for the criticisms,
but they did not come. In the end he said this:

«Comrade Enver, we have information that
many cadres of your army are the sons of beys and
aghas, of dubious origin and activity. We must be
certain about those into whose hands these wea-
pons, with which we shall supply you, will be
put, therefore we advise you to study this prob-
lem deeply and carry out purges...»
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This made my blood boil because it was a
slanderous accusation and an insult to the cadres
of our army. I raised my voice and asked the mar-
shal:

«What is the source of this information which
you give me with such assurance? Why do you
insult our army ?»

The atmosphere of the meeting became as
cold as ice. They all lifted their heads and looked
at me while I waited for Bulganin to reply. He
found himself at a tight spot because he had not
expected this cutting question, and he looked at
Beria.

Beria began to speak, the movements of his
hands and eyes revealing his embarrassment and
irritation, and said that according to their informa-
tion, we allegedly had unsuitable and dubious ele-
ments, not only in the army, but also in the ap-
paratus of the state and in the economy! He even
mentioned a percentage. Bulganin sighed with
relief and looked around, not concealing his satis-
faction. but Beria cut short his smile. He openly
opposed Bulganin’s «advice» about purges and
stressed that the «elements with a bad past, but
who have since taken the right road, must not be
purged but should be pardoned.» The resentment
and deep contradictions which existed between
these two were displayed quite openly. As it
turned out later, the contradictions between Bul-
ganin and Beria were not simply between these
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two persons, but were the reflection of deep con-
tradictions, quarrels and opposition between the
Soviet state security service and the intelligence
organs of the Soviet army. But we were to learn
these things later. In this concrete case we were
dealing with a grave accusation raised against us.
We could never accept this accusation, therefore,
1 stood up and said:

«Those who have given you this information
have committed slander, hence they are enemies.
There is no iruth in what you said. The over-
whelming majority of the cadres of our army have
been poor peasants, shepherds, workers, artisans
and revolutionary intellectuals. In our army there
are no sons of beys and aghas. Or if there are
perhaps ten or twenty individuals, they have
abandoned their class and have shed their own
blood, and by this I mean that during the war
they not only took up arms against the foreign
enemies, but rejected the class from which they
emerged, and even their parents and relations,
when they opposed the Party and the people. All
the cadres of our army have fought in the war,
have emerged from the war, and not only do I not
accept these accusations but I am telling you that
your informers are deceiving you, are concocting
slanders. I assure you that the weapons that we
have received and will receive from you have
been and will be in reliable hands, that the Party
of Labour, and no one else, has led and still leads

27



our People’s Army. That is all I had to say!» and
I sat down.

When I had finished, Malenkov began to
speak to close the debate. After stressing that he
agreed with what the preceding speakers had said,
he issued a load of «advice and instructions» for
us, and then dwelt on the debate which we had
with Bulganin and Beria about the «enemies» in
the ranks of our army.

«As for undertaking purges in the army, I
think that the problem should not be presented
in this way,» said Malenkov, opposing the «advice»
which Bulganin gave me about purges. «People
are not born ready-formed, and they make mis-
takes in life. We must not be afraid to excuse pec-
ple for their past mistakes. We have people who
have fought against us with weapons, but now we
are bringing out special laws to pardon them for
their past and in this way to give them the possi-
bility to work in the army and even to be in the
party. The term ’purge’ of the army is not suit-
able,» repeated Malenkov and closed the discus-
sion.

Utter confusion: one said irresponsibly, «You
have enemies» and «carry out purges», the other
said, «We are bringing out laws to pardon them for
their past»!

However, these were their opinions. We lis-
tened to them carefully and openly expressed our

opposition to those things over which we disagreed.
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Finally, I thanked them for receiving me and,
in passing, told them that the Central Committee
of our Party had decided that I should be relieved
of many functions and retain only the main func-
tion of General Secretary of the Party. (At that
time I was General Secretary, Prime Minister, Mi-
nister of Defence, and Minister of Foreign Affairs.
These functions had remained in my hands since
the time the country was liberated, when many
difficulties caused by external and internal ene-
mies had to be overcome.)

Malenkov found this decision correct and
twice repeated his favourite «pravilno». Having
nothing more to say, we shook hands and left.

My conclusion from this meeting was unpleas-
ant. I saw that the leadership of the Soviet Union
was ill-disposed towards our country. The arro-
gant way they behaved during the meeting, their
refusal to give those few things that we sought,
and their slanderous attack on the cadres of our
army were not good signs.

From this meeting I observed also that there
was no unity in the Presidium of the Communist
Party of the Soviet Union: Malenkov and Beria
were predominant, Molotov hardly spoke, Mikoya
seemed to be on the outer and spouted venom,
while what Bulganin said was bullshit.

It was apparent that the in-fighting had
begun among the leaders in the Presidium of the
Central Committee of the Communist Party of the
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Soviet Union. However hard they tried to avoid
giving the impression outside that the «changing
of the guard» was taking place in the Kremlin, they
were unable to hide everything. Changes had been
and were being made in the party and the govern-
ment. After he kicked out Malenkov, leaving him
only the post of prime minister, Khrushchev made
himself first secretary of the Central Committee
in September 1953. It is evident that Khrushchev
and his group of close cronies hatched up the in-
trigue in the Presidium carefully, by setting their
opponents at loggerheads and eliminating Beria
and apparently «taming~ the others.

There are many versions about the arrest and
execution of Beria. Amongst others it was said that
men from the army, headed by General Moskalen-
ko, arrested Beria right in the meeting of the Pre-
sidium of the CC of the party. Apparently Khrush-
chev and his henchmen charged the army with
this «special mission», because they did not trust
the state security, since Beria had had it in his
hands for years on end. The plan had been hatched
up in advance: while the meeting of the Presidium
of the CC of the party was being held, Mos-
kalenko and his men got into a nearby room
unobserved. At the given moment, Malenkov
pressed the bell and within a few seconds Moska-
lenko entered the office where the meeting was
being held and approached Beria to arrest him. It
was said that Beria reached out to take the satchel
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he had nearby, but Khrushchev, who was sitting
«vigilant» by his side, was «quicker» and seized
the satchel first. The «bird» could not fly away,
the action was crowned with success! Precisely
as in a detective film, but this was no ordinary
film: the actors of this one were members of the
Presidium of the CC of the CPSU!

This is what, was said, took place and
Khrushchev himself admitted it. Later, when a
general, who I believe was called Sergatskov, came
to Tirana as Soviet military adviser he also told us
something about the trial of Beria. He told us that
he had been called as a witness to declare in court
that Beria had allegedly behaved arrogantly to-
wards him. On this occasion Sergatskov told our
comrades in confidence: «Beria defended himself
very strongly in the court, accepted none of the
accusations and refuted them all.»

In June 1954, a few months after Khrush-
chev’s elevation to the post of first secretary of the
Central Committee of the Communist Party of the
Soviet Union, together with Comrade Hysni Kapo,
we had to go to Moscow where we sought a meeting
with the Soviet leaders to talk about the economic
problems over the solution of which they were
proving uncooperative. Khrushchev received us,
together with Malenkov, who was still prime
minister, in the presence of Voroshilov, Mikoyan,
guslov and one or two others of lower rank.

I had had occasion to meet Khrushchev once
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or twice in the Ukraine before the death of Stalin.
We had just emerged from the war and at that
time it was natural that we had great trust not
only in Stalin, the Soviet Union and the Commun-
ist Party of the Soviet Union, which was indis-
putable, but alsoin all the leaders of the Commun-
ist Party of the Soviet Union. From the first meet-
ing Khrushchev had impressed me as a «good
capable fellow, full of vigour and talk» who did
not fail to speak well of our war, although it was
apparent he knew nothing about it.

He gave me a rather superficial account of
the Ukraine, put on a dinner for me, from which
I remember a kind of soup which they called
«borsch» and a bowl of yoghourt so thick that you
could cut it with a knife and I was not sure whe-
ther it was yoghourt or cheese; he presented me
with an embroidered Ukrainian shirt and begged
my pardon because he had to go to Moscow where
they had a meeting of the Bureau. This encounter
was in Kiev, and all the time he was with me,
Khrushchev poured out every kind of praise for
Stalin. Of course, seeing only the trips by air back
and forth to Moscow of leaders who were so ably
guiding this great country which we loved so
much and hearing all those fine words they said
about Stalin, I was very pleased with them and
enthusiastic about the successes they had achieved.

But Khrushchev’s unexpected and rapid rise
to power did not make a good impression on us.
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Not because we had anything against him, but
because we thought that the role and figure of
Khrushchev was not so well-known either in the
Soviet Union or in the world, that he could so
rapidly take the place of the great Stalin as first
secretary of the Central Committee of the party.
Khrushchev had never appeared at any of the
meetings we had had for years on end with Stalin,
although nearly all the top leaders of the party
and Soviet state took part in most of those meet-
ings. However, we did not express this and never
mentioned our impression about this promotion
of Khrushchev so high. We considered this an in-
ternal matter of the Communist Party of the Sov-
iet Union, thought that they knew what they
were doing, and wished with all our heart that
things would always go well in the Soviet Union,
as in the time of Stalin,

And now the day had come for us to meet
Khrushchev face to face in our first official meet-
ing,.

I spoke first. I briefly presented the econ-
omic, political and organizational situation of the
country, the situation in the Party and our peo-
ple’s state power. Knowing from the meeting a
year earlier with Malenkov that the new leaders
of the Soviet party and state did not like to lister:
for long, I tried to be as concise as possible in my
‘exposé and put the emphasis mainly on the econ-
omic questions about which we had sent a detailed
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letter to the Soviet leadership two months earlier.
I remember that Khrushchev intervened only once
during my speech. I was speaking of the very
fine results which had been achieved in our coun-
try in the recent elections of deputies to the Peo-
ple’s Assembly and about the powerful party-peo-
ple-state unity which was manifested during the
elections.

«These results should not put you to sleep,»
interjected Khrushchev at that moment, drawing
our attention to the very thing which we had not
only always been aware of, but whiech I had
stressed in the exposé I had given them, empha-
sizing particularly the work we did to consolidate
unity, to build up the love of the people for
the Party and the state, to strengthen vigilance,
etc. However, it was his right to give as much ad-
vice as he wished and we had no reason to resent
this.

Khrushchev spoke immediately after me and
right from the start displayed his clownish nature
in the treatment of problems:

«We are informed about your situation and
problems from the materials we have stu-
died,» he began. «The report which Comrade
Enver gave us here made matters clearer to us,
and I describe it as a ’joint report’, yours and ours.
But,» he continued, «I am still a bad Albanian and
I am not going to speak now either about the
economic problems or about the political ones,
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which Comrade Enver raised, because, for our
part, we have still not exchanged opinions and
reached a common view. Therefore, I am going to
speak about something else.»

And he began to give us a long talk about the
importance of the role of the party.

He speke in a loud voice with many gestureas
of his hands and his head, looking in all directions
without concentrating on any one point, interrupt-
ed his speech here and there to ask questions, and
then, often without waiting for the reply, went on
with his speech, hopping from branch to branch,

«The party leads, organizes, controls,» he
theorized. «It is the initiator and inspirer. But
Beria wanted to liquidate the role of the party,s»
and after a moment of silence he'asked me: «Have
you received the resolution which announced the
sentence we passed on Beria?»

«Yes,» [ replied.

He left his discourse about the party and start-
ed to speak about the activity of Beria; he accused
him of almost every crime and described him as
the cause of many evils. These were the first steps
towards the attack on Stalin. For the time being,
Khrushchev felt that he could not rise against the
figure and work of Stalin, therefore, in order tc
prepare the terrain he started with Beria. At this
meeting, moreover, to our astonishment, Khrush-
chev told us:
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«When you were here last year, you assisted
in the exposure and unmasking of Beria.»

I stared in amazement, wondering what he
was leading up to. Khrushchev’s explanation was
this:

«You remember the debate which you had
last year with Bulganin and Beria over the accusa-
tion they made against your army. It was Beria
who had given us that information, and the strong
opposition which you put up in the presence of the
comrades of the Presidium, helped us by supple-
menting ‘the doubts and the facts which we had
about the hostile activity of Beria. A few days
after your departure for Albania we condemned
him.» ..

However, in that first meeting with us
Khrushchev was not concerned simply with Beria.
The «Beria» dossier had been closed. Khrushchev
had settled accounts with him. Now he had to go
further. He dealt at length with the importance
and the role of the firstsecretary or general secre-
tary of the party.

«To me it is of no importance whether he is
called ’first’ secretary or ’general’ secretary,» he
said in substance. «What is important is that the
most able, qualified person with the greatest auth-
ority in the country must be elected to that post.
Wehave our experience,» he continued. «After the
death of Stalin we had four secretaries of the Cen-
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tral Committee but we had no one in charge, and
thus we had no one to sign the minutes of meet-
ings!»

After going all round the question from the
aspect of «principle», Khrushchev did not fail to
launch a few gibes which, of course, were aimed
against Malenkov, although he mentioned no
names.

«Imagine what would occur,» he said in his
cunning way, «if the most capable and authoritat-
ive comrade were elected chairman of the Council
of Ministers. He would have everyone on his back,
and thus there would be a danger that the criticism
put forward through the party would not be taken
into account and hence the party would take
second place and be turned into an organ of the
Council of Ministers.»

While he was speaking I glanced several times
at Malenkov who sat motionless while his whole
body seemed to be sagging, his face an ashen hue.

Voroshilov, his face flushed bright red, was
watching me, waiting for Khrushchev to finish his
«discourse». Then he began. He pointed out to me
(as though I did not know) that the post of prime
minister was very important, too, for this or that
reason, ete.

«I think,» said Voroshilov in an uncertain
tone, as though he did not know with whom to
side and whom to oppose, «that Comrade Khrush-
chev did not intend to imply that the Council of
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Ministers does not have its own special import-
ance. The prime minister, likewise...»

Now Malenkov’s face had become deathly

pale. While wanting to soften the bad impression
which Khrushchev had created, especially about
Malenkov, with these words, Voroshilov vbrough‘c
put more clearly the tense situation which existed
in the Presidium of the CC of the party. Klim
Voroshilov went on with this lecture about t};e
role and importance of the prime minister for sev-
eral minutes!
o Malenkov was the «scapegoat» which they
displayed to me to see how I would react. In these
two _1eptures I saw clearly that the split in the
Presidium of the CC of the CPSU was growing
deeper, that Malenkov and his supportershwere on
the way out. We were to see later where this pro-
cess would lead.

At thissame meeting Khrushchev told us that
the Gth_er sister parties had been told of the Soviet
«experience» of who should be first secretary of
the party and who prime minister in the countries
of people’s democracy.

_«We talked over these questions with the
Polish comrades before the congress of their par-
ty,» Khrushchev told us. «We thrashed matters
out thoroughly and thought that Comrade Bierut
should remain chairman of the Council of Minis-
ters and Comrade Ochab should be appointed first
secretary of the party...»
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Hence, right from the start Khrushchev was
for pushing Bierut aside in the leadership of the
party (and later for his elimination), since he had
insisted that Ochab, «a very good Polish comrade»,
as he stressed to us, should be elected first secre-
tary. Thus they were giving the green light for
all the revisionist elements, who, up till yesterday,
were wriggling and keeping a low profile, awaiting
the opportune moments. Now these moments were
being created by Khrushchev who, with his ac-
tions, stands and «new ideas~», was becoming the
inspirer and organizer of «changes» and «reor-
ganizations».

However, the congress of the Polish United
Workers’ Party did not fulfil Khrushchev’s desires.
Bierut, a resolute Marxist-Leninist comrade, of
whom I have very good memories, was elected
first secretary of the party, while Cyrankiewicz
was elected prime minister.

Khrushchev «reconciled» himself to this de-
cision because there was nothing he could do about
it. However, the revisionist mafia, which had be-
gun to stir, was thinking about all the ways and
possibilities. It was creating its spider’s web. And
although Bierut was not removed from the leader-
ship of the party in Warsaw, as Khrushchev want-
ed and dictated, later he was to be eliminated

completely by a sudden «cold» caught in Mos-
cow !
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2. KHRUSHCHEV’S STRATEGY AND TACTICS

WITHIN THE SOVIET UNION

The roots of the tragedy of the Soviet
Union. The stages through which Khrush-
chev passes towards seizing political and
ideological power. The Khrushchevite caste
corrodes the sword of the revolution. What lies
behind Khrushechev's «collective leadership».
Khrushchev and Mikoyan — the head of the
counterrevolutionary plot. The breeze of libe-
ralism is blowing in the Soviet Union. Khrush-
chev and Voroshilov speak openly against
Stalin, Khrushchev builds up his own cult. The
enemies of the revolution are proclaimed
«heroes» and «victims»,

One of the main directions of Khrushchev’s
strategy and tactics was to seize complete political
and ideological power within the Soviet Union and
to put the Soviet army and the state security
organs in his service.

The Khrushchev group would work to achieve

41



this objective step by step. At first, it would
not attack Marxism-Leninism, the construction of
socialism in the Soviet Union and Stalin frontally.
On the contrary, this group would base itself on
the successes achieved and, moreover, would exalt
them to the maximum, in order to gain credit for
itself and create a situation of euphoria, with the
aim of destroying the socialist base and super-
structure later.

First of all, this renegade group had to get
control of the party, in order to eliminate the pos-
sible resistance of those cadres who had not lost
their revolutionary class vigilance, to neutralize
the waverers and win them over by means of
persuasion or threats, as well as to promote to 1§he
key leading positions bad, anti-Marxist, careerist,
opportunist elements of whom, of course, there
were some in the Communist Party of the Soviet
Union and the apparatus of the Soviet state.

After the Great Patriotic War some negative
phenomena appeared in the Communist Party of
the Soviet Union., The difficult economic situa-
tion, the devastation and destruction, the great
human losses which occurred in the Soviet Union,
required a total mobilization of the cadres and the
masses for its consolidation and progress. However,
instead of this, a falling-off in the character and
morale of many cadres was noticed. On the other
hand, through their conceit and boasting about the
glory of the battles won, through their decorations
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and privileges, with their many vices and distorted
views, the power-seeking elements were overwhel-
ming the vigilance of the party and causing it to
decay from within. A caste was created in the army
which extended its despotic and arrogant domina-
tion to the party, too, altering its proletarian char-
acter. The party should have been the sword of
the revolution, but this caste corroded it.

I am of the opinion that even before the war,
but especially after the war, signs of a deplorable
apathy appeared in the Communist Party of the
Soviet Union. This party had a great reputation,
and had achieved colossal successes in the course
of its work, but at the same time it had started to
lose the revolutionary spirit and was becoming in-
fected by bureaucracy and routine. The Leninist
norms, the teachings of Lenin and Stalin had been
transformed by the apparatchiki into stale plati-
tudes and hackneyed slogans devoid of operative
worth. The Soviet Union was a vast country, the
people worked, produced, created. It was said that
industry was developing at the necessary rates and
that the socialist agriculture was advancing. But
this development was not at the level it should
have been.

It was not the «wrong» line of Stalin which
held up the progress. On the contrary, this line was
correct and Marxist-Leninist, but it was frequently
applied badly and even distorted and sabotaged by
enemy elements. Stalin’s correct line was distorted
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also by the disguised enemies in the ranks of the
party and in the organs of the state, by the op-
portunists, liberals, Trotskyites and revisionists,
as the Khrushchevs, Mikoyans, Suslovs, Kosygins,
etc., eventually turned out to be.

Before the death of Stalin, Khrushchev and
his close collaborators in the putsch were among
the main leaders who acted under cover, who made
preparations and awaited the appropriate moment
for open action on a broad scale. It is a fact that
these traitors were hardened conspirators, with the
experience of various Russian counter-revolution-
aries, the experience of anarchists, Trotskyites and
Bukharinites. They were also acquainted with the
experience of the revolution and the Bolshevik
Party, although they learned nothing of benefit
from the revolution, but learned everything they
needed to undermine the revolution and social-
ism, while escaping the blows of the revolution and
the dictatorship of the proletariat. In short, they
were counter-revolutionaries and double-dealers.
On the one hand, they sang the praises of social-
ism, the revolution, the Bolshevik Communist Par-
ty, Lenin and Stalin, and on the other hand, they
prepared the counter-revolution.

Hence, all this accumulated scum carried out
sabotage with the subtlest methods, which they
disguised by praising Stalin and the socialist re-
gime. These elements disorganized the revolution
while organizing the counter-revolution, displayed
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«severity» against internal enemies in order to
spread fear and terror in the party, the state and
the people. It was they who created a situation
full of euphoria which they reported to Stalin, but
in reality they destroyed the base of the party, the
base of the state, caused spiritual degeneration and
built up the cult of Stalin to the skies in order to
overthrow him more easily in the future.

This was a diabolical hostile activity which
had a strangle-hold on the Soviet Union, the Com-
munist Party of the Soviet Union and Stalin, who,
as the historical facts showed, was surrounded by
enemies. Almost none of the members of the Presi-
dium and the Central Committee raised their
voices in defense of socialism and Stalin.

If a detailed analysis is made of the political,
ideological and organizational directives of Stalin
in the leadership and organization of the party,
the war and the work, in general, mistakes of
principle will not be found, but if we bear in mind
how they were distorted by the enemies and ap-
plied in practice, we will see the dangerous conse-
quences of these distortions and it will become ob-
vious why the party began to become bureaucratic,
to be immersed in routine work and dangerous
formalism which sapped its strength and strangled
its revolutionary spirit and enthusiasm. The party
became covered by a heavy layer of rust, by politi-
cal apathy, thinking mistakenly that the head, the
leadership, operates and solves everything on its
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own. From such a concept, the situation was creat-
ed that in every instance and about everything
they would say, «this is the leadership’s business»,
«the Central Committee does not make mistakes»,
«Stalin has said this, and that’s all there is to it»,
etc. Stalin might not have said many things, but
they were covered with his name.

The apparatus and the officials became «omni-
potent», «infallible» and operated in bureaucratic
ways under the slogans of democratic centralism
and bolshevik criticism and self-criticism, which
were no longer bolshevik in reality. There is no
doubt that in this way the Bolshevik Party lostits
former vitality. It lived on with correct slogans,
but they were only slogans; it carried out orders,
but did not act on its own initiative; with the
methods and forms of work which were used in
the leadership of the party, the opposite results
were achieved.

In such conditions bureaucratic administra-
tive measures began to predominate over revolu-
tionary measures. Vigilance was no longer oper-
ative because it was no longer revolutionary, re-
gardless of all the boasting about it. From a vigil-
ance of the party and the masses, it was being

turned into a vigilance of bureaucratic apparatus

and transformed, in fact, if not completely from

the formal viewpoint, into a vigilance of the state:

security organs and the courts.

It is understandable that in such conditions,
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non-proletarian, non-working class feelings and
views began to take root and to be cultivated in
the Communist Party of the Soviet Union and in
the consciousness of many of the communists.
Careerism, servility, charlatanism, unhealthy
cronyism, anti-proletarian morality, etc., began to
spread. These evils eroded the party from within,
smothered the feeling of class struggle and sacrifice
and encouraged seeking the.«good life», with com-
forts, with privileges, with personal gains and the
least possible work and effort. In this way the
bourgeois and petty-bourgeois mentality was
created, and this was expressed in such words:and
thoughts as: «We worked and fought for this so-
cialist state and we triumphed, now let us enjoy
the benefits from it», «we can’t be touched, the
past excuses us for everything.» The greatest dan-
ger was that this outlook was becoming established
even in the old cadres of the'party with a splendid
past and proletarian origin, even in the members
of the Presidium of the Central Committee, who
ought to have set an example of purity to the
others. There were many such people in the leader-
ship, in the apparatus, and they made adroit use
of the revolutionary words and phrases and the
theoretical formulas of Lenin and Stalin, reaped
the laurels of the work of others and encouraged
the bad example. Thus, a worker aristocracy made
up of bureaucratic cadres was being created in the
Communist Party of the Soviet Union.
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Regrettably, such a process of degeneration
developed under the «joyful» and «hopeful> slo-
gans that «everything is going well, normally,
within the laws and norms of the party», which
in fact were being violated, that «the class struggle
is still being waged», that «democratic centralism
is safeguarded», «criticism and self-criticism con-
tinues as before», that «there is steel unity in the
party», «there are no more factional, anti-party
elements», «the time of Trotskyite and Bukharin-
ite groups is passed», etc., etc. Generally speaking,
even the revolutionary elements considered such
a distorted concept of the situation to be a normal
reality and, this is the essence of the drama and
the fatal mistake, therefore, it was considered that
there was nothing to be alarmed about, that the
enemies, the thieves, the violators of morality were
being condemned by the courts, that the unworthy
members were being expelled from the party, and
new members admitted fo it, as usual, that the
plans were being realized although there were
some that were not being realized, that people were
being criticized, condemned, praised, etc. Hence,
according to them, life was proceeding normally,
and thus it was reported to Stalin: «Everything
is going normally.» We are convinced that if
Stalin, as the great revolutionary he was, had
known the reality of the situation in the party, he
would have struck a crushing blow at this un-
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healthy spirit and the entire party and the Soviet
people would have risen to their feet to support
him because, quite correctly, they had great trust
in Stalin.

Not only did the apparatuses misinform
Stalin, and bureaucratically deform his correct
directives, but they had created such a situation
among the people and in the party that even when
Stalin went among the masses of the party and
the people, to the extent that his age and health
permitted, they did not inform him about the
shortcomings and mistakes which were occurring,
because the apparatus had implanted the opinion
amongst the communists and the masses that «we
must not worry Stalin».

The great hullabaloo the Khrushchevites
made about the so-called cult of Stalin was really
only a bluff. It was not Stalin, who was a modest
person, who had built up this cult, but all the
revisionist scum accumulated at the head of the
party and the state which apart from anything
else, exploited the great love of the Soviet peoples
for Stalin, especially after the victory over
fascism. If one reads the speeches of Khrushchev,
Mikoyan and all the other members of the Pres-
idium, one will see what unrestrained and hypo-
critical praises these enemies poured on Stalin as
long as he was alive. It is sickening to read these
things when you think that behind all this praise
they were hiding their hostile work from the com-
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munists and the masses who were deceived, think-
ing that they had to do with leaders loyal to
Marxism-Leninism and comrades loyal to Stalin.

Even for some time after Stalin’s death, the
«new» Soviet leaders, and Khrushchev above all,
still did not speak badly about him, indeed they
described him as a «great man», a «leader of in-
disputable authority», ete. Khrushchev had to
speak in this way to gain credit inside and outside
the Soviet Union, in order to create the idea that
he was «loyal» to socialism and the revolution, a
«continuer» of the work of Lenin and Stalin.

Khrushchev and Mikoyan were the bitterest
enemies of Marxism-Leninism and Stalin. These
two headed the plot and the putsch which they
had prepared long before, together with anti-
Marxist, careerist elements of the Central Com-
mittee, of thearmy, and leaders at the base. These
putschists did not show their hand immediately
after the death of Stalin, but, when it was neces-
sary and to the extent it was necessary, continued
to administer the poison along with their praises
for Stalin. It is true that Mikoyan, in particular,
in the many meetings I have had with him, never
boosted Stalin, irrespective of the fact that in
speeches 'and discourses the putschists heaped
praises and glory on Stalin on every occasion.
They fostered the cult of Stalin in order to isolate
him as much as possible from the masses, and,
hiding behind this cult, they prepared the catas-
trophe.
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Khrushchev and Mikoyan worked to a plan
and after the death of Stalin found an open field
for their activity, also because of the fact that Ma-
lenkov, Beria, Bulganin and Voroshilov proved to
be not only blind, but also ambitious, and each of
them struggled for power.

They and others, old revolutionaries and
honest communists, had now turned into typical
representatives of that bureauecratic routine, of
that bureaucratic «legality», which developed,
and, when they made a feeble attempt to use this
«legality~ against the obvious plot of the Khrush-
chevites, it was already too late.

Khrushchev and Mikoyan, in complete unity,
knew how to manoeuvre amongst them and to set
one against the other.In a few words, they applied
this tactic: split and divide in the Presidium, or-
ganize the forces of the putsch outside, continue
to speak well about Stalin in order to have the
millions strong masses on their side, and thus bring
closer the day, of the seizure of power, the liquida-
tion of opponents, and of a whole glorious epoch
of the construction of socialism, the victory of the
Patriotic War, etc. All this feverish activity (and
we sensed this) was aimed to create the popularity
of Khrushchev inside the Soviet Union and out-
side it.

Under the umbrella of the victories which the
Soviet Union and the Communist Party of the
Soviet Union had scored under the leadership of
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Lenin and Stalin, Khrushchev did his utmost to
make the Soviet peoples and the Soviet commu-
nists think that nothing had changed, one great
leader had died, but a «greater» leader was rising,
and what a leader he was! «As principled a Lenin-
ist as the former, if not more so, but liberal, po-
pular, smiling, all humour and jokes!»

Meanwhile the revisionist viper, which was
becoming active, started to pour out its poison
about the figure and work of Stalin. At first this
was done without attacking Stalin by name, but
attacking him indirectly.

In one of the meetings which I had with
Khrushchev, in June 1954, in an allegedly prin-
cipled and theoretical way he began to expound to
me the greatimportance of «collective leadership»,
and the great damage which comes about when
this leadership is replaced by the cult of one per-
son, and mentioned isolated excerpts from Marx
and Lenin, so that I would think that what he was
saying had a «Marxist-Leninist basis».

He said nothing against Stalin, but he
fired off all his batteries at Beria, accusing him
of real and non-existent crimes. The truth is that
in this initial stage of Khrushchev’s revisionist
assault, Beria was the appropriate card fo play to
advance the secret plans. As I have written above,
Beria was presented by Khrushchev as the cause
of many evils: he had allegedly underrated the
role of the first secretary, damaged the «col-
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lective leadership», and wanted to put the party
under the control of the state security apparatus.
On the pretext of the struggle against the damage
caused by Beria, Khrushchev, on the one hand,
established himself in the leadership of the party
and state and took control of the Ministry of
Internal Affairs, and on the other hand, prepared
public opinion for the open attack which he was
to undertake later on Joseph Vissarionovich Sta-
lin, and on the real work of the Bolshevik Com-
munist Party of Lenin and Stalin.

Many of these surprising actions and changes
made an impression on us, but it was too early to
be able to grasp the true proportions of the plot
which was being carried out. Nevertheless, even
at that time we could not fail to notice the contra-
dictory nature of various actions and opinions of
this «new leader>», who was taking over the reins
in the Soviet Union. This same Khrushchev, who
was now parading before us as a «disciple of col-
lective leadership», a few days earlier in a meeting
which we had with him, when he spoke to us
about the role of the first secretary of the party
and the prime minister, presented himself as an
ardent supporter of the «role of the individual»
and the «firm hand».

After Stalin’s death, it seemed that an alleg-
edly collective leadership was established by these
«adherents to principle». The collective leadership
was publicized to show that «Stalin had violated
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the principle of collective leadership», that he
«had degraded this important norm for Leninist
leadership», and that the «leadership of the party
and the state had been transformed from collecti-
ve leadership into individual leadership». This was
a big lie, publicized by the Khrushchevites to
prepare the ground for themselves. If the collec-
tive leadership principle had been violated, the
blame for this must be laid, not on the correct
ideas which Stalin expressed on different prob-
lems, but on the hypocritical flattery of those
others and on the arbitrary decisions which they
themselves took, distorting the line in the various
sectors which they led. How could all the activity
of these anti-party elements who worked around
Stalin be checked upon, when they themselves
spread the idea that «Tse-Ka znayet vsyo»*?! In
this way they wanted to convince the party and
the people that «Stalin knows everything that is
going on», and «he approves everything». In other,
words, in the name of Stalin, and by means of
their apparatchiki, they suppressed criticism and
tried to turn the Bolshevik Party into a lifeless
party, into an organization without will and en-
ergy, which would vegetate from day to day, ap-
proving everything that the bureaucracy decided,
concocted and distorted.

* «The Central Committee knows everything» (Russian in
the original).

In the campaign allegedly for the establish-
ment of the collective leadership Khrushchev was
trying to perform a slight-of-hand trick, under
cover of a deafening clamour about the struggle

against the cult of the individual. There were no

more photographs of Khrushchev on the daily
press, no more big headlines boosting him, but
another stale tactic was used: all the newspapers
were filled with his public speeches, his discourses,
reports about his meetings with foreign am-
bassadors, his nightly attendances at diplomatic

‘receptions, his meetings with delegations of com-

munist parties, his meetings with American jour-
nalists, businessmen and senators and Western
millionaires, who were friends of Khrushchev.
The aim of this whole tactic was to make a con-
trast with Stalin’s method of «working behind
closed doors», of «his sectarian work», which, ac-
cording to the Khrushchevites, had allegedly been
so harmful to the opening of the Soviet Union
to the world.

The purpose of this Khrushchevite propa-
ganda was to show the Soviet people that now
they had found the «genuine Leninist leader who
knows everything, who settles everything correct-
ly, who has extraordinary vigour, who is giving
the proper reply to everyone», whose irresistible
activity «is putting everything right in the Soviet
Union, cleaning up the crimes of the past, and as-
suring progress.
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I was in Moscow on the occasion of a meeting
of the parties of all the socialist countries. I think
it was January 1956, when a consultative meeting
was held about the problems of economic develop-
ment of the member countries of Comecon. It was
the time when Khrushchev and the Khrushche-
vites were advancing in their hostile activity. We
were together with Khrushchev and Voroshilov
in a villa outside Moscow, where all the represent-
atives of the sister parties were to have lunch. The
others had not yet arrived. I had never heard the
Soviet leaders openly speak ill of Stalin, and I, for
my part, continued as before to speak with affec-
tion and deep respect for the great Stalin. Ap-
parently these words of mine did not sound sweet
in Khrushchev’s ears. While waiting for the other
comrades to come, Khrushchev and Voroshilov
said to me:

«Shall we take some air in the park?»

We went out and strolled around the paths
of the park. Khrushchev said to Klim Voroshilov:

«Do tell Enver something about Stalin’s
mistakes.»

I pricked up my ears, although I had long
suspected that they were crooks. And Voroshilov
began to tell me that «Stalin made mistakes in the
line of the party, he was brutal, and so savage
that you could not discuss anything with him.»

Voroshilov went on, «He even allowed crimes
to be committed, and he must bear responsibility
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for this. He made mistakes also in the field of the
develobment of the economy, therefore it is not
right to describe him as the ’architect of the con-
struction of socialism’. Stalin did not have correct
relations with the other parties...»

Voroshilov went on and on pouring out such
things against Stalin. Some I understood and some
I didn’t, because, as I have written above, I did not
understand Russian well, but nevertheless I under-
stood the essence of the conversation and the
aim of these two and I was revolted. Khrushchev
was walking ahead of us, carrying a stick with
which he hit the cabbages that they had planted
in the park. (Khrushchev had planted Vegetablfes
even in the parks in order to pose as an expert in
agriculture.)

As soon as Voroshilov ended his slanderous
tale I asked him:

«How is it possible that Stalin could make
such mistakes?»

Khrushchev turned to me, his face flushed,
and replied.

«It is possible, it is possible Comrade Enver,
Stalin did these things.»

«You have seen these things when Stalin was
alive. But how is it that you did not help him to
avoid these mistakes, which you say he made?»
I asked Khrushchev. )

«It is natural that you ask this question,
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Comrade Enver, but you see this kapusta® here?
Stalin would have cut off your head just as easily
as the gardener will cut this kapusta,»* and
Khrushchev hit the cabbage with his stick.

«Everything is clear!» I said to Khrushchev
and said no more.

We went inside. The other comrades had
arrived. I was seething with anger. That night
they were to serve up to us smiles and promises
for a «greater» and «more rapid developments
of socialism, for «more aid» and for «more ex-
tensive» and «all-round collaboration». It was the
time when the notorious 20th Congress was being
prepared, the time when Khrushchev was advanc-
ing more rapidly towards the seizure of power,
He was creating the figure of a «populars moujik
leader, who was opening the prisons and concen-
tration camps, who not only did not fear the reac-
tionaries and the condemned enemies in the
prisons in the Soviet Union, but by releasing
them, wanted to show they had been condemned
even when they were «innocents.

Everyone knows what Trotskyites, conspira-
tors and counter-revolutionaries Zinoviev, Kame-
niev, Rykov, and Pyatakov were, what traitors
Tukhachevsky and the other generals, agents of
the Intelligence Service or the Germans, were.
But to Khrushchev and Mikoyan they were all

* cabbage (Russian in the original).
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fine people and a little later, in February 1956,
they were to present them as innocent victims of
the «Stalinist terror». This was being built up
slowly, public opinion was being carefully pre-
pared. The «new» leaders, who were the same as
in the past, with the exception of Stalin, were
posing as liberals in order to say to the people:
«Breathe freely, you are free, you are in genuine
democracy because the tyrant and the tyranny
have been eliminated. Now everything is proceed-
ing on Lenin’s road. Plenty has been created. The
markets will be so full that we won’t know what
to do with all the products.»

Khrushchev, this disgusting, loud-mouthed
individual, concealed his wiles and manoeuvres
under a torrent of empty words. Nevertheless, in
this way, he created a situation favourable to his
group. Khrushchev let no day go by without in-
dulging in unrestrained demagogy about the de-
velopment of agriculture, transferring people and
changing methods of work and making himself
the only «competent boss» of agriculture, the
one who undertook such personal «reformss.

Khrushchev had even «inaugurated» his el-
evation to the post of the first secretary of the
Central Committee of the Communist Party of
the Soviet Union with a long report on the prob-
lems of agriculture, which he delivered at a
plenum of the Central Committee in September
1953. This report, which was described as «very
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important», contained those Khrushchevite ideas
and reforms which, in fact, damaged Soviet agri-
culture so severely that their catastrophic conse-
quences are being felt to this day. All the boastful
clamour about the «virgin lands» was empty ad-
vertising. The Soviet Union has bought and is
still buying millions of tons of grain from the
United States of America.

However, the «collective leadership» and
non-publication of Khrushchev’s photographs in
the newspapers did not last long. The cult of
Khrushchev was being built up by the tricksters,
the liberals, the careerists, the lick-spittles and
the flatterers. The great authority of Stalin, based
on his immortal work, was undermined inside and
outside the Soviet Union. His place and authority
was usurped by that charlatan, clown and black-
mailer.
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3. NOT MARXIST-LENINISTS BUT
HUCKSTERS

Mikoyan, a cosmopolitan huckster and in-
veterate anti-Albanian., Difficult talks in June
1953 on cconomic matters — the Soviet leaders
are bargaining over aid for Albania. Khrush-
chev’s «advice» one year later: «You don’t need
heavy industry», «We shall supply you with
oil and metals», «Don’t worry about bread
grain, we'll supply you with all you want.»
Quarrels with Mikoyan. Discontent in Come-
con from the revisionist chiefs. Ochab, Dej,
Ulbricht. The June 1956 Comecon consultation
in Moscow — Khrushchev: «. .. we must do
what Hitler did.» Talks with Khrushchev again.
His «advice»: «Albania should advance with
cotton, sheep, fish and citrus fruit.»

We were determined to carry on and develop
even further the practice, which was begun at the
time when Stalin was alive, of exchanging opin-
ions with and seeking the aid of the Soviet leader-
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ship over our economic problems. In the first 8-9
years of the people’s power, we had achieved a
series of successes in the economic development of
the country, we had taken the first steps in the
fields of industrialization and the collectivization
of agriculture, had created a certain base in this
direction and gained a certain experience, which
would serve us to carry our socialist economy
steadily ahead. But we had not become conceited
over what we had achieved and neither did we
conceal the problems, weaknesses and great diffi-
culties which we had. Therefore we felt the need
for continual consultation with our friends, and
first of all, with the leaders of the Communist
Party of the Soviet Union; likewise we felt the
need for some material aid and credits from them.
These we never considered as charity and never
sought them as such.

However, in this field of our relations and
contacts with the post-Stalin Soviet leadership,
too, we very soon saw the first signs that things
were no longer going as before. There was some-
thing wrong, there was no longer that former
atmosphere, when we would go to Stalin and open
our hearts to him without hesitation and he
would listen and speak to us just as frankly from
his heart, the heart of an internationalist com-
munist. More and more each day, in his succes-
sors, instead of communists, we saw hucksters.

Mikoyan, in particular, was the most nega-
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tive, the most dubious element and the greatest
intriguer among the members of the Presidium of
the Central Committee of the Communist Party
of the Soviet Union. This huckster, who was con-
stantly grinding and clicking his false teeth, was
also ruminating on diabolical anti-Marxist, con-
spiratorial, putschist plans, as was proved later.
This individual, with an unpleasant face and a
black heart, behaved in a very menacing way,
especially towards us Albanians. Our relations
with this tight-fisted dealer and money-changer
were economic and commercial. Everything in
connection with Albania, both in according cre-
dits, and in commercial exchanges, this individual
looked at simply from the angle of a trader. The
friendly, internationalist socialist feelings had
been wiped out as far as he was concerned.

To Mikoyan, Albania was a «geographical
notion», a country with a people of no value. I
never heard him say one word about our war, our
people, or the efforts we made in the struggle
with the great difficulties for the revival of the
country and our economy ruined by the war. He
who had visited nearly every country, never once
said that he would like to come to Albania. It
seemed that the Soviet leadership based itself on
the «great economic experience» of this cosmo-
politan huckster, who, as history showed, plot-
ted with Nikita Khrushchev against Stalin, whom
they had decided to murder. He admitted this
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with his own mouth in February 1960. After the
putsch they linked up with American imperial-
ism, and set about the destruction to its founda-
tions of the great work of Lenin and Stalin, social-
ism in the Soviet Union. It was Mikoyan who de-
cided what aid the Soviet Union would provide
for Abania, as for the other countries.

In relations with us Mikoyan was not only
the most miserly but also the most insulting. This
anti-Albanian line of his was permanent, even
when Stalin was alive. In my memoirs «With
Stalin»* I have written of an occasion when Stalin,
speaking fo me about the internationalist aid
which the Soviets would give us, smiled and asked
me:

«But the Albanians themselves, are they go-
ing to work?!»

I immediately sensed why Stalin asked me
this. Two or three days earlier we had had a long
debate with Mikoyan in connection with our econ-
omic situation and the request for aid which our
side presented to the Soviet leadership. Mikoyan
had said insulting things about our situation and
affairs, going so far as to say to us: «You are bas-
ing your development on foreign aid alone!»

«No,» I retorted. «It’s not so. We are working
day and night, we hardly sleep, but these are the

* See Enver Hoxha With Stalin (Memoirs), the «8 Néntori»
Publishing House, Tirana, 1984, Third Eng. ed.
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conditions and the difficulties we have.» And I
went on to speak about the tireless and self-sacri-
ficing work which the workers, the working peas-
antry, the youth, the women and the whole po-
pulation, young and old, in Albania were doing.

«But,» said the huckster, making a retreat,
«you want to set up industry. Industry is difficult
for you and there is nowhere for you to find it,
except by seeking it from abroad, from us. Employ
the forces in agriculture, improve the life of the
countryside, and don’t expect to achieve develop-
ment through industry alone.»

We continued to argue with the Armenian
trader for a long time, and as usual, he closed the
discussion by saying to us: «Very well, I shall put
this before the leadership.» In fact, Stalin approv-
ed all our requests, and neither on this nor on any
other occasion did he make criticisms of us like
those of Mikoyan. However, he had poured out
his poison against us to Stalin, too,

With all our economic delegations Mikoyan
behaved like the hard-faced trader he was.

«We haven’t got it to give you. You are
asking for big credits. We cannot help you to build
the rice husking factory, cement factory, ete.,»
he told us, although our requests for credits had
been pared to the bone.

The modesty of our requests and our hesita-
tion in making them were typical of the poor who
know what suffering, sweat and toil, are, and
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showed that we knew the colossal needs of the
Soviet Union devastated by the war and its inter-
national obligations. As to the majority of the
factories and other projects, which they accorded
us on credits and which we were building, the
way to supplying them had been paved when
Stalin was alive. In vain'we explained to Mikoyan
the deplorable situation of our war-devastated
country, which did not inherit even the smallest
factory from the bourgeoisie, and which had not
a tractor to work with, so that it was not fair to
treat us on the same footing as East Germany,
Czechoslovakia, etc. Once I had a real quarrel
with Mikoyan, because he saw fit to scold me over
the fact that our cows gave 500 to 600 litres of
milk a year.

«Why do you keep them?>» he said. «Slaugh-

ter them!»

I said angrily:

«Our road will never be to slaughter our
animals, but to feed them better and improve
their breed. You ought to know that our people
are still short of food, let alone the animals.»

«In our country one cow gives...,» he boasted,
mentioning so many thousand litres of milk.

«Excuse me,» I said, «you are an old cadre of
the Soviet state and ought to know: immediately
after the October Revolution, say in 1920 or 1924,

did your cows give as much milk as they give to-

day 7»
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«No,» he said. «Things were different then.»

«And this is the case with our country now,»
I said. «We cannot reach your level within 4 or 5
years of liberation. The main thing is that we have
set to work and we are eager for development and
progress. We lack neither the desire nor the will.
But we have to assess matters correctly.»

After the death of Stalin the anti-Albanian
nuances in the attitude of the wheeler-dealer min-
ister of the Soviet Union became a permanent
line. However, now he was no longer on his own.
His pencil, which always tended rather to mark
crosses and write «no»-s to our modest requests,
now found backing and support among the others.
I have spoken above about the meeting in June
1953 with Malenkov, Beria, Mikoyan, and others
in Moscow. Apart from other things, from the way
they behaved towards us and how they handled
the economic problems which we raised, I felt that
now it was not only the body of the unforgettable
Stalin that was missing in the Kremlin, but also
his generous humane spirit, his attentive, friend-
ly behaviour and his outstanding Marxist-Lenin-
ist thought.

I hadn’t spoken for more than a few minutes
about the socio-economic situation in Albania, and
the unprecedented mobilization of the working
masses, the communists and cadres in work, when
Malenkov interrupted me:
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«Nu, tovarish Enver,»* he said, «you are pre-
senting the situation in Albania to us as good, but
the facts are not so. Therefore listen to our ob-
servations.»

And they delivered a cart-load of criticism
about our situation and work. We do not know
from what source they had obtained these «data»,
but the fact is that things were exaggerated and
inflated to an astonishing degree. Two of their
«criticisms~, in particular, have stuck in my mind.

The first was about our state apparatus.

«Your apparatus,» the Soviet leadership had
allegedly observed, «is so extended and inflated
that not even Rockefeller and Morgan would dare
to maintain it!»

And immediately after dubbing us Rocke-
fellers and Morgans, in the next criticism they
went to the other extreme:

«Your peasants are short of food, have no
oxen, have no flocks, have not even a chicken
(only they know how they had counted the chic-
kens in Albania!l), let alone other things of prime
hecessity.»

Rockefellers on the one hand, and poverty-
stricken on the other! How was I to understand
this logic?!

But the voice of Mikoyan did not allow me
to ponder longer... As the man of figures he was,

* Well, Comrade Enver (Russian in the original).
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Mikoyan was speaking with percentages, numbers,
comparisons and graphs. And he went on:

«Your economic situation is bad, your agri-
culture is in a miserable state, you have less live-
stock than before the war, you import 20 per cent
of your bread grain, the collectivization is proceed-
ing slowly, the peasantry is not convinced about
the collectivization. You are exploiting the peas-
ants. Financial matters are going badly with you.
You do not know how to conduct trade,» the Ar-
menian prattled.

Despite the respect which I had for the Sov-
iet leaders, I could not remain silent.

«We are not feasting and dancing,» I replied.
«We are toiling and sweating, but everything
can’t be put right immediately. You have gone
through this phase, too, don’t forget.»

«No,» he said, «we don’t forget, but we our-
selves worked.»

«And we, too, are ourselves working,» I con-
tinued, «because there are no serfs in our country.
We are not begging, but we are asking you for
internationalist aid.»

My sharp replies made him soften his tone a
little. Nevertheless he continued:

«Your plans are always unfulfilled. Let us
take building. You are doing a colossal amount of
building within your country. But these buildings
are not being completed, in the first place, be-
cause you are short of labour power, and have
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not created suitable conditions, and second, be-
cause you are engaged in building many factories
which are not necessary. You are doing all this
building without taking account of the real con-
ditions of Albania. You are building a hydro-
power station in Mat.! We ask you: where are you
going to use the electric power? We do not see
where you will use it. You have no need for so
much electric power.»

His reasoning seemed very astonishing to me,
and I objected:

«When itis finished, the hydro-power station
on the Mat River will provide about 25,000 kW.
Does this seem a large and unnecessary amount to
you?! Bear in mind, Comrade Mikoyan, not only
that we need electric power just now, but also that
the planned development of our economy in the
tuture cannot be guaranteed without taking timely
measures to ensure the necessary supply of elec-
tric power.»

«You are not exact in your planning. The
hydro-power station is costing you an enormous
amount and you won’t know what to do with the
current,» he persisted. «Likewise you have plan-
ned to build unnecessary factories, like those for
steel, timber-processing, paper, glass, linseed,

1 This refers to the «Karl Marx» hydropower station on
the Mat river in Northern Albania. Its construction was com-
pleted in January 1958.
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bread, etc. Does Albania need all these factories?
Why are you building the refinery?' Have you
enough oil or will you build this refinery to have
it lie idle? Have a good look at these things and
remove what is unnecessary. The question of agri-
culture is very critical, therefore reduce your in-
vestments in industry and strengthen agricultu-
rel»

I listened to him saying this and for a mo-
ment it seemed to me that I was facing not a
member of the Presidium of the Central Commit-
tee of the Communist Party of the Soviet Union
and the Soviet deputy prime minister, but Kidric,
Tito’s envoy, who with his associates, seven to
eight years earlier, had done everything possible
to convince us to abandon industry and not set
up any industrial project. «Agriculture, agricul-
ture,» insisted the men of Belgrade.” «Agricultu-
re, only agriculture,» I was hearing them advise
me now, in Moscow in 1953...

This whole meeting which set out to examine
our economic problems, continued in this spirit
to the end.

A few days later, we sat down again with
Mikoyan and one or two other Soviet officials and

1 This refers to the oil refinery which was going up in
Cérrik at that time,

# See Enver Hoxha, The Titoites (Historical notes), the
«8 Néntori» Publishing House, Tirana 1982, Eng. ed., pp. 299-
343, 419-427.
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again «thrashed out» the economic problems. See-
ing the unhelpful predisposition of the friends, we
ourselves cancelled many of our requests. We re-
stricted ourselves to the most essential things and,
regardless of their «advices, I dug my toes in and
managed to secure a small credit for industry, es-
pecially for the oil industry and the mines.

I shall never forget the moment when we
met Malenkov and Mikoyan for the final talk.

«Acting on your advice,» I said, «I talked
things over with my comrades and we decided
that the paper mill, as well as the glass, steel and
bread factories, from our former requests, should
be postponed until the coming five-year plan.»

«Pravilno!» said Malenkov, while Mikoyan
hastened to put a cross on the list with his big
pencil.

«We'll postpone the building of the hydro-
power station in Mat until 1957 !»

«Pravilno!» repeated Malenkov and Mikovan
quickly crossed that out, too. "

«We'll remove the construction of the rail-
way and the bitumen plant...»

«Pravilno, pravilno...»

And so this meeting came to an end.

«Come back again!» they told us when we
were leaving. «Consider matters well and write
to us!»

We thanked our friends for those things they
had given us, and returned to Albania.
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Although the least that could be said about
our impressions from this trip to the Soviet Union
is that they were not good, still we continued to
preserve our feelings of friendship with and love
for the great land of the Soviets, for the Home-
land of Lenin and Stalin. Those things in their
actions and gestures which had an unpleasant
sound to us we kept strictly to ourselves, discussed
them anxiously with one another, but in our hearts
we did not want things there to take a wrong di-
rection. We said to one another that the Soviet
comrades themselves had great economic difficul-
ties in their own country, the loss of Stalin had
undoubtedly confused them a little, it was not so
easy for them to take over the work of leadership
completely, and we ardently hoped that these
would be transient manifestations that would be
put right in time.

A few months later, however, we again ex-
perienced something unpleasant and not correct
on their part.

On December 22, 1953, we sent the Central
Committee of the Communist Party of the Soviet
Union a long letter in which, after speaking about
the measures we had taken for the strengthening
of the people’s power, our economic development,
the improvement of life in the village and the
progress of agriculture, we also presented a se-
ries of problems for consultation and some mo-
dest requests for aid and credits for our coming
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five-year plan. We had drafted this letter accord-
ing to their instructions, based on an extensive
study we had carried out over several months
and our opinion was that its requests were very
well founded and accurate.

The Soviet specialists and advisers who had
come to our country in the framework of the aid
and collaboration between our two countries were
of the same opinion.

No more than five to six days after we sent
our letter to Moscow, the reply of the Central
Committee of the Communist Party of the Soviet
Union arrived in Tirana. The whole letter con-
sisted of 15 or 20 lines. «You have not presented
the situation well», «you have viewed the situa-
tion hastily», «you have not gone into things
deeply>, «you have not taken the necessary mea-
sures», «prepare the plan better and write to us
again». This was the entire content of those few
lines signed by the Central Committee of the
Communist Party of the Soviet Union. The dis-
dainful and insulting tone of the new Soviet
leadership could not fail to hurt us. We could not
fail to ask in astonishment: «How can those peo-
ple in Moscow know whether we have presented
our problems rightly or wrongly, when it is we
who live and work in Albania and not they?!»

However, the earlier meetings, especially

with Mikoyan, had already taught us what should

be done to make our letter pleasing to the Sov-
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iets: we cut out many of the requests we had
presented, removed from the draft of the future
plan some of the things we had envisaged and
proposed, especially in the field of industry, and
sent a second «edited», or more accurately, muti-
lated letter. We were not mistaken: they inform-
ed us they were awaiting us in Moscow to «con-
sult with and help us».

We held the first meeting with the Soviet
leaders on June 8, 1954. It was precisely that
meeting at which Khrushchev did not want to
speak about our economic problems, since he was
still «a bad Albanian», as he told us, but gave us
a lecture about the role of the first secretary of
the party and the prime minister.

Nevertheless, at the end of his lecture,
Khrushchev also spoke about economic problems,
in general, allegedly in the form of orientation
and advice, especially about the line we should
follow in our economic policy.

«In the development of your economy,» he
said, «you must be careful with your calculations.
Let us take oil, for example. Is it in your interest
to invest so much for 0il?!» he asked.

I understood immediately what he was get-
ting at. Despite the «instructions» that they had
given us previously, that we should give up pros-
pecting for and extraction of oil in Albania, in the
second letter which we sent them, we persisted in
our opinions and asked them to assist us in this
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sector. Now, since he raised the matter, I took the
opportunity to put forward our opinion once again.

«As you know from the letter which we
sent you,» I said «the government and the Cen-
tral Committee of our Party, faced with a major
economic and political problem, came to the con-
clusion that we must continue the extraction of
and prospecting for oil at all costs, although this
is a heavy burden and will continue to be a heavy
burden on our economy for some time yet, if the
flow of oil is not increased. We must continue to
prospect for and extract oil,» I continued, «be-
cause this is a substance of great strategic and
economic importance for our country and our
camp. However, the existing wells bored for
prospecting and exploitation are utterly inade-
quate. The output of the existing wells is steadily
falling off, and this not only causes considerable
deficits in production and burdens our economy,
but causes major fluctuations in the balance of
our exports.»

«Are you certain that you have oil depos-
its?» asked Khrushchev.

«Allow me to tell you that the expedition of
the geological studies for oil, led by Soviet spe-
cialists, which has been working since 1950, is
optimistic about the presence of oil in many parts
of our country, apart from the existing fields.
However, the assessment of new reserves in both
the existing fields and the new fields requires
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investments. We have made large expenditure
in this sector, are building the refinery, have the
most militant part of the working class there and
have trained oil-worker cadres. In all this pro-
cess,» I continued, «we cannot but honestly ac-
knowledge many shortcomings and weaknesses
on our part in the organization of the work. But
we are struggling with all our might to eliminate
them. However, here we are still in the dark
about the reserves of oil. The reserves known up
to now are minimal and they could run out
within a period of 2 or 3 years if we do not in-
tensify our prospecting.»

«That should not worry you,» interjected
Khrushchev, «we have plenty of oil, we will sup-
ply you.»

«Yes,» I replied, «during the years 1948-
1953 we were compelled to import refined oil
and lubricating oils which cost millions of rubles.
But you understand that this was and still is a
very heavy burden for us and just think what
funds will be freed if we find and use the oil
which lies underground in our country.

«Apart from these very cogent reason» I
went on, «there is another major reason for the
necessity of the work with oil: in case of a threat
to our country, if it is impossible in practice for
our friends to supply us with fuel, we shall find
ourselves without a drop of oil, and everything
in our country will come to a standstill.
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«Bearing in mind all these circumstances,» I
said to Khrushchev, «we decided that we must
continue the work for the extraction of and pros-
pecting for oil. However, we need your aid for
this. On the basis of the data from Soviet and Al-
banian experts, if we continue to extract oil and
carry on our prospecting with the means we have
at present, and in those places where we have
those small reserves, we cannot go on for more
than two or three years. After this period, we
will again be facing very grave difficulties.

«Therefore, on the basis of this situation, we
ask the Soviet government to study our request
about granting us a credit for the oil sector for
the next three years. I would like to add that the
machinery we have and will receive will be used
by our own cadres, as well as a very small num-
ber of Soviet engineers.»

«Very well, very well» said Khrushchev,
«but the thing is that calculations must be made
well, in detail and you must see whether it is
worthwhile. I know that your oil is not in de-
mand, it contains many impurities, especially
bitumen and a high percentage of sulphur, and
processing it makes it even less profitable. Let us
give you an example of what has occurred to us
with our oil at Baku. We have invested billions
of rubles there. Beria always sought sums for in-
vestment for the development of oil in Baku from
Joseph Vissarionovich, since Stalin, having work-

78

ed in Baku in the past, knew that there was oil
there. However, from the discoveries we have
made today in other places of our homeland and
from the analyses we have made, it turns out that
the exploitation of the oil at Baku is not profitable.»

After giving me a good lecture with figures
about the «profitability» and «non-profitability»
of the extraction of oil, with the aim that I
«should not make mistakes» like Stalin(!),
Khrushchev came round to the point:

«Hence we must make our reckoning on
economic questions very carefully, both in our
country and in yours, and if you have profitable
sources of oil, fine, we give you credits. However,
reckoning things this way, it turns out that it is
more profitable for us to supply you from our
ol

«We must have regard for profitability in
everything,» continued Khrushchev. «Let us take
industry. I am of the same opinion as you that
Albania should have its own industry. But what
sort of industry? I think that you ought to dev-
elop the food industry, such as preserving and
processing fish, fruit, vegetable oil, etc. You want
to develop heavy industry, too. This should be
looked at carefully,» he said and after mentioning
that we could set up some engineering plant for
repair work and spare parts, he added:

«As for the mineral-processing industry, for
the production of metals, this is unprofitable for
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you. We have metals and we can supply you with
what you want. If we give you one day’s pro-
duction from our industry, your needs will be
fulfilled for the whole year.»

«Likewise in agriculture. In your country,»
he continued, «you should plant those crops
which grow best and are more profitable, In this
direction, too, we have made mistakes, as in
Georgia, for example. We had taken the decision
to plant bread grain there, to plant cotton in the
Ukraine, etc. But caleulations show that in Geor-
gla we should grow citrus fruit, grapes, and other
fruit, and should grow grain in the Ukraine. Now
we have taken other decisions and have elimin-
ated those crops which don’t grow well, both in
Georgia and other republics. Thus, in Albania,
too, those crops which do best and yield the
greatest production, such as cotton, citrus fruit,
olives, etc., should be developed. In this way Al-
bania will become a beautiful garden and we will
fulfil each other’s needs.»

«One of the main directions of the develop-
ment of agriculture in our country,» I said, «is
that of increasing bread grain production. Bread
has always been and still is a great problem for
us.»

«Don’t worry about growing bread grain,»
interjected Khrushchev immediately. «We shall
supply you with all the wheat you want, because
even one day’s overfulfilment of the plan in the
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Soviet Union is sufficient for Albania to live on
for three years. We are advancing rapidly in
agriculture,» he continued. «Let me read you
some of the statistics about the fulfilment of the
plan of the spring sowing in our country: the
planting has been fulfilled... per cent, ... hectares
of land more than last year have been planted,
..million hectares above the plan...,» and he went
on to stuff us with figures, which he rattled off,
one after the other, to give us the impression that
we were dealing not with any sort of leader, but
with one that had the situation at his finger-
tips.

As for his figures, we had no reason to doubt
their accuracy, therefore we were pleased and
wished the Soviet Union the greatest possible pro-
gress. As to the opinions and «directions» which
he gave us for the development of our economy,
however, we could not agree with Khrushchev at
all. I do not want to say that as early as this first
official meeting with him, in Juns 1854, we man-
aged to realize that we were facing the future
chief of modern revisionism. No, we were to rea-
lize this later, but at this meeting we noticed that
his ideas, both about oil and the orientation of
industry and agriculture in our country, were not
correct, did not respond to the needs of our coun-
try, and were not compatible with the basic prin-
ciples of the construction of socialism in a coun-
try or with the teachings and experience of Lenin
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and Stalin. Therefore, we decided to oppose his
ideas and defend our own views.

At this meeting, however, Khrushchev left
no room for debate.

«I expressed these opinions so that you wiil
bear them in mind,» he said in conclusion. «As
to the discussion of the concrete questions you
raised here in connection with the development
of your economy, for our part, we have appoint-
ed a group of comrades headed by Mikoyar:.
Finally, we shall meet again and make the deci-
sion jointly.»

For several days on end we battled with
Mikoyan, who now set to work with his pruning
shears. In order to reject our requests for the de-
velopment of industry, which were modest enough,
but on which we insisted, he and his comrades,
as usual. repeated the same old refrain:

+Why do you need industry?! Don’t you see
the state of your countryside?»

Naturally we knew the situation in our coun-
tryside much better than they, knew the back-
wardness of our agriculture inherited from the
past, and precisely because we knew these things
well, we had always devoted special attention to
the progress of agriculture and to the raising of

the standard of living in the countryside. We had
made and were making very big investments for
our possibilities in land improvement, irrigatien,
opening up new land, ete.; we were supplying the
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peasantry with selected seeds and farming ma-
chinery, had set up a number of state farms, had
progressed well .in the collectivization, had con-
tinually taken measures to facilitate and encour-
age the increase of agricultural production and
the raising of the standardof living in the village,
etc. But you can’t achieve ecverything overnight.
Moreover, we were well aware of the Marxist-
Leninist truth, and we felt it in our daily practice,
that agriculture could never advance without the
development of industry, without the creation and
strengthening of those basic branches which would
favour the harmonious development of the whole
of our people’s economy. Therefore, in these
meetings with the Soviet leaders we stuck to our
opinions and persisted in our requests.

«Despite all the progress it has made,» we
told them among other things, «today our indus-
try produces only a limited range of products
and is quite unable to fulfil the needs of the
working people. In many cases, too, securing our
products depends on the delivery of many goods
from abroad, such as fuel, steel, rolled steel,
tyres, chemicals, chemical fertilizers, spare parts,
instruments, and many other things.

«Hence, our country is heavily dependent on
imports. Our industry still produces very little,
and being remote from friendly countries, fre-
quently production is suspended in whole bran-
ches of industry because of the lack of some raw
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material, supplementary material or instrument.
Our state has never possessed even the smallest
reserve in any kind of material — from bread to
pencils. It is necessary for us to import not only
the main goods, like grain, fuel, etc., but also
every kind of machinery and equipment, instru-
ments, spare parts, textiles, footwear, thread,
needles, nails, glass, rope, string, sacks, pencils,
paper, razor blades, matches, medicaments, etc.

«3uch a grave situation, comrades,» we
went on, «does not make us pessimistic, but this
is the reality. We have to strive might and main
to overcome the difficulties in order to improve
tho situation. But how to achisve this?

«The Central Committee of the Party and
our Government think that the existing situation
cannot be altered, except by developing industry
along with agriculture, the industry which, step
by step, will relieve us of that great burden of
imports, which we are obliged to cope with at
present,» we told them.

In the end Mikoyan and his group gave way.

«All right,» he said, «we shall refer those
things on which we have not reached agreement
to the leadership and decide on them jointly at
the final meeting.»

At the final meeting of this visit, which was
held two or three days before we left for Albania,
Khrushchev’s behaviour was more friendly and
more open. After our insistence on those things
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we were seeking (undoubtedly Mikoyan had in-
formed him of the debates we had had), Khrush-
chev showed himself «more generous», repeated
several times, «We will assist little Albania», and
agreed that some of our requests for credits and
aid would be fulfilled.

At this meeting he spoke well about our Par-
ty, the Central Committee and me, and, as usual,
was unsparing in his «boastful promises». We
were soon to understand why he acted like that:
it was still the beginning of the elevation of him
and his group, and for this he needed popularity,
good opinion, the idea within the Soviet Union
and abroad that we had to do with a jolly good
fellow, a warm-hearted, skilful and wise leader,
who knows how to put up opposition, but can
also back down, who is not tight-fisted, but pru-
dent and a consummate accountant.

Thus, it was the time when Khrushchev was
«making investments» in favour of his secret
action, and to this end, according to the occasion,
he had to appear «generous», «friendly» and
«humane». However, behind this fine, «friendly»
facade, the guard of the Mikoyans and other
functionaries of commerce was extremely active,
and both with us and with others, they behaved
like real hucksters in the talks over economic
problems. They were Khrushchev’s men who,
with his knowledge and on his instructions, em-
ployed all kinds of pressure and trickery during
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«working meetings» and «the concrete examin-
ation of matters» to prune our requests and to
«smooth» matters over in such a way that when
we finally met Khrushchev, all that remained for
him to do was to smile, flatter and propose toasts.

Once we had a bitter wrangle with Mikoyan
in connection with granting us a credit for mass
consumer goods. There is no need here to dwell
on what a grave situation we had during those
years for such goods, or on the urgent needs
which our country had in this direction. The
Soviet leadership was aware of the situation, but,
in support of our request for the credit I men-
tioned, we had written it a letter in which we
gave a brief outline of how we fulfilled the needs
of the population. However, before beginning the
examination of our request, Mikoyan levelled the
following charge against us:

«You are using up the credits we have
granted you for the development of the economy
in other sectors. You buy mass consumer goods
with them.»

I replied: «We have had and still have very
great needs for consumer goods, but I am not
aware of what you charge us with. We have
never permitted the credits for the development
of industry or agriculture to be used to purchase
commodities.»

«Yes, you havel» repeated Mikoyan. «You
have used up... million rubles,» and he men-
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tioned a figure which I don’t remember precisely,
but which amounted to more than ten million.

«I'm hearing this for the first time,» I said,
«nevertheless, we shall look into the matter.»

«I shall convince you!» said Mikoyan in a
stern and angry tone and ordered one of the
nearby functionaries to bring in the documents.

A little later he came in, looking pale, and
laid the accounts before Mikoyan.

«There is no violation,» he said. «The Alba-
nian side has bought the goods you mentioneld
with the credit which our side accorded it preci-
sely for consumer goods.»

" Mikoyan, in a tight spot, muttered something
between his teeth, and then, in connection with
our request for a new credit for the purchase of
consumer goods, he replied: :

«We can no longer give you such credits, pe—
cause we make deals over these things: you give
us something, we give you something in rei;uml.»

«I am sorry that you present the question in
this way, when you are well aware thajr, our coun-
try is in difficulties and when the Italian, Yugo-
slav and Greek enemies have us encirclg:—.d and are
plotting against us,» I replied. «What else do you
want us to give you? We supply you and the coun-
tries of people’s democracy with the chrome, _01]
and copper we extract. Do you expgct us to give
you the bread from the mouths of our peo_ple,
who still have insufficient food? I do not consider
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your reasoning in order,» I told the Armen-
ian, «and I ask you to re-examine the matter.»

They did re-examine it, but they accepted
our requests after making big cuts. They gave us
some limited credits, but they gave us arrogant
criticism wholesale with lashings of «advice».

All these stands, and others like these, in
our relations with them, continued up to the time
of the Meeting of the 81 parties, which was held
in Moscow in November 1960.

During this time we had many bilateral
meetings with the Soviet leaders, at which we dis-
cussed economic problems with them and sought
some aid and credits, and we also had many con-
tacts with them in the meetings, talks and con-
sultations which were organized in the frame-
work of the Council of Mutual Economic Aid.

The way in which these meetings were or-
ganized and our friends behaved towards us, to-
wards the problems we raised and the difficulties
we had, more and more impelled us to ask our-
selves: are we dealing with Marxist-Leninist or
hucksters? Ulbricht, Novotny, Ochab, Dej, Kadar,
Gomulka, Cyrankiewicz, Zhivkov, and the others,
were at one another’s throats; each of them
complained that he was in dire straits; they all
called for «more aid» from their friends, because
they had «pressure from below»; they tried to
elbow one another out, presented all kinds of
«arguments» and figures; they tried to dodge
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their obligations and to grab as much as possible
at the expense of others. Meanwhile Khrushchev
or his envoys would get up, deliver lectures on
the «socialist division of labour>, support one or
the other, according to their own interests in a
given situation, and demand «unity» and «under-
standing» in the <«socialist family». And in all
this wrangling Albania went almost unmentioned
as if it did not exist for them.

The talks and consultations went on for two,
three or four days on end, whole dossiers were
filled with speeches, requests, decisions, balances,
but socialist Albania was treated with disdain by
the others as if we were a nuisance. We were
well aware of the situation in our country, were
conscious that our economic potential was no-
where near that of the other countries; we knew
also that these countries had their own big prob-
lems and difficuliies, but these should never have
served as a reason for them to underrate and
ignore us. With great efforts, after many meet-
ings and talks, we managed occasionally to
squeeze some aid or credit outof them. We thank-
ed them whole-heartedly for what they gave us,
thanked the fraternal peoples, first of all, and for
our part, not only did we fully repay the credits
on time, but with what we had, we honestly ful-
filled every other obligations of ours towards our
friends. It was precisely sincerity, the genuine
internationalist spirit, that was lacking amongst
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them. When it came to practical fulfilment of
their commitments to provide aid for our coun-
try, each of them would make excuses:

«We have shortages and needs ourselves,» said
Ulbricht, «we have pressure from Federal Ger-
many, therefore we are unable to help Albania.»

«The counter-revolution caused us damage,»
was Kadar’s justification. «We cannot fulfil our
commitment about aid.»

All of them, one after the other, acted in this
way. And in the end the «solution» was found:

«The Council of Mutual Economic Aid re-
commends to the Albanian comrades that the
problems raised by them here should be solved
with the Soviet government through bilateral
meetings.»

Among many such meetings of the Comecon
countries, the one that was held in Moscow in
June 1956 has stuck in my mind. Now Khrush-
chev was going headlong down his road of be-
trayal, but the others, too, were galloping after
him. The 20th Congress of the CPSU, about
which I shall speak later, was having its effect.
Lack of unity, division and contradictions are the
natural outcome and concomitants of revisionism.

This was apparent at this meeting, 3 or 4
months after the 20th Congress.

Ochab, who had become first secretary of
the Polish United Workers’ Party, got up and de-
clared:
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«We have not fulfilled the obligations with
which we have been charged for coal and are not
going to doso. We cannot fulfil the plan, its targets
are set too high and must be reduced. The coal
workers live badly, they work to exhaustion.»

As soon as he finished, Gero, Ulbricht and
Dej got up, one after the other, and levelled
every kind of charge against the Poles. The at-
mosphere was very heated.

«If you want coking coal, invest in Poland,»
replied Ochab. «We must improve the standard
of living. Things have reached such a state that
the Polish workers are about to go on sirike and
abandon the mines. . .»

«Where should we invest first?!» replied the
others. «In the steel plants of the Soviet Union
or in your coal mines?!»

«We must examine these things,» said
Khrushchev, trying to cool the tempers. «As for
the question of workers, if you Poles have insuf-
ficient, or those you have walk out, we can bring
workers from other countries.»

At this Ochab jumped up.

«It is not fair,» he shouted. «You must help
us. We are not going back to Poland without set-
tling this matter. Either reduce the plan or in-
crease the investments...»

«Once taken, the decisions must be carried
out,» interposed Dej.

«The decisions are not being carried out,»
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said Gerd, adding fuel to the flames, «We have
several factories in which we have been told to
produce arms and special equipment, but no one
is buying the products from us.»

«They don’t take them from us, either,» said
Ochab, jumping up again. «What are we to do
with them?!»

«Let us not speak here like factory man-
agers,» said Khrushchev to Ochab. «Things can’t
be discussed in this way. You must look at the
profitability. We, too, have changed direction in
many plants. For example,» continued Khrush-
chev, «we have turned some arms plants into
plants producing water pumps. I have some sug-
gestions about these problems,» continued
Khrushchev, and he began to bring out those
«gems» which he had on the tip of his ton~
gue:

«In regard to a number of special products
of industry,» he said among other things, «we
must do as Hifler did. At that time Germany was
alone and he produced all those things. We must
study this experience and we, too, must set up
joint enterprises for special products, for exam-
ple, weapons.»

We could not believe our ears! Could it be
true that the first secretary of the Central Com-
mitfee of the Communist Party of the Soviet
Union wanted to learn from the experience of
Hitler and even recommended it to others?! But
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this is what things were coming to. The others
listened and nodded approval.

«You must provide us with designs,» said
Ochab.

«You don’t deserve to get them,» shouted
Khrushchev angrily, «because the West steals
them from you. We gave you the patent of an
aircraft and the capitalists stole it from you.»

«That occurred,» admitted Ochab, and pul-
led in his horns a little.

«We gave you the secret report of the 20th
Congress and you printed it and sold it at 20 zloty a
copy. You don’t know how to keep secrets.»

«Right!» whispered Ochab, and drew in his
horns even further.

«We have given you another four top secret
documents and they have flown from you,»
added Bulganin, numbering them off one by one
to his face.

«Yes,» said Ochab, and now his voice could
hardly be heard. «Someone stole them from us
and fled to the West.»

«The situation in Poland is not good,» con-
tinued Khrushchev. «You are following an op-
portunist policy towards the Soviet Union and
the countries of people’s democracy, let alone
within your own country.»

«In the context of collaboration,» interjected
Ulbricht, «we must collaborate with all, espe-
cially with the social-democrats.»
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For a moment Khrushchev was at a loss for
words. «Collaboration with all», rehabilitations,
a gentle policy towards enemies, were his ideas,
the continuation of his opportunist and pacifist
policy, the very policy which he was following in
the Soviet Union. The others were not lagging
behind, indeed, some of them were trying to out-
strip him.

«Agreed, collaboration,» shouted Khrush-
chev, «but not to rise against the Soviet Union
and our camp. This is what is happening in Po-
land.» He turned to Ochab and Cyrankiewicz,
who during the whole time had sat smoking
French Gauloises, without saying a single word.
«You must improve the situation. You must
build up the people’s trust in you.»

«We have released all the imprisoned so-
cial-democrats,» said Ochab.

«You should have kept some of them,» said
Saburov ironically. «To whom are we going to
drink the toast today, to the social-democrats?!»

Khrushchev provided the answer:

«Let us drink to collaboration!»

It was quite obvious that things in the camp
were taking the wrong road. The «demons»
which Khrushchev released from the bottle were
stirring and poking out their tongues even at
their liberator. He tried to manoeuvre, to get
them on side, to set the others on to one (this
time Ochab was in the dock), and then, when he-
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saw that the quarrel was not dying down, he
poured out threats and warnings to all. And as
the inveterate trickster he was, he knew how to
find the best means of pressure. This time he
used the weapon of brsad. One of the Soviet chi-
novniki* of Comecon' reported briefly on the
state of agriculture in the camp and sounded the
alarm about the deficits in bread grain.

Khrushchev got up at once and exploited
the opportunity:

«Bread is a vital problem,» he said in a
grave tone, in which both the pressure and the
threat were clear. «We have given you what we
had to give. Now we have no more to give you.
Therefore, think well about bread, there is no
other way...»

After continuing for several minutes to wave
the whip of bread, suddenly his face brightened
and he hopped with great pleasure to his favouri-
te theme — maize! I cannot remember any of
the meetings I have had with him, even those
purely for political and ideological problems, in

# pureaucratic functionaries of Czarist Russia (Russian in
the original).

1 Council of Mutual Economic Aid. It was set up in
January 1849, and Albania became its member in February
of the same year. After the Khrushchevite revisionists took
over in the Soviet Union, from an institution of mutual aid
the Comecon degenerated into a tool in their hands to further
their neo-colonialist ends.
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which Khrushchev did not eulogize the plant so
dear to his heart.

«In recent years,» he said, «we have given
importance to maize and have achieved marvel-
lous results. With maize,» he continued, «we
solved the problem of meat, milk and butter.»

«Without meat, milk and butter there is no
socialism,» put in Mikoyan to sweeten up his
«chief».

«No, there is not!» replied Khrushchev and
continued, «Every leader must give importance
to maize! Look, I took my native village under
my patronage, and allow me to report to you the
results: I found 60 pigs in the first year, increas-
ed them to 250 two years ago, and now there
are 600 of them.»

And after this «colossal» report, imagine
how befitting this was in the mouth of the nu-
mber one leader of the Soviet Union, he hurled
criticism at all of them — Ulbricht, Hegedis,
Cyrankiewicz in turn.

«As to Albania,» he added, «I have nothing
to say because I do not know it.»

T seized the opportunity and interjected:

«Come for a visit and get to know it.»

«I can’t give you an answer now, we shall
meet separately,» he said, and pressed on with
his lecture, afraid that the inspiration might es-
cape him.

He spun out the problem at great length,
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brought up examples, made criticisms, and final-
ly added:

«In regard to Bulgaria and Albania, which
are countries with a large peasantry, but espe-
cially about Albania, we must think somewhat
more deeply and help them.»-

As usual, the Council decided that we should
solve the problems we raised there with the So-
viets. A few days later we met Khrushchev and
talked for about an hour.

«First of all» I said, «we would like you to
visit Albania. Your visit will have great import-
ance for enhancing the authority and prestige of
our country.»

«I, too, would like to come,» he told me,
«but there are certain difficulties. How far is
Albania from Moscow ?»

He deserved to be told, «Just another twenty
minutes beyond Belgrade,» since he had become
accustomed to that line long ago, but I bit my
tongue. I told him that on a TU-104 the flight
from Moscow to Tirana would take about 3
hours, and added:

«Let us establish this line.»

«But the TU-104 has many seats. Would
there be enough passengers to fill it?!» he asked
me, quick to catch at the «profitability».

«Our comrades and yours are always travel-
ling from Moscow to Tirana and back and there is
no reason for the aircraft to travel empty,» I said.
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«I would like to come,» he repeated to ex-
cuse himself. «Indeed I told Tito that I wanted to
visit Albania, but first I must take a holiday.»

«You can have your holiday in our country,»
I said. «We have very fine beaches, as well as
mountains.»

«Oh, if I come I won’t be able to rest!» he
said to close this question.

There was no reason for me to persist any
further.

«As you wish,» I said, and went on into
economic matters. I gave him a brief outline of
the situation and presented some of the prob-
lems, which were causing us most concern.

«The problem is,» said Khrushchev, «that
from now on we must think how to find sources
of income so that Albania can advance. This is
how the friends, also, should look at this prob-
lem. The question of Albania has great import-
ance,» he continued, «because by means of your
country, we want to attract the attention of Tur-
key, Greece and Italy, that is, to have them take
you as an example. Now this matter must be well
thought out and we must find the proper ways.»

He was silent for a moment, apparently in
order to find one of these roads, andIthought that
he would come up with maize. But I was wrong.

«Do you grow cotton?» he asked me. «What
area do you employ for this crop‘? What yield do
you get?»
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I replied to his questions.

«That is nothing,» he said to me, and went
on: «We think that you should develop the cotton
crop, and in such a way that it will become a great
asset, because it brings in a handsome income for
you and our friends, for the countries of people’s
democracy which do not have cotton. Hence, you
have great possibilities to profit from cotton. This
is the first thing,» he said, and raised one finger.

«Secondly,~ he continued «the question of
sheep raising is a problem for you,» and he asked
me about the number of sheep, the yield of wool,
milk, meat, etc. After my replies he continued:

«Sheep must become another great asset for
you. You must breed fine-woolled sheep. You
have pastures and the sheep can be developed.
Therefore you must find the most suitable breed,
commence artificial insemination on a broad
scale, and increase them.»

After giving us his «second road» of develop-
ment, Khrushchev began on the «third road»
that would lead us to salvation. This had to do
with fish.

«Fish,» he said, «is another great asset for
you. In the Scandinavian countries, in Norway,
for example, they have created such a great wealth
with fish, that not only do the people eat plenty
of it, but they also export large quantities. They
catch fish not only in their territorial waters, but
also in the open seas. This is what you must do,
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too,» instructed Khrushchev, «so that fish be-
comes a great asset for Albania. You must do
these things without fail, and we shall help you,
and send you specialists, a fishing fleet, etc.»

Since the first three «roads» were leaving
my mind boggling, all curiosity I awaited a
«fourth road» and he did not fail to make this
clear to me also.

«The question of citrus fruit is important
for you,» he said. «They, too, should become a
great asset for you, because lemons, grape fruit,
oranges, etc., are in great demand.»

These were his instructions for the «construc-
tion of socialism» in Albania! Finally he added:

«Thought must be given to other assets, too,
for instance, to minerals, but the main ones are
those I mentioned.

«We will assist you to develop cotton, fish-
ing, citrus fruit and sheep. Both you and we must
study these things,» he concluded, «and we are
convinced that in this way Albania will quickly
become an example for Greece, Turkey and
Italy.»

It was useless to enter into discussion about
the «gems» of wisdom he presented to us. I
thanked him for his «advice» and we parted.

Now everything was becoming more clear.
The Council of Mutual Economic Aid recommends
that we solve the economic problems with Khrush-
chev. Khrushchev recommends that we solve
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them with cotton, sheep and with... «the miracle
of fish».

All these stands and actions, seen in the
complexity of political, ideological, military and
other problems, were making us more than ever
convinced that in our camp, first of all in the
Soviet Union, things were on the decline. Other
events were to follow and we, living through
them intensively, would learn and would prepare
ourselves more for the coming battles.
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4, THE TOUCH-STONE

Khrushchev has his eyes on Yugoslavia.
The first sign of the flirtation: the Soviet letter
of June 1954; Khrushchev blames the Informa-
tion Bureau for the Yugoslav leadership’s betra-
yal. Intense exchange of cordial correspondence
bhetween Khrushchev and Tito. Khrushchev de-
cides to rehabilitate the renegades. Our clear-
cut opposition: the letters of May and June
1955. Talk with Ambassador Levichkin: «How
can such decisions be taken so lightly and in a
unilateral way?» Insistent invitation to go fto
the Soviet Union «on holiday»! Meeting with
Suslev. Mikoyan telephones at midnight: «Meet
Tempo, iron out your disagreements.» The
meeting with S. V. Tempo.

All these things which occurred in the Soviet
Union after the death of Stalin worried our Party
and its leadership. Of course, at that period, es-
pecially before the 20th Congress, our suspicions
were based on isolated facts, which the Soviet

103




leaders covered up with torrents of demagogy.
Nevertheless, the stands they maintained in their
meetings with us, their actions at home and
abroad made us wary. Khrushchev’s flirtations
with Tito were particularly unpleasant for us.
We, for our part, continued to fight Titoite Yu-
goslav revisionism with the greatest severity and
defended the correct Marxist-Leninist stands of
Stalin and the Information Bureau towards the
Yugoslav revisionist leaders. We did this not
only while Stalin was alive, but also in the tran-
sitional period that the Soviet Union went
through after Stalin’s death, when Khrushchev
triumphed with his putsch and made the law
there, as well as after Khrushchev fell. And this
is the stand we shall always maintain towards
Yugoslav revisionism, until it is completely de-
stroyed ideologically and politically.

We watched every action of Khrushchev’s
with great vigilance and attention. On the one
hand, we saw that in general nothing was being
said against Stalin, that there was talk of the unity
of the socialist camp headed by the Soviet Union,
that Khrushchev spoke against American imperial-
iIsm in «strong» terms and made some superficial
criticism of Titoism, while on the other hand, he
waved the white flag of reconciliation and sub-
mission to them. In thissituation we followed the
course of friendship with the Soviet Union, strug-
gled to safeguard and strengthen this friendship
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and this was not a tactic, but a matter of prin-
ciple for us. Nevertheless, we did not allow wrong
actions and deviations in line to go uncriticized
when they appeared.

For us, the struggle against American im-
perialism and Yugoslav Titoism was a touch-
stone to assess the stands of Khrushchev and the
Khrushchevites with the Marxist eye. In fact
Khrushchev prattled against capitalism and
American imperialism, but we did not like those
half-dozen daily meetings and priyoms* with all
kinds of American senators, multi-millionaires
and businessmen. Khrushchev became a clown
who performed all day and every day, lowering
the dignity of the Soviet Union. _

«We have our foot on the neck of the foreign
enemy, he daren’t move, we can turn him to
ashes with atomic bombs,» he boasted in discour-
ses from morning till late into the night. His tac-
tic was to create euphoria within the country, to
build up the prestige of his clique in the coun-
tries of people’s democracy, and irrespectnife of
his bombastic words, to imply to the Americans
and world reaction: «We are no longer for the
world proletarian revolution, want to collaborate
closely with you, we need you and you must
understand that we are changing colour, and
making a major change of direction. We will have

* receptions (Russian in the original).
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difficulties in making this change, therefore, you
must help us in one way or another.»

On the Yugoslav question, which was clear
to us, and that is why we did not shift from our
stand, the Khrushchevites chopped and changed,
and ebbed and flowed like the tide. The Khrush-
chevites sometimes abused and sometimes kissed
the Yugoslav leaders. When they were abusing
the Titoites, the Soviet revisionists said we were
right, when they were kissing them, they tried
to make us soften our stand towards the Titoite
revisionists.

Khrushchev had his eyes fixed on the leader-
ship of Yugoslavia and wanted at all costs, if not
to subjugate it, to line it up on his side. Of course,
in Tito he was seeking both an ideological ally and
a leader whom he could take under his wings as
the «big brother» he was. In other words, Tito was
very dear to Khrushchev, because he was the
first to attack Stalin and reject Marxism-Lenin-
ism. In this direction they were in complete ac-
cord, but while the Belgrade chief operated open-
ly, Khrushchev wanted to retain his disguise. In
the international arena, Tito had become the
«communist» dear to American imperialism and
world capitalism, which lavished credits and aid
on him, so that he would howl against the Soviet
regime and the Soviet state and at the same time
sell Yugoslavia to foreign capital.

Khrushchev wanted to manoeuvre Tito in his
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favour, so that this American agent in Belgrade
would lower his tone a bit against the Soviet re-
gime and reduce the great ardour he was showing
to undermine the Soviet influence in the coun-
tries of people’s democracy, to spread the influ-
ence of his Khrushchevite revisionist ideas in
Yugoslavia and to restrain the Belgrade leader-
ship in its orientation towards the Western way
of life and American capital.

Tito, for his part, had long dreamed of shift-
ing the epicentre of the leadership of this alleged
communism from Moscow to Belgrade, and that
Belgrade should replace Moscow in Eastern and
South-eastern Europe. Tito’s scheme had made no
progress from the time he fell out with Stalin,
who detected and sternly attacked the diabolical
work of this renegade. Having the assistance of
the Americans, Tito brought out this plan again
when he saw that Nikita Khrushchev and his
group were smashing the work of Lenin and
Stalin.

Between these two chiefs of modern revision-
ism, Khrushchev and Tito, a long and complex
confrontation was to develop, sometimes gentle,
sometimes harsh, sometimes with attacks and
abuse, and sometimes with flattery and smiles.
But, regardless of the allegedly Marxist words
and slogans, regardless of Khrushchev’s vows
that he was fighting to restore Tito to the posi-
tions of Marxism-Leninism, both when they were
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quarrelling and when they were embracing, nei-
ther side acted on the basis or in the interests of
Marxism-Leninism. Anti-communism remained
the foundation of their relations; each of these
two brothers in revisionism was to do his outmost
to subjugate the other in his own interests, from
the positions of anti-communism.

Our Party was to follow this process, step by
step, with the greatest vigilance. As this process
developed, our Party was to become even more
convinced of what Khrushchev and the Khrush-
chevites were, and what they represented in the
Soviet Union and in the international communist
and workers’ movement.

We received the first warning signal that
the new Soviet leadership was changing the
former course in the direction of Yugoslav revi-
sionism in June 1954.

During the days of our stay in Moscow, the
Soviet leadership handed us a long letter, signed
by Khrushchev, addressed to the central commit-
tees of the sister parties, in which they informed
us about the conclusions which the Soviet leader-
ship had reached on the Yugoslav question. Al-
though the letter was dated June 4, and we had
been in Moscow for several days, and indeed on
June 8 had concluded the official talks with the
main Soviet leaders, they had not even men-
tioned to us the very important problem which
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they raised in this letter. Apparently, Khrushchev,
who was well aware of our resolute a}nd unwaver-
ing stand towards the Belgrade traitors, wanted
to act cautiously and gradually in regard to us.
Distorting the historical truth, Khr.ushchev
and company had reached the conclusion _thlat
Yugoslavia’s breaking away from the socialist
camp and the «isolation of the Yug_oslav workmg,
class from the ranks of the international workgrs
movement» were entirely due to the «b_reakmg
off of relations between the CPY and the interna-
tional communist movement» in 1948. According
to them, the stand that was taken in 1948 and
1949 towards the Yugoslav party was wrong, ‘pe—
cause this stand allegedly «forced the leading cir-
cles of Yugoslavia to make approaches to the U.SA
and Britain~(!), to conclude the «military-political
agreement with Greece and Tuykey» (the ]_Balka_n
Pact)', to make a «series of serious concessions to
capitalism», to move «towards th(? restoration of
capitalism», etc. In short, according to Khrush-
chev, since the Information Bureau too_k a severe
stand towards Yugoslavia, the later, EIth(lJI‘ from
resentment or from desire, went and sold itself to

1 Reference to the Tripartite Treaty of «Collaboration and
Friendship» signed in 1953 between Yugoslavia, Greece ‘and
Turkey. This Treaty, which in August 1954 was furned 1‘r11'0
a military pact, linked Yugoslavia with NATO of which,
Turkey and Greece were and are members.
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imperialism, like the bride who went to sleep
with the miller to spite her mother-in-law.

According to this logic of Khrushchev’s,
when our Party of Labour came into open con-
frontation and broke off contact with Khrush-
chevite revisionism, it would have to sell itself
and the country to imperialism, because other-
wise it could not exist! And we heard this later
from Khrushchev’s own mouth when he accused
us of selling ourselves «to imperialism for 30
pieces of silvers!

This was nothing but an anti-Marxist, capi-
talist logic. Our Party opposed Khrushchevite re-
visionism heroically, just as it had opposed Yugo-
slav revisionism earlier, and just as it fought
resolutely against any other variant of revision-
ism, but it did not sell out and never will sell out
to imperialism or anyone else, because as long as
a party considers itself and respects itself as a
genuine Marxist-Leninist party, whatever the
conditions and situations it is in, it never allows
itself to be bought or sold, but resolutely pursues
its course, the course of uncompromising struggle
against imperialism, revisionism and reaction.

Therefore, even if the Yugoslav leadership
had been unjustly condemned in 1949, as Khrush-
chev was claiming, nothing could permit or ju-
stify its falling into the lap of imperialism. On
the contrary, the fact that it further strengthened
its contacts with imperialism and world reaction,
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- very clearly that Stalin, the Communist
gﬂ';dof th{: Sovie{ Union, the Information Bu-
reau, our Party and all the other parties, were
right when they exposed and C(_)n.dcmngd it.

But Nikita Khrushchev, conmsten_t in 1_115 dg-
cision to rehabilitate the Belgrade‘ revisionists, in
his letter made the accusation against _the_ Inft__yrm—
ation Bureau, of course without mentioning it ‘l_)y
name, that in 1948 and in 1949, «all the pOSSﬂlbll-
ities were not exploited to the end..., ef;ort.s
were not made to settle the un'solved pro_bkems
and disagreements», a thing which, accl:o}."dmg_to
him, «would have avoided Yugoslavia’s going
over to the enemy camp». In the letter which he
handed us, Nikita Khrushchev went so far as to
say openly that «many of the problems which
served to cause differences between the Commun-
ist Party of the Soviet Union and the_ Communist
Party of Yugoslavia..., did not cons.tltute serious
reasons for dispute and even the misunderstand-
ings that had arisen could have been settled.»
Nothing could have pleased Tito and the .Yugoslgv
leadership more! With one stroke of his pencil,
Khrushchev cancelled out major problems of
principle which had been the. basis of Fhe strug-
gle against Yugoslav revisiomsr_m described _them
as «not serious reasons» and «misunderstandings»,
and hence, begged the traitors’ pardon bccause
they had allegedly been attacked over t_rlﬂesl

But who were to blame for these «misunder-
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standings~»? In his letter Khrushchev did not at-
tack the Information Bureau, Stalin, the Com-
munist Party of the Soviet Union, or the other
parties which supported the Information Bureau
decisions of 1949, by name. Apparently, he con-
sidered it still too early to make these attacks.
And those who were to blame were found to be
Beria among the Soviets, who with his actions
had caused «justifiable dissatisfaction among the
Yugoslav leadership», and Djilas among the Yu-
goslavs (who had been condemned by Tito in the
meantime), who «openly propagated liquidationist
views», was «an active partisan for the orienta-
tion of Yugoslavia towards the Western coun-
tries», etc.!

Thus, according to Khrushchev, the problem
turned out to be very simple. The breach with
Yugoslavia was based not on real reasons but on
fabricated pretexts, so «we wronged you for no-
thing and the culprits have been found: Beria on
our side, and Djilas on yours. Now we both have
condemned these enemies, therefore, all we have
to do is to kiss and make up and forget the past.»

How lightly this clown juggled with the is-
sues! But we, Albanian communists, who had
been fighting the Belgrade traitor clique tooth and
nail for more than ten years, who had experienc-
ed their evil-doings and courageously resisted
them, were not and could never be in agreement

with this solution of the Yugoslav problem. How-
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ever, it was still 1954. The open attack on Stalin
had not yet been launched. Nothing bad a‘oogt
him had been said openly, Khrushchev was still

using a very cunning and skilfully disguised de-

magogy, and to our eyes the Soviet Union retain-
ed the colours of the time of Stalin, though a little
faded. What is more, in this letter, which disturb-
ed us profoundly, Khrushchev vowed that every-
thing he did was «in favour of Marxism-Leninism
and socialism», that in their new view of the Yu-
goslav problem, the Soviet leadership and the
other sister parties had no aim other than «to
ruin the plans of the Anglo-American imperialists
and to utilize all the possibilities to strengthen
their own influence over the people of Yugosla-
via», «to exert a positive influence on the Yugo-
slav working class», ete. He added, also, that the
efforts of the Soviet side and other parties and
countries of people’s democracy would serve as a
new step to test «how ready and determined the
Yugoslav leaders are to follow the road of social-
1S,

All these things made us very wary and cau-
tious in our reply. During those days when we
were in Moscow, Comrade Hysni, the other com-~
rades of the delegation and I discussed the prob-
lem at length and finally gave the Soviet lead-
ership our reply in writing.

. In this reply, without openly opposing
Khushchev, we stressed our permanent stand
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towards the revisionist leadership in Belgrade,
emphasized the importance of the Information
Bureau decisions of 1948 and 1949! and did not
permit any allusion to the re-examination of the
stand adopted previously towards the deviations
in line of the Yugoslav leadership.

In our written reply we countered Khrush-
chev’s idea that the «breaking off of relations
drove the Yugoslav leaders into the lap of im-
perialism», with the thesis that it was the Yugo-
slav leaders themselves who betrayed Marxism-
Leninism and set their people and their homeland
on the course of enslavement and under the dic-
tate of Anglo-American imperialists, that it was
their anti-Marxist line which was the factor that
gravely damaged the vital interests of the peoples
of Yugoslavia, that it was they who took Yugo-
slavia out of the socialist camp, who changed the
Yugoslav party into a bourgeois party and isolated
it from the world movement of the proletariat.

While clearly pointing out these truths, we
went on to stress that we agreed that efforts
should be made by the communist parties to help
rescue the peoples of Yugoslavia from enslave-
ment and poverty, but we stressed once again that
in our opinion the Yugoslav leaders had gone a

I These decisions were published in the organ of the
Informative Bureau of the communist and workers’ parties
«For a Lasting Peace, for a People’s Democracy!», July 1, 1948,
No. 16, and November 29, 1949, No. 55,
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long way down their anti-Marxist road, the' road
of submission to American and British impe-
rialists.

With this we told Khrushchev indirectly that
we did not agree with the hopes and illusions
which he nurtured towards the Yugoslav leaders
and especially towards «Comrade Tito~», as he
began to call him. I expressed these opinions to
Khrushchev, also, in the next talk I had with
him, on June 23, 1954. However, he pretended
not to notice the different stands each of us
adopted over the Yugoslav problem. Perhaps he
did not want to create conflicts with us in the
first official meetings we had with him. Perhaps
he underrated us and did not bother his head
about our opposition. I remember that he was all
euphoria and spoke with the assurance of some-
one who has everything running smoothly. He
had just returned from a lightning visit to Cze-
choslovakia (he was a master of every kind of
visit: lightning, incognito, official, friendly, much
publicized. secret, day, night, announced and un-
announced, short, long, with his suite or quite
alone, etc.).

«In Prague,» he told me, «I took up the Yugo-
slav problem again with representatives of sev-
eral sister parties who were there. They were all
fully in agreement with me and considered the
efforts of our party very important.»

Then looking me right in the eye, he added:
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«Recently we, the Hungarians, the Bulga-
rians, Rumanians, and others have taken good
steps towards the normalization of relations with
Yugoslavia...»

I sensed why he stressed this. He wanted to
say to me: «See, we are all agreed, hence you Al-
banians should join us, too.»

I told him briefly that there is a very long
history of our relations with the Yugoslav party
and state, that the Yugoslav leadership itself was
to blame for ruining our relations, and that if the
Albanian-Yugoslav state relations were at a very
low ebb, this was no fault of ours but a conse-
quence of the unceasing anti-Marxist and anti-
Albanian stands and actions of the leaders in Bel-
grade,

«Konechno, konechno!»* said Khrushchev
jumping up and I understood that he did not want
me to go any further with the discussion of this
problem.

«We have taken all measures,» he said. «To-
morrow our ambassador in Yugoslavia goes to
meet Tito in Brioni. We think that there are great
possibilities of achieving our objective. If nothing
is achieved,» he said in conclusion, «then we still
have other methods.»

This is how the romance of the Khrushchev-
Tito love affair began. A few days later Khrush-

* Of course, of course (Russian in the original),
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chev handed his opinions or «conclusions» about
the «new analysis» of the Yugoslav problem in
writing to Tito. The latter, of course, was gloating
over the fact that things were developing with
Khrushchev just as he had envisaged, but, as the
sly old fox he was, he did not prove so foolish as to
throw himself into Khrushchev’s arms. On the
contrary, Tito schemed and worked to ensure that
Khrushchev, who had been the first to back down,
would also be the first to openly beg his pardon
in Belgrade. Moreover, Tito was up fo his neck
in the mire of imperialism, was bound hand and
foot, therefore if he were fo say the odd word
about «socialism~» and «Marxism» he had to do
this only to the extent that he was permitted by
his Western overlords, first of all the American
imperialists. After leaving Khrushchev on tenter-
hooks for some time, in order to play on the
strings which were out of tune, Tito finally re-
plied to him by the middle of August 1954, also
in writing.

The essence of the letter from the revisionist
in Belgrade was more or less this: I am pleased
that you, Nikita Sergeyevich, are proving to be a
reasonable and broad-minded man, but go a bit
further, come out more clearly for the new cour-
se of reconciliation and embraces. We Yugoslavs
agree that we should be reconciled, Tito told
Khrushchev, but as you know, we have taken up
with new friends with whom we have strong
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and deep links, therefore reconciliation with you
«must develop in the direction which responds to
our policy of international cooperation», that is
to say, the Yugoslavs’ links with imperialism
must not be damaged but must be further streng-
thened.

Likewise, in dictatorial tones, Tito did not
fail to set Khrushchev a series of other conditions
for their future relations:

First, Tito demanded that the Soviet side
should work harder to eliminate the «negative
elements» and remove the obstacles which had
exerted an influence on the break in 1948 and,
obviously, with this the «master» in Belgrade
was openly demanding that the whole correct
and principled line followed by the Information
Bureau, Stalin and the other communist parties
in 1948, should be revised.

Second, the coming reconciliation, dictated
Tito, must not imply «complete unanimity in our
assessment of and stand towards events», hence,
let us be reconciled, but let each of us act on his
own account, according to his own ideas.

Third, the road I follow and the road you
follow for the construction of «socialism», is a
matter for each of us to decide and must not in-
fluence the normalization of relations; hence, I
shall build «specific socialism» and you must ac-
cept this without any quibble.

Fourth, the causes of the conflict, said Tito,
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; sither Beria nor Djilas. The causes go
gleipglf;f‘hthemfore you, the Soviets, and the Othf‘gs
united with you, must completely abanldonq e‘
line of the time of Stalin, abandon your fmmelf
principles, because in this way the true causes o
the conflict are automatically overcome. :

Finally, Tito rejected Khrushche_v s proposa
on a bilateral top-level meeting, mak?ng th1<; con-
ditional «on the achievement oflpre.hmmdry suc-
cesses in the direction of normalization». The im-
plication was quite plain: if you want _to mpet 1r}ne
and come to terms with me, you must take IL%rt etr
steps on the course on which you h_av? se osu ;
must act more quickly and bolfily within th_e E[)—
viet Union and other countries and pal-"tfsh (01
spread and extend this «new» course, which ha

as his old course.
bcenzgﬁ ?[zhrushchev? sometimes a’ppa?entlyl re-
sentful and sometimes enthusiastic in h1§ a::tmns,
began to submit to and zealously apply Tito’s con-
iti ‘ orders. :
dltlo?ﬁsrr?gjgst us who followed this process \V}l]ﬂ:;
attention and concern, suspicions. 11’1cTre:ased tha
these stands were leading the Soviet qun on an
anti-Marxist course. Day by day we were becc:m:
ing more convinced that Kl?%rush(.:hev was cov $e
ing up a diabolical game with his clm.vmng. :
saw that he was lowering the prestige .of the
Soviet Communist Party and state by bending the
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knee to Tito*. We watched this with regret, but,
after all, the improvement of the relations be-
tween the Soviets and the Yugoslavs was their
internal problem and we had no reason to oppose
it. However, we were not and could never be in
agreement with his efforts to wipe out the past
and to treat the causes and reasons for the con-
demnation of the Yugoslav revisionists as some-
thing quite different from what they were in
fact. Likewise, we could not agree to become
Khrushchev’s partners in this dubious and danger-
ous ideological and political gamble, What the
Rumanians, the Hungarians and the Bulgarians
did was their affair. For out part, we were not
going to kiss and make up with the Titoites.
Apart from his own revisionist convictions,
Khrushchev was undoubtedly urged by Tito to
take this anti-Marxist step. He did not want to
bend the knee to Khrushchev, therefore he per-
sisted in his demand that Khrushchev should
come and bend the knee to him in Belgrade,
should go to make a self-criticism in Canossa
(Belgrade). And this is what was done. After a
year or so of secret and public contacts through
special envoys, after an intense and very intimate
exchange of correspondence between «Comrade
Khrushchev» and «Comrade Tito», in the end,

* See article «Khrushchev Knesling before Tito», Enver
Hoxha Selected Works vol. 3, the <«8 Néntori» Publishing
House, Tirana 1980, Eng. ed., pp. 479-493.
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i ril 1955, Tito sent the good news to h1.s
;11‘:3\? szweetheart that he was ready for L_her rr‘lﬁr—
riage and invited him to hold the «wedding c\,u?-f-
mony» either «on a ship on the Dgn_ube, or 1
you agree, in Belgrade. In our opim'on,»hcoxllé
tinued the kralj* of Belgrade, «the meeting s Ould
be open and made public.» Khrushchev couh
hardly wait to rush off to Belgrade, whﬁgr‘e_ e
kissed and embraced Tito, made a SQlf*Cl}flClSl‘I%
and «resolutely» wiped off the «accunmlalltlonﬂsh 0
the past», and opened the «epoch of frle'nda ip
between the two peoples and the two Qart@s».t
Our Party condemned Khr_ufshchevs gomg,i ho
Belgrade and especially his decision to cleansef. e
uncleansable Tito. Just two or three f:iays before
he set out for «Canossa», Khrushchev mformgd us
of the step he was about to take, but_w_e- ha hgx};
pected this, because the waters into whic
Khrushchev had plunged were bound to cﬂax;fy
him to that mill. To go or not to go to Belgr ah e£
that was his affair, let him do as he wished. W .}511)
revolted and profoundly disturbed us wa?, ;Ll (1,:
announcement he made in Lh_e same lett_e% t af
he had decided to annul as unjust the decision o
the Information Bureau of Noyember 1949, in
connection with the condemnation (?f the Yug‘q~
slav leadership, to communicate this new Qeuz
sion of his to Tito and to publish a commumqfu{:
about it in the organ «For La'stmg Peace, for
People’s Democracy!». In this communique,

* Kking.
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Khrushchev said that the communist and work-
ers’ parties, that were members of the Inform-
ation Bureau, had allegedly re-examined the
question of the third Resolution of the meeting
of the Information Bureau on the Yugoslav prob-
lem adopted in November 1949 and had decided
that the accusations contained in that resolution
against the leadership of the Yugoslav Commun-
ist Party should be considered as without founda-
tion and the resolution of the Information Bureau
on the Yugoslav question should be annulled.
We wrote a letter to the Central Committee
of the Communist Party of the Soviet Union on
this and protested sternly.! Such a decision about
an enemy of international communism, that had

1 «The daily experience of our Party in its relations
with the Yugoslavs», the letter read among other things,
«both before the breach with the Yugoslavs in 1948 and later,
to this day, proves clearly and completely with many incon-
stestable facts, that the principled content of all the resolu-
tions of the Information Bureau on the Yugoslav question has
been completely correct... In our opinion such a hasty (and
ill-considered) decision on an issue of great importance and
of principle, without first making a profound analysis toge-
ther with all the parties interested in this issue, and what
is more, the publication of it in the press and proclamation
of it in the talks in Belgrade, would not only be prema-
ture, but would also cause serious harm in the gene-
ral orientation... We are convinced that the pgeneral line
of our Party in its relations with Yugoslavia is correct. .. »
(From the letter of the CC of the PLA to the CC of the
CPSU, May 25, 1955, CAP).
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peen condemned jointly by all the partigsj could
not be taken unilaterally by the Communist Party
of the Soviet Union without consulting the other

parties, including ours. The other parties submit-

ted to the decision of Khrushchev and the desire
of Tito that, after Khrushchev, the leadersn of the
parties of the socialist camp should go to Belgra-
de, kiss Tito’s hand and beg his forgiveness. Dej
and company went there, but we did _npt. lWe
continued the struggle against the rfewsmmsts.
It was in vain for Levichkin, the Soviet f_:tmbas—
sador in Tirana, to come and try fo convince us
to withdraw our opposition. :
I received Levichkin and once again put for-
ward in principle to him wgat ;&fe had written in
letter to the Soviet leadership.
i Cz\Xmongst other things, I said, «The Commu-
nist Party of the Soviet Union h_as taught us_to
express our opinion openly a_nd smgerely, as in-
ternationalists, on any question which has to _do
with the line of the party. The Central Committee
of the Communist Party of the Soviet Union has
informed us in advance and sought our opinion,
too, on all matters which have to dov with our
common policy in connection Wlt.h_ Txugoslg\.fla.
We have carefully studied the opinions of the
Soviet leadership, have expressed our opinion on
these problems and, as you llmow, we }"iave
agreed that we should make efforts to improve
relations with Yugoslavia.»
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«But in your reply of yesterday you oppose
the new step of Comrade Khrushchev,» said Le-
vichkin.

«Yes,» I said, «and we have reasons for this.
We think that in connection with the Yugoslav
question there are many differences between the
content of earlier letters of the Soviet leadership
and that of the last letter.»

«To what differences do you refer?» asked
Levichkin. «I think the view of our party has not
altered.»

« Let us see,» I said, and took the letters of
the Soviet leadership. «Here, for example, in the
letter of June 4, 1954, your leadership writes:
‘Re-examining the materials which have to do
with the history of the breaking-off of relations
between the Yugoslav Communist Party and the
communist and workers’ parties, as well as Yugo-
slavia’s subsequent leaving the democratic camp,
the Central Committee of the Communist Party
of the Soviet Union holds that the leading nucleus
of the Yugoslav Communist Party has undoubted-
ly made serious departures from Marxism-Lenin-
ism, has slipped into the positions of bourgeois
nationalism and launched attacks against the So-
viet state. The leaders of the Yugoslav Commun-
ist Party also extend their hostile policy, in re-
gard to the Soviet Union, to the countries of
people’s democracy, towards which, up till before
the break of relations, they maintained a boastful
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and disdainful stand, while seeking f_or ther.nﬂ
selves recognition of priorities and special merits
which they did not have. : ]
«That letter also stresses,» I told Levichkin,
«that ’the criticism which the communist a_nd
workers’ parties made of the nationalist dev_laq
tions and other deviations from Marxism—Lenm—
ism of the leaders of the Yugoslav Communist
Party was necessary and completely correct. It
contributed to tempering the communist and
workers’ parties from the Marxist aspect, to
sharpening the vigilance of communists ax_qd to
their education in the spirit of proletarian inter-
nationalism’.» Fiodnli
«That is true,» murmured Levichkin. _
«Even after the initial efforts of the SOYIG'E
leadership to improve relations with Yugo.slawa',»
I continued, «the Yugoslav leadership persisted in
its former course and stands and, only iwo or
three months ago, in February this year, thg So-
viet comrades wrote to us that 'the 1eadersh1pl0f
the Yugoslav party is seriously entangled with
the capitalist world in its political and economic
relations’.» :
«That is true, that is true!» repeated Levich-
kin in a low voice.

b 1«Then how did the opinion and stgnd of the
Soviet leadership towards these very 1mport£3?r;1t
problems change so surprisingly and sulddenly. >
I asked. «And how can they so readily take a
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unilateral decision such as that to throw out the
1949 decision of the Information Bureau?!

«Our Political Bureau discussed the prob-
lems which are raised in your letter of May 23
with great attention and concern and in our reply
we openly and sincerely expressed a series of
opinions to Comrade Khrushchev.

«First, we think that the general line, the
main content and principle of the November 1949
Resolution of the Meeting of the Information
Bureau, is correct and the content of this resolu-
tion should not be taken separately from the re-
solution published in July 1948. The daily expe-
rience of our Party in our relations with the Yu-
goslavs, both before the break with them in 1948
and to this very day, confirms this correctness.

«5Second, the procedure, which is proposed
to follow for the cancellation of the November
1949 Resolution of the Meeting of the Information
Bureau, does not seem to us correct. It seems to
us that the very short time allowed the commun-
ist and workers’ parties, members of the Infor-
mation Bureau, to express their views in connec-
tion with the content of your letter is inadequate
to decide such an important matter as that which
is raised in the letter. In our opinion, such a
hasty decision on a matter of major importance
of principle, without first making a thorough
analysis, together with all the parties interested
in this question, and moreover, the publication of
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this decision in the press and its announcement in
the Belgrade talks, would not only be premature,
but would cause serious harm in the general
orientation in connection with Yugoslavia.

«In regard to our Party of Labour, for seven
years it has been fighting to implement its general
line in regard to Yugoslavia, which is founded on
the resolutions of the Information Bureau and
endorsed by the 1st Congress of our Party.! We
are convinced that the general line of our Party
in connection with relations with Yugoslavia is
correct, but even if we thought for one moment
that there is something to be changed in this line,
for this the congress of the Party would have to
be called together, or at least a conference of the
Party, and the change could be made oply after
first thoroughly analysing the general line of all
the communist and workers’ parties in regard to
Yugoslavia as well as the decisions and conclu-
sions of the Information Bureau.

«Therefore,» I said to Levichkin in conclu-
sion, «we propose that the matters which are
raised in the recent letter of the Soviet le-adersmp
should be analysed at a meeting of the parties
which participate in the Information Bureau, in
which our Party, too, could possibly take part
and have its say. Only there can a joint decision
on this question be taken.»

1 It was held on 8-22 November, 1948.
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Levichkin, who had gone pale as he listened
to me, tried to convince me to change my opinion,
but when he saw my insistence he retreated:

«I shall report what you have said to me to
the leadership of the party.»

«We have written everything I told you in
our letter to Comrade Khrushchev,» I concluded,
«but I repeated it to you, too, to make clear to
you what impelled us to adopt this stand.»

Our opposition was completely correct and
within the Marxist-Leninist norms of relations be-
tween parties. We were well aware how correct,
substantiated and well based were the analyses
and decisions of the Information Bureau and the
Central Committee of the Communist Party of
the Soviet Union in connection with the Yugoslav
problem during the years 1948 and 1949. When
the decision was taken fo condemn the anti-Marx-
ist activity of the Yugoslav leadership, we were
not members of the Information Bureau. How-
ever, during that period, Stalin, the CPSU and
the other parties that were members of the In-
formation Bureau frequently consulted us and
listened carefully to what we had to say in con-
nection with our relations with the Yugoslav lea-
dership. Stalin and his comrades did this, not only
because ours were sister parties and, according to
the Leninist norms, there should be wide-ranging
and exhaustive exchanges of opinions, but also
due to the important fact that, because of the spe-

128

cial links we had had since the wartime years
with the Yugoslav leadership, we had a lot to say
about it.

Among the many meetings and consultations
on this problem was my incognito meeting with
Vyshinsky in Bucharest, at which Dej was also
present. There we exchanged opinions about the
common stand we should adopt towards the trea-
cherous activity of the Yugoslav leadership. The
many incontestable arguments and facts which I
brought to that meeting were valued very highly
by Vyshinsky and Dej, who described them as a
valuable contribution which our Party made to
better knowledge of the hostile and anti-Marxist
activity of the Belgrade leaders. This is not the
place to speak at length about that meeting, from
which I have many memories.” I mention it only
to show with what great care and wisdom Stalin
and the Information Bureau acted at that time in
the analyses they made and the decisions they
took.

Now quite the opposite was occurring with
Khrushchev and the other Soviet leaders. Preci-
sely those who were now condemning the Infor-
mation Bureau and Stalin for allegedly having
acted and judged matters in an incorrect way,
were trampling with both feet over the most ele-

* See Enver Hoxha, The Titoites (Historical. Notes), the
«8 Néntori» Publishing House, Tirana 1982, Eng. ed., DD.
509-542.
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mentary rules of relations between parties, were
posing as indisputable masters who did not deign
to seek the opinion of others. This could not fail
to dismay and worry us.

Levichkin came to see us several other times
during those days. Apparently they were urgently
demanding from the centre that he convinced us
to give up our opinions and reconcile ourselves
to Khrushchev’s stands. Those were very difficult
and grave moments. From what we could see,
Khrushchev must have reached agreement in ad-
vance with the leaderships of other parties over
what he was going to do in Belgrade. Thus our
proposal that the Information Bureau should meet
to examine the problem in detail, would fall on
deaf ears. After we discussed the matter at length
in the Political Bureau, we decided that I should
summon Levichkin once more to make our stand
clear to him. I met him on May 27, one of the days
on which Khrushchev was in Belgrade, and the
things which I told Levichkin were also written
in a second letter to the Soviet leadership. Later,
Khrushchev used this letter of ours as an «argu-
ment» allegedly to prove that we were wrong in
our first letter of May 25, and that two days later
we allegedly made a «self-criticism» and «re-
treated» from our former opinion. But the essen-
ce of the truth is not as Khrushchev and com-
pany said. .

Both in the meeting with Levichkin on May
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27, and in the second letter to the Soviet leader-
ship, we explained once again why we were in
open opposition to them on this occasion.

In this letter we again stressed to the Soviet
leadership that although we had been and were
agreed that every effort must be made to solve the
disagreements over principles with Yugoslavia in
a Marxist-Leninist way, we were still convinced
that the Yugoslav leaders would neither recognize
their grave mistakes, nor abandon their course.

We have been and continue to be particularly
sensitive on the Yugoslav question and especially
towards the anti-Marxist activity of the leader-
ship of the Yugoslav Communist Party, we said
in the letter, because this hostile activity against
the Soviet Union, the countries of people’s demo-
cracy and the whole movement of the proletariat
has been carried out in a specially ferocious way-
against our Party and the sovereignty of our
Homeland.

Seeing the problem in this way, we con-
tinued, when we read that part of your letter
which says that eventually it might be commun-
icated to the Yugoslavs that the Resolution of
the Information Bureau of November 1949 should
be revoked and that a communiqué about this
would be published in the organ «For Lasting
Peace, for People’s Democracy», we were pro-
foundly shocked and said that if this were done it
would be a very grave mistake. We considered

131




that this Resolution should not be revoked, be-
cause it reflects the logical development of the
hostile and anti-Marxist activity of the leadership
of the Yugoslav Communist Party in practice.
This is how we reason: if this Resolution is
annulled, all that has been written there is can-
celled out, and the trials of Rajk in Hungary and
Kostov in Bulgaria, for example, are also annul-
led. By analogy the trial of the traitor gang head-
ed by Koci Xoxe and company' ought to be
annulled, too. The hostile activity of the traitor

1 Reference to the trials of Lazslo Rajk, former minister
of internal and, later, external affairs of Hungary, to the
trial of Trayko Kaostov, former deputy chairman of the
Council of Ministers of Bulgaria, and other agents provoca-
teurs in the countries of former people’s democracy. They
had been recruited by the secret services of the imperialist
ctountries and later also by the Yugoslav secret service,

The Tiioites carried out secret service activities also
against socialist Albania recruiting, among others, Kogi Xoxe,
and, as it came out later Mehmet Shehu, too. The Ilatter
was formerly recruited for the American intelligence service
by Harry Fultz, director of the American Polytechnical school
in Albania. On orders from Fultz, Mehmet went to Spain
and, after three years in the refugee eamps in Cyprien, Cours
and Vernet in France where he was recruited by the British
Intelligence service, too, he returned to Albania. In the
course of the National Liberation War he was recruited by
the Yugoslav Trotskyites and, subsequently, by the Soviet
revisionists. (See Enver Hoxha «The Titoites» (Historical no-
tes), the «8 Néntori» Publishing House, Tirana 1982, Eng.
@d., pp. 567-633).
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gang of Koci Xoxe had its source in and was link-
ed with the anti-Marxist, liquidationist and bour-
geois-nationalist work of the leadership of the
Yugoslav Communist Party. The just and prin-
cipled struggle against this hostile activity was one
of the directions of the line of our Party at its 1st
Congress. «We will never budge from this correct
line,» we stressed in the letter. Hence, we thought
that if this Resolution is annulled as wrong, not
only will the truth be distorted but a grave si-
tuation will be created for our Party, confusion
will be created, anti-party and enemy elements
will be encouraged to become active against our
Party and state, as well as against the Soviet
Union. We can never allow such a situation to be
created.

We went on to say to the Soviet leadership:
«We have been in a grave situation and we regret
that, on this point, we cannot be of the same
opinion as you.»

That was the essence of the content of our
second letter to the Soviet leadership.

If there is any room to use the word «re-
treat» in regard to this, the only such thing on our
part was the non-repetition of the proposal that a
meeting of the Information Bureau should be or-
ganized first. By this time this proposal would
have been valueless, because Khrushchev had
made the whole affair a fait accompli and had
left for Belgrade. On the other hand, although
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we expressed our opinion in defence of principles,
we could not come out openly against the Soviet
leadership and the others at a time when the
problem was still developing. However, we made
our vigilance even sharper and kept our eyes
even wider open. For us, both in the past and
even after this, the stand towards the revisionists
of Belgrade has been and still is the touch-stone
to prove whether a party is following a sound
Marxist line or a wrong anti-Marxist line. In the
future, we were to put Khrushchev and the
Khrushchevites to this test.

Not long after this event, in the summer of
1955, I received a most pressing invitation to go
«for a holiday in the Soviet Union».

In Stalin’s time I went there for work and
very rarely for a holiday. In Khrushchev’s time
they began to put such pressure on us to go for
holidays that it was difficult to refuse, because
the Soviets, for their part, put the matter forward
on the political plane. However, I did not like to
go because, in fact, I could not rest there and it
took a lot of time. To go to Moscow we had to
travel eight days by ship from Durrés to Odessa,
and the ships («Kotovsky» and «Chiatura») were
not big and rolled heavily. Two more days were
needed for the train trip from Odessa to Moscow
and one day by aircraft from Moscow to the Cau-
casus (to go to Kislovodsk, ete.), that is, a trip of
eleven days each way, plus several days of meet-
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ings, so you can see what sort of holidays they
Werebnce in Moscow the meetings witlf' the Sov-
i aders would begin, but these meetings were
1?(;5 11eonger pleasant like those with Stalin. NO\T’v
they were held sometimes with smothered anger,
sometimes with open flare-ups. :

This is what occurred on this occasion. As
soon as I arrived in Moscow I had two meetings

' uslov.
Wlthli his opening words he told me that we
would talk about the Yugoslav problem and
stressed in a dictatorial tone.

«The leadership of your party must take
careful account of this question, it must not look
at the Yugoslav problem in a rigid way.»

I did not take my eyes off him as I listened.
Sensing my displeasure, he back-pedalled a
little: _ _

«Their mistakes remain mistakes,» he said,
«but our objective is to become frien@s and to
advance the friendship with Yugoslavia. At its
last meeting, our Central Committeelonce again
analysed our relations with Yugoslavia,» h{_e con-
tinued, «and we shall give the report delivered
there to you personally, because it is top se-
cret.» :

He was silent for a moment, trying to assess
what impression his words were making on me,
and then went on:
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«The main problem is that the Central Com-
mittee of the Communist Party of the Soviet
Union has examined the Yugoslav question in a
realistic light, bearing in mind the traitorous
work of Beria, and we made self-criticism about
this. Our Central Committee came to the conclu-
sion that the breaking off of relations with Yugo-
slavia was a mistake, that is, we were hasty.»

«In what way, hasty?!» I said. <At that time,
thorough analyses were made, long and thorough
discussions were held and the true ideological
and political causes of the existing disagreements
were uncovered-»

«The main cause for this break,» continued
Suslov, «was not the ideological issues, although
they were making mistakes, and they have been
pointed out openly to the Yugoslavs. The main
cause lies in the slanders that were made against
the Yugoslav leaders and in our lack of patience.
The Yugoslavs’ mistakes of principle should have
been discussed, backed up by facts, and ironed
out. This was not done.

«From all the facts examined,» he con-
tinued, «it turns out that there is no basis at all
for saying that the Yugoslav comrades have
deviated and have sold Yugoslavia, just as it does
not turn out that the Yugoslav economy is de-
pendent on foreigners.» '

«Pardon me,» I said, <but let us not go back
to those things we have analysed and decided in
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1948 and 1949. Let us take only your correspond-
ence with the Yugoslav leadership during the
last two years. Not only in several of your letters,
but the Yugoslavs themselves in their letters, ad-
mit that they have created strong links with the
West. What are we to think now of your opposite
assessment of these matters?»

«A number of mistakes have been made, but
they must be examined carefully,» said Suslov,
and started to list a series of «arguments» to
convince me that the Yugoslav leaders were al-
legedly not on a wrong road. Naturally he also
tried to lay the blame on Beria and Djilas and
the efforts of imperialism «to attach Yugoslavia
to itself».

«Molotov, too, has maintained a very sec-
tarian stand on this problem,» continued Suslov.
«He personally made mistakes in state relations
with Yugoslavia while insisting that it was the
Yugoslav comrades that made the mistakes. How-
ever, the Central Committee demanded that Mo-
lotov proved where the Yugoslavs had been
wrong, and we criticized him severely for his
stand. Finally he, too, expressed his solidarity
with the Central Committees.

I began to speak and gave a detailed pres-
entation of our relations with the Yugoslav leader-
ship, beginning from the years of the National
Liberation War. I mentioned their main activities
as an anti-Albanian agency, which they had un-
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dertaken and were undertaking against us' con-
tinually, and I concluded by saying:

«It is these and many other facts, one more
grave than the other, which convince us that the
Yugoslav leadership has not been and is not on
the right road. Nevertheless, we have always
been and still are in favour of developing state
relations with them normally.»

«Agreed, agreed!» said Suslov. «We must act
with open hearts. This is in the interest of our
camp; we must not allow the imperialists to take
Yugoslavia from us.»

At the end of this meeting, as though in pas-
sing, he said to me: '

«During past years you have condemned
many enemies, accused of links with the Yugo-
slavs. Have a look at their cases and rehabilitate
those that ought to be rehabilitated.»

«We have never accused and condemned
anyone for nothing,» I said bluntly, and as we
parted, he instructed me to be «more broad-
minded».

It was clear why they had invited me to come

1 From 1948 to 1955 the Yugoslav secret service smuggled
into or organized in Albania 307 gangs of agents, wreckers
and criminals who were all captured or wiped out. During
the same period the Yugoslav secret service in collaboration
with the Western secret services set up and directed in our
country groups or organizalions of secret agents who were
eventually discovered and wiped out.
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for a holiday. However, the Khrushchevites did
not content themselves just with this. They had
hatched up diabolical plans to compel our Party,
too, to follow their course of conciliation with
the revisionists of Belgrade. This time they had
put me in a villa outside Moscow, which, as they
told me, had been Stalin’s villa. It was a simple
house, all the main rooms were on the ground
floor, including our suite, which was separated
from the entrance hall by a glass door. On the
right were the dining room, the study, and the
sitting or reception room which, I remember, had
very little furniture. On the left, through a cor-
ridor and a room with sofas around the walls, one
entered the cinema room. The garden outside had
been neglected, there was very little in the way
of flowers and greenery. There were no trees for
shade, but they had built a small semi-circular
besedlka® with seats, which were also semi-cir-
cular, attached to the pillars built around the
curve, where the children played. Beside the
house there was a small vegetable garden. In this
house one night we heard a loud knock at the
glass door which led to our suite. My wife, Nexh-
mije, got up quickly, thinking that our son was
not well, since he had fallen over that day and
had hurt his hand. She went out, immediately
returned and said to me:

#* Pavilion (Russian in the original).
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«It’s one of the officers of the guard —
Mikoyan wants you on the telephone.»

I was sleepy and asked what time it was.

«Half past twelve,» said Nexhmije.

I put something over my shoulders and went
into the study to the telephone. Mikoyan, at the
other end of the line, did not beg my pardon for
ringing me up after midnight, but said to me-

«Comrade Enver, Comrade Svetozar Vukma-
novi¢-Tempo' is here in Moscow and I was with
him till now. You know him and it would be
good if you were to meet; he is ready to meet you
tomorrow.»

For a time I remained silent on the telepho-
ne, while Mikoyan who had no intention of ask-
ing, said: «Tomorrow then, you agree » in a tone
as if he were giving an order to the party secret-
ary of an oblast*,

«How could I agree to this, Comrade Miko-
yan,» I said. «I talked with Comrade Suslov, and

1 Former member of the Yugoslav leadership. In the
course of the National Liberation War he was Tito’s «roving
ambassador» to the Balkan countries to achieve the Panslav
chauvinist aims of the Titoite cliqgue and disrupt the com-
munist parties and national liberation movements in those
countries. He maintained a savage anti-Marxist and anti-
Albanian stand both during the war and after liberation
from the nazi-fascist occupiers. (See Enver Hoxha, The Titoi-
tes (Historical notes), the «8 Né&ntori» Publishing House,
Tirana 1982, Eng. ed. pp. 43-74. 89-103, 362-363).

* region (Russian in the original),
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expressed the view of our Party about the posi-
tion of Yugoslavia and Tito.»

Mikoyan began to deliver a standard mono-
logue about «socialist Yugoslavia», abou_t Tito
who was «a fine chap», about Beria’s_mlstakes
and the sins they had allegedly committed (the
Soviet Union and the information Bureau), and
then he concluded:

«You ought to take this step, Comrade En_ver.
You know Tempo, talk with him and_try to iron
out your differences, because this is in your in-
terest and in the interest of the camp. You, too,
must help ensure that Yugoslavia does not go over
to the imperialist camp... So, you agree, tomor-
roOwW.» .

_ «All right, I agree, tomorrow,» I replied,
clenching my teeth in rage. I went back to bed but
I was so disgusted over these backstage manoeu-
vres and faits accomplis which the Khz‘ushche\_f—
ites were hatching up in the course of their
betrayal that I could not sleep. I had met Tempo
twice in Albania during the time of the war and
both times we had quarrelled, because he was
arrogant and a real megalomaniac. He made un-
founded accusations against our war and the
people who led it, or made absurd pro‘pos'als
about the «Balkan Staff-», without mentioning
how this staff was to function in those conditions,
when we could communicate from one zone to
the other within the country only with difficulty,
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let alone mentioning the ulterior motives hidden
behind the organization of this «staff», What was
I to say to Tempo now, after all those things
which Tito, Rankovie, their envoys Velimir Stoy-
nic, Nijaz Dizdarevic and their agents Koci Xoxe
and Co.,” had done to us? Must we swallow this
too?! I tossed and turned sleepless all night think-
ing about what should be done. The time had not
come yet to seltle accounts with the Khrushche-
vite revisionists.

The next day we met Tempo. I began to
speak about those things that had occurred.

«Let bygones be bygones,» he said and
began to speak about the situation in Yugoslavia.
He told me that they had made progress in the
sector of industry but were short of raw materials.

«Qur agriculture is in a very bad states», he
said, «we are very far behind, therefore, we think
we should devote more forces to it. The mistakes
we have made in agriculture have left us hard
pressed.»

He went on to tell me about the difficulties
they had had and said that they had been obliged
to accept aid at heavy interest rates from the
Western countries.

«Now the Soviet Union is helping us and
our agreement with the Soviets is going well,» he
concluded.

* See Enver Hoxha The Titoites (Historical Notes), the «&
Néntori» Publishing House, Tirana 1982, Eng. ed.
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1, too, spoke about the progress which our
country had made during this time and the dif-
ficulties which we had had and still had. I spoke
about the commission on the Ohri Lake, in which
the discussions were being dragged on by their
side, but he told me he knew nothing about it be-
cause «these were the plans of the Macedonians.»

«Nevertheless, we must look more carefully
at the question of the Shkodra Lake where the
benefits will be greater for both sides, especially
for your side,» he added.

And that is how the meeting which the
Soviets had arranged between Tempo and me,
passed. After this meeting, when I met Mikoyan
and Suslov, they both said to me:

«You did well to meet Tempo because the
ice has been broken.»

According to them, the mountain of ice
created between us and the Titoite revisionists
could be broken with one chance meeting or con-
tact, but this was not our opinion. There would
be no «spring thaw» in the ideological field in
our relations with Yugoslavia and we had no in-
tention of plunging into the murky waters of the
Khrushchevites and the Titoites.
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5. THE «MOTHER PARTY» WANTS TO BE
THE CONDUCTOR

Khrushchev seeks hegemony in the world
communist movement, His attack on the Comin-
tern and the Information Bureau. The Khrush-
chevites extend their tentacles to other parties.
The sudden deaths of Gottwald and Bierut.
Unforgettable memories from the meeting with
Dimitrov and Kolarov. Correct but formal rela-
tions with Rumania. The opporiunist zig-zags
of the Rumanian leadership. Pleasant impres-
sions from Czechoslovakia: wandering at will
and visits to historical sites. Suffocating atmos-
phere everywhere in the Soviet Union. The
chinovniki surround us everywhere. Our rela-
tions with the East Germans.

I spoke earlier about the «lecture» which
Khrushchev gave me on the role of the first sec-
retary of the party and the «opinion» which he
had expressed to the Polish comrades about the
replacement of Bierut by Ochab in this post. This

10 — 23 A 145




fact not only astounded me but seemed to me
completely unacceptable, as a tactless undertak-
ing (to put it mildly) towards a sister party.

Further developments were to make clear to
us and convince us that such «undertakings» were
Khrushchev’s normal forms of «work» to put the
international communist movement under his
personal domination.

This activity did not lack its demagogic cloak.
The essence of this demagogy was: «Stalin kept
the communist and workers’ parties in his grip
through force, through terror, and dictated actions
to them in the interests of the Soviet Union and
to the detriment of the world revolution». Krush-
chev was for struggle against the Comintern, ex-
cept, allegedly, for the period when Lenin was
alive. For Krushchev and the other modern revi-
sionists, the Comintern operated simply as a «So-
viet agency in the capitalist countries». Their
opinion, which was not expressed openly, but was
implied, was in complete accord with the mon-
strous accusations of capitalism and the reaction-
ary bourgeoisie throughout the world, that fought
the proletariat and the new communist parties
formed after the betrayal by social-democracy
and the Second International.

By means of the Comintern, Lenin, and later
Stalin, consolidated dhe communist and workers’
parties and strengthened the struggle of the pro-
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letariat against the bourgeoisie and the rising fas-
cist dictatorship. The activity of the Comintern
was positive and revolutionary. The possibility
that some mistakes may have been made is not
ruled out, but it is necessary to bear in mind the
difficult circumstances of illegality in which the
parties and the leadership of the Comintern itself
were obliged to work, as well as the fierce struggle
waged against the communist parties by imperial-
ism, the bourgeoisie and reaction. The true rev-
olutionaries never forget that it was the Comintern
which assisted to set up and strengthen the com-
munist parties after the betrayal by the Second
International, just as they never forget that the
Soviet Union of Lenin and Stalin was the country
in which hundreds of revolutionaries found refuge
to escape the reprisals of the bourgeoisie and
fascism and carry on their activity.

In his assessment of the work of the Comin-
tern and Stalin, Khrushchev also had the support
of the Chinese, who continue to make criticisms,
although not publicly, in this direction. When we
have had the opportunity, we have expressed our
opinion about these incorrect assessments of the
overall work of the Comintern and Stalin to the
Chinese leaders. When I had the opportunity to
talk with Mao Zedong, during my only visit to
China, in 1956, or in the meetings with Zhou En-
lai and others in Tirana, I have expressed the
well-known viewpoint of our Party about the
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figure of Stalin* and the Comintern. I do not
want to extend on these matters because I have
written about them at length in my political
diary and elsewhere.

_ The decisions of the Comintern and Dimit-
rov’s direction-giving speech in July 1935 have
gone down in the history of the international com-
munist movement as major documents which mo-
bilized the peoples, and first of all the commun-
ists, to create the anti-fascist front and to organize
themselves for armed struggle against Italian fas-
cism, German nazism and Japanese militarism. In
this struggle, the communists and their parties
were in the forefront everywhere,

Therefore, it is a crime to attack the great
work of the Comintern and the Marxist-Leninist
authority of Stalin, which played a major role in
the creation and the organizational, political and
ideological consolidation of the communist and
workers’ parties of the world, For its part, the
Bolshevik Party was a powerful aid for those par-
ties, and the Soviet Union, with Stalin at the
head, was a great potential in support of the
revolution in the international arena.

Imperialism, the capitalist bourgeoisie and its
fascist dictatorship fought the Soviet Union, the
Bolshevik Party and Stalin, with all their might,
waged a stern struggle against the Comintern and

* See Enver Hoxha, Selected Works, vol. 4, the «8 Néntori»
Publishing House, Tirana 1982, Eng. ed. pp. 34-48.
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the communist and workers’ parties of every
country and ruled the working class with terror,
bloodshed and demagogy.

When nazi Germany attacked the Soviet
Union, the communist and workers’ parties of va-
rious countries took up arms, united with the
other patriots and democrats in their own coun-
tries and fought the fascist invaders. Because of
this natural struggle, the enemies of communism
said: «The communist and workers’ parties have
put themselves in the service of Moscow.» This
was a slander. The communist and workers’ par-
ties fought for the liberation of their own peoples,
fought for the working class and people to take
power. In the great alliance of the anti-fascist
war, the sympathies of these parties were with
the Soviet Union, because it was the most relia-
ble guarantee for the victory.

It was Stalin himself, who on behalf of the
Executive Committee of the Comintern, announ-
ced the decision for the disbanding of the Comin-
tern and the reason given was that no further
need was felt for its existence. This stand was
completely correct, because by that time, the
communist and workers’ parties had become
mature and militant, had been tempered in class
battles and in the great war against fascism and
had gained colossal experience. Now, each party
could march on its own feet and had Marxism-
Leninism as its unerring guide.
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% After the Second World War the Information
Bureau of communist and workers’ parties was
formed.! It was necessary to create this, because
tbe parties of socialist countries and those of ca-
pitalist countries, especially of Europe, needed to
exchange’their very valuable experience. The ex-
chapge of experience between our parties was es-
pecially necessary in the unsettled period imme-
t;hately after the war, when American and British
1mpe_.r1_alism wanted to interfere by any means in
the internal affairs of the countries which had
won their freedom.

Reaction, and Tito and the Titoites, later
wanted and fought to place the countries of East-
ern Europe in a dilemma; with the assistance of
'_Fhe British, they tried to bring reaction to power
in Czechoslovakia and to bring about the same
thing in Albania, Rumania, Poland and elsewhere

i The «Marxist» Tito made a major issue of the
?\-*engzia Giulia province, claiming that the Sov-
1ef£ Union was not assisting him to take this pro-
vince, which he described as entirely Yugoslav
while this same «Marxist» not only did not raisé
the issue of Kosova, which was truly Albanian, in
order to give it to Albania fo which it belonged
but did his utmost to prevent any talk about itj
The Belgrade clique massacred people from Ko-
sova, alleging that they were Ballists, and later

1 September 1947.
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also attempted to gobble up the whole of Albania
and turn it into the seventh republic of Yugoslavia.
The Information Bureau uncovered the
treachery of the Yugoslav revisionists and this
was one of its historic deeds and a tribute to the
revolutionary vigilance of Stalin. Tito was ex-
posed and condemned with ample, incontestable
facts and subsequent events completely confirmed
his betrayal. In this just action, which came after
a patient stand, first with comradely explanation,
then with rebuke and finally, with condemna-
tion, all the communist and workers’ parties took
part, not because they «submitted to the arbitrary
decision of Stalin», as has been slanderously alle-
ged, but because they were convinced by the
true facts which were brought out about the be-
trayal of the Yugoslav chiefs. Later, all these par-
ties, apart from the Party of Labour of Albania,
ate the very words which they themselves had
said and endorsed against Tito and Titoism. One
after another, the chiefs of these parties made
self-criticism, went on pilgrimages to him, kissed
his hand, begged his forgiveness and declared that
he was a «genuine Marxist-Leninist», while ac-
cording to them, Stalin was «an anti-Leninist, a
criminal, an ignoramus and a dictator>.
Khrushchev’s plan, as all his work and his
successive actions showed, was to rehabilitate Tito
by going to Belgrade and denouncing Stalin for
the «crime» and the «mistake» which he had
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allegedly committed in this direction. In order to
carry this problem through to the end, Khrush-
chev took his unilateral decision and liquidated
the Information Bureau, without asking anyone
about it. He dropped thison us as a fait accompli*
at one of the meetings which was organized in
the Kremlin over a problem which had nothing
at all to do with the Information Bureau.

Khrushchev announced the decision, and
while administering the last rites to the Infor-
mation Bureau said: «When I informed Nehru of
this, he was pleased and told me that it was a
wise decision which everybody would approve.»
The big Indian reactionary heard the news of
the break-up of the Information Bureau before
our communist parties (!). This fact, too, apart
from others, showed what this renegade, this
revisionist-Trotskyite, who had come to the head
of the Soviet Union and the Communist Party of
the Soviet Union, was.

With cunning Trotskyite forms and methods,
such as flattery, blackmail, criticisms and threats,
Khrushchev aimed to get control of the whole
world communist movement, to have all the
other parties under his «conductor’s baton», and
they, without his telling them openly, were to
proclaim the Communist Party of the Soviet
Union the «mother party», and moreover to

* French in the original.
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think as Liri Belishova,” a secret agent of the
Soviet revisionists whom we exposed later, put
it, that «Khrushchev is our father»(!). This is the
direction in which Khrushchev and the Krush-
chevites worked.

Of course, the Khrushchevites had begun
this work when Stalin was still alive, behind his
back. We base this conviction on the experience
of our relations with the Soviet leaders, the arro-
gant, huckster’s stand of Mikoyan and some
others.

After Stalin’s death, their attack to destroy
socialism in the other countries mounted conti-
nuously. Both in the Soviet Union and in Bulga-
ria, Czechoslovakia, Poland, Rumania, and Hun-
gary, as well as in Albania, Khrushchev began
to incite the disguised and undisguised anti-Marx-
ist elements. Wherever these elements were in
the leadership, Khrushchev and company strug-
gled to get these elements under their control,
and where they were not in the leadership, to put
them there by eliminating the sound leaders
through intrigues, putsches or even assassina-
tions, as they wanted to do with Stalin (and it is
very likely they did this)-

Immediately after the death of Stalin, Gott-
wald died. This was a sudden, surprising death!

% See Enver Hoxha, Albania Challenges Khrushchev Revi-
sionism, Gamma Publishing Co., New York, USA, October
1976, First Eng. ed., pp. 88-101.
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It had never crossed the minds of those who
knew Gottwald that this strong, agile, healthy
man would die... of a flu or a chill allegedly
caught on the day of Stalin’s funeral ceremony.

I knew Gottwald. When I went to Czecho-
slovakia and met him in Prague, we talked at
length about our problems. He was a modest, sin-
cere comrade, not a man of many words. I felt I
could talk to him freely; he listened to me atten-
tively, puffing away at his pipe and spoke with
much sympathy about our people and our fight,
and promised me that they would help us in the
building of industry. He promised me neither
mountains nor miracles, but a very modest credit
which Czechoslovakia accorded us.

«This is all we can do,» he said. «Later,
when we have our economy going, we shall
re-examine matters with you.»

Gottwald, an old friend and comrade of Sta-
lin and Dimitrov, died suddenly. This grieved
us, but also surprised us.

Later came the equally unexpected death of
Comrade Bierut, not to mention the earlier death
of the great George Dimitrov. Dimitrov, Gottwald
and Bierut, all died in Moscow. What a coinci-
dence! The three of them were comrades of the
great Stalin!

Edward Ochab replaced Bierut in the post
of first secretary of the party. Thus Khrushchev’s
old desire was realized. Later, however, Khrush-
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chev «fell out» with Ochab, apparently because he
did not fulfil Khrushchev’s demands and orders
as he should have done. That is why Khrush-
chev later launched attacks on Ochab at those
meetings at which we, too, were present. I met
Ochab several times, in Moscow, Warsaw and
Beijing, and I think that he was a person who
not only could not be compared with Bierut as a
man, but also lacked the nccessary capacity to
lead the party and the country. Ochab came and
went like a shadow, without being a year in that
position.

Below I shall speak about how events de-
veloped in Poland® later. It is clear that with the
death of Bierut the road to the throne of Poland
was openecd to the reactionary Gomulka. This
«communist», brought out of prison, after a
number of ups and downs and writhings of a
heterogeneous leadership, in which agents of
zionism and the capitalist powers were not lack-
ing, was to be brought into the leadership by his
friend Nikita Khrushchev.

Poland was the «big sister» of the Krush-
chevite Soviet Union. Then came Bulgaria, with
which the Khrushchevites played and are still
playing their game shamelessly, to the point that
they have turned it into their «obedient daughter».

* See Enver Hoxha, Selected Works, vol 2, the «8 Néntori»
Publishing House, Tirana 1875, Eng. ed. pp. 655-724.
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The Bulgarians were linked closely with
Stalin and the Communist Party of the Soviet
Union(B) led by him, quite differently from the
Czechs, the Poles and the Rumanians, let alone
the Germans. Moreover, the Bulgarian people
had been traditionally linked with Russia in the
past. Precisely because of these links, Czar Boris
had not dared to involve Bulgaria officially in
the war against the Soviet Union and the Soviet
armies entered Bulgaria without firing a shot.

Khrushchev wanted to consolidate this in-
fluence for his own chauvinistinterests and the
extension and consolidation of his revisionist
views. Therefore he exploited this situation, the
trust of the Bulgarian Communist Party in Stalin,
the Soviet Union and the Communist Party of
the Soviet Union (B), and placed at the head of
the Bulgarian Communist Party a worthless per-
son, a third-rate cadre, but one ready to do what-
ever Khrushchev, his ambassador, or the KGB
would say. This person was Todor Zhivkov, who
was publicized and inflated until he became first
secretary of the CC of the Bulgarian CP.

My opinion is that, after Dimitrov, the Bul-
garian party and state did not have any leader
equal to Dimitrov, or even to come anywhere
near him from the point of view of his adherence
to principle, breadth of ideological and politi-
cal understanding and capacity as a leader. Here,
of course, I do not include Kolarov, who died
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very soon after Dimitrov, only a few months la-
ter, who was an old revolutionary and the second
personality after Dimitrov, with whom he had
worked together in the Comintern.

I met Kolarov when I went on an official
visit to Bulgaria in December 1947. He was about
the same age and size as Dimitrov, liked to con-
verse and all the time we stayed with him, talked
to us about the missions to Mongolia, Germany
and elsewhere the Comintern had charged him
with. It seemed that the party had placed Kolarov
in charge of relations with foreign countries, be-
cause he spoke to us several times about the rela-
tions of Bulgaria, especially with its neighbours:
Yugoslavia and Greece, which were also our
neighbours. He also explained the general inter-
national situation to us. This assisted us greatly.

Like the unforgettable George Dimitrov, Ko-
larov was a modest man. Although we were
young, there was not the slightest sign of haugh-
tiness to be seen in him during the talk. He
honoured us and respected our opinions and, al-
though we were meeting for the first time, as
long as we stayed there, we felt ourselves as
members of one family, in an intimate group, in
which affection and unity and efforts for a single
aim, the construction of socialism, predominated.

I met Dimitrov and Kolarov, these outstand-
ing Bulgarian communists only once in my life,
but they left an indelible impression on my
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memory. After Dimitrov, Kolarov became prime
minister and was one of the initiators of the
condemnation of the Titoite agent, Kostov. But
only a few months later Kolarov died. His death,
too, grieved me greatly.

After the deaths of Dimitrov and Kolarov,
people without authority or personality began to
come to the head of the Bulgarian Communist
party and state.

I have gone to Bulgaria several times on
business, as well as on holidays with my wife
and children. To tell the truth, I felt a special
satisfaction in Bulgaria, probably because, al-
though our two pecoples are of quite different
origin, during the centuries they had coexisted,
had languished under and fought against the
same occupying power, the Ottomans, and are
alike in many directions, especially in their mo-
desty, hospitality, stability of character, the pre-
servation of good traditions, folklore, ete.

Up to the time when Stalin died there was
not the slightest shadow over our relations with
the Bulgarians. We both loved the Soviet Union
with a pure and sincere love.

I have talked with the Bulgarian leaders
many times, have eaten and drunk with them,
and have made trips all over Bulgaria. Even later,
until we broke with Khrushchev, we had no ideo-
logical and political contradictions and they wel-
comed me warmly. Many of them, like Velko Cher-
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venkov, Ganev, Tsola Dragocheva, Anton Yugov,
etc., were not young. They were people of the
older generation, who had worked abroad in exile
with Dimitrov, or at home in illegality, and later
had been in the prisons of Czar Boris. In the end,
Todor Zhivkov emerged above them, a man who
is the prototype of political mediocrity.

After the death of George Dimitrov, Velko
Chervenkov became general secretary of the par-
ty. He was a big man, with greying hair and bags
under the eyes. Whenever I met him in Bulgaria
or in Moscow, he gave me the impression of a
good fellow who walked with his arms flopping
aimlessly as if to say: «What am I doing at this
fair? I am serving no purpose here.»

He must have been a just man, but lacking
in will. At least this was my impression. He was
extremely sparing in words. In official talks he
said so little that, if you didn't know him, you
would form the impression he was haughty. But
he wasn’t in the least haughty. He was a simple
man. In non-official talks, when we ate together,
and met with other Bulgarian comrades to ex-
change opinions, Velko sat in stony silence, with
his mouth closed, as if he were not there at all.
The others talked and laughed, but not he.

Chervenkov was Dimitrov’s brother-in-law.
He had married the sister of the great leader of
Bulgaria. It is possible that a little of Dimitrov’s
glory and authority had descended on Velko Cher-
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venkov, but Velko was quite incapable of becom-
ing Dimitrov. Thus, just as he came to the head of
the leadership of the Bulgarian Communist Party
in silence, so he went without any fuss when he
was thrown out. His ouster did not become any
sort of issue, he was removed without any commo-
tion leaving place of leadership in the party to
Todor Zhivkov.

Thus, for Nikita, Czechoslovakia, Poland and
Bulgaria had been settled. Rumania, too, where
the party had some inglorious episodes in its
history, was not to be left out of his aims and
efforts, either.

We did not have any contacts with the Ru-
manians during the war, which is different from
what occurred with the Yugoslavs, or with the
Bulgarians, who once sent to our country Belga-
ranov, who informed us of the work in Macedonia,
sought our help in organizing the struggle of the
Albanians living in «Macedonian» territory oc-
cupied by the nazi-fascists. After the war, from
the Soviets we had heard very good things about
the Rumanian party and about Dej, as an old rev-
olutionary, who had suffered greatly in the pri-
sons of the Doftana. But to tell the truth, I was
somewhat disappointed when I met him for the
first time, in the meeting about the problem of the
Yugoslav revisionists, which I mentioned above.

This is not the place to speak about my
recollections of that meeting, but I want to stress
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that, from what I saw and heard in Rumania and
from the conversations I had with Dej, the im-
pression I formed about the Rumanian party and
apout Dej personally was not good.

Regardless of what the Rumanian leaders
claimed, the dictatorship of the proletariat was
not operating in Rumania and the Rumanian
Workers’ Party was not in a strong position. They
declared that they were in power, but it was very
evident that, in fact, the bourgeoisie was in power.
It had industry, agriculture and trade in its hands
and continued to fleece the Rumanian people and
to live in luxurious villas and palaces. Dej per-
sonally travelled in a bullet-proof car with an
armed escort, which showed how «secure» their
positions were. Reaction was strong in Rumania
and, had it not been for the Red Army, who knows
how things would have gone in that country.

During our talks in those few days which
I stayed in Bucharest, Dej bombarded us with
his boasting about the «valour» they had dis-
played in forcing the abdication of the corrupt
King Michael, whom they had not condemned for
his crimes against the people, but had allowed to
leave Rumania for the West, together with his
wealth and his mistresses.

Dej’s self-glorification was astonishing, espe-
cially when he told me how he «challenged~» the
reactionaries by going into their cafés with a
pistol in his belt.
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Thus, from this first meeting I formed a poor
impression, not only of Dej, but also of the Ru-
manian party and its line, which was an op-
portunist line, and the things which occurred
later with Dej and his party did not surprise me.
The revisionist chiefs of that party were the most
conceited you could imagine. They «blew their
own trumpets» loudly about the fight which they
had not fought.

When we began the struggle with the rene-
gade Tito group, Dej became an «ardent fighter»
against this group. In the historic meetings of the
Information Bureau he was charged with de-
livering the main report against the Tito-Ranko-
vié group.!

As long as Stalin was alive and the Resolu-
tion of the Information Bureau remained in force,
Dej performed like a rabid anti-Titoite. When
the revisionist traitors, headed by Khrushchev,
usurped power in their countries and did all those
treacherous things we know about, and amongst
others, proclaimed Tito clean and prettied him
up, Dej was among the first to turn over the
page and change his colour like a chameleon. He
recanted all the things he had said, made a public

1 The Report entitled The Communist Party of Yugoslavia
in the Hands of Assassins and Spies, published in the organ of
the Information Bureau of the communist and workers’
parties «For a Lasting Peace, for a People’s Democracy!»,
December 2, 1949, No. 56.
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self-criticism, and finally went to Brioni, where
he publicly begged Tito’s pardon. Thus Dej came
out in his true colours as an opportunist of many
flags.

After Liberation, we, of course, established
friendly relations with Rumania, as with all the
other countries of people’s democracy. For our
part, we greatly desired to develop our relations
to the maximum with that country, especially
with the Rumanian people, not only because we
were two socialist countries, but also because
we retained a special feeling of friendship and
sympathy, formed because of the aid which had
been given the Albanian patriots residing in Ru-
mania during the period of our Renaissance. How-
ever, our efforts in this direction did not yield the
results we desired because of the indifference of
the Rumanian leadership. This had its own reasons
which did not depend on our stands and de-
sires.

Nevertheless, the relations between our two
countries developed in a correct, although entirely
formal manner. There was not the slightest
warmth and special friendship for a small socialist
country like ours, which had fought and sacri-
ficed so much in the war against the fascist in-
vaders, to be seen among the Rumanian leaders.
Rumania was the socialist country which proved
to be more indifferent than all the others in re-
gard to the development of Albania and the

163




activation of relations between our parties and
states.

Later, when I went to Rumania with a dele-
gation, during the visits we made there I saw
many interesting things; they showed me many
aspects of the progress they had made in the
economy. I visited Ploesti, which, in comparison
with our Kucova, was a colossal centre of the
oil industry. The oil there was subjected to a mo-
dern refining process and I remember that in the
final meeting he had with me, De] boasted that
they had bought a very large and modern oil
refinery from the Americans. (He told me that
they had bought it for cash with dollars, but as
it turned out later, it had been bought on credit.
As early as that time, «socialist»~ Rumania was

engaged in deals with American imperialism.)
They showed me a metallurgical centre where
many Kinds of steel were produced, as well as a
series of other factories of every kind, model

agricultural farms, a big clothing combine, etc.

They showed me «the Rumanian Village»,
a big outdoor museum complex, which was an
ensemble of rural buildings with the furnishings
and clothing used in the Rumanian countryside,
which was very beautiful and original.

We liked everything we saw and visited.
They had many new buildings, but they had also
inherited a very great deal from the past. True,

the Rumanians had created agricultural coopera-
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tives, but the work was not going well there;
there was a lack of leadership, organization and
political work. Nevertheless, on the whole, prog-
ress had been made in the country and it was
obvious, as they told us themselves, that the
Soviet aid was very great and in every direction,
even including the construction of the big pa-
lace, where, at the time of our visit, «Scinteia»
was published and various cultural activities were
carried out.

In regard to aid for Albania, I must say that
up till the time when our relations with the
Yugoslavs were broken off, none of the coun-
tries of people’s democracy assisted Albania with
some small credit. Later, these countries, to a
greater or lesser extent, did give us a certain
amount of aid. Some did so quite correctly, at
first, some with trickery and wiles, and others
just to keep in line and to display their «socialist
solidarity», or to show the Soviet Union, from
which they received large amounts of credits
and aid: «See, we too are giving socialist Albania
something. When we have more we will give
more.»

Several times we sought credits from the
Rumanians, but they either refused us or gave
us some ludicrously small sum. In regard to expe-
rience on oil, in industry and in agriculture, for
example, they made us promises, gave us their
word, but never gave us anything of any sub-

165




stance. As to experience of party work and the
state structure, we neither asked for nor received
anything from them.

Why was this more pronounced with the Ru-
manians, although even with the others we had
great difficulties in securing their aid?

In the other parties, at first, there was a
more or less tangible spirit of unity and mutual
internationalist aid, and this was reflected to-
wards us in practice. Whereas in the Rumanian
party, this spirit of unity and aid was very weak.

In general the Rumanian leaders were pro-
minent both for their megalomania towards «les-
ser mortals» and for their servility towards «the
mighty». They cut their conversations with us
very short, if they did not content themselves
with a mere nod of recognition or a handshake.
In meetings and congresses they were so «pre-
occupied» that it seemed as if they were carrying
the entire weight upon their shoulders. On these
occasions they were always to be seen together
with the main leaders of the Soviet Union. Un-
doubtedly, they were their servile opportunist
lackeys and this became quite obvious when it
was necessary to fight in defence of principles.

In my opinion, the Czechoslovaks were dif-
ferent from the others. They were more serious
than all of them. I have spoken about Gottwald,
but it must be said that we Albanians also got
along well with those who came after him. We
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were sincere with them, as with all the others,
put the Czech leadership behaved well towards
us, too. They had respect for our people and
our Party. They were not very lively, but I can
say they were restrained, correct and kindly.

Novotny and Shiroky, Dolansky and Kope-
cky, whom I have met and talked with many
times, when I went to their country on business
or for holidays with the family, behaved openly
and in a modest way with me and all our
comrades. That conceit and arrogance, which
was apparent in the others, was not to be seen
in them.

After the Soviets, it was the Czechs who
assisted us most from the economic angle, too.
Naturally, when it was a question of granting
credits, they were cool-headed and cautious, peo-
ple who reckoned things carefully. In what they
gave us, there was no obvious underestimation, or
sense of their economic superiority. Amongst the
countries of people’s democracy, Czechoslovakia
was the most industrially advanced; its people
were industrious, skilful, systematic, orderly in
work and life. Wherever you went in Czechos-
lovakia, it was obvious that it was a developed
country, with a cultured people who preserved
the traditions of their ancient culture. The Soviets
used the country as a health resort, and abused it
to the extent that they brought it to its present
state. The leaders of other countries of people’s
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democracy were envious of the Czech leadership,
and made vain gibes about it, but the Czechs dis-
played much more dignity than all the others.
In the meetings of the socialist camp also, what
the Czech leaders said carried weight. As far as
I could see and judge, within the country, too,
they enjoyed respect and sympathy.

When I went to Czechoslovakia I did not feel
that heavy sense of isolation which was created
in Moscow after Khrushchev took over the reins.
As soon as we arrived in Moscow, they allocated
us a dacha® on the outskirts of the city, where
we remained isolated for whole days. Officials
such as Lesakov, Moshatov, Petrov and some
other minor functionary of the apparatus of the
Central Committee of the party would be there
or would come and go, usually to accompany
us, but also to eat and drink. They were all
people of the security service, dressed as function-
aries of the Central Committee, i.e., people of
the apparatus. Of these, Lesakov was my insep-
arable companion and billiards partner. He liked
me and I liked him because, although he was
not outstandingly intelligent, he was a good,
sincere person. Moshatov came more rarely, ap-
peared to be more important, prepared the jour-
neys or fulfilled any request we might have to
buy something, because you could find nothing

country villa (Russian in the original).
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easily in the market (you had to order every-
thing in advance, because they brought the things
ordered from some mysterious source to a special
room in the «GUM» store, which had a special
entrance for the Central Committee). Petrov was
an apparatus man who had long been engaged
with the Greeks and our company interested him
for this reason. He was a serious comrade and
liked us. He had come to Albania several fimes,
especially when we were supporting the Greek
Democratic Army in its just war. As if all these
were not sufficient, later, other «escorts» were
added, such as a certain Laptiev, a young fellow
who knew Albanian and who was swell-headed
about the «position~ they had given him, and
another who dealt with Yugoslav affairs and
whose name I don’t remember, but whom I recall
as more intelligent than all the others.

I was never free, I always had an escort. They
were all Khrushchev’s men, informers for the
Central Committee and the Soviet security ser-
vice, without taking account here of the official
guards and the bugging devices with which they
filled the various villas in which we stayed. But
that is another story. Let us pass over the devices
and concentrate on the people.

These Soviet employees tried to find out
our nastroyenie* in order to learn what we were

* mood (Russian in the original).
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seeking, what we would raise, with whom we
would raise it, what the situation was in our
country, what we thought about the Yugoslavs,
about the leaders of the Greek Communist Party,
or any other matter. They knew why they came
and we knew who sent them and why they were
sent, therefore both sides were friendly, we talked
about what interested us and waited for news
to come from the Central Committee about when
we were to meet. The chinovniki did not talk
about politics, no doubt because they had orders
about this, but even if they had wanted to open
some conversation they did not dare, because
they knew that every word would be recorded.
We talked especially against the Titoite revision-
ists. You could not visit any collective farm or
state farm, or make contact with the comrades
or the people without giving two or three days
notice. And if you did go on a visit, they would
sit you down at a table laden with drinks and
fruit and you would see nothing, no cattle stall
or collective farmer’s house.

It is fair to say that it was different in Bul-
garia. Wherever you went, the atmosphere was
more comradely, with less formality and fewer
guards.

In Czechoslovakia the difference was even
greater. Whether in Prague, Bratislava, Karlovy
Vary, Brno and many other places to which I
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have travelled, either officially or privately. I
have been free to go wherever I wanted, when-
ever I wanted, with one obvious guard and every-
where I have been welcomed in a very cordial
and friendly way. In the course of a trip, they
themselves spontaneously took me to strategic
places. Wherever I have gone in Czechoslovakia,
either in official talks or in free conversations
with the families of Novotny and Shiroky in
Prague and Karlovy Vary, or with Bacilek in Slo-
vakia and with a number of party secretaries in
various towns and factories, the conversations
have been sincere, joyous, happy and not formal.
There was not that heavy atmosphere which I
felt in the Soviet Union, despite the great love
we had for that country and that people.
After the break in relations with Tito, we
travelled to the Soviet Union by sea, because the
Yugoslavs did not permit us to fly over their
territory. Thus, we have had to stay many times
in Odessa where we met the famous Yepishev,
the first secretary of Odessa and later, political
director of the Soviet army. We saw none of
the places of interest there. We did not see the
famous catacombs of Odessa because they did
not take us to visit them, nor even the historic
Potemkin steps, because we would have had to
walk down them. We saw these famous steps,
which began from the statue of Richelieu, gover-
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nor of the city at the start of the 19th century,
only from the car.

«How is it possible,» I asked Yepishev, «that
you keep this aristocratic French adventurer
here, precisely at the head of the historic steps?!»

«0Oh, he’s just been left there,» replied the
secretary of the Odessa Party Committee,

But what did we do in Odessa? We were
bored, smoked cigarettes, went to the park of
the «Kirov» villa, went to a room with an old
billiard-table. We did not go to visit any museum
or school, the only place he took us was to a
vineyard, and there only so that he could taste
and drink some of the bottles of selected wines
which they kept in the nearby cellars.

This was what usually happened in the
Soviet Union. Only at priyoms would you shake
hands with some personality, When you went
to a factory or a house of culture in Leningrad,
Kiev or elsewhere, everything was organized: the
workers were lined up waiting, a speech of in-
troduction was made by a certain Kozlov, who,
puffed up like a turkeycock, spoke with his voice
made artificially deep in order to show himself
omnipotent, and then people appointed in advan-
ce and told what they were to say, made speeches
of welcome.

It was quite the opposite in Czechoslovakia,
where the people, the leaders, and the factory
workers would speak freely, ask questions and
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reply to everything you asked. There you could
travel freely whenever you liked, by car or on

foot.

I have always taken an interest in the history
of nations and peoples. There are many historic
places in Czechoslovakia. I visited the place where
the Taborite! uprising took place and saw those
characteristic villages through which Zizka had
passed and in which he fought. I visited Auster-
litz and from the museum hill I looked over
the battlefield and imagined Bonaparte’s historic
manoeuvre and the sudden appearance of his
troops on the Austrian flanks, precisely at the
time the sun was rising over Austerlitz. I remem-
bered the battles of Wallenstein and Schiller’s fa-
mous trilogy. I asked the Czech comrades:

«Is there any museum about this historic
personality 7>

«Of course,» they said, and took me imme-
diately to a palace, which was the Wallenstein
Museum.

I went hunting deer many times. They had
a special ceremony which was performed over

1 Members of the revolutionary wing of the national anti-
feudal movement of the Czech people in the 15th Century.
Their name derives from the town of Tabor, the political
centre of the movement led by Jan Ziska. The Taborites
fought against feudalism, the Catholic Church and national

oppression.
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the dead deer. To honour the body of the deer,
you would break off a pine twig, dip it in the
animal’s blood and then stick the twig like a
feather in your hat-band,

One day when I was out hunting I found
myself in front of a big chdteau® I asked:

«What is that building?»

«It is one of Metternich’s residences,» they
told me, «now it is a museum.»

«Can we visit it?» I asked the comrades
accompanying me,

«Of course,» they replied.

We went in and looked at everything. The
competent guide gave us full explanations. I re-
call that I went into Metternich’s library, full
of beautifully bound books. When we came out
of the library, we passed a closed door and the
guide told us:

«In here there is a mummy which was sent
as a gift from Egypt to the Chancellor of Aus-
tria, the assassin of Napoleon’s exiled son, the
King of Rome.»

«Open it up,» I said, «let us see this mummy,
because I am very interested in Egyptology and
have read many books about it, especially about
the findings of the scientist Carter, Carnarvon’s
associate, who discovered the undamaged tomb
of Tutankhamen.»

* French in the original.
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«No,» said the guide, «I won’t open that
door.»

«Why?» I asked surprised.

«Because some misfortune might befall me,
I might die.»

The Czech comrades laughed at him and
said:

«What are you telling us, come on, open
it up!»

The guide stuck to his guns and finally
said:

«Here, take the key, open the door your-
selves and have a look. I am not going inside
and I won’t take any responsibility.»

The Czech comrade escorting me opened
the door, we turned on the lights and saw the
mummy, completely black in a wooden sarco-
phagus. We closed the door, gave the key back
to the guide, shook hands with him, thanked
him, and left.

On our way out, the Czech comrade said to
me:

«There are still superstitious people who
believe in magic like that guide we saw.»

«No,» I said, «the guide is a man of learning,
and not superstitious. The books on Egyptology
say that nearly all the scientists who have dis-
covered the mummies of Pharaohs have died in
some mysterious way. There are many theories

which say that the ancient Egyptian priests who
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lived about three thousand years before our era.
were great scientists and fo protect the mummies
from robbers lined the walls with rock that con-
tained uranium. It is said that in the sarcophagus
chamber they burned plants which released po-
werful poisons. It has been proved that the struc-
ture of the pyramids is a rare miracle from the
geometrical aspect in which sometimes the apex
of the pyramid, like that of Cheops, coincides with
a given star, or as occurs in the Valley of the
Kings, in stated years, at a given hour of the day
the rays of the sun entered into the depths of the
corridor and lit up the forehead of the statue
of the Pharaoh.»

My Czech escort, Pavel he was called, who
was a good, kindly, modest chap, changed his
opinion about the guide, and was interested to
know more.

The Czechs themselves took me to Slovakia
to show me the figure of our National Hero,
Skanderbeg, amongst other outstanding historical
figures in an old mural on the portico of a
monastery. I went to a small spa, at one time
called Marienbad, in Sudetenland, to visit the
historic house where Goethe lived. Here, in his
old age, Goethe fell in love with a very young
«Gretchen» and wrote his famous «Elegy of
Marienbad».

I mention all these things to show the reality
in Czechoslovakia and the good disposition of
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the Czechs towards us. However, they behaved
in the same way with everybody. Even the Sov-
iets felt themselves different people when they
went to Czechoslovakia.

In Czechoslovakia I talked in a park for
several hours with Rokossovsky and Konev, who,
in the Kremlin would merely shake hands. I had
to go hunting in Czechoslovakia to meet the
president of the Presidium of the Supreme Sov-
let of the Ukraine and for Nina Khrushcheva
to invite Nexhmije and me to tea. I had to go
to Czechoslovakia to talk to General Antonov
and others.

But as I said above, after the death of Gott-
wald, the Khrushchevites were getting their grip
on Czechoslovakia. It seemed that Novotny, as
the first secretary of the Czechoslovak Communist
Party, adhered to correct positions, but time
showed that he was a wavering opportunist ele-
ment, and thus, in one way or another, he did the
work for Khrushchev and Co. He played a major
role in carrying through the plans which made
Czechoslovakia a dominion occupied by Russian
tanks.

Thus, the revisionist spider-web was being
Spun in the countries of people’s democracy. The
old leaders like Dimitrov, Gottwald and later,
Bierut and others, were replaced with younger
ones, who seemed suitable to the Soviet leaders,
at least at that stage.
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With the German Democratic Republic they
considered the problem solved, because East Ger-
many was heavily occupied by Soviet troops. We
considered this necessary because no peace treaty
had been signed, and as well as this, the Soviet
army in Germany served to defend not only
this socialist country, but also the socialist camp.

With the East Germans we had good rela-
tions as long as Pieck was alive. He was an old
revolutionary and comrade of Stalin, for whom
I had great respect. I met Pieck in 1959 when
I was heading a delegation to the GDR. By that
time Pieck was old and sick. He gave me a kindly
welcome, and listened to me cheerfully when I
spoke about our friendship and told him of Alba-
nia’s progress (he could hardly speak because of
his paralysis).

In his last years Pieck apparently did not
effectively lead the country and the party. He
had been given the honorary position of Presi-
dent of the Republic and Ulbricht and Grottewohl
and Co. ran things.

Ulbricht had not shown any sign of open
hostility to our Party until we fell out with the
Soviets and with him. He was a haughty, stiff-
necked Cerman, not only with small parties like
ours, but also with the others. He had this opinion
about relations with the Soviets: «You have oc-
cupied us, you have stripped us of industry, but
now you must supply us with big credits and
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food, so that Democratic Germany will build up
and reach the level of the German Federal Repu-
blic.~ He demanded such credits arrogantly and
hg got them. He forced Khrushchev to sayv in a
joint meeting: «We must assist Germany so that it
becomes our show-case to the West.» And Ul-
bricht did not hesitate to tell the Soviets in our
presence: «You must speed up your aid because
there is bureaucracy.»
' «Where is the bureaucracy,» asked Mikoyan
«in your country?» j
«No, not at all in our country but in yours,»
replied Ulbricht. g I
However, while he received great aid for
himself, he was never ready to help the others,
and gave us a ludicrous credit. When we attacked
iﬁhe Khrushchevites in Moscow, both in the meet-
ing and after it, he proved to be one of our most
ferocious opponents and was the first to attack
our Party publicly after the Moscow Meeting,

The Khrushchevites wanted to have not only
the countries of people’s democracy, but also
the whole international communist movement
under their direction. ’

I shall speak elsewhere about the revisionist
and opportunist views and stands of such leaders
as Togliatti, Thorez, etc.,* but I want to stress

* See Enver Hoxha, Eurocommunism Is Anti-communism,
the «8 Nénfori» Publishing House, Tirana 1980, Eng. ed.
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here that, after the death of Stalin, both Togliatti
and the others began to express their revisionist
views more openly, because they sensed that
Khrushchev and his circle were their ideological
and political allies, because they saw Khrush-
chev’s opportunist line towards the Titoites, the
social-democrats, the bourgeoisie, etc. This line
which Khrushchev was building up suited To-
gliatti and Co., who, to one degree or another,
had long been following the line of collabora-
tion with the bourgeois parties and the bourgeois
governments of their own countries, and fighting
and dreaming that they would become the spon-
sors of marriages of convenience and take seats
in those governments. These tendencies were
latent at first, were displayed hesitantly, but
after the 20th Congress they bloomed into «theo-
ries», like Togliatti’s famous «polycentrism,» or
his «Italian road to socialism.»

Of course, within the world communist
movement, the Khrushchevites did not come out
with a completely open revisionist platform right
from the start. Just as within the Soviet Union,
they tried to adopt a flexible line, in order to
avoid arousing an immediate reaction in either
their own party or the others. The «Leninism» of
which they spoke, the odd good word dropped
here or there about Stalin, their noisy advertise-
ment of «Leninist principles in the relations
among the socialist countries», served to disguise
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the plots they were hatching up, and to gradually
prepare the ground for their subsequent frontal
attack. This they launched at the 20th Congress
of the Communist Party of the Soviet Union.
There they laid their cards on the table, because
Khrushchev and Co. had worked for a long time
to paralyze any possible reaction inside or outside
the country.

181




6. THE OFFICIAL PROCLAMATION
OF REVISIONISM

The 20th Congress of the CPSU. Khrush-
chev’s theses — the charter of modern revi-
sionism. The «secret» report against Stalin,
Togliatti demands recognition of his «merits».
Tito in the Soviet Union. Molotov is dismissed
from the task of foreign minister. Abortive
attempt of the «anti-party group». The end of
the carcer of Marshal Zhukov. Another victim
of the Khrushchevites’ backstage manoeuvres:
Kirichenko. May 1956: Suslov demands that
we rehabilitate Koci Xoxe and company. June
1956: Tito and Khrushchev are displeased with
us. July 1957: Khrushchev arranges a dinner
in Moscow so that we meet Rankovic and
Kardelj.

The betrayal at the top of the Communist
Party of the Soviet Union and of the country
where the October Socialist Revolution was
carried out, was an all-round attack on the name
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and great teachings of Lenin, and especially on
the name and work of Stalin.

In the framework of its post-Second World
War Strategy, imperialism headed by American
imperialism, when it saw the first vacillations and
retreats of the new Soviet leadership, further in-
tensified its all-round attacks and pressure to
force Khrushchev and company to go further and
further down the road of capitulation and be-
trayal. The «striving» and big expenditure of
imperialism in this counter-revolutionary direc-~
tion were not in vain. Having set out on their
course of concessions and betrayal, Khrushchev
and his henchmen were continually justifying
the long-standing efforts and the old desires of
imperialism.

When they thought that they had streng-
thened their positions, had control of the army
through the marshals, had turned the security
force o their course, had won over the majority
of the Central Committee, Khrushchev, Mikoyan
and the other Khrushchevites prepared the noto-
rious 20th Congress held in February 1956, at
which they delivered the «secret» report against
Stalin.

This congress of the Communist Party of the
Soviet Union has gone down in history as the
congress which officially legalized the thoroughly
anti-Marxist, anti-socialist theses of Nikita
Khrushchev and his collaborators, as the congress
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which flung the doors open to the penetration of
alien, bourgeois-revisionist ideology in a series of
communist and workers’ parties of the former so-
cialist countries and the capitalist countries. All
the distortions of the major issues of principle,
such as those about the character of our epoch,
the roads of transition to socialism, peaceful co-
existence, war and peace, the stand towards mo-
dern revisionism and towards imperialism, etc.,
etc., which later became the basis of the great,
open polemic with modern revisionism, have their
official beginning in Khrushchev’s report to the
20th Congress.

From the time Stalin died to the 20th Con-
gress, the Khrushchevite conspirators manoeuvred
cunningly with «bureaucratic legality», «the rules
of the party», «collective leadership» and «demo-
cratic centralism», shed crocodile tears over the
loss of Stalin, thus step by step preparing to tor-
pedo the work of Stalin, his personality and
Marxism-Leninism. This is a period full of lessons
for the Marxist-Leninists, because it brings out
the bankruptcy of «bureaucratic legality», which
represents a great danger fo a Marxist-Leninist
party, brings out the methods which the revision-
ists used to profit from this «bureaucratic le-
gality», brings out how leaders, who are honest
and experienced but who have lost the rev-
olutionary class spirit, fall into the traps of intri-
guers and give way, retreat before the blackmail
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and demagogy of revisionist traitors disguised
with revolutionary phraseology. In this transition
period we saw how the Khrushchevites, in order
to consolidate their power, operated allegedly
with «a great party spirit», «free from the fear
of Stalin», with «truly democratic and Leninist
forms», about which they set up a great clamour,
while they worked actively to organize the fil-
thiest slanders which only the bourgeoisie has
been able to concoct against the Soviet Union,
Stalin and the entire socialist order. All these
monstrous calumnies of the Khrushchevite revi-
_sionists, all their destructive activity, were in-
tended to «prove», allegedly with legal documents,
with «arguments» and <«analyses in the new
spirit», the slanders which the reactionary bour-
geoisie had been spreading for many years against
Marxism-Leninism, the revolution and socialism.

Every good thing of the past was distorted,
allegedly in the light of the «new situations»,
«new developments», «new roads and possibili-
ties», in order to go ahead.

Many were misled by this demagogy of trai-
tors. However, the Party of Labour of Albania
was not misled. It has made a detailed principled
analysis of this question and has had its say in
defence of the Marxist-Leninist truth long agb.

Together with the members of the Political
Bureau, Mehmet Shehu and Gogo Nushi, I was
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appointed by our Party to take part in the
proceedings of the 20th Congress. The opportunist
«new spirit», which Khrushchev was arousing
and activating, was apparent in the way in which
the proceedings of this congress were organized
and conducted. This liberal spirit pervaded the
whole atmosphere, the Soviet press and propa-
ganda of those days like an ominous cloud; it
prevailed in the corridors and the congress halls,
it was apparent in people’s faces, gestures and
words.

The former seriousness, characteristic of
such extremely important events in the life of a
party and a country, was missing. Even non-party
people spoke during the proceedings of the con-
gress. In the breaks between sessions, Khrush-
chev and company strolled through the halls and
corridors, laughing and competing with one ano-
ther as to who could tell the most anecdotes,
make the most wisecracks and show himself the
most popular, who could drink the most toasts
at the heavily laden tables which were placed
everywhere.

With all this, Khrushchev wanted to rein-
force the idea that the «grave period», the «dic-
tatorship» and «gloomy analysis» of things were
over once and for all and the «new pericd» of
«democracy», «freedom», the «creative examina-
tion» of events and phenomena, whether inside
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or outside the Soviet Union, was officially begin-
ning.

In fact, the first report delivered by Khrush-
chev at the congress, which was trumpeted loudly
as a «colossal contribution» to the fund of Marx-
ism-Leninism and a «creative development» of
our science, constitutes the official charter of
modern revisionism. From those days on, the
bourgeoisie and reaction gave exceptional public-
ity to Khrushchev’s «new developments», spoke
openly about the radical changes which were
occurring in the Soviet Union and in the political
and ideological line of the Communist Party of
the Soviet Union.

While they gleefully welcomed Khrushchev’s
great and radical about-turn, reaction and the
bourgeoisie, at the same time, did not fail to des-
cribe this turn on some occasions as «more dan-
gerous» to their interests than the line of the
time of Stalin. Khrushchev and the Khrushchevites
used these «criticisms» by the bourgeoisie as
arguments to convince the others that the «new
line» was «correct» and «Marxist», but in fact,
the fear of the international bourgeoisie had
another source: In Khrushchev and his «new pol-
icy» it saw not only a new ally, but also a new
and dangerous rival for spheres of influence,
plunder, wars and invasions.

On the last day, the congress proceeded be-
hind closed doors, because the elections were fo
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be held, and we were not present at the sessions.

In fact that day, besides the elections, a second
report by Khrushchev was read to the delegates.
It was the notorious, so-called secret report
against Stalin, but which had been sent in advan-
ce to the Yugoslav leaders, and a few days later
it fell into the hands of the bourgeoisie and reac-
tion as a new «gift» from Khrushchev and the
Khrushchevites. After it was discussed by the
delegates to the congress, this report was given
to us and all the other foreign delegations to
read.

Only the first secretaries of sister parties
taking part in the congress read it. I spent all
night reading it, and extremely shocked, gave it
to two other members of the delegation to read.
We had known in advance that Khrushchev and
company had cancelled out the glorious work and
figure of Stalin and we saw this during the
proceedings of the congress in which his name
was never mentioned in favourable terms. But
we could never have imagined that all those
monstrous accusations and calumnies against the
great and unforgettable Stalin could have been
put on paper by the Soviet leaders. Nevertheless,
there it was in black and white. It had been read
to the Soviet communists, who were delegates
to the congress, and had been given to the repre-
sentatives of other parties taking part in the con-
gress to read. Our hearts and minds were deeply
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and gravely shocked. Amongst ourselves we said
that this was a villany which had gone beyond
all bounds, with catastrophic consequences for
the Soviet Union and the movement, and that in
those tragic circumstances, the duty of our Par-
ty was to stand firm on its own Marxist-Leninist
positions.

After we had read it we immediately re-
turned the terrible report to its owners. We had
no need for that package of filthy accusations
which Khrushchev had concocted. It was other
«communists» who took it away to give to reac-
tion and to sell by the ton in their book-stalls
as a profitable business.

We returned to Albania heart-broken over
what we had seen and heard in the homeland of
Lenin and Stalin, but at the same time we re-
turned with a great lesson that we must be more
vigilant and more alert towards the activities
and stands of Khrushchev and the Khrushche-
vites.

Only a few days later the black smoke of the
ideas of the 20th Congress began to spread every-
where.

Palmiro Togliatti, our near neighbour, who
had shown himself to be the most remote and
unapproachable towards us, was among the first
to come out in his party beating his breast. Not
only did he praise to the skies the new «pro-
spects» which the congress of the Soviet revision-
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ists opened, but he demanded that his meritg
should be recognized as the precursor of Krush-
chev in regard to many of the new theses and as
«an old fighter» for those ideas. «In regard to
our party,» declared Togliatti in March 1956, «it
seems to me that we have acted courageously. We
have always been interested in finding our .own
way, the Italian way, of development towards
socialism.»

The revisionists of Belgrade rejoiced and
aroused themselves as never before, while the
other parties of the countries of people’s democ-
racy began, not only to envisage the future, but
also to re-examine the past, in the spirit of
Khrushchev’s theses. Revisionist elements, who
up till yesterday had kept under cover while
they poured out their poison, now came out
openly to settle accounts with their opponents:
the wave of rehabilitations of condemned traitors
and enemies erupted, the doors of prisons were
opened and many of those who had been con-
demned were placed directly in the leadership of
the parties.

The Khrushchev clique was the first to set
the example. At the 20th Congress, Khrushchev
boasted that more than 7,000 persons condemned
in the time of Stalin had been liberated from
the prisons of the Soviet Union and rehabilitated.
This process was to continue and be deepened.
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Khrushchev and Mikoyan began to liquidate,
one by one, and finally all fogether, those mem-
bers of the Presidium of the Central Committee
of the party whom they were fo describe as an
«anti-party group». After they brought down
Malenkov, replacing him temporarily with Bul-
ganin, Molotov’s turn came. This took place on
June 2, 1956. That day the newspaper «Pravda-»
carried a huge photograph of Tito on the front
page and the dobro pozhalovat!™ to the head of
the Belgrade clique arriving in Moscow,! and
page four ended a report of daily events with the
«news» about the removal of Molotov from the
post of foreign minister of the Soviet Union. The
report said that Molotov had been released from
this position «at his own request~, but in fact he
was released because this was a condition laid
down by Tito for his coming to the Soviet Union
for the first time since the breaking off of rela-
tions in 1948-1949. And Khrushchev and comp-
any immediately fulfilled the condition set by
Belgrade for Tito’s satisfaction, since Molotov, to-
gether with Stalin, had signed the letters which
the Soviet leadership had sent the Yugoslav
leadership in 1948.

The positions of the revisionist reactionaries
were becoming stronger and their opponents in

# welcome (Russian in the original).
1 Tita visited the Soviet Union from 2 fo 23 of June 1956.
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the Presidium, Malenkov, Molotov, Kaganovich,
Voroshilov and others, now began to see more
clearly the revisionist intrigue and the diabolical
plans which Khrushchev hatched up against the
Communist Party of the Soviet Union and the
state of the dictatorship of the proletariat. At a
meeting of the Presidium of the Central Com-
mittee of the party in the Kremlin, in the sum-
mer of 1957, after many criticisms, Khrushchev
was left in the minority, and, as Polyansky told
us from his own mouth, Khrushchev was dis-
missed from the task of the first secretary and
was appointed minister of agriculture, since he
was an «expert on kukuruza~*. However, this
situation did not last more than a few hours.
Khrushchev and his supporters secretly gave the
alarm, the marshals surrounded the Kremlin with
tanks and soldiers and gave orders that not even
a fly was to leave the Kremlin. On the other
hand, aircraft were sent to the four corners of
the Soviet Union to gather up the members of
the Plenum of the CC of the CPSU. «Then,» said
Polyansky, this product of Khrushchev, «we
entered the Kremlin and demanded admission
to the meeting. Voroshilov came out and asked
what we wanted. When we told him that we
wanted to enter the meeting, he cut us short.
When we threatened to use force he said: 'What

# maize (Russian in the original).
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does all this mean? But we warned him: "Mind
your words, otherwise we shall arrest you.” We
entered the meeting and changed the situation.»
Khrushchev was restored to power.

Thus, after this forlorn attempt, these former
co-fighters of Stalin’s, who had associated them-
selves with the slanders made against his glorious
work, were described as an «anti-party group»
and received the final blow from the Khrush-
chevites. No one wept over them, no one pitied
them. They had lost the revolutionary spirit,
were no longer Marxist-Leninists, but corpses of
Bolshevism. They had united with Khrushchev

and allowed mud to be thrown at Stalin and

his work; they tried to do something, but not on
the party road, because for them, too, the party
did not exist.

All those who opposed Khrushchev, in one
way or another, or were no longer necessary to
him, were to suffer the same fate. For years on
end the «great merits» of Zhukov were publicized,
his activity during the Great Patriotic War was
used to throw mud at Stalin, and as minister of
defence his hand was used for the triumph of
Khrushchev’s putsch. But later, we suddenly
learned that he had been discharged from the
functions he held. During those days Zhukov was
on a visit to our country.! We welcomed him
warmly as an old cadre and hero of the Stalinist

1 He visited Albania from 17-26 of October 1957.
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Red Army, talked about problems of the defence
of our country and the socialist camp, and did not
notice anything disturbing in his opinions. On the
contrary, since he had come from Yugoslavia,
where he had been on a visit, he told us. «With
what I saw in Yugoslavia, I don’t understand
what sort of socialist country it is!» From this we
sensed that he was not of one mind with Khrush-
chev. On the very day that he left, we learned
that he had been removed from the post of mi-
nister of defence of the USSR for «mistakes» and
«grave faults» in his application of the <«line of
the party», for violations of the «law in the
army», etc., etc. I cannot say whether or not
Zhukov was guilty of mistakes and faults in these
directions, but it is possible that the reasons went
deeper.

In one meeting at Khrushchev’s, their attitu-
de towards Zhukov and made an impression on
me. I can’t remember what year it was, butit was
summer and I was on holiday in the south of the
Soviet Union. Khrushchev had asked me to lunch.
The local people there were Mikoyan, Kirichenko,
Nina Petrovna (Khrushchev’s wife), and some
others. Apart from me, Ulbricht and Grotewohl
were there as foreign guests. We were sitting out-
side, eating and drinking on the verandah. When
Zhukov came, Khrushchev invited him to sit
down. Zhukov seemed out of sorts. Mikoyan got

_ up and said to him:
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«I am the tamada®, fill your glass!»

«I can’t drink,» said Zhukov, «I am not well.»

«Fillit, I say,» insisted Mikoyan in an author-
itarian tone, I give the orders here, not YOu.»

Nina Khrushcheva intervened:

«Don’t force him when it harms him, Anas-
tasiy Ivanovich,» she said to Mikoyan.

Zhukov said nothing and did not fill his glass.
Khrushchev changed the subject by cracking
jokes with Mikoyan.

Can it be that the contradictions with Zhukov
had begun to arise as early as that, and they had
begun to insult him and to show him that others
were giving the orders and not he? Perhaps
Khrushchev and company had begun to fear the
power which they themselves had given Zhukov
in order to seize state power, and that is why they
accused him of «Bonapartism» later, Could it
possibly be that information about Zhukov’s views
on Yugoslavia reached Khrushchev before Zhukov
returned to the Soviet Union? In any case, Zhu-
kov was eliminated from the political scene de-
spite his four «Hero of the Soviet Unions stars, a
series of orders of Lenin, and countless other de-
corations.

After the 20th Congress, Khrushchev ele-
vated Kirichenko to the top and made him one of
the main figures of the leadership, I had met him

* master of ceremonies (Russian in the original).
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in Kiev many years before, when he was first
secretary of the Ukraine. This big florid-faced
man who did not make a bad impression on me,
did not welcome me haughtily or as a mere for-
mality. Kirichenko accompanied me to many
places which I saw for the first time, showed me
the main street of Kiev, which had been built
entirely new, took me to the place called Babi
Yar, notorious as the site of the massacre of
Jews by the nazis. We also went together to the
Opera, where we saw a performance about Bog-
dan Khmelnitsky,! whom, I remember, he com-
pared with our Skanderbeg. I was pleased about
this, although I was sure that Kirichenko had
remembered only the name of Skanderbeg from
all that the chinovniki had told him about the
history of Albania. He did not fail to respond to
my love for Stalin with the same terms and ex-
pressions of admiration and loyalty. However,
since he was from the Ukraine, Kirichenko did
not fail to speak about Khrushchev, too, about
his «wisdom, ability, energy», etc. I did not see
anything wrong with these expressions which
seemed natural to me at that time.

In the Kremlin I frequently had occasion to
sit at the table beside Kirichenko and talk to him.
After Stalin’s death, many banquets were organ-

1 Bogdan Mihaylovié¢ Khmelnitsky (1595-1657), leader of the
liberation struggle of the Ukrainian people against Polish
oppression,
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ized, because, at that period it was usually only at
bj:ln_quets that one met the leaders of the Soviet
Lplon. The tables were set day and night, laden
with food and drink to the point of revulsion.
When I saw the Soviet comrades eating and
drinking, I was reminded of Gargantua of Rabe-
Llstis. These things occurred after the death of Sta-
lin, when Soviet diplomacy was carried out
Fhrough priyoms, and Khrushchevite «commun-
1sm» was illustrated, apart from other things
with banquets, with caviar, and the wines of the:
Crimea. )

At‘ one of these priyoms, when I was sitting
near Kirichenko, I said to Krushchev in a loud
voice:

«You must come to visit Albania some time
because you have gone everywhere else,» ’

<I<{I' S_hflll (lj{ome,» replied Khrushchev.

irichenko jumped in & id t
gErae Jumped in at once and said to

«Albania is far away, so don’t promise when
you will go and how many days you will stay.»

Of course, I did not like this intervention of
his and asked:

Bl 4 «Why are you ill-disposed towards our coun-

He feigned regret over the incident, and to
explain his gesture, said to me: '

«Nikita Khrushchev is not well at present.
We must look after him.» ‘
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This was just a tale. Khrushchev was as
healthy as a pig, and ate and drank enough for
four.

Another time (at a reception, of course, as
usual), I happened to be seated near Kirichenko
again. Nexhmije was with me, too. It was July
1957, the time when Khrushchev had fixed things
up with the Titoites and was flattering them, as
well as exerting pressure on them. The Titoites
seemed to like the flattery, while as to the pres-
sure and the stabs in the back, they gave as good
as they got. Khrushchev had informed me the
night before, «in order to get my permission>, that
he was going to ask me to this dinner at which
Zhivkov and his wife, as well as Rankovic and
Kardelj, with their wives, would be present. As
was his custom, Khrushchev cracked jokes with
Mikoyan. This is the way they combined their
roles, with Khrushchev accompanying his arrows,
trickery, wiles, lies, and threats with jibes at
«Anastasiy» who played the «king’s jester».

When he finished his introduction with jokes
with the «king’s jester», Khrushchev, in propos-
ing a toast, started to give us a lecture about the
three-sided friendship that ought to exist between
Albania, Yugoslavia and Bulgaria, and the four-
sided friendship, between the Soviet Union, Al-
bania, Yugoslavia and Bulgaria.

«The relations of the Soviet Union with
Yugoslavia have not proceeded in a straight line,»
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he said. «At first they were good, then they were
cool, then they were broken off, and later, follow-
ing our visit to Belgrade it seemed they were put
right. Then the rocket went up (he was referring
to events of October-November 1956 in Hungary),
and they were ruined again, but now the objec-
tive and subjective conditions have been created
for them to improve. Meanwhile the relations of
Yugoslavia with Albania and Bulgaria have not
yet been improved, and as I told Rankovic and
Kardelj earlier, the Yugoslavs must stop their
undercover activity against those countries.»

«It is the Albanians who do not leave us in
peace,» interjected Rankovic.

Then I intervened and listed for Rankovic
the anti-Albanian actions, sabotage, subversion,
and the plots which they organized against us.
That night we had Khrushchev «on our side», but
he soft-pedalled his criticisms of the Yugoslavs.

«I don’t understand this name of your party,
the ’League of Communists of Yugoslavia’» said
Khrushchev, waving his glass. «What is this word
"League’? Besides, you Yugoslavs don’t like the
term ’socialist camp’. But tell us, what should we
call it, the ’'neutral camp’, the ’camp of neutral
countries’? We are all socialist countries, or are
you not a socialist country?»

«We are, of course, we are!» said Kardelj.

«Then come and join us, we are the major-
ity,» replied Khrushchev.

200

Khrushchev was on his feet throughout all
this discourse, interspersed with shouts and ges-
tures, and full of «criticisms» of the Yugoslavs,
which he delivered in the context of his efforts to
stand over Tito, who never agreed to consider
Khrushchev as the «head» of the council.

Kirichenko, who was beside me, listened in
silence, Later he asked me in a low voice:

«Who is this woman beside me?»

«My wife, Nexhmije,» I replied.

«Couldn’t you have told me earlier? I have
been keeping my mouth shut, thinking that she is
the wife of one of them,» he told me, indicating
the Yugoslavs. He exchanged greetings with Nexh-
mije and then began to abuse the Yugoslavs.

Meanwhile Khrushchev continued his «cri-
ticisms» of the Yugoslavs and tried to convince
them that it was he (of course, under the name of
the Soviet Union and the Soviet communist par-
ty), and no one else who ought to be at the «head».
He was getting at Tito, who, for his part, tried to
place himself and the Yugoslav party above every-
one.

«It would be ridiculous,» he told them, «for
us to be at the head of the camp if the other par-
ties did not think us worthy, just as it would be
ridiculous for any other party to consider itself at
the head when the others do not consider it so.»

Kardelj and Rankovic replied coolly, making
great efforts to appear calm, but it was very easy
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to understand that internally they were boiling.
Tito had instructed them to defend his positions
well and they wanted to do their master’s bidding.

The dialogue between them was dragging on,
frequently interrupted by the shouts of Khrush-
chev, but I was no longer listening. Apart from
the reply I gave Rankovic, when he made the
accusation that we had interfered in their affairs,
I exchanged not one word with them. I talked the
whole time with Kirichenko, who left nothing un-
said against the Yugoslavs and described the
whole stand of our Party towards the revisionist
leadership of Yugoslavia as very correct.

But, this Kirichenko, also, was slapped down
by Khrushchev later. Although foreign observers
for a time, considered him to rank second after
Khrushchev, he was sent to a small remote town
of Russia, without doubt, virtually in exile. One
of our military students told us when he returned
to Albania:

«I was travelling on a train and a Soviet pas-
senger came and sat down beside me, pulled out
the paper and began to read. After a while he laid
down the paper and, as is customary, asked me:
'Where are you going?’ I told him. Noticing the
accent with which I spoke Russian, he asked me:
'What is your nationality? 'I am an Albanian’. 1
said. The traveller was surprised, but pleased,
looked at the door of the carriage, turned to me,
and shook my hand warmly, saying: ’I admire the
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Albanians’. I was surprised by his stand,» said our
officer, «because at this time the fight with the
Khrushchevites had begun». It was the period
after the Meeting of 81 parties. <Who are you?’ I
asked,» related the officer, «’I am Kirichenko,’ he
told me. When he told me his name, I realized
who he was,» our officer told us, «and I prepared
myself to talk to him, but he straight away said:
“Shall we play dominoes?” ’All right,” I replied,
and he pulled the box of dominoes out of his poc-
ket and we began the game. I quickly understood
why he wanted to play dominoes. He wanted to
tell me something and to cover his voice with the

rattle of the dominoes on the table. And he began:

‘Good for your Party, which exposed Khrushchev.
Long live Enver Hoxha! Long live socialist Alba-
nia!’ And in this way we continued a very friendly
talk, covered by the rattle of the dominoes. While
we were talking, other people entered the com-
partment. He placed the last domino saying: 'Don’t
yield, give Enver my best wishes!” and took the
newspaper and started to read it as if we had
never met,» said our officer in conclusion.
Khrushchev and company did everything
possible to spread and cultivate their openly revi-
sionist line and their anti-Marxist, putschist ac-
tions and methods in all the other communist and
workers’ parties. We saw how Khrushchevism
began to flourish very quickly in Bulgaria and
Hungary, East Germany, Poland, Rumania and
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Czechoslovakia. The process of large-scale reha-
bilitations, disguised as the «correction of mistakes
made in the past», was transformed into an un-
precedented campaign in all the former countries
of people’s democracy. The doors of the prisons
were opened everywhere, the chiefs of other par-
ties were competing with each other as to who
would be quickest to release the most condemned
enemies from the prisons, and who would give
them the most positions right up to the head of
the party and the state. Every day the newspapers
and magazines of these parties published com-
muniques and reports about this spring of the
revisionist mafia; the pages of the press were
filled with the speeches of Tito, Ulbricht, and
other revisionist chiefs, while «Pravdas» and 'TASS
hastened to report these events and to spread
them as «advanced exampless».

We saw what was occurring and felt the
pressure mounting against us from all sides, but
we did not waver a fraction from our course and
our line.

This could not fail to anger Tito and com-
pany, first of all, because, exalted by the decisions
of the 20th Congress and what was occurring in
other countries, they expected a cataclysm in
Albania, too. The activity of the Titoites who
worked in the Yugoslav Embassy in Tirana,
against our Party and country, was stepped up.

Taking advantage of our correct behaviour
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and the facilities we had provided for them to
carry out their task, the Yugoslav diplomats in
Tirana, on orders and instructions from Belgrade,
started to arouse and reactivate their old agents
in our country, instructed them and gave them the
signal to attack. The attempt to attack the leader-

ship of our Party at the Tirana Conference in

April 1956, an attempt which failed, was the
work of the Belgrade revisionists but, at the same
time, it was also the work of Khrushchev and the
Khrushchevites.! With their revisionist theses and
ideas, the latter were the inspirers of the plot,
while the Titoites and their secret agents were
the organizers.

When they saw that this plot had failed, the

1 Misusing the inner democracy ol the Party and taking
advantage of the passive stand of the camouflaged enemy
Beqir Balluku, at that time the representative of the Central
Committee, the revisionist elements created a tense atmosphere
at this conference. Through their men who had managed
to get themselves elecled as delegates they put forward their
anti-Marxist platform in the spirit of the 20th Congress of
the CPSU and attacked the line and the Marxist-Leninist lea-
dership of the PLA. But as it emerged later, their activity was
prepared in secret by the Yugoslav Embassy in collaboration
with the Soviet Embassy in Tirana and ecarried out by the
local agents in the Yugoslav secret service headed by the
multiple agent M. Shehu whose activity was not yet discovered
at that time. (See Enver Hoxha, Selected Works vol. 2, the
«8 Néntori» Publishing House Tirana 1973, Eng. ed.. pp.
436-482 and The Titoifes (Historical Notes), the «8 Néntori»
Publishing House, Tirana 1982, Eng. ed., pp. 586-610).

205




Soviet leaders, who posed as our friends to the
death and men of principle, did not fail to make
demands and exert pressure on us openly.

On the eve of the 3rd Congress of our Party,
which was held at the end of Mav and the begm~
ning of June 1956, Suslov quite Openly demanded
that our leadershlp should «re-examine» and
«correct» its line in the past.

«There is nothing for our Party to re-exa-
mine in its line,» we told him bluntly. «We have
never permitted serious mistakes of principle in
our line.»

«You should re-examine the case of Koci
Xoxe and his comrades, whom you condemned
earlier,» Suslov told us.

«They were and still are traitors and enemies
of our Party and people, enemies of the Soviet
Union and socialism,» we replied bluntly. «If their
trials were reviewed a hundred times, they would
be described only as enemies a hundred times.
Such was the nature of their activity.»

Then Suslov began to speak about the things
that were occurring in the other parties and the
Soviet party in regard to looking at this problem
with a «more generous», «more humane» eye,

«This has made a great impression on and has
been welcomed by the peoples,» he said. «This is
what should occur with you too.»

1 The 3rd Congress of the PLA was held from 25 May
to 3 of June 1956.
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«If we were to rehabilitate the enemies and
traitors, those who wanted to place the country in
the chains of a new slavery, our people would
stone us,» we told Khrushchev’s ideologist.

When he saw that he was getting nowhere
with this, Suslov changed his fack.

«All right,» he said, «since you are convinced
they are enemies, that is what they must be. But
there is one thmg you should do: you should re-
frain from speakmg of their links with the Yugo-
slavs and should no longer describe them as agents
of Belgrade.»

«Here we are speaking of the truth,» we said.
«And the truth is that Koci Xoxe and his colla-
borators in the plot were downright agents of the
Yugoslav revisionists. We have made known
world-wide the links of Koci Xoxe with the
Yugoslavs for hostile activities against our Party
and country and the great mass of facts which
prove this. The Soviet leadership knows them very
well. Perhaps you have not had the chance to
acquaint yourself with the facts and, since you
persist in your opinion, let us present some of
them to you.»

Suslov could hardly contain his temper. We
calmly listed some of the main facts and finally
stressed:

«This is the truth about the links of Kogi
Xoxe with the Yugoslav revisionists.»
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«Da, da,»* he repeated impatiently.

«And how can we distort this truth?!» we
asked him. «Is it permissible for a party to con-
ceal or distort what has been proved with count-
less facts, to please this or that person?»

Suslov snorted, «But there is no other way
you can repair your relations with Yugoslavia.»

Everything had become more than clear to
us. Behind the «fraternal» intervention of Suslov
lurked the Khrushchev-Tito deals. The Tito group,
which had now gained ground, was certainly de-
manding as much as possible space, along with
economiec, military and political advantages. Tito
had insisted with Khrushchev that the Titoite
traitors such as Koci Xoxe, Rajk, Kostov, ete., be
rehabilitated. While Tito achieved this aim in
Hungary, Bulgaria and Czechoslovakia, he was
quite unable to do so in our country. In those
countries the traitors were rehabilitated and the
Marxist-Leninist party leaderships were un-
dermined. This was the joint work of Khrushchev
and Tito. With our resolute and unwavering stand
towards him, we were a thorn in Tito’s flesh.
And if the enemies dared to undertake actions
against us, we would counteract. Tito had long
known this, and Khrushchev knew it and was be-
coming convinced of it, too. He, of course, was
inclined to restrict Tito’s roads and not allow him

* yves, ves (Russian in the original).
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to graze in the «pastures» which Khrushchev
considered his own.,

About 15 to 20 days after the 3rd Congress of
our Party, in June 1956, I was in Moscow for a
consultation, about which I spoke above, in which
the leaders of the parties of all the socialist coun-
tries took part. Although the purpose of the con-
sultation was to discuss economic problems,
Khrushchev, as was his custom, took the opportu-
nity to raise all the other problems.

There, in the presence of all the representa-
tives of the other parties, he admitted with his
own mouth the pressure which Tito had exerted
on him for the rehabilitation of Koci Xoxe and
other enemies condemned in Albania.

«With Tito,» said Khrushchev among other
things, «we talked about the relations of Yugo-
slavia with the other states. Tito was pleased
with the Poles, the Hungarians, the Czechs, the
Bulgarians and the others, but he spoke very
angrily about Albania, thumping his fist and
stamping his feet. 'The Albanians are not in
order, they are not on the right road,” Tito told
me, 'they do not recognize the mistakes they have
made and have understood nothing from all these
things that are taking place’.»

In fact, by repeating Tito’s words and accusa-
tions Khrushchev found the opportunity to pour
out all the spite and ire he felt against us, be-
cause at the congress we did not rehabilitate Koci
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Xoxe, «whom Tito described as a great patriot,»
stressed Khrushchev.

«When Tito spoke about the Albanian com-
rades he was trembling with rage, but I opposed
him and said to him, 'These are the internal af-
fairs of the Albanian comrades, and they will
know how to solve them,’» said Khrushchev, con-
tinuing his «report», trying to convince us that he
had had a great «quarrel» with Tito. However, we
were now well aware of the meaning of the never-
ending kisses and quarrels between these two
heralds of modern revisionism.

Up to his neck in treachery, Tito hatched up
numerous plots against the socialist countries.
However, when Khrushchev betrayed, he strutted
like a «peacock» and posed as Khrushchev's
«teacher». Tito was quite right to demand a great
deal from him, and did not hang back in this
direction. He aimed to make Khrushchev obey
him and act according to his orders. Tifo had the
backing of American imperialism and world reac-
tion, therefore Khrushchev, for his part, followed
the tactic of making approaches to Tito, in order
to flatter him and win him over, to embrace him
and eventually strangle him. However, he was
dealing with Tito, who had his own tactic of mak-
ing aporoaches to Khrushchev in order to impose
himself on him and not to submit to him, to
dictate to him and not to take orders from him,
to get the maximum possible unconditional aid

210

and to compel Khrushchev to subjugate all Bel-
grade’s opponents, first of all, the Party of Labour
of Albania.

It is precisely for these reasons that we see
many zig zags in Khrushchev’s line towards Tito
— sometimes they got on well, sometimes their
relations were embittered, sometimes he attacked
and cursed him and at other times he retracted
only to criticize him again. This was the result of
lack of principle in his political stand. Tito and
Khrushchev were two revisionists, two agents of
capitalism, who had things in common, but also
contradictions, which were expressed in the zig
zags and erratic behaviour of that time, which
continue to this day, between Tito and Khrush-
chev’s heirs.

There was nothing Marxist-Leninist in their
actions and stands. They were guided by counter-
vevolutionary aims and had assumed the lead-
ership of revisionism, which is capitalism in a new
form, the enemy of the unity of peoples, the
inciter of reactionary nationalism, of the drive
towards and establishment of the most ferociocus
fascist dictatorship which does not permit even
the slightest sign of formal bourgeois democracy.
Revisionism is the idea and action which leads the
turning of a country from socialism back to capi-
talism, the turning of a communist party into a
fascist party, it is the inspirer of ideological chaos,
confusion, corruption, repression, arbitrarity, in-
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stability and putting the homeland up for auc-
tion. This tragedy occurred in the Soviet Union
and the other revisionist countries. Khrushchev
and the Khrushchevites, incited and assisted by
American imperialism and world capitalism,
created this situation.

212

7. DESIGNING THE EMPIRE

Towards turning the socialist countries into
Russian dominions. Changes in the Bulgarian
leadership dictated by Moscow. Zhivkov’s
«clock» is wound up in Moscow. The Danubian
complex and the Rumanians’ «fall-out» with
the Soviets. The official elimination of the
Information Bureau. The reformist illusions of
the Italian and French parties — Togliatti, the
father of «polycentrism». Unforgettable meeting
with two beloved French comrades, Marcel
Cachin and Gaston Monmousseau. The vacilla-
tions of Maurice Thorez. Destruction of the
unity of the communist movement, a colossal
service for world imperialism,

The theses of the 20th Congress and especial-
ly the attack made on Stalin in Khrushchev’s
«secret» report enthused the revisionist elements,
both in the parties of the socialist countries and
in the other parties. Following the example of the
rehabilitation of the enemies of socialism in the
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Soviet Union, the «cases» of Rajk, Kostov, Go-
mulka, Slansky and other enemies, condemned by
the dictatorship of the proletariat, were brought
up again.

All the counter-revolutionary subversion
which the Khrushchevite cligue carried out within
the Soviet Union also served its aims in foreign
policy. At first, its main aims in this direction
were: to strengthen its domination in the parties
and former countries of people’s democracy, which
it thought were under its control, and to clamp
down on those parties and countries which still had
not submitted to it; to place the communist and
workers’ parties of the capitalist countries comple-
tely in its service; to win the trust of American
and world imperialism by attacking socialism in
the Soviet Union and elsewhere, while propagat-
ing «creative Marxism» through a series of op-
portunist theses.

Khrushchev thought that by slandering Stalin
he would make the Soviet Union and especially
himself «acceptable» to everybody. He calculated
that in this way world reaction would be satisfied,
all the other parties would gather round him,
Tito’s heart would be softened and they would be
reconciled, and, together, like a reunited family,
they would reach accord and join hands with im-
perialism and world capitalism on their course.
Khrushchev and the Khrushchevites would say
to them: «We are no longer those communists
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with knives between their teeth, as in the days of
Lenin and Stalin. We are no longer for world
revolution, but for collaboration, peaceful coexist-
ence and the parliamentary road. We opened up
the concentration camps set up by Stalin and re-
habilitated the Tukhachevskies and Zinovievs,
and we may even go so far as to rehabilitate Trots-
ky. We freed the Solzhenitsyns and allowed them
to print their anti-Soviet books. We flung Stalin
out of the Mausoleum and burned his corpse.' To
those who called this action of ours against Stalin
a crime, we said: ’Do you want this dead horse?
Then take it!'»

As I pointed out above, Khrushchev had to
get rid of his opponents, not only in thfa Soviet
Union but also in the countries of people’s demo-
cracy. Those who believed in the Marxist-Leninist
line of Stalin had to be culled from the party
leaderships. Likewise, those who were against
Tito, with whom Khrushchev had come to agree-
ment, had to be purged; while those who‘had con-
demned Tito’s agents in their own countries had to
rehabilitate these traitors and themselves be re-
—1- The Soviet revisionists proclaimed their decision to re-
move Stalin's body from the Mausoleum at the 22d Congress
of the CPSU which was held from 17 to 31 of October 1961.
Also at this Congress Khrushchev proposed that a memorial
should be erected in Moscow to all the counter-revolutiona-
ries. in order to immeortalize, as he put it, «the comrades who
fell victims to arbitrariness».
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moved from the leadership. Khrushchev used all
methods: Gottwald died, Bierut died, Gomulka
and Kadar were returned to power, Dej turned his
coat, Rakosi and Chervenkov were liquidated. We
were the only ones whom Khrushchev was unable
to liquidate.

Of course, in seeking rapprochement with
{&me.rican imperialism, Khrushchevite revision-
ism intended to come out on the arena as its pow-
erful partner, a country with developed industry
and agriculture, able to compete with those of the
United States of America (as was loudly proclai-
med), and with its own colonial empire, part of
which would be the countries of the socialist
camp.

Khrushchev and company had begun their
work for the making of this «empire» and now
they continued it further. In some places this
work went smoothly, in others there was friction,
_whéle in Albania these ambitions were never real-
ized.

Bulgaria, for example, never caused the Sov-
iet revisionists any trouble. After the deaths of
Dimitrov and Stalin, apparently the «authority»
of Velko Chervenkov could no longer be imposed
on the Bulgarian Communist Party. He had be-
come an obstacle in Khrushchev’s way and
without doubt, the Soviet intrigues, the intrigue;
of Khrushchev, who seized power and did what
he did, must have played a part in his liquidation.
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Immediately after the 20th Congress Cher-
venkov, who was prime minister at that time, was
attacked over the «cult of the individual», the
«mistakes» he had committed, etc. However, Vel-
ko did not seem to have been one of those who
created a cult around themselves. He was used
more as a «scapegoat» in order to justify the «cor-
rections» which were made with the rehabilitation
of Kostov and company. Chervenkov made way
without any fuss and left his post as prime mi-~
nister in favour of Anton Yugov, who did not
keep this position for long, either.

In Dimitrov’s time, Anton Yugov was minister
of internal affairs, while with the advent of Cher-
venkov, he became deputy prime minister and la-
ter, prime minister. During the war, Yugov fought
in the underground movement and fought well.
He was one of the main and most dynamic lea-
ders, especially in the uprising which led to Septe-
mber 9, 1944, the day of the liberation of Bulgaria.
When I went to Bulgaria for the first time I
noticed that Dimitrov showed special respect for
Yugov, kept him close and, it seemed, had great
faith in him. Irrespective of certain shortcomings
in Yugov, to the extent that I knew him, my
opinion is that after the death of Dimitrov he was
the clearest ideologically and politically amongst
the Bulgarian leaders, a man determined in his
opinions, courageous and a good organizer. I have
had contacts with him many times in Bulgaria, in
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Moscow, and also in Albania, when he visited our
country, and he always showed himself frank,
friendly and ready to talk with me.

Yugov knew the political, economic and or-
ganizational situation in Bulgaria well and, from
my impression, he knew this not only from re-
ports, but more from his contacts. He went all over
the country and was a man of the masses. Not
only did he know how to organize, but he was a
man who took decisions and knew how to defend
them. In other words, Yugov was not a leader
who could be made to conform quickly or a «yes-
mans.

In the organization of the Bulgarian Com-
munist Party under the leadership of Dimitrov,
Yugov had his own role. The same thing must be
said, also, in regard to the restoration of industry
and the organization of agricultural cooperatives,
which were built following the example and
course of the Soviet collective farms.

When Chervenkov was removed from the
post of general secretary of the party, he was re-
placed by Zhivko,* while Yugov remained where
he was, as deputy prime minister. As the cunning
devil he was, Khrushchev preferred Todor, who
would do the work for him better. Khrushchev
could not manoeuvre with Yugov as he wanted.
Did Yugov like this Khrushchevite solution? Cer-

* ironical diminutive for Zhivkov.
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tainly not and he expressed it. Whenever we were
together, it was quite clear that Yugov had utter
disregard for Zhivkov.

One fine morning Yugov, too, was liquidated
quietly like Chervenkov. We never heard the
reasons for this liquidation, but we can guess
them. He must have been in opposition to Zhiv-
kov, i.e., to Khrushchev. In a word, he must
have been against the colonization of Bulgaria
by the Khrushchevite Soviet Union, against the
loss of the independence and sovereignty of Bul-
garia. Yugov must have refused to become a
marionette in the hands of the Khrushchevites,
as Zhivkov did.

Together with Yugov's good qualities as a
leader, in my opinion he also had some personal
shortcomings. His main shortcoming was his
conceit, which took concrete form in his boasting
and the expressions which he used to boost himself
and his work. I travelled through Bulgaria with
him, he accompanied me to see cities, plains,
agricultural cooperatives, historical sites, factories,
artistic performances, etc. I enjoyed the beauties
of the country and felt the affection of the Bul-
garian people and the Bulgarian communists for
our people and Party, Yugov’'s company was al-
ways pleasant and very instructive.

However, wherever he went he seemed to
want to show off. We travelled by car, passed
through many villages and Yugov never failed
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to tell me, not only the name of each coopera-
tive, but also how many hectares of land, how
many cows, how many horses, and even how
many goats, let alone the hectares of vineyards,
the type of grape and the number of fruit trees
it had. Everything with statistics! Well, I thought,
but even statisticians can be wrong! But no, Yu-
gov, the «man with the ready answer», wanted
to impress me that he «<had everything at his fin-
gertips».

When they put on a folklore performance for
us, he would jump up and join in dancing and
singing. He was a bon vivant.”

Despite these things, Yugov was a good man
and I retain pleasant memories of him. I believe
he has not degenerated politically and ideolo-
gically.

With his elimination, Khrushchev named To-
dor Zhivkov as the leader of Bulgaria or, more
precisely, the «steward» of the Soviets in Bulga-
ria. Dimitrov raised the prestige of the Bulgarian
Communist Party and of Bulgaria very high, but
Todor Zhivkov completely reversed this process.
This element without personality came to the top
with the aid of Khrushchev, and became his
docile lackey. At the time I met Dimitrov I never
heard of Zhivkov. Later, in the time of Cherven-
kov, I saw him once or fwice. Once he gave me

# jolly fellow (French in the original).
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an alleged talk about Bulgarian agriculture and
another time he accompanied me somewhere
outside Sofia to a field of strawberries.

When he talked to me about agriculture it
seemed that it was not Zhivkov’s mind talking
but his notebook. He was Yugov’s opposite. In
a small notebook marked A-Z, he had noted down
figures about everything — from the population
of the country to the number of strings of tobac-
co. In other words, he bored me with figures,
without any conclusion, for a whole hour. An-
other comrade who was with him spoke much
better about the Bulgarian economy, in general,
and about industry, in particular. I completely
forgot Zhivkov, Later, however, when Cherven-
kov was removed, he emerged as first secre-
tary(!). We were astonished, but we had no reason
to be surprised. I met him in this function, too!
He was just what he had been. There was only
one change: in order to distinguish himself from
the past, he had assumed some new poses; he no
longer brought up his notebook, smiled frequent-
ly, sat with his cap on and used more «popular
expressions».

Even after this I never had a serious conver-
sation with him. Many times we dined together
with the comrades of the Bulgarian leadership;
Zhivkov took us from one of Czar Boris’ palaces
to the other, from the palace of Sofia to that of
Eksinograd in Varna, but he never said anything
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of consequence, merely indulging in idle conver-
sation to pass the time.

The metamorphosis of Zhivkov came about
gradually through the education which Khrush-
chev gave him. Zhivkov’s watchword became:;
«With the Soviet Union for ever!» His subjuga-
tion to Khrushchev was complete. It was Zhivkov
who «created» and launched the idea, «Let us
synchronize our watches with that of Khrush-
chev». Khrushchev’s tactics towards the com-
munist and workers’ parties became those of
Zhivkov; today he would speak against Tito, to-
morrow pro Tito, today he would open the bor-
ders for fairs with Yugoslav participation, to-
morrow he would close them, today he would
claim Macedonia and tomorrow say nothing about
it. By following the road and «advice» of Khrush-
chev, Zhivkov became a «perscnality» and, si-
multaneously with the build-up of his «person-
ality» the Khrushchevite revisionists got every-
thing in Bulgaria under their control. Every cor-
ner and sector of Bulgaria is run by the men of
the Soviets. Nominally, the Bulgarian govern-
ment, party and administration exist, but, in fact,
everything is run by the Soviets. The Khrush-
chevites have turned Bulgaria into a dangerous
arsenal. Bulgaria has become a bridge-head of
the Russian social-imperialists against our country
and the other Balkan countries. This is the work
of Zhivkov and his team, who eat the bread of
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Bulgaria and serve Soviet social-imperialism.
As the facts of history show, Dej and his
associates also were and still are satellites of
Khrushchev. They swung whichever way the
wind blew. In the close friendship between Tito
and Khrushchev there were also quarrels which
were caused by the Hungarian, Polish and other
events, hence there were tiffs and periods of
sulking, then the friends would kiss and make up.
Without the slightest political scruple, Dej threw
himself completely into the whirlpool of Khrush-
chev’s treacherous anti-Marxist activity in which
he was caught up and tossed to and fro at will.
I shall speak later about what occurred in
1960 in Bucharest and Moscow, but here I want
to point out only that in these events Dej once
again displayed his unchanging essence as a per-
son who could raise and lower any flag without
the slightest qualm. There are certain key points
and moments in the life and activity of the man
which, taken together, provide the portrait of
him. This is Dej: in 1948 and 1949 a resolute
and zealous anti-revisionist and anti-Titoite; after
1954 an enthusiastic and zealous pro-revisionist
and pro-Titoite; in 1960 a pro-Khrushchevite of
he first order, althmlqh later, it seemed, he was
wavm@ this flag in order to manoeuvre with two
or three flags simultaneously. In short, a politi-
cian who turned with the political breeze, whe
followed the line of «with this side and with that
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side», with Tito, with Khrushchev, and with Mao
Zedong, indeed even with his successors and
with American imperialism. He and his successors
could be and were with anyone, but they were
not and could not be with consistent Marxism-
Leninism.

We saw both the period of the flowering of
the Dej-Khrushchev friendship and the period of
rifts in this friendship.

Khrushchev thought that he had Dej in his
waistcoat pocket like the small ivory knife which
he would bring out and toy with in meetings.
He thought he would use Dej just like this knife.
Judging that the situation was ripe, after 1950
Khrushchev brought up the annexationist plan
under which the Rumanian territory from the
province of Bucharest up to the border with the
Soviet Union, would be united economically with
the Soviet Ukraine in an «industrial-agricultural
complex». This was a very clumsy idea. Dej had
swallowed many other things, but this time he
kicked out. :

Only when Khrushchev trod on Rumania’s
corns, did Dej silence the attacks on us, but even
after this Dej never had sufficient civil decency,
let alone the Marxist-Leninist courage, to make
the slightest self-criticism over all the things he
had said and done in regard to our Party. This
revisionist, who kissed Tito’s hand, never sought
forgiveness from our Party.
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It was said that Dej died of cancer. We sent
a delegation to his funeral as a mark of friendship
with the Rumanian people. There, Ceausescu,
who had replaced Dej, hardly shook hands with
our delegation. We repaid this new revisionist,
who from the time he came to power took as his
permanent motto the policy of agreement with
all the revisionist and imperialist chiefs — with
Brezhnev, Tito, Mao, Nixon and the whole of
world reaction, in the same coin.

On assuming power, this person, who was
one of the lesser minions of Dej, made a complete
exposure of him and by strengthening his posi-
tions, he is struggling to become <«a world fi-
gure» like Tito, to take his place, thanks to a
certain hypothetical resistance to the insidious
pressure of the Soviets.

Even after the contradictions which the Ru-
manians had with the Soviets, their state rela-
tions with us remained just the same — cold,
stale, tasteless and unpleasant. We do not have
party relations with the Rumanian party and we
will not have them, so long as that party does
not publicly acknowledge the mistakes it has
made in regard to our Party.

Of course, we greatly regret that Rumania
has been turned into a capitalist country like
Yugoslavia, the Soviet Union and others and is
socialist only in name.

All these Dejs, Zhivkovs, Ceausescus, ete.,
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are the offspring of revisionism, whom Khrush-
chev and the Khrushchevites have used and are
still using for their own purposes.

The Soviet Khrushchevites replaced Marx-
ist-Leninist trust and friendship with the domina-
tion of the great «socialist» state, in order to create
the «socialist family», the «socialist community»,
in which Brezhnev and the Soviet marshals rule
today with the iron fist by threatening any «way-
ward son» of the family with the bludgeon of
the Warsaw Treaty.

Khrushchev and Co. were intolerant of any
kind of criticism or complaint from the others,
opposed to any kind of discipline and mutual
control, however formal. For them the joint meet-
ings, statements and decisions were formal and null
and void if they hindered them in their plans.

Why did the Khrushchevites eliminate and,
moreover, blacken the Information Bureau? They
did this because the Information Bureau had
condemned Tito, because they considered it the
offspring of Stalin, which had earned a «bad
reputation» in the eyes of the imperialists. It is
clear that here they were not concerned with the
organizational forms, because, after all, what dif-
ference would there be, in form, between the In-
formation Bureau and the «bureau of contacts»,
which Khrushchev proposed (and which was
never created)? The aim was to rehabilitate Tito
and please imperialism.
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Later, however, at a consultation of the par-
ties of the socialist camp, the proposal for this
«bureau» was rejected, partly because the
Khrushchevites had changed their minds about it
and partly because it was opposed, especially by
the Poles. They (Ochab and Cyrankiewicz) wer2
very actively opposed to this idea. Indeed, even
when it was decided to publish a joint organ,
they said:

«Well, then, let us have it eventually, be-
cause it seems we have to have it.»

From this fruitless meeting, I remember the
enthusiasm with which Togliatti embraced
Khrushchev’s idea and there and then advanced
if further, by insisting on the creation of two
«bureaus of contacts» — one for the parties of the
socialist countries and one for the parties of the
capitalist countries! The future father of «poly-
centrism» took matters even further and proposed
that the Communist Party of the Soviet Union
should not take part in the latter, «although,»
added Togliatti, trying to sweeten the pill, «it will
be our leadership.»

The Italian revisionist party was in the fore-
front of the hostile work against international
communism, against the communist and workers’
parties and the countries of the socialist eamp.

The Italian and French «communists» had
great illusions about bourgeois democracy and the
parliamentary road. In the period immediately
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after the Second World War, both these parties
toa_)k part in the first bourgeois governments. And
this was a tactic of the bourgeoisie to avoid strikes
and chaos, in order to re-establish the econom'{:-'
and_ especially to strengthen not only its economic
positions but also its military and police positions.
This participation of communists in the bourgeois
governments was a flash in the pan. The bour-
geoisie threw the communists out of office, dis-
armed them, pushed them into opposition and
promulgated such electoral laws that, despite the
great number of votes the communists had
received, the number of their deputies in parlia-
ment was reduced to the minimum.

As became clear later, even at that time, Tito
and Togliatti ate from the one trough, and that
is why the Italian party came to the aid of Tito’s
party, although not openly at first. Togliatti, who
was a disguised inveterate revisionist, and all the
leadership of the Italian Communist Party. which

‘participated in the Information Bureau, were

sorry that Tito was condemned. They voted for
this condemnation along with the others, because
Th(’:}_{ did not have the courage to come out openiy*
a‘galpst it, but time showed that the Italian revi-
mor}lsts were among the most ardent in their
desire to kiss Tito.

Khrushchev’s visit to Belgrade and his re-
c'onciliation with Tito opened the way for Togliat-
ti and Co., not only tc go to Belgrade to meet the
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Titoites and make peace with them, but also to
develop their disruptive revisionist views openly
against Stalin and the Soviet Union, not only
as a state but also as a system. Togliatti and his
followers openly took the side of Tito and did
not follow Khrushchev’s zigzag tactics. On his
part, Khrushchev manoeuvred with Togliatti, too;
he praised him and gently reproved him, in order
to keep him in check.

The leaders of the Italian party, such as To-
gliatti, Longo and company proved especially
susceptible to the revisionist theses of the 20th
Congress and, in particular, to Khrushchev's slan-
ders against Stalin. Shortly after this congress,
in an interview given to the magazine «Nuovi
Argomenti», Togliatti launched his attacks on the
socialist system, the dictatorship of the proletariat
and Stalin. Here he also launched his idea of
«polycentrism», which was the idea of the frag-
mentation and splitting of the international com-
munist movement.

As to the leaders of the French Communist
Party, such as Thorez, Duclos and others, how-
ever, it is a fact thatat first they were dismayed at
Khrushchev’s «secret» report against Stalin and
did not accept it. After this report was published
in the Werstern press, the Political Bureau of the
French Communist Party made a statement in
which it condemned this report and expressed its
reservations about the attacks on Stalin. Thorez
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personally, told me in regard to this problem:
«We sought explanations from the Soviet com—:
ra_ldes, they gave them to us, but we are not con-
vmce:d.» I pointed out to Thorez, «You are not
convinced, while we do not agree in the least.»
Thus Thorez and the French Communist Party
}éad long beeg aware of our opinion of the 20th
ongress and of the 3 hevites’

e St Khrushchevites’ slanders

The French and the Italians were like cat
and mouse. I had talked with Thorez and Duclos
about thle stands of the leaders of the Italian
Qomngumst Party against the Marxist-Leninist
Ime_, in defence of the Titoite revisionists and
against our Party. At first, they and the French
as a whole seemed to behave well towards us
We stuck to our views and they to theirs. We;
continued our ceaseless attacks against the Tito-
il:es and th};ay seemed to have no trust in Tito. We
‘ere on the same course i "
the Italian leaders, too. e

Prior to the events which brought t li
Comrades Marcel Cachin and Gasto%l f\&tglzfmsglilst—,
seau, two glorious veterans of communism, came
to our country. Our whole Party and }peoplé
welcomed them with joy and affection. I had
very open and cordial talks with them. They
visited our country, spoke to me about it with
great sympathy, and wrote in glowing terms
about our Party and people in «L’Humanités.
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Monmousseau also published a very pleasant book
about our country. Sitting with me in front of
the fire, he told me about the visit he made to
Korca and his participation with the cooperativ-
ists of Korca in the grape harvest. In the course
of our talk, I asked the author of «Jean Bécot»,
who is from Champagne, the place of famous
wines:

«Comrade Monmousseau, what do you think
of our wine?»

He replied pince-sans-rire®:

«Like vinegar.»

I laughed heartily and said:

«You are right, but tell me, what should we
do about it?»

Monmousseau went on to speak for a whole
hour about wine and this helped me greatly. I lis-
tened with admiration to the old man whose
cheeks were glowing and eyes sparkling with en-
thusiasm, who had the colour of the wine of his
birthplace, Champagne.

Before we went to the 81 parties’ Meeting in
Moscow, Maurice Thorez asked to come to our
country for a holiday.! We welcomed him with
great pleasure. We thought (and we were not
wrong) that he was sent by the Soviets to «soften

us up».
When he was on holiday in Durrés, I told

* dryly (French in the original).
1 July-August 1960.
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Thorez about all the vile things the Soviets had
done to us.

Maurice listened attentively. He was as-
tounded because he did not know these things.
They had hidden everything from him. I spoke
about the Bucharest Meeting and our stand at
that meeting. He said that they had been informed
about the stand of the Party of Labour of Albania
at the Bucharest Meeting by the delegation from
their party, and since this stand had impressed
them, he had set out for Albania with the inten-
tion of talking about this question with us. Thorez
said that the Bucharest Meeting was useful and
did not pronounce himself at all on whether or
not it was in order. He did not criticize our stand
in Bucharest and when he had heard me out, all
he said was:

«Comrade Enver, you must clear up these
things they have done to you with the Soviet
leadership.»

As to the struggle against Titoism, Maurice
Thorez approved everything. We saw him off by
ship for Odessa.

In Moscow, before I spoke at the 81 parties’
Meeting, Maurice Thorez invited us to dinner.
This time it was obvious that he had come from
Khrushchev to persuade us not to speak against
the revisionist betrayal at the meeting, but he
failed in his mission. We did not accept the mis-
taken «advice» he gave us.
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Maurice Thorez criticized us in the meeting,
but in moderate terms. However, after I had
spoken, Jeannette Vermeersch, Thorez’s wife, met
me and said: _

«Comrade Enver, where are you heading on
this course you have begun? We do not under-
stand you.»

«You do not understand us today, but per-
haps you will understand us tomorrow,» I replied.

Everyone knows how things turned out t[:for
the French Communist Party. It, too, set out with
determination on the revisionist road. It betrayed
Marxism-Leninism and, with some nuances, fol-
lowed the line of Khrushchev and Brflezhnev.

Meanwhile Togliatti had no such zig zags as
the French, and came out openly, like T}to, with
his revisionist views, which he left as his be}qest
to Longo and Berlinguer in his «Tesizament»._ He
is the father of «polycentrism» in the mternatl‘onal
communist movement. Of course «polycentr_lsm»
was not to the benefit of Kht'ush_chev Whp aimed
to wield the «conductor’s baton», just as it is not to

1 «The Yalta Testament» which Togliatti wrote some time
before he died in Yalta of the Soviet Union. His «Testaments
constitutes the code of the Italian revisionism for the so-called
Italian road to socialism through <«polycentrism». the «plura-
lism» of the parties, the «freedom of religion», ele. In gcner&‘xl
the views expressed in <«the Testament» make up the basis

of «Eurocommunisms,
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the benefit of the Khrushchevites who are ruling
in the Soviet Union today. The followers of To-
gliatti countered, and still counter, the meetings of
Khrushchev and Brezhnev with the «meetings» of
communist parties of the capitalist countries of
Europe, Latin America, etc. The French, who
leaned towards Khrushchev, did not approve
Togliatti’s proposals and fought them. I shall say
no more in this direction because I have written
elsewhere about this theory and the anti-Marxist
actions of these revisionists.

The Italian revisionists have never looked on
socialist Albania or the Party of Labour of Alba-
nia with a kindly eye. In the first years following
Liberation, we had a perfunctory visit from the
elderly Terracini who came to Albania together
with a young woman artist. He stayed one or two
days and left as silently as he came. The Italian
revisionists wrote almost nothing about socialist
Albania in their organ «Unita», Perhaps they did
not want to upset the Italian neo-fascists who
were in power, whose armies we had smashed in
the war, or perhaps it was because we exposed
their comrade, Tito!

The Italian Communist Party, with a long-
standing opportunist line, was openly a front to
catch votes. There were continual squabbles in
the leadership over positions, salaries, nomination
of deputies and senators. One leader of that party,
who was removed from his position by Togliatfi,
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met us and complained to us, but immediately
after this, as soon as they threw him a bone and
made him a senator, he became as quiet as a lamb.

I remember a meeting I had in Karlovy Vary
with one of them, a member of the leadership of
Togliatti’s Italian Communist Party.

«I am against Togliatti and his views,» he
told me.

«But why?» I asked.

He listed one or two arguments--, but in the
end the true reason emerged:

«Togliatti does not allow publication of the
speeches I make in parliament. Both Togliatti and
Pajetta not only do not publish them in Italy, but
also intervene with the Soviets to ensure that they
are not published in Moscow, either. Please, Com-
rade Enver, intervene with Khrushchev about
this.»

Of course, I was astonished and told him
there and then:

«How can I intervene? I could have an in-
fluence whether or not they are published in Al-
bania, let us say, but in the Soviet Union? You
must address yourself to the Soviet comrades.
They are the hosts there and decide this. »

After the break with the Khrushchevites he,
too, had «contradictions» with the Italian revi-
sionist leadership. But these were not on a prin-
cipled basis, they were nothing but squabbles over
positions and money. As soon as he was made a
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senator he, too, quietened down and never raised
his voice. This is what the Italian revisionists were
and still are — collaborators with both the Italian
and the international bourgeoisie.

All this revisionist activity ruined, destroyed
the Marxist-Leninist cooperation and harmony
which existed in the international communist
movement, Khrushchev and the Khrushchevites
rendered world imperialism an incalculable servi-
ce and placed themselves directly in its service.
Khrushchev and the Khrushchevites of every hue,
wherever they were, consummated that work of
sabotage which imperialism and its lackeys had
been unable to achieve in whole decades. By slan-
dering Stalin, the Soviet Union, socialism and
communism, they lined themselves up with the
capitalist slanderers and weakened the Soviet
Union, and this was the dream and the aim of the
capitalists. They disrupted that monolithic unity
which the capitalists fought, raised doubts about
the revolution and sabotaged it, a thing which the
capitalists had always tried to do. They carried the
quarrel and split into the ranks of various com-
munist and workers’ parties, bringing down or
elevating to their leaderships cliques which would
better serve the hegemonic interests shaken by the
great earthquake. These enemies have atfacked
Marxism-Leninism in every direction and in every
manifestation and replaced it with the social-
democratic reformist ideology, thus opening the
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way to liberalism, bureaucracy, technocracy, de-
cadent intellectualism and capitalist espionage in
the party, in other words, to degeneration. What
world capitalism had been quite unable to do, the
Khrushchevite clique did for it.

However, neither American imperialism nor
world capitalism considered this colossal aid, this
great sabotage which Khrushchev and the Khrush-
chevites carried out against Marxism-Leninism
and socialism, sufficient. Therefore, the attack of
the bourgeoisie and reaction began on the revision-
ist parties,in order to deepen the crisis to the ma-
ximum, not only to discredit Marxism-Leninism
and the revolution, not only to deepen the split
amongst the communist and workers’ parties and
to advance their rebellion against Moscow, but
also, through all these activities, to weaken, to
subjugate and enslave the Soviet Union, as a great
political, economic and ideological power regard-
less of the fact that the Khrushchevite ideology
was not Marxism, but anti-Marxism. World capi-
talism, headed by American imperialism, had to
fight to prevent Khrushchevite hegemonism from
remaining alive and consolidating itself on the
ruins which it caused.

Therefore, American and world imperialism
intensified the work of sabotage in the countries
of the socialist camp in order to undermine the
colonial empire which Khrushchev was design-
ing. In the suitable climate which the Khrush-
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chevites’ slogans created, not only obedient pro-
Khrushchev chiefs like Zhivkov, but also the
agents of the Americans, the British, the French,
the West Germans, and Tito, became more active.
From the very nature of revisionism itself, as
well as from the pressure and work of agents of
imperialism, in many parties individuals who were
dissatisfied with the way things were going to-
wards «democratization» and liberalization, began
to raise their heads. In Hungary, Poland, Cze-
choslovakia and Rumania, the enemies of social-
ism wanted to go at a gallop on the road of the
restoration of capitalism, flinging aside the tat-
tered demagogic disguise which the group of So-
viet leaders wanted to preserve. The traditional
links of the bourgeoisie of these countries with
the West and the desire fo escape as quickly as
possible from the fear of the dictatorship of the
proletariat (although the Khrushchevites had des-
troyed it), orientated these enemies towards
Washington, Bonn, London and Paris.

Khrushchev hoped to get the demons back
into the bottle from which he had released them.
But once released, they wanted to browse at their
pleasure in the pastures which the Khrushchevites
considered their own and were obedient no longer
to Khrushchev’s «magic flute». Then he had to
contain them by means of tanks.
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8. MY FIRST AND LAST VISIT
TO CHINA

Our relations with the CPC and the PRC
up till 1956. Invitations from China, Korea and
Mongolia. An astounding event in Korea: two
members of the Political Bureau flee to...
China! Ponomaryov defends the fugitives.
Mikoyan and Peng Dehuzi «tune up» Kim Il
Sung. The meeting with Mao Zedong: «Neither
the Yugoslavs nor you were wrong», «Stalin
made mistakes», «It is necessary to make mis-
takes». Li Lisan at the 8th Congress of the
CPC: «I ask you to help me, because I may

make mistakes again.» Disappointment and
concern over the 8th Congress of the CPC.

Meetings in Beijing with Dej, Yugov, Zhou
Enlai and others. Bodnaras as intermediary to
reconcile us with Tito.

In regard to the relations between our Party
and the Communist Party of China, from 1949 to
1956, and indeed for several years later, the term
«normal», more or less in the sense that it is used
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in diplomatic language, would be quite appro-
priate. For our part, however, from the years of
the National Liberation War, and especially after
the liberation of our Homeland, we had followed
with sympathy the just war of the fraternal Chi-
nese people against the Japanese fascists and ag-
gressors, Chiang Kai-shek reaction and the Amer-
ican interference, and we had backed up and sup-
ported this struggle with all our strength. More-
over, we rejoiced at the fact that, at the head of
this struggle there was said to be a communist
party recognized by the Comintern, which enjoyed
the support of the Communist Party of the Soviet
Union, led by Stalin.

We knew also that at the head of the Com-
munist Party of China was Mao Zedong, about
whom personally, as well as about the party
which he led, we had no information other than
what we heard from the Soviet comrades. Both
during this period and after 1949 we had not had
the opportunity to read any of the works or
writings of Mao Zedong, who was said to be a
philosopher and to have written a whole series of
works. We welcomed the victory of October $
1949 with heartfelt joy and we were among the
first countries to recognize the new Chinese state
and establish fraternal relations with it. Although
greater possibilities and ways were now opened
for more frequent and closer contacts and links
between our two countries, these links remained
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at the level of friendly, cultural and commercial
relations, the sending of some second-rank delega«
tion, mutual support, according to the occasion,
through public speeches and state_ments, the e:i{-
change of telegrams on the occasion of celebra-
tions and anniversaries, and almost nothing more.

We continued to support the efforts of the
Chinese people and the Chinese leaders}_‘lip for the
socialist construction of the country with all our
might, but we knew nothing concrete about hpw
and to what extent this great process was being
carried out in China. It was said that Mao was
following an «interesting» line for the construc-
tion of socialism in China, collaborating \.mth the
local bourgeoisie and other parties, which 'they
described as «democratic», «of the 1_ndustrlahsts»,
ete., that joint private-state enterprises were per-
mitted and stimulated by the communist party
there, that elements of the wealthy classes were
encouraged and rewarded, and even placed in the
leadership of enterprises and_pmvmces, etf:., el
All these things were quite mcomprehenmble_ to
us and however much you racked your brains,
vou could not find any argument to figscrlbe them
as in conformity with Marxism—Lemms_m. Never-
theless, we thought, China was a very plg country,
with a population of hundreds of millions, 11‘; hald
just emerged from the dark, ‘fe_udal_—bom geois
i)ast., had many problems and_ difflcu_ltles, and in
time it would correct those things which were not
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in order, on the right road of Marxism-Leninism.
This is more or less what we knew about the
Communist Party of China and the Chinese state
up till 1956, when the Central Committee of our
Party received Mao Zedong’s invitation to send
a party delegation to take part in the proceedings
of the 8th Congress of the CP of China.! We wel-
cpmed the invitation with pleasure and satisfac-
tion, because we would be given the opportunity
to gain first-hand experience of and direct ac-
q}laintance with this sister party and fraternal so-
cialist country. At this same period we had also
received invitations from the People’s Republic of
Mongolia and the People’s Democratic Republic of
Korea to send top-level government and party
delegations to those countries for friendly visits.
We discussed the invitations from our friends
in the Political Bureau and decided that, using
the occasion of the trip to China for the 8th Con-
gress of the CP of China, on the way to China, our
top-level delegation should also go to Moné‘olia
and Korea. i
The Political Bureau appointed me, Mehmet
Shehu and Ramiz Alia, and our then Foreign Mi-
nister, Behar Shtylla, as the delegation.
We made the necessary preparations and set
out at the end of August 1956.

1 This Congress held its proceedings from 16 to 27 of
September 1956.
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It was the time when modern revisionism,
advanced by the 20th Congress of the Communist
Party of the Soviet Union, had not only spread
in the Soviet Union and the other countries of
people’s democracy, but was bringing out all its
inherent filth, the split, the quarrels, the plots,
and the counter-revolution. In Poland the caul-
dron (which had been simmering for a long time,
was bringing out the notorious Gomulka as the
finished product, in Hungary black reaction had
broken out as never before and was feverishly
preparing the counter-revolution. During those
days Tito had been invited to the Crimea «on holi~
day» and together with Khrushchev, Rankovic
and others, was putting the nails in Gerd’s coffin.
It seemed as if the revisionists of various coun-
tries were engaged in a villainous contest to see
who could outdo the other in the practical appli~
cation of Khrushchevism. In Europe the revision-
ist earthquake was rocking the foundations of
everything, with the exception of our Party and
country.

Those 3 or 4 days of our visit to Mongolia
passed almost unnoticed. We travelled for hours
on end to reach some inhabitated centre and
everywhere the landscape was the same: vast,
bare, monotonous, boring. Tsedenbal, who bo-
unced around us as mobile as a rubber ball, harped
on the sole theme — livestock farming. So many
million sheep, so many mares, so many horses, so

243



many camels, this was the only wealth, the only
pl"anph on which this socialist country éupporté'ti
itself. We drank mare’s milk, wished one another
success and parted. .

On September 7 we arrived in Pyongyang.
They put on a splendid welcome, with pgoplc: with
gongs, with flowers, and with portraits of Kim
I1 Sung everywhere. You had to look hard to find
some portrait of Lenin, tucked away in some ob-
scure corner,

We visited Pyongyang and a series of cities
and villages of Korea, where both the people and
the party and state leaders welcomed us warmly.
During the days we stayed there, Kim Il Sung
was kind and intimate with us. The Korean people
had just emerged from the bloody war with the
American aggressors and now had thrown them-
selves into the offensive for the reconstruction and
-dgvelopment of the country. They were an indus-
trious, clean and talented people, eager for further
development and progress, and we whole-heart-
edly wished them continued successes on the
road to socialism.

: However, the revisionist wasp had begun to
implant its poisonous sting there, too.

In the joint talks we held, Kim Il Sung told
us about an event which had occurred in the
plenum of the Central Committee of the party

held after the 20th Congress.

«After the report which I delivered,» Kim
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told us, «two members of the Political Bureau and
several other members of the Central Committee
got up and raised the question that the lessons
of the 20th Congress and the question of the cult
of the individual had not been properly appreci-
ated amongst us, here in Korea, that a consistent
struggle against the cult of the individual had not
been waged, and so on. They said to the plenum:
"We are not getting economic and political results
according to the platform of the 20th Congress,
and incompetent people have been gathered
around the Central Committee.’

«In other words, they attacked the line and
unity of the leadership,» continued Kim Il Sung.
«The whole Central Committee rose against
them,» he said in conclusion.

«What stand was taken towards them?»
I asked.

«The plenum criticized them and that was
all,» replied Kim Il Sung, adding: «Immediately
after this the two fled to China.»

«To China?! What did they do there?»

«Our Central Committee described them as
anti-party elements and we wrote to the Chinese
leadership to send them back to us without fail.
Apart from other mistakes, they also committed
the grave act of fleeing. The Chinese comrades
did not send them back. They have them there
to this day.» '

We said openly to Kim II Sung: «Although
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We_have no detailed knowledge of the matters
whlch these two members of the Political Bmd
raised, an_ditis not up to us to pass judgem-::ntbo;
your business, since you have told us about ﬂ“i;
problem, we think that this is a serious e\rehtl "
:<In our country, too,» we told him «ai‘téz
the 20th Congress of the CPCU, there ?Was ar
atte'mpt by anti-party elements to organize a plot
:slgamst our Party and our Central Commiﬁﬂed
T he plot was a deed organized by the I‘evisim;;?
of _Belgrade, and as soon as we became “\L L:
of it, we crushed it immediately.» i
We \yent on to speak about the Party Confer-
ence of Tirana in April 1956, about the preséure
;:;hé(fh{ W’?S %xe;ted on us, and the unwav&iﬁgfl
resolute stand o ¢ Pariy rards exter and
i Cnemies.om Party towards external and
«You are right, you are right!» said Kim
Il Sung, while I was speaking.
Frc_)m the way he spoke and reacted I sensed
a certain hesitation and uncertainty thafn ‘W;l‘(‘
overwhelming him. i o
I. was not mistaken in my doubts. A few davs
later in China, during a meeting I had w:i'th P?::
nomaryov, a member of the Soviet deleqatidn
to the 8th Congress of the CP of China, I opened
up thivprlzblem of the Korean fug;itivés. i
«We know about this,» he repli < Ve
given Kim Il Sung our advici.i(-phed, ik
«You have advised him? Why?» I asked.
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«Comrade Enver,» he said, «things are not
going well with the Koreans. They have become
very stuck up and ought to be brought down a
peg or two.»

«I am not talking about their affairs in ge-
neral, because I know nothing about them,» I
told Ponomaryov, «but about a concrete problem.
Two members of the Political Bureau rise against
the Central Committee of their own party and
then flee to another socialist country. Where is
Kim I1 Sung at fault in this?!»

«The Korean comrades have made mistakes,»
insisted Ponomaryov. «They have not taken mea-
sures in line with the decisions of the 20th Con-
gress, and that is why two members of the Politi-
cal Bureau rose against this. The Chinese comra-
des have been revolted by this situation, too, and
have told Kim Il Sung that if measures are not
taken, they are not going to hand over the two
comrades taking refuge in China.»

«Astonishing!» I said.

«You have no reason to be astonished,» he
said. «Kim Il Sung himself is retreating. A ple-
num of the Central Committee of the Korean
party has been held these days and the Koreans
have agreed to correct the mistakes.»

And this turned out to be true. The two fugi-
tives returned to Korea and the places they had
had in the Political Bureau. Under pressure, Kim
Tl Sung bowed his head and gave way. This was
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a joint act of the Soviets and the Chinese, in
which a special «merit» belonged to Mikoyan.a He
had been sent to China at the head of the Soviet
de_legation to the 8th Congress of the CPC aﬂd
without waiting for the Chinese congress to fi’nish
th.e_ man of the Khrushchevite mafia together”
with Peng Dehuzi, whom Mao Zedong gave him
as the representative of China, hastened to Korea
tq tune up the wavering Kim Il Sung to bring
him into harmony with the Khrushchevites. Lat.erz'j
other «tuning up» trips would be made to Korea:.
ay theJE SOViiE?: the Chinese, and others, but we
ere to see these in retur
gt the future. Let us return to

In Beijing, which we reached on September
13, ‘they welcomed us with crowds of people
music and flowers, not forgetting the horde of
portraits of Mao Zedong. Liu Shaoqi, Zhou Enlai
Deng Xiaoping, and others whose names I can’TE
remember, had come out to the airport.

We exchanged greetings with them, wished
them success in the congress, which was to begin
two days later, and could hardly cope with thjei\r
ste1_°eotyped expressions: «grcat”honour» «great
assistance», «brothers from the distant ;Eront -of
Europe», «please, offer us your criticism», etc
etc., expressions with which, in a few ycars” timg
we would be full up to our necks. (P:Towevev* ihﬂn
those days these expressions, which were so;v*ed
up ready-made everywhere, did not makeh aﬁ‘;
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bad impression on us — we considered them ex-
pressions of the Chinese simplicity and modesty.)

Mao Zedong received us during an interval
between sessions of the congress in one of the
adjoining rooms. This was the first time that we
met him. When we entered the reception room,
he stood up, bowed a little, held out his hand,
and thus, without shifting from the spot, waited
to give his hand and a smile to each of us in turn.
We sat down.

Mao began to speak. After saying that they
were very happy to have friends from distant
Albania, he said a few words about our people,
describing them as a valiant and heroic people.

«We have great admiration for your people,»
he said among other things, «because you have
been liberated much longer than we.»

Immediately after this he asked me:

«How are things between you and Yugo-
slavia?»

«Cold,» I replied, and immediately noticed
that he expressed open surprise. «Apparently he
is not well acquainted with our situation with the
Yugoslavs,» I thought, therefore I decided to
explain something from the long history of the
relations of our Party and country with the
Yugoslav party and state. I gave him a brief out-
line, dwelling on some of the key moments of the
anti-Albanian and anti-Marxist activity of the
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Yugoslav leadership, expecting some reaction

from him. But I noticed that Mao only expressed
surprise and from time to time looked at the
other Chinese comrades.

«On this question,» said Mao, «you Albanians
have not make mistakes towards the Yugoslavs,
and neither have the Yugoslav comrades made
mistakes towards you. The Information Bureau
has made great mistakes here.»

«Although we did not take part in the Infor-
mation Bureau,» I replied, «we have supported
its well-known analyses and stands towards the
activity of the Yugoslav leadership and have
always considered them to be correct. Our long-
standing relations with the Yugoslav leadership
have convinced us that the line and stands of
the Yugoslavs have not been and are not Marxist-
Leninist. Tito is an incorrigible renegade.»

Without waiting to hear the end of the
ranslation of what I said, Mao asked me:

«What is your opinion of Stalin?»

I said that our Party had always considered
Stalin a leader of very great, all-round merits, a
loyal disciple of Lenin and continuer of his
work, a... .

He interrupted me: «Have you published
the report which Comrade Khrushchev delivered
in the 20th Congress of the Communist Party
of the Soviet Union?» '

«No,» I replied. «We have not done and
never will do such a thing.»

«You Albanian comrades have acted very
correctly and the line of your Party is right,» he
said. «We, too, have acted as you have done. As
long as the Soviet leadership does not publish
this report officially, there is no reason for us to
act as some have done.»

After a pause, he continued:

«Stalin made mistakes. He made mistakes
towards us, for example, in 1927.! He made mis-
takes towards the Yugoslav comrades, too.»

Then he continued calmly in a low voice:

«One cannot advance without mistakes.» And
he asked me: «Has your Party made mistakes?»

«We cannot say that there have been no
mistakes,» I told him, «but the main thing is
that we struggle to make as few mistakes as
possible or none at all, and, when mistakes are

1 Mao Zedong considers as errors the correct and princi-
pled ecriticism which the Comintern and Stalin have made of
him and the Chinese Communist Party after the failure of
the Chinese revolution of 1925-1927. This criticism bore on
the underrating of the role of the working class and the over-
rating of the spontaneous struggle of the peasantry, a libe~
ral stand towards right opportunism and waverings in tac-
tics, overestimation of putches, employment of terrorist

methods of struggle and leftist phrases, underestimation of

trade unions and inadequate work with the masses of

workers and peasants.
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d}scovered, we struggle to eliminate them imme-
diately.»

.I was too «hasty». The great philosopher was
getting at something else: ' :

; «It is necessary to make mistakes,» he said.
«The party cannot be educated without learning
from mistakes. This has great significance.» i

We encountered this method of «education»
Sifn gMSo Zdedong’s materialized everywhere. Du-
: he days we were res i
g tolii & e at the congress, a Chinese

«A fterrible fear has existed amon
People tried to avoid making mistakes b%italﬁs%
they were afraid of being expelled from} the par-
ty. However, with the correct policy of Chairman
1\.-Ta0, that fear has now disappeared, and initia-
tive and drive in creative work has increased
among the party people.

i «You see that comrade who is speaking?-» he
said. «He is Li Lisan, one of the founders of our
Communist Party. During his life he has made
grave mistakes, not just once, but three times on
en.c'i. There were comrades who wanted to expel
this old man from the party, but on the insistericé
of Chairman Mao, he remains a member of .tlﬂe
Central Committee of the party, and now ho
works in the Central Committee 'apparatus.» |

. Meanwhile Li Lisan was makiﬁg a new «self-
criticism» before the 8th Congx'esé. .

«I have made mistakes,» he said, «but the
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party has helped me. Comrades,» he continued,
«I ask you to help me still because I might make
mistakes again. . .»

But let us return to the meeting with Mao
Zedong. After he philosophized about the «great
significance of making mistakes», I seized the op-
portunity to add to what I had previously said
about the Yugoslavs and spoke about the work of
the Belgrade revisionists through their agents to
organize the plot in the Party Conference of Ti-
rana of April 1956.

«In our opinion,» I said, «they are incorrigible.»

Mao’s reply, in the Chinese style, was a
phrase out of context:

«You have a correct Marxist-Leninist line.»

The time had come for us to leave. We
thanked him for the invitation, for receiving us
and for the aid given us by the People’s Republic
of China.

«There is no need to thank us,» interrupted
Mao, «first, because the aid we have given youis
very little,» and he closed one finger, «Second,»
he continued, closing the other finger, «we are
members of the great family of the socialist camp,
which has the Soviet Union at the head, and it
is just the same as passing something from one
hand to the other, parts of the same body.»

We thanked him once again and stood up. We
had several photographs taken together, shook
hands again and departed.
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'_1‘0 tell the truth, our impressions from this
meeting were not what we had expected, and
when we came out, we talked over what Wé hafi
heard._ From the talk with Mao we did not Ieaz';l
anything constructive, which would be of value
to us, and the meeting seemed to us mostly a geq;
ture of courtesy. We were especially disappoinféd
gg(e}r tthtil th}ng;;s we heard from the mouth of Niao

ut the Information Bur Stali
b A ureau, Stalin and the

However, we were even more surpri
worried by the proceedings of the 8thp(lj1§;§rilsf
The whole platform of this Congress was based on
the theses of the 20th Congress of the Communist
Part_ty of the Soviet Union, indeed, in certain di—r
r?ctlons, the theses of Khrushchev had been car-
ried further forward by Mao Zedong, Liu Shaoqi
and ({;rhelé top Chinese leaders. % -
~ We felt that the epidemic of mode -
sionism had infected China, too. To th;({rglrorsggu
t'.10ns the disease had been spread we could not
judge at that time, but the things which hadJ
occurred and were occurring in China, showed
fchat at that time the Chinese leaders wel?“e hurry-
1rﬁg to avoid lagging behind, and indeed, '1;0 grab
l.m‘?enn’}ll(;tia ‘ﬂag of the Khrushchevites with their

Apart from other things, in the reports whi
Liu Shaoqi, Deng Xiaoping and Zhou }%nlzt;i g]elll(\:ffil
ered one after the other at the 8th Congress they
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defended and further deepened the permanent
line of the Communist Party of China for exten-
sive collaboration with the bourgeoisie and the
kulaks, «argued» in support of the great bless-
ings which would come to «socialism» from treat-
ing capitalists, merchants, and bourgeois intellec-
tuals well and placing them in high leading posi-
tions, vigorously propagated the necessity of col-
laboration between the working classand the na-
tional bourgeoisie, and between the communist
party and the other democratic nationalist par-
ties, in the conditions of socialism, etc., ete. In
fact, the «hundred flowers» and the «hundred
schools» of Mao Zedong, which blossomed and
contended in the sessions of the congress, blos-
somed and contended throughout the whole Chi-
nese party and state. This Mao Zedong’s theory
of a hundred flags, widely proclaimed in May
1956 by the alternate member of the Political
Bureau of the CC of the CP of China, Lu Dingyi,
constituted the Chinese variant of the bourgeois-
revisionist theory and practice about the «free
circulation of ideas and people», about the coe-
xistence of a hotch-potch of ideologies, trends,
schools and coteries within socialism.!

Many a time later I have turned back to this

1 Tt turned out later that Mao Zedong’s utterly revisionist
decalogue «On the Ten Major Relationships» belongs precisely
to this period of the «spring» of modern revisionism. (Author’s

note).
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period of the history of the Communist Party of
China, trying to figure out how and why the
profoundly revisionist line of 1956 subsequently
seemed to change direction, and for a time, be-
came «pure», «anti-revisionist» and «Marxist-Le-
ninist». It is a fact, for example, that in 1960 the
Communist Party of China seemed to be strongly
opposing the revisionist theses of Nikita Khrush-
chev and confirmed that «it was defending Marx-
ism-Leninism~» from the distortions which were
being made to it, etc. It was precisely because
China came out against modern revisionism in
1960 and seemed to be adhering to Marxist-Lenin-
ist positions that brought about that our Party
stood shoulder to shoulder with it in the struggle
which we had begun against the Khrushchevites.

However, time confirmed, and this is reflected
extensively in the documents of our Party, that
in no instance, either in 1956 or in the 60’s did
the Communist Party of China proceed or act
from the positions of Marxism-Leninism.

In 1956 it rushed to take up the banner of
revisionism, in order to elbow Khrushchev out
and gain the role of the leader in the communist
and workers’ movement for itself. But when Mao
Zedong and his associates saw that they would
not easily emerge triumphant over the patriarch
of modern revisionism, Khrushchev, through the
revisionist contest, they changed their tactic, pre-
tended to reject their former flag, presented them-
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selves as «pure Marxist-Leninists», striving in
this way, to win those positions which they had
been unable to win with their former tactic. When
this second tactic turned out no good, either, they
«discarded» their second, allegedly Marxist-
Leninist, flag and came out in the arena as they
had always been, opportunists, loyal champions
of a line of conciliation and capitulation towards
capital and reaction. We were to see all these

things confirmed in practice, through a long,

difficult and glorious struggle which our Party
waged in defence of Marxism-Leninism.

After the proceedings of the congress were
over, they took us on visits to a number of cities
and people’s communes, such as to Beijing, Shang-
hai, Tientsin, Nanking, Port-Arthur, etc., where
we saw the life and the work of the great Chinese
people at first hand. They were simple and indus-
trious people with few pretensions, humble and
attentive to their guests. From what the Chinese
leaders and those who accompanied us told us,
and from what we were able to see for ourselves,
it seemed that they had achieved a series of posi-
tive changes and developments. However, these
were not of that level they were claimed to be, the
more so if account is taken of the exceptional
human potential of the Chinese continent, and the
desire and readiness of the Chinese people to
work.

In China they had managed to eliminate the
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mass starvation, which had always plagued that
country, had built plants and factories and were
organizing the people’s communes, but it was
obvious that the standard of living was still low,
far from the level, not just of the developed so-
cialist countries, but even of our country. From
the visits we made throughout this vast country,
from the contacts we had with the masses, we
were impressed that their behaviour really was
good, correct, but we observed a certain hesita-
tion, both towards us and towards those who ac-
companied us. It was obvious from their words
and their attitude towards the cadres that some-
thing from the past was still retained. It was clear
that the many centuries of the past, the absolute
power of the Chinese emperors, feudal lords and
capitalists, of Japanese, American, British and
other foreign exploiters, Buddhism, and all the
other reactionary philosophies, from the most
ancient to the most «modern», had not only left
this people in terrible economic backwardness,
but had cultivated the slave mentality of submis-
sion, of blind belief, and unquestioning obedience
to authorities of every rank, in their world out-
look. Of course, these things cannot be wiped
out all at once, and we considered them as forms
of atavism, which would be eliminated from the
consciousness of this people, who with their posi-
tive qualities and with sound leadership, would
be capable of achieving miracles.
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Apart from meetings with Mao Zedong and
other Chinese leaders, during the days of our
stay in China, we also had occasion to meet a
number of delegations of communist and workers’
parties which had attended the 8th Congress of
the CP of China.

All of them enthusiastically hailed the «new
line» of the period after the 20th Congress.

The Bulgarians called it «the April line-,
since they had organized a plenum of their Cen~
tral Committee in April, at which they had can-
celled out the stands of Blagoyev and Dimitrov,
and had embraced the Khrushchevite line.

«We rchabilitated Traycho Kostov,' because
we could not find any proof of his guilt,» Anton
Yugov told us.

He spoke as though with some trepidation.
Apparently, he sensed that sooner or later they
would bring him down, in order to enjoy the
whole of the revisionist line which had been
prepared in Bulgaria according to Khrushchev’s
orders. Dej, the «man of the Information Bureau,»
who a few years earlier had delivered the report
of the Information Bureau on the condemnation
of the activity of the revisionists of Belgrade, had
now made peace with Tito in Bucharest and was
preparing to taste his kisses in Belgrade.

1 This agent of the Titoites who was condemned in
December 1949 was rehabilitated at the plenum of the CC
of the CP of Bulgaria held in September 1956.

259



«I am going to Belgrade to meet Tito,» he
told us, as soon as we met in Beijing, where he,
too, had gone invited to the congress. «Tito is a
good positive comrade, not like Kardelj and Po-
povic,» he continued. (Three months before we
had heard this in Russian, and now we had to
hear it in Rumanian, too!) «When Tito was to go to
Moscow in June,» continued Dej, «we invited
him to stay in Bucharest, too, and hold talks with
us, but he did not acecept. Then what did we do?
We gathered up all the leadership of the party
and state and went to meet him at the I’ailwag_f
station. What could Tito do, he was cornered!
And we obliged him to stay not just 45 minutes
to rest, as he had planned, but two full hours! (A
fine «obligation» you have imposed on Tito, I said
to myself.) When Comrade Tito was about to
return from the Soviet Union,» said Dej, «he in-
formed us that he wanted to stay for talks in
Bucharest. We welcomed this request, met him
and talked with him...» and Dej went on to give
us all the details about how they had smoothed
things over with Tito.

«Now that I am going to Belgrade myself,
would you like me to speak on your behalf?» he
asked me.

«If you wish to speak on our behalf,» I told
Gheorghiu Dej, «tell him to give up his secret
activity and plots against the People’s Republic
of Albania and the Party of Labour of Albania.
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Tell him that before and after the Tirana Confe-
rence the Yugoslav diplomats were involved in
vicious activity.,.» and I told him briefly what
had occured in our country after the 20th Con-
gress.

«Is that so?» he said and I saw that he was
put out. He was not pleased that I exposed Tito.
Dej displayed the same sentiments later, too, when
I met him after he had made his long-desired visit
of reconciliation to Belgrade and had put himself
on Tito’s side. Some months after that visit I
passed through Bucharest where I met and talked
with Dej and Bodnaras.

In the course of the talks Bodnaras (Emil, the
elder) began to tell me that they had been to Tito,
and in talks with him the conversation had come
around to Albania. «Tito spoke well and with sym-
pathy of your country, of your heroic people,»
said Bodnaras, «and expressed his wish for good
relations with you», etc. In other words, this Ti-
toite «spokesman» was making himself an inter-
mediary for conciliation with Tito, trying to
achieve what Khrushchev had failed to do.

I put Bodnaras in his place, telling him that
we would be in struggle to the end against Tito
and Titoism, because he was a renegade from
Marxism-Leninism.

«For our part there will be no conciliation
with Tito,» I told Bodnaras bluntly.

During the time that I was sounding off about
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Tito to Bodnaras, I observed that Dej was scrib-

bling with a pencil on a piece of white paper,
without doubt from irritation, but he did not
speak at all — my words had a bitter taste for
him.

_ But let us return to China, to the meetings
which we had those days with other comrades of
the sister parties.

: It was interesting: everyone we met was talk-
ing about rehabilitations and Tito. Even Zhou
Enlai said to us in a meeting we had with him:

«Tito has invited me to go a visit to Yugo-
slavia and I have accepted the invitation. If you
agree, I can come to Albania too, on this occasion.»

«We agree whole-heartedly that you should
come to Albania,» we told him and thanked him
for making the proposal, although it did not sound
at all pleasant to us that the premier of China
linked his coming to Albania «with the occasion»
of his visit to Yugoslavia.

However, as I wrote above, it was the time
when the fever of revisionism had infected every-
one and they were all trying to go to Belgrade as
quickly as possible to receive the blessing and «the
experience» of the veteran of modern revisionism.
One day Scoccimarro came up to me and com-
plained that Togliatti had gone to Belgrade but
had not got on well with Tito.

«What do you mean?» I asked, not without
irony. «Did they quarrel?»
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«No,» he replied, «but they did not agree
about everything. Nevertheless,» he continued,
«for our part we are going to send a delegation to
Belgrade to gain experience.»

«In what direction?» I asked.

«The Yugoslav comrades have fought bure-
aucracy effectively and now there is no bureauc-
racy in Yugoslavia,» he replied.

«How do you know that there is no bureauc-
racy there?» I asked.

«Because there the workers, too, get profits,»
was his reply. I told him about the stand of our
Party on this problem, but the Italian could think
of nothing but Tito. We asked him:

«Why do you want to send people 'to get ex-
perience’ only to Yugoslavia? Why havent you
sent such delegations to the countries of people’s
democracy, too, such as Albania, for example?!»

The Italian comrade was confused for a mo-
ment and then he found the solution:

«We shall send them,» he said. «For exam-
ple, the experience of China in regard to the col-
laboration of the working class with the bour-
geoisie and of the communist party with the other
democratic parties is very valuable to us. We shall
study it...»

He had hit the nail on the head. And from
now on. the Italian revisionists could go not only
to Yugoslavia and China, but everywhere, to give
and take experience of the betrayal of the cause
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of the proletariat, the revolution and socialism
Only to our country they did not come and they:
had.n‘o reason to come, because only Marxism-
Le_mmsm is implemented in our country. But
this experience was of no use to them.

: On October 3, 1956, we set out on our return
journey. This whole trip made us even more con-
Vlnf:ed about the great and dangerous proportions
which Khrushchevite modern revisionism had
assumed.

In Budapest we were to see one of the mon-
strous consequences of the Khrushchevite-Titoite
«new 11_r1e»: the counter-revolution. It had been
simmering for a long time, now it was about to
burst out.
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9. THE «DEMONS» ESCAPE FROM CONTROL

The counter-revolution in action in Hungary
and Poland. Matyas Rakosi. Who cooked up the
«broth» in Budapest? Talk with Hungarian
leaders. Debate with Suslov in Moscow. Imre
Nagy’s «self-criticism», Rakosi falls. Reaction
surges ahead. Khrushchev, Tito and Gerd in the
Crimea. Andropov: «We cannot call the insur-
gents counter-revolutionaries.» The Soviet lead-
ership is hesitant. The Hungarian Workers’
Party is liguidated. Nagy announces Hungary’s
withdrawal from the Warsaw Treaty. Part of
the back-stage manceuvres: the Tito-Khrush-
chev letfers. Poland 1956 — Gomulka on the
throne. In retrospect: Bierut. Gomulka’s coun-
ter-revolutionary program. What we learn from
the events of 1956. Talks in Moscow, December

1956.

The infection of the 20th Congress encour-
aged all the counter-revolutionary elements in the
socialist countries and the communist and workers’
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parties, emboldened all those who had disguised
themselves andl were awaiting the moment to
3;:; Egdc.rw socialism wherever it had tri-
The counter-revolutionaries in Hungary, Po-
land, Bulgaria, Czechoslovakia and elsewhere, the
betrayers of Marxism-Leninism in the partijes of
Italy and France and the Yugoslav Titoites gleefulz
ly welcomed Khrushchev’s ill-famed theses about
«der‘n'ocratization», the «cult of Stalin», the re-
habllltation of condemned enemies, <’<peaceful
coexistence», «peacetul transition» from capital-
ism to socialism, etc. These theses and slogans were
e.mb.race(li with enthusiasm and hope by the revi-
sionists, in or out of power, by social-democracy
by the reactionary bourgeois intellectuals. b
i The events in Hungary and Poland were the
visible prologue of the counter-revolution which
was to be carried out more extensively and
thoroughly, not only there, but also in Bulgdria in
East _C}crmany_._ in Czechoslovakia, in China énd
especially in the Soviet Union. :
Af_ter securing its positions to some extent in
Bulgaria, Rumania, Czechoslovakia and elsewhere
the Khrp_shchevite clique attacked Hunga.rv thé
leadership of which was not proving so ()bééient
to the Soviet course. However, Tito, together with
the Americans, had his eyes on H'ungary‘. J
As was becoming apparent, Hﬁngary had
many weak points. There the party had been
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created, headed by Rakosi, around whom there
were a number of veteran communists like Gero
and Miinnich, but also young ones who had just
come to the fore, who found the table laid for
them by the Red Army and Stalin. The «construc-
tion of socialism» in Hungary began, but the re-
forms were not radical. The proletariat was fa-
voured, but without seriously annoying the petty-
bourgeoisie. The Hungarian party was allegedly a
combination of the illegal communist party (Hun-
garian prisoners of war captured in the Soviet
Union), old communists of Bela Kun and the so-
cial-democratic party. Hence, this combination
was a sickly graft, which never really established
itself, until the counter-revolution and Kadar,
together with Khrushchev and Mikoyan, issued
the decree for the total liquidation of the Hunga-
rian Workers’ Party.

I have been closely acquainted with Rakosi
and I liked him. I have often talked with him,
because I have visited him several times both on
business and as a family, with Nexhmije. Rakosi
was an honest man, an old communist and a leader
in the Comintern. His aims were good, but his
work was sabotaged from within and from
without. As long as Stalin was alive everything
seemed to be going well, but after his death the
weaknesses in Hungary began to show up.

Once, in a talk with Rakosi, he spoke about
the Hungarian army and asked about ours.
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. «Our army is weak, we have no cadr
qfficers are the old ones from the Horti;eirg;e
therefore we are taking ordinary workers fromﬁ
the factories of Csepel and putt'ing them in of-
ficer’s uniforms,» he told me.

«Without a strong army socialism cannot
defended,» I told Rakosi. «You should getnrgiéi E}?
the Horthy men. You did very well to take
workers but you must give importance to educat-
ing them properly.»

While we were talking in Rakosi’s villa, Ka-
dar arrived. He had just returned from MO’SCOW
whgre he had gone for treatment of an eye com-
plaint. Rakosi introduced me, asked him how his
health was now, and gave him leave to go home
When we were alone Rakosi said: ;

_ «Iflapiar is a young cadre and we have made
him rTmmsltlerhof internal affairs.»
0 te the truth, he didn’t seem to m
;)af the right stuff to be minister of interr?atloabf‘f
Alrs.

Another time we talked about the
He spoke to me about the economy of gﬁggémri
especially about agriculture, that was going S(;

well that the people could eat their fill and they
did not know what to do with all their pork, saus-
age, beer and wines! I opened my eyes i;l sur-
prise, because I knew thatnot only in our countr?
butin all the socialist countries, 'incl_uding Hungé—’
ry, the situation was not like that. Rakosi had
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one shortcoming, he was sanguine, exaggerated
the results of the work. But despite this weakness,
in my opinion, Matyas had a good communist
heart and did not have an incorrect view of the
line of the development of socialism. It must be
recognized, in my opinion, that international reac-
tion, supported by the clergy, the powerful kulak
stratum and the disguised Horthyite fascists,
set about undermining Hungary and Rakosi’s
leadership, acting together with Yugoslav Titoism
and its agency, headed by Rajk, Kadar (disguised)
and others, and finally also by Khrushchev and
the Khrushchevites, whonot only disliked Rakosi
and those who supported him, but even hated him,
because he was loyal to Stalin and Marxism-
Leninism, and when need be, opposed them with
authority in the joint meetings. Rakosi was one
of the old guard of the Comintern and to the mo-
dern revisionists the Comintern was the «béte
noire».

Thus Hungary became the field for intrigues
and combinations between Khrushchev, Tito and
counter-revolutionaries (behind whom stood
American imperialism), who eroded the Hunga-
rian party and the positions of Rakosi and sound
elements in the leadership of the party from
within. Rakosi was an obstacle both for Khrush-
chev, who wanted to put Hungary under his con-
trol, and for Tito, who wanted to destroy the
socialist camp and had a double hatred for Rakosi
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Tsz:%I,le of the «Stalinists» who exposed him in
In April 1957, when the «anti-p: I
Z he « party group»
qf Malenkovg Molotov, etc., had still no% been
liquidated, I was in Moscow with a delegation of
our Pa.rtj; and Government. After a non-official
dmner_ in the Kremlin, in Yekaterinsky Zal, we sat
down in a corner to take coffee with Khrushchev
%\ﬁolotov, Mﬂ;oyan, Bulganin, etc. In the course 01;
the conversation Molotov turned to m if
joking, said: S
«Tomorrow Mikoyan is goin 1
g to Vienna, to
try to cook up the same broth id i
L roth as he did in

To keep the conversation going I asked him:

«Did Mikoyan prepare that broth ?»

«Who else?» said Molotov.

«Then Mikoyan can’t go bs st
S go back to Budapest
«If Mikoyan goes there again, th il
him,» Molotov continued. el ki
" _Khru_shcheilf had dropped his eyes and was
stirring his coffee. Mikoyan frowned, ground his

teeth and then said with a cynical smile;

«Why should I not go to Budapest? If they
hang me, they will hang Kadar, too, because
we prepared that broth together.»

. The role of the Khrushchevites in the Hunga-
rian tragedy was clear to me.

The efforts of Khrushchev and Tito to li-
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quidate everything healthy in Hungary united
them, therefore they co-ordinated their activities.
With Khrushchev’s visit to Belgrade they aimed
their attacks to rehabilitate the Titoite conspi-
rators, Koci Xoxe, Rajk, Kostov, ete. While our
Party did not budge a fraction from its correct
principled positions. the Hungarian party gave
way and Tito and Khrushchev triumphed. With
Rajk, the betrayal was rehabilitated. Rakosi’s po-
sitions were greatly weakened.

Possibly the leadership of the Hungarian
party, under Rakosi and Gerd, made economic
mistakes, too, but these were not what caused
the counter-revolution. The main mistake of
Rakosi and his comrades was that they did not
stand firm, but wavered under the pressure of
external and internal enemies. They did not mo-
bilize the party and the people, the working class,
to nip the attempts of the reaction in the bud,
made concessions to it, rehabilitated enemies like
Rajk, ete., and weakened the situation to the point
that the counter-revolution broke out.

In June 1956, on my way to Moscow for a
meeting of Comecon, I had a talk with the com-
rades of the Political Bureau of the Hungarian
Workers’ Party in Budapest. I did not find Rakosi,
Hegediis, who was prime minister, or Gerd there
because they had left for Moscow by train. (In
fact, in Moscow I did not meet or see Rakosi in
any consultation or anywhere else. No doubt he
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was «resting» in some «clinic» where the Soviets
«convinced him to hand in his resignation». Only
two or three weeks later he was discharged from
the duties he held.) The Hungarian comrades
told me that they had some difficulties in their
party and their Central Committee.

«A situation against Rakosi has been created
in the Central Committee,» they told me. «Farkas,
who was a member of the Political Bureau, has
taken up the banner of opposition to him.»

«The time has come for Farkas to be expelled
not only from the Central Committee, but also
from the party,» said Bata, the minister of de-
fence. «His stand is anti-party and hostile,» he
continued. «His thesis is: 'I have made mistakes,
Beria is a traitor. But who ordered me to make
those mistakes? Rakosi.’>

«This question has also been raised by Revay,
who proposed that’we should set up a commission
to study the faults of this one and that one, the
mistakes of Rakosi, etc.,» the Hungarian com-
rades told me.

Here I interrupted and asked:

«Then the Central Committee has no con-
fidence in the Political Bureau?»

«So it turns out,» they said. «We were obliged
to accept the commission but we decided that its
report would go to the Political Bureau first.»

«What is this commission?» I asked. «The
Political Bureau must be charged by the Central
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Committee with such matters and the. report
should be discussed in the Central Committee. If
it is considered necessary, the Central Committee
removes the Political Bureau.» _

Amongst - other things the Hungarian comra=
des told me that Imre Nagy, who had been ex~
pelled from the party asacounter—revo_luhonary,
had put on a big dinner on the occasion of his
birthday to which he had invited a hundred and
fifty people, including members of the Central
Committee and the government. Many of them
had accepted the traitor’sinvitation and had gone
to the dinner. When one member of the Central
Committee had asked the comrades of the leader-
ship whether he should go or not they had replied:
«This is up to you to decide.» Of course, sucha
reply was astonishing tome and I asked the Hun-
garian comrades: .

«But why did you not tell him flatly that he
should not go because Imre Nagy is an enel:my?»

«We left him to judge and decide for himself
with his own conscience,» was the reply.

During this conversation the Hungarian 1e:.ad-
ors admitted that they had a difficult situation
in the party. The 20th Congress had added to
these troubles.

«There are groups in the party, writers, etc.,»
they told me, «who are not on the rails, who want
to avail themselves of the 20th Congress. These
clements tell us, *The 20th Congress confirms our
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theses that there are mistakes in the leadership.
Therefore we are right.’»

«Togliatti’s interview has caused us many
problems,» said one of those present. «There are
members of the Central Committee who have said
to me: "What are we doing? It would be better to
act, to have a different, independent policy in
Hungary, too, as in Yugoslavia.’»

In fact, things there had gone from bad to
worse. Another member of the Central Committee
had said to them angrily: «Are you of the Political
Bureau still hiding from usissues like those of the
20th Congress? Why aren’t you publishing To-
gliatti’s interview ?»-

«And we published it, because the party had
to be informed!...» the comrades of the Political
Bureau told me.

I told the Hungarian comrades that the si-
tuation with us was good and explained how we
acted at the Tirana Conference.

«There is proper democracy in the Party,»
I stressed, «democracy which must strengthen the
situation and unity and not destroy them. There-
fore we came down hard on those who sought
to exploit the democracy to the detriment of the
Party. We have not permitted such things to occur
among us.»

Speaking about Togliatti’s interview they
asked my opinion of it:

«With what he has said, Togliatti is not in
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order,» I replied. «Of course, we have not raised
our objections to him publicly, but we have called
in the first secretaries of the party district commit-
tees and have explained the quesfion to them so
that they will be vigilant and ready at any mo-
ment.»

Szallay, a member of the Political Bureau,
rose and said:

«I have read Togliatti’s interview and itisnot
all that bad. The beginning is good and it is only
the final part which spoils it.»

«We did not publish it and were surprised
that Radio Prague broadcast it,» I told them.

From this conversation I formed the convic-
tion that their line was wobbly. Apart from this,
it seemed that the sounder elements in the Politi-
cal Bureau were under pressure from counter-
revolutionary elements, and therefore they them-
selves had vacillated. The Political Bureau seemed
to be solid, but was completely isolated.

In the evening they put on a dinner for us in
the Parliament Building, in a room where a big
portrait of Attila hanging on the wall struck the
eye. We talked again about the grave situation that
was simmering in Hungary. But it seemed that
they had lost their sense of direction. I said to them:

«Why are you acting like this? How can you
sit idle in the face of this counter-revolution which
is rising, why are you simply looking on and not
taking measures?»
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«What measures could we take?» one of them
asked.

«You should close the 'Pettfi’ Club immedia-
tely, arrest the main trouble-makers, bring the
armed working class out in the boulevards and
encircle the Esztergom. If you can’t jail Mind-
szenty, what about Imre Nagy, can’t you arrest
him? Have some of the leaders of these counter-
revolutionaries shot to teach them what the dicta-
torship of the proletariat is.»

The Hungarian comrades opened their eyes
wide with surprise asif they wanted to say to me:
«Have you gone mad?» One of them told me:

«We cannot act as you suggest, Comrade
Enver, because we do not consider the situation
so alarming. We have the situation in hand. What
they are shouting about at the "Petofi’ Club is chil-
dish foolishness and if some members of the Cen-
tral Committee went to congratulate Imre Nagy,
they did this because they had long been comrades
of his and not because they disagree with the
Central Committee which expelled Imre from its
ranks.»

«It seems to me you are taking the matter
lightly,» I said. «You don’t appreciate the great
danger hanging over you. Believe us, we know
the Titoites well and know what they are after as
the anti-communists and agents of imperialism
they are.»

Mine was a voice in the wilderness. We ate
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that ill-omened dinner and during the conversa-
tion which lasted for several hours, the Hun-
garian comrades continued to pour into my ears
that «they had the situation in hand» and other
tales.

In the morning I boarded the aircraft and
went to Moscow. I met Suslov in his office in the
Kremlin. As usual, he welcomed me with those
mannerisms of his, prancing like the ballerinas
of the Bolshoi, and when we sat he asked me
about Albania. After we exchanged opinions about
our problems, I raised the question of Hungary. I
told him my impressions and my opinions frankly,
just as T had expressed them to the Hungarian
comrades. Suslov watched me with those penetrat-
ing eyes through his horn-rimmed spectacles, and
as I spoke I noticed signs of discontent, boredom
and anger in his eyes. These feelings and this di-
sapproval were accompanied by doodling witha
pencil on a sheet of paper he had on the table. I
carried on speaking and concluded by saying that
I was astonished at the passivity and «lack of con-
cern» of the Hungarian comrades.

Suslov began to speak in that reedy voice of
his and in essence said:

«We cannot agree with your judgements over
the Hungarian question. You are unnecessarily
alarmed. The situation is not as you think. Per-
haps you haveinsufficient information,» and Sus-
lov talked on and on, trying to «calm» me and
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convince me that there was nothing alarming in
the situation in Hungary. I was not in the least
convinced by his «arguments», and the events
which occurred in the subsequent days confirmed
that our observations and opinions about the grave
situation in Hungary were completely correct.
About two months later, at the end of August
1956, I had another bitter argument with Suslov
about the Hungarian question. In passing through
Budapest when we were going to the congress of
the Chinese party, from a talk which we had at
the airport with the Hungarian leaders of that
time, we became even more convinced that the
situation in Hungary was becoming disastrous,
that reaction was moving, while with its actions
the Hungarian leadership was favouring the
counter-revolution. During the stop-over we made
in Moscow, we met Suslov and told him of our
apprehensions so that he would transmit them
to the Soviet leadership. Suslov maintained the
same stand as in the meeting I had with him in
June.

«In regard to what you say, that the counter-
revolution is on the boil,» said Suslov, «we have
no facts, either from intelligence or other sour-
ces. The enemies are making a fuss about Hun-
gary, but the situationisbeing normalized there.
It is true that there are some student movements,
but they are harmless and under control. The
Yugoslavs are not operating there, as you say.

278

You should know that not only Rakosi but also
Ger6 have made mistakes...»

«Yes, itistrue that they have made mistakes,
because they rehabilitated the Hungarian Titoite
traitors who had plotted to blow up socialism,» I
interjected. Suslov pursed his thin lips and then
he went on:

«As for Comrade Imre Nagy, we cannot agree
with you, Comrade Enver.»

«It greatly astonishes me,» I said, «that you
refer to him as ‘Comrade’ Imre Nagy when the
Hungarian Workers’ Party has thrown him out.»

«Maybe they have done so,»said Suslov,« but
he has repented and has made a self-criticism.»

«Words go with the wind,» I objected, «don’t
believe words. .. »

«No,» said Suslov, his face flushing. «We have
his self-criticism in writing,» and he opened a
drawer and pulled out a note signed by Imre
Nagy, addressed to the Communist Party of the
Soviet Union, in which he said that he had been
wrong «in his opinions and actions» and sought
the support of the Soviets.

«Do you believe this?» I asked Suslov.

«Why shouldn’t we believe it!» he replied,
and went on, «Comrades can make mistakes, but
when they acknowledge their errors we must hold
out our hand to them.»

«He is a traitor,» I told Suslov, «and we think
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that you are making a great mistake when you
hold out your hand to a traitor.»

This brought the conversation with Suslov
to an end and we left disagreeing with him.
From this meeting we formed the impression that,
after having definitely condemned Rakosi, the
Soviets were fearful and alarmed about the situa-
tion in Hungary; that they did not know what to
do and were seeking a solution before the storm
broke. Without doubt they were talking with
Tito about a joint solution. They were preparing
Imre Nagy, thinking they would master the situa-
tion in Hungary through him. And so it turned
out.

The circle around Rakosi was very weak.
Neither the Central Committee nor the Political
Bureau were up to the mark. People like Hege-
diis, Kadar, old men like Miinnich and a few young
fellows without any experience of the party and
struggle, weakened the running of affairs more
and more each day and fell into the Titoite-
Khrushchevite spider’s web.

This whole adventure was being feverishly
prepared. Reaction was aroused, surged up,spokue
and acted openly. The pseudo-communist, kulak
and traitor, Imre Nagy, with the mask of com-
munism, became the standard-bearer of Titoism
and the struggle against Rakosi. The latter had
seen the danger which was threatening the party
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and the country and had taken measures against
Imre Nagy, by expelling him from the party at the
end of 1955. But it was too late. Hungary had
been caught up in the spider’s web of the coun-
ter-revolution and was lost. Rakosi was attacked
by Khrushchev, by Tito, by the centre of Eszter-
gom as well as by foreign reaction. Anna Ketli,
Mindszenty, the counts and barons in the service
of world reaction, who had been assembled
within Hungary, as well as outside, in Austria
and elsewhere, organized the counter-revolution
and sent in weapons for the bloodbath which
they were preparing.

The «Petofi» Club became the centre of reac-
tion. Allegedly it was a cultural club of the Youth
Union, but in fact it operated, under the nose of
the Hungarian party, as a centre where the
reactionary intellectuals not only spoke against
socialism and the dictatorship of the proletariat,
but also prepared and organized themselves until
they reached the point of arrogantly presenting
their demands to the party and the governmentin
the form of an ultimatum. Initially, as long as
Rakosi was still at the head of affairs, attempts
were made to take some measures: the «Petofi»
Club was attacked in a resolution of the Central
Committee, one or two writers were expelled from
the party, but these were mere pin-pricks, and
not at all radical measures. The nest of the counter-
revolution continued to exist and only a little later,
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almost all those who had been attacked were re-
habilitated.

The demoted Imre Nagy continued to sit like
a pasha in his home, which he had made a haunt
for his partisans. Among these partisans he had
people in the Central Committee of the Hunga-
rian Workers’ Party. The Hungarian leaders
went back and forth to Moscow in a daze, while
instead of taking measures against the reactiona-
ry element which was building up, their alleged
comrades of the Central Committee went to pay
visits to Imre Nagy in his home to congratulate
him on his birthday. The courtiers of Rakosi
became the courtiers of Nagy and paved the way
for him to seize power.

The decision to remove Rakosi was takenin
Moscow and Belgrade. He gave way and did not
resist the pressure of the Krushchevites and the
Titoites, and the intrigues of their agents in the
Hungarian leadership. They forced Rakosi to re-
sign, allegedly for «health reasons» (because he
suffered from hypertension!), while admitting
«his mistakes in violation of the law». At first
there was talk about the merits of «Comrade
Matyas Rakosi» (thus they «buried» him with
honours), then there was talk about his mistakes,
until the point was reached of talking about the
«criminal Rakosi gang». In the preparation of the
backstage manoeuvres which preceded the re-
moval of Rakosi, a major role was played by Sus-
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lov, who, precisely at this time, went to Hungary
on holiday(!).

Apparently Rakosi was the last obstacle that
hindered the revisionist waggon from going full
speed ahead. It is true that Gero was elected first
secretary, and not Kadar, as the Soviets and the
Yugoslavs wanted, but his days were numbered.
Kadar, who had been in prison and rehabilitated
a little earlier, was elected to the Political Bureau
at first and, as the man of Khrushchev and Tito,
in fact he played «first fiddle» there.

After the plenum of July 1956, (at which
Gero replaced Rakosi, and Kadar joined the Bu-
reau) reaction surged ahead, and the authority of
the party and the government virtually did not
exist. The counter-revolutionary elements insist-
ently demanded the rehabilitation of Nagy and
the removal of those few sound elements left in
the leadership. Gerd, Hegediis and others went
from city to city and from factory to factory
trying to cool tempers, promising «democracy»,
«the rule of socialist law» and increased pay.
Obviously, all these things were done not in the
correct Marxist-Leninist way, but submitting to
the pressure of the powerful upsurge of the petty-
bourgeoisie and reaction.

We considered the removal of Rakosi from
the leadership of the Hungarian party a mistake
which did great damage to and seriously weaken-
ed the situation in Hungary, and we expressed
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this opinion to the Soviet leaders when we went
to Moscow in December. The events themselves
showed how right we were.

The «happy» period of liberalization began,
the period of dragging from the prison and the
grave those whom the dictatorship of the prolet-
ariat had justly condemned. The traitor Rajk and
his associates were reinterred after a pompous
ceremony in which thousands of people, headed
by the Hungarian leadership, took part and which
ended with the «International». Thus, the traitor
Rajk became «Comrade Rajk», and a national
hero of Hungary, almost the same as Kossuth.

After a formal letter to the Central Commit-
tee, Nagy was readmitted to the party and con-
fidently awaited the development of events which
would bring him to power. They were not long
delayed.

After Rajk, many others previously con-
demned came on the scene — officers and priests,
people sentenced for political crimes and thieves,
to whom moral satisfaction as well as material
satisfaction was given. Rajk’s widow received
200,000 forints as a reward for her husband’s
treachery, and the Budapest newspapers publish-
ed reports about the generosity of «Madame
Rajk» who donated this sum to the people’s col-
leges. Those condemned by the courts were proc-
laimed the victims of Rakosi, Gabor Peter, and
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Mihaly Farkas, who was arrested at this time.
The top officials begged the pardon of reaction
for their «crimes~. «But what could we do,» said
the minister of justice, «when Comrade Rajk,

himself, admitted his guilt!»

Hegediis, while still prime minister, declared
under the pressure of Khrushchev, «We greatly
regret that our party and government slandered
the Yugoslavs», while Gerd, in his first speech
after he had been elected to the head of the party
said, «Our party still has to pay its debts to the
League of Communists of Yugoslavia and the
leaders of Yugoslavia and to deny the slanders
we have spread to the detriment of the Yugoslav
Federal Republic.»

In all that was taking place, Gerd, who was
one of the oldest leaders of the party, proved to
be an opportunist and a coward who swung
from side to side and moved like a puppet mani-
pulated by the real actors behind the scenes in
the Hungarian tragedy. When Tito was on «holi-
day» in the Crimea, Ger6 went to talk with him
in Khrushchev’s villa and the three of them,
together with their suites, «took walks along the
seashore, talked and had photographs taken». If
the history of intrigues and diabolical manoeuvres
to the detriment of the peoples is ever written,
these will be «historic photographs». Here, in
Khrushchev’s villa at Yalta, the first steps to con-
ciliation were taken and, a few days later, Gerd
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with Hegediis and Kadar, went to Belgrade,
where they talked with Rankovic. Not much
later, when the disturbances began, they threw
Gero into the rubbish bin and Kadar, with the
blessing of Khrushchev and the manoeuvres of
Mikoyan and the revisionist ideologist Suslov,
was elevated to first secretary.

Meanwhile Imre Nagy emerged from his hole,
took power, shouted in triumph, proclaimed «de-
mocracy», and Tito was at the culmination of
his victory. Reaction came to power, gangsters
swarmed in from abroad, and the fascist Horthy-
ite and clerical parties of the bourgeoisie were re-
formed. Imperialism filled the country with spies
and was pouring in arms wholesale from Austria.
Radio «Free Europe» urged on the counter-rev-
olution day and night and called for the over-
throw and total liquidation of the socialist order.
Even earlier Hungary had opened its doors to
spies disguised as tourists.

When we passed through Budapest in Octo-
ber 1956, on the return journey from China, the
members of the Bureau of the Hungarian Work-
ers’ Party themselves told us that «20,000 tourists
have visited Hungary recently». When I pointed
out that thiswas dangerous, they replied: «But we
get hard currency from them.» After the rem-
oval of Rakosi, especially in those ill-famed Octo-
ber days, the doors were opened to the Horthyi-
tes, the barons and counts, the former masters
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and oppressors of Hungary. Esterhazy established
himself in the middle of Budapest and telephoned
embassies, announcing that he intended to place
himself at the head of the government. Minds-
zenty, released from prison, returned to his palace
escorted by the «national guard» and blessed the
people. The old parties, owners’ parties, peasants’
parties, social-democratic parties, catholic parties,
revived like maggots in a festering wound, re-
established themselves in their former premises,
brought out newspapers and Nagy and Kadar
were placed in the government. The counter-rev-
olution swept the entire capital and was spread-
ing to other parts of Hungary.

As our ambassador in Budapest told us later,
the frenzied crowds of counter-revolutionaries
first rushed upon a bronze monument of Stalin,
which had still been left standing in a square of
Budapest. Just as Hitler’s assault squads in the
past were let loose on everything progressive, the
Horthyites and other riff-raff of Hungary hurled
themselves in fury on the monument of Stalin,
trying to uproot it. Since they failed to achieve
this even with steel ropes attached to a heavy
tractor, the bandits did their work with the aid
of cutting torches. Their first act was symbolic: by
knocking down the monument of Stalin they
wanted to say that they were going to destroy
everything that still remained in Hungary from
socialism, the dictatorship of the proletariat and
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Marxism-Leninism. Destruction, killings and riot-
ing swept the whole city.

The scabby bird — Imre Nagy, had flown
from the hands of Khrushchev and Suslov. This
traitor, in whom Moscow had placed its hopes,
like a drowning man clutching at his own hair
to save himself from death, showed what he was,
and in the upsurge of the counter-revolutionary
fury, announced his reactionary policy and made
public declarations about Hungary’s withdrawal
from the Warsaw Treaty. The Soviet ambassador
in Hungary was a certain Andropov, a KGB man,
who was elevated to power later and played a
dirty role against us. This agent, with the label
of ambassador, found himself surrounded by the
counter-revolution which broke out. Even when
the counter-revolutionary events were taking
place openly, when Nagy came to the head of the
government, the Soviets still continued to support
him, apparently hoping that they could keep him
under control. During those days, after the first
half-hearted intervention of the Soviet army, An-
dropov told our ambassador in Budapest:

«We cannot call the insurgents counter-rev-
olutionaries because there are honest people among
them. The new government is good and it is ne-
cessary to support it in order to stabilize the
situation.»

«What do you think of Nagy’s speeches?»
our ambassador asked him.
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«They are not bad,» replied Andropov, and
wl}en our comrade pointed out that what was
being said about the Soviet Union did not seem
to be correct, he replied:

«There is anti-Sovietism, but Nagy’s recent
speech was not bad, it was not anti-Soviet. He
wants to maintain links with the masses. The
Political Bureau is good and has credit.»

The counter-revolutionaries acted with such
arrogance that they forced Andropov, together
with all his staff, out into the street and left them
there for hours on end. We instructed our ambas-
sador in Budapest to take measures for the de-
fence_ of the embassy and its staff, and to placea
machine-gun at the top of the stairs. If the counter-
revolutionaries dared to attack the embassy he
was to open fire without hesitation. But when
our ambassador asked Andropov for weapons to
ensure the defence of our embassy, he refused:

«We have diplomatic immunity, therefore no
one will touch you.» '

«What diplomatic immunity?!» said our am-
bassador. «They threw you out into the street.»

«No, no,» said Andropov, «if we give you
arms, some incident might be created.»

_«\-’ery well,» said our representative. «I am
making you an official request on behalf of the
Albanian government.»

«I shall ask Moscow,» said Andropov, and
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when the request was refused our ambasqador
declared:

«All right, only I am letting you know that
we shall defend ourselves with the pistol and
shotguns we have.»

The Soviet ambassador had shut himself up
in the embassy and did not dare to stick his head
out. A responsible functionary of the Foreign
Ministry of Hungary, who was being chased by
the bandlts sought refuge in our embassy and
we admitted him. He told our comrades that he
had gone to the Soviet embassy but they had
turned him away.

The Soviet troops stationed in Hungary in-
tervened at first, but were then withdrawn under
the pressure of Nagy and Kadar and the Soviet
government declared that it was ready to begin
telks about their withdrawal from Hungary. While
the counter-revolutionaries were wreaking havoc,
Moscow trembled. Khrushchev was afraid, hesitat-
ing to intervene. Tito was king of the situation
and the supporter of Imre Nagy, indeed, he had
assembled his army and was ready to intervene.
Then Moscow sent the appropriate person to
Budapest, the huckster Mikoyan, along with the
cocky Suslov.

Here in Tirana we did not fail to speak up.
I called the Soviet ambassador and told him
angrily:

«We are completely uninformed about what

290

is going on in anumber of socialist countries. Tito
and company have a finger in the organization of
the counter-revolution in Hungary. You are
abandoning Hungary to imperialism and Tito.
You must intervene with arms and far piazza
pulita® before it’s too late.»

I mentioned Tito’s aims and condemned the
trust Khrushchev had in him, as well as Suslov’s
trust in Imre Nagy’s «self-criticism».

«You see what Imre Nagy is,» I said. «Now
blood is being shed in Hungary and the culprits
must be found.»

He replied:

«The situation is grave but we shall not allow
the enemy to seize Hungary. I shall transmit the
opinions you expressed to me to Moscow.»

Every one knows what happened in Hungary
and Budapest. Thousands of people were killed.
Reaction, armed from abroad, slaughtered com-
munists and democrats, women and children in the
streets, burned houses. offices and everything they
could lay hands on. The gangsterism prevailed
for days on end. Only the security detachments
of Budapest put up some slight resistance, while
the Hungarian army and the Hungarian Workers’
Party were neutralized and liquidated. Kadar pu-
blished the decree on the liquidation of the Hun-
garian Workers’ Party, an act which showed who

* make a clean sweep (Italian in the original).
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he was, and proclaimed the formation of the

new party — the Socialist Workers’ Party, which
Kadar, Nagy and others were to build.

The Soviet embassy was surrounded with
tanks and Mikoyan, Suslov, Andropov and who
knows who else, continued to intrigue inside.

Reaction, headed by Kadar and Imre Nagy,
shut up in the parliament building, where they
indulged in idle talk, sent out continuous appeals
to the Western capitalist states to intervene with
arms against the Soviets. In the end, the fright-
ened Nikita Khrushchev was obliged to give the
order. The Soviet armoured forces marched on
Budapest and fighting began in the streets. The
intriguer Mikoyan put Andropov in a tank and
sent him to parliament fo bring back Kadar, in
order to manipulate matters through him. And
this is what occurred. Kadar again changed his
patron, again changed his coat, returned to the
bosom of the Soviets and, protected by their tanks,
called on the people to cease the disturbancesand
appealed to the counter-revolutionaries to hand
in their arms and surrender.

That was the end of the Nagy government.
The counter-revolution was put down, and Imre
Nagy took refuge in Tito’s embassy. It was clear
that he was an agent of Tito and world reaction.
He had Khrushchev’s support, too, but he slipped
from his graso, because he wanted to go further,
and did so. Khrushchev quarrelled with Tito for
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months about handing over Nagy. Tito refused
until they reached a compromise that Nagy should
be handed over to the Rumanians. At the time
when negotiations over this problem were going
on with Tito, Krylov, the Soviet ambassador in
Tirana, sought our opinion whether or not we
agreed that Nagy should go to Rumania.

«As we have declared previously,» I replied
to Krylov, «Imre Nagy is a traitor who opened
the doors to fascism in Hungary. Now it is pro-
posed that this traitor, who has killed communists
and progressives, who has killed Soviet soldiers
and called on the imperialists to intervene, should
go to a friendly country. This is a big concession
and we do not agree with it.»

After tempers cooled and the victims of the
Hungarian counter-revolution, a deed of Tito in
particular, as well as Khrushchev, were buried,
Nagy was executed. The way this was done was
not right, either. Not that Nagy did not deserve
to be executed, but not secretly, without trial and
without public exposure, as was done. He ought
to have been publicly tried and punished on the
basis of the laws of the country of which he was
a citizen. But of course, neither Khrushchev,
Kadar, nor Tito wanted him brought to trial. be-
cause Nagy could have brought to light the dirty
linen of those who pulled the strings in the
counter-revolutionary plot.

Later, when the counter-revolution in Hun-
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gary had been suppressed, many facts came to
light which proved the complicity of the Soviet
leaders in the Hungarian events. We, of course,
suspected what role the Soviets played, especially
in regard to the removal of Rakosi, the support
for Nagy, etc. However, at that time we did not
know precisely how the Khrushchev-Tito colla-
boration had developed and neither did we know
about the secret meetings of Khrushchev and Ma-
lenkov with Tito in Brioni. These things were
revealed later and we adhered to our stand of
opposition to these actions of the Soviets.
Some days after order was restored in Hun-
gary, the Soviet leadership informed us of the
correspondence which it had exchanged with the
Yugoslav leadership over the Hungarian question.
The facts which were revealed in those letters dis-
turbed us profoundly, because the problems were
serious and critical. At that time, the interests
of socialism and the communist movement required
that the Soviet Union should be defended from
the attacks of imperialism and reaction and our
unity preserved. On the other hand, our Party
had to have its say about these anti-Marxist ac-
tions of the Soviet leadership. Therefore, every-
thing had to be carefully considered and weighed
up, bearing in mind the interests of the Party, our
country, the revolution and socialism. That is how
we judged these problems, we expressed our opin-
ions to the Soviet leaders in a comradely tone,
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so that everything would be corrected and kept
between ourselves.

During those days, after we received the let-
ters, I summoned Krylov:

«I have called you here,» I said, «to clear up
some matters which arise from these letters. First,
I want to tell you that the allusions which Tito
made to ’certain evil men’, clearly implying the
leadership of our Party, seem to us unacceptable.
Such a thing, on his part, does not surprise us be-
cause we are accustomed to Tito’s attacks. How-
ever, we are extremely surprised about the fact
that in the reply of the Central Committee of the
Communist Party of the Soviet Union there is no
clear-cut stand to be seen in connection with these
insinuations of Tito’s. Have you anything to say
about this question?»

«I have nothing to say about this,» replied
Krylov, faithful to his manner of playing dumb.

Then I continued:

«Tito should have been told bluntly that we
are not evil men and enemies of socialism, as he
says. We are Marxist-Leninists, resolute people,
who will fight to the end for the cause of social-
ism. Tito, on the contrary, isanenemy of the rev-
olution and socialism. There are many facts to
prove this.»

Krylov was silent, and continuing the talk, I
dwelt in particular on another problem which had
attracted our attention in these letters. Khrush-
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chev wrote to Tito: «In connection with the re-
moval of Rakosi, you were completely satisfied
that the Central Committee of the Communist
Party of the Soviet Union tried, as early as the
summer of this year, to ensure that Kadar would
become first secretary.»

Besides this, the letter clearly indicated their
collaboration, not only before the events of Qc-
tober, but also during them, a collaboration which
was concretized in the plan hatched up during
secret talks in Brioni. These actions of the Soviet
leadership were unacceptable to us. In our opin-
ion, the Titoites continued their disruptive sec-
ret activity, and this was clearly apparent in Hun-
gary in particular. We had informed the leader-
ship of the Soviet Union of this opinion.

I questioned Krylov about this matter:

«We are not clear about where the Central
Committee of the Hungarian Workers’ Party was
formed, in Budapest or in the Crimea?»

Of course Krylov did not like this question
and, biting his words, said:

«This is how matters must stand: the Hun-
garian comrades have gone to the Crimea and
talked with our comrades. There the question has
been raised of who should be placed in the leader-
ship. The Central Committee of the Communist
Party of the Soviet Union has said that ’it would
be good if Kadar were elected.’»

«Does it mean that the leadership of the Com-
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munist Party of the Soviet Union was not for
Gero but for Kadar?» I continued.

«That is what emerges from the letter,» re-
plied Krylov.

«Apart from that,»Isaid, «the Kadar govern-
ment has been formed in close collaboration be-
tween your leadership and Tito. Is that not so?»

«‘fes? it seems to be so,» Krylov was obliged
to admit. :

Continuing the talk, after informing him of
the concern which the events in Hungary aroused
in our Party, I pointed out to the Soviet ambas-
sador: &

«The unanimous opinion of our Political
Bureau is that these actions of the comrades of the
Presidium of the Central Committee of the Com-
munist Party of the Soviet Union, who talk with
Tito about the composition of the leadership of
the Hungarian party and government, are not
correct. The Soviet leadership is well aware of
our views on all these matters, because we have
expressed them to it. Is that not so?»

~ «Yes, it is so,» said Krylov.

«Have you transmitted all our views to
Moscow 7»

«Yes,» he replied, «I have transmitted them.»

At the end of this talk, as though by chance,
the Soviet ambassador asked me:

«Will Dali Ndreu be put on trial?»

Of course this question was not accidental.
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Apparently, the trial and exposure of the agents
of the Yugoslav revisionists, Liri Gega and Dali
Ndreu., was not pleasing to the Soviets.

«The trial has been prepared and will be
held,» I told Krylov, «because they are traitors
and agents. When their attempts to carry out the
plot against our Party and state failed, Dali Ndreu
and Liri Gega, sensing that they would have to
render account for their activity as agents, at-
tempted to flee the country, and were captured
near our state border. Their hostile activity has now
been completely proved and they themselves have
admitted it. And if Tito continues his hostile ac-
tivity, we shall publish the truth about these
agents, with facts and tape-recordings. We think
that we can no longer tolerate the Titoites, who
want to stab us in the back and to make accusa-
tions against us.»

«I understand your situation,» murmured
IKL'ylov and went away with his tail between his
egs.

The same phenomena as in Hungary de-
veloped in Poland, too, almost at the same time,
although there the events did not assume those
proportions and that dramatic character they did
in Hungary. In Poland, too, the dictatorship of the
proletariat had been established under the leader-
ship of the United Workers’ Party, but, despite the
aid which the Soviet Union provided, socialism
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did not develop there at the necessary rates. As
long as Bierut wasat the head and the Polish par-
ty was in correct positions, successes were achiev-
ed in the socialist development of the country.
However, the initial reforms and measures which
were taken there, were not carried through to
the end and the class struggle was not waged at
the proper level. The proletariat increased, in-
dustry was developed, efforts were made to dis-
seminate Marxist ideas among the masses, but, de
facto, the elements of the bourgeoisie retained
many of their dominant positions. The land ref-
orm was not carried out in the countryside, and
the collectivization went only half-way, until Go-
mulka declared the cooperatives and state farms
unprofitable, and favoured the growth of the
kulak strata in the Polish countryside.

As in Hungary, East Germany, Rumania and
elsewhere, the Polish party was formed through a
mechanical merger of the existing party with the
bourgeois parties,' so-called workers’ parties. Per-
haps such a thing was necessary in order to unite

1 This party was formed in 1942. It was joined by leftist
elements from the Polish Socialist Party and especially what
remained of the former Communist Workers’ Party of Poland,
which was also formed through fthe merger of fwo Polish
workers’ parties: the Social-democratic Party of the Polish
Kingdom and Lithuania and the Polish Left Socialist Party
in December 1918, In 1925 it called itself the Communist Party
of Poland. In 1938 it was dissolved.
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the proletariat under the leadership of a single
party, but this union should have been brought
about through a great deal of ideological, political
and organizational work, to ensure that the former
members of other parties were not only assimila-
ted, but what is more important, were thoroughly
educated with the Marxist-Leninist ideological and
organizational norms. But this wasnot done either
in Poland, Hungary, or elsewhere and all that
happened in fact was that the members of the
bourgeois parties changed their names, became
«communists>, while retaining their old views,
their old outlook. Thus, the parties of the prolet-
ariat were not strengthened, but onthe contrary,
were weakened, because social-democrats and op-
portunists like Cyrankiewicz, Marosan, Grote-
wohl, etc., established themselves and their views
in them.

Apart from this, there was another factor in
Poland which had an influence in the counter-
revolutionary manifestations: the old hatred of
the Polish people for Czarist Russia. Through the
work which reaction did inside and outside the
party, the old hatred, which was completely jus-
tified in the past, was now turned against the
Soviet Union, against the Soviet people, who, in
fact, had shed their blood for the liberation of
Poland. The Polish bourgeoisie, which had not
been hit as hard as it should have been, did
everything in its power to incite the nationalist
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and chauvinist sentiments against the Soviet
Union.

After the death of Bierut, these were ex-
pressed more openly, and the weaknesses of the
party and the dictatorship of the proletariat in
Poland also emerged more openly. Thus, partly
from the weaknesses in the work, partly from the
efforts of reaction, the church, Gomulka and Cy-
rankiewicz, and partly from the interference of
the Khrushchevites, the disturbances of June 1956
and the events which followed them, came about.
Of course, the death of Bierut created suitable
conditions for the plans of the counter-revolution.
I had met Bierut long before, when I went to
Warsaw. He was a mature, experienced comrade,
quiet and kindly. Although I was younger than
he, he behaved in such a good comradely manner
with me that I can never forget him. When I met
him at meetings in Moscow, too, it was a special
satisfaction to talk with him. He listened to me
attentively when I spoke about our people and
their situation. He was sincere, just and prin-
cipled.

I met him for the last time in Moscow when
the 20th Congress of the CPSU was held.

Shortly before his death, Bierut and his wife,
as well as Nexhmije and I were in a box together
in the «Maly Teatr» to see a play about the rev-
olutionary navy of Leningrad.
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In the interval we had a cordial conversation
in the small room behind the stage. Amongst other
things, we spoke about the Comintern, because
at that time the Bulgarian Ganev joined us and
he and Bierut reminisced about when they had
met in Sophia, when Bierut had been sent there
illegally on a task.

Only a little while after this meeting, we
heard the bad news: Bierut had died, like Gott-
wald.... «of a cold». Great grief and astonishment!

We went to his funeral in Warsaw; it was
the beginning of March 1956. Many speeches were
delivered by Khrushchev, Cyrankiewicz, Ochab,
Zhu De, etc., over Bierut’s coffin. Vukmanovic-
Tempo, who had come to take part in the funeral
as the envoy of Belgrade, also spoke. Even here,
the Titoite representative took the opportunity to
launch revisionist slogans and to express his satis-
faction over the new «possibilities and perspec-
tives» which had just been opened by the 20th
Congress.

«Bierut has been taken from usata moment
when possibilities and prospects have been opened
for collaboration and friendship between all so-
cialist movements, in order to realize the ideas of
October in various ways,» said Tempo, and called
for advance on the road opened «through con-
tinuous actions». While the speeches were going
on, not far from me, I saw Nikita Khrushchev
leaning against a tree, exchanging words with
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Wanda Wassilewska. Without doubt, he was strik-
ing deals over the body of Bierut, whom they
were putting in the grave.

A few monthsafter these bitter events at the
start of 1956, Poland was engulfed in confusion
and-chaos which smelled of counter-revolution.

The events which occurred in Poland were
almost identical with those in Hungary. The re-
volts of the Poznan workers began before the out-
break of the Hungarian counter-revolution, but
in fact, these two counter-revolutionary move-
ments matured at the same time, in the same
situation and with the same inspiration. I am not
going to go into a detailed description of them
because they are known, but it is interesting to
point out the analogy of facts in these countries,
the astonishing parallels between the development
of the counter-revolution in Poland and that in
Hungary.

Both in Poland and in Hungary the leaders
were changed: in the one country Bierut died (in
Moscow), in the other Rakosi was removed (the
work of Moscow); in Hungary, Rajk, Nagy, Ka-
dar were rehabilitated, in Poland, Gomulka, Spy-
chalski, Morawski, Loga-Sowinski and a whole
series of other traitors; there Mindszenty came
on the scene, here Wyszynski.

Even more significant is the ideological and
spiritual identity of these events. Both in Poland
and in Hungary, the events took place under the
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aegis of the 20th Congress, with the slogans of «de-
mocratization», liberalization and rehabilitation.
The Khrushchevites played an active role, a base
counter-revolutionary role, in the development of
events in both these countries. The Titoites also
had their influence in Poland, although not so
directly as in Hungary, but the ideas of self-
administration, «the national roads to socialism»,
and the «workers’ councils», which were taken up
in Poland, were certainly inspired by the Yugo-
slav «specific socialism».

The June events at Poznan were counter-
revolutionary movements which reaction inspired,
exploiting the economic difficulties and the mis-
takes which had been made by the Polish party in
the development of the economy. These revolts
were suppressed and did not assume the same pro-
portions as in Hungary, but they had major con-
sequences in the further development of events.
In Poland reaction found its own Nagy: this was
Wladyslaw Gomulka, an enemy brought out of
prison, who immediately became first secretary of
the party. Gomulka, who had been general secret-
ary of the Workers’ Party of Poland for a time,
had been condemned for his right opportunist and
nationalist views, which were very similar to the
line followed by the Tito group, exposed at that
time by the Information Bureau. When the con-
gress for the uniting of the Workers’ Party and
the Socialist Party was held in 1948, Bierutand
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the other leaders and delegates exposed and at-
tacked the views of Gomulka. Our Party had sent
its representative to this congress and when he
returned to Albania he told us about the arrogant,
stubborn stand of Gomulka in the congress. Go-
mulka was exposed, but nevertheless, as they said,
«he was given a helping hand once again» and
was elected to the Central Committee. A Pole who
accompanied our comrade, told him that during
those days, Gomulka had had a long téte-a-téte*
talk with Ponomarenko, a secretary of the Central
Committee of the Communist Party of the Soviet
Union who attended the congress and, it seems,
Ponomarenko had persuaded Gomulka to make
self-criticism. However, time showed clearly that
he had not relinquished his views and later he
was sentenced for anti-state activity, too.

When the rehabilitation campaign began, the
partisans of Gomulka exerted pressure on the
leadership of the party to proclaim Gomulka in-
nocent. But he was too politically and ideological-
ly discredited, and therefore, there were obstacles
to this. Some months before Gomulka was restor-
ed to the head of the Polish party, Ochab declared
«solemnly» that although Wladyslaw Gomulka
had been released from prison, «this in no way
alters the correct essence of the political and

*# French in the original.

20 — 23 A 305



ideological struggle which the party has waged
against the views of Gomulka.»

After he liquidated Bierut, Khrushchev as-
sisted Ochab, Zawadski, Zambrowski and other
elements such as Cyrankiewicz, but the seed of
discord and disruption had been deeply implanted
and was germinating. Gomulka and his support-
ers acted and managed to come to power. The
Khrushchevites were worried: they had to have
Poland firmly under control manu militari, and
their policy and ideology were adapted to this im-
perative need. Khrushchev abandoned his old
friends and furned to Gomulka who did not
appear to be so obedient to Khrushchev’s dictate.

The advent of Gomulka to power convinced
us that events in Poland were not developing in
favour of socialism. We not only knew Gomulka’s
sinister past, but we were able to judge him also
from the slogans he launched and the speeches he
made. He came to power with definite slogans
for «the true independence of Poland» and «the
further democratization of the country». In the
speech he delivered before he was elected first sec-
retary, he didnot fail to threaten the Soviets say-
ing, «we shall defend ourselves,» and, as far as we
know, there were even clashes between the Soviet
and Polish detachments in Poland. In general
the events in Poland, as in Hungary, developed
under anti-Soviet slogans. Gomulka, too, was anti-
Soviet. Of course, he was against the Soviet Union
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of the time of Stalin, but at the same time he
wanted to be free from the yoke which the
Khrushchevites were preparing for the countries
of the socialist camp. Nevertheless, he did not
fail to speak formally in favour of friendship with
the Soviet Union and to «condemn» the anti-
Soviet slogans. At the same time, he spoke positiv-
ely about the stationing of the Soviet army in
Poland, and this he did for immediate national
interests, because he was afraid of some attack
from West Germany, which never accepted the
Oder-Neisse border.

The revisionist Gomulka made his moves with
such unprecendented arrogance that I pointed out
some of his actions to Khrushchev when I met him
in Yalta. We were sitting in a pavilion with a stone
floor at the edge of the sea, and when he had
heard me out, Khrushchev admitted I was right
and said to me textually: «Gomulka is a real fas-
cist.» But the two counter-revolutionaries later
came to agreement and had only honeyed words
for each other. Their contradictions and differ-
ences were softened.

The speech which Gomulka delivered at the
plenum of the Central Committee which elected
him first secretary was a «programmatic» speech
of a revisionist. He criticized the line followed up
to that time in industry and agriculture, painted
a black picture of the situation and proclaimed
the cooperativist system in the countryside and the
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state farms unprofitable. We considered these
views anti-Marxist-Leninist. Mistakes may have
been made in the direction of collectivization and
the development of agricultural cooperatives in
Poland, but the cooperativist system was not to
blame for this. It had proved its vitality as the
only road for the construction of socialism in the
cpuntryside in the Soviet Union, in the other so-
cialist countries and in our country. Gomulka
Str.uck out with his sword, right and left, against
T<V1(')L5l1tions of the law», against the «cult of the
individual», against Stalin, against Bierut (al-
thm‘lgh he did not mention him by name) and
against the leaders of socialist countries whom
he called satellites of Stalin. Gomulka defended
the counter-revolutionary actions in Poznan. «The
'__Wor'kers of Poznan,» declared Gomulka at the 8th
_Pler}um, in October 1956, «were not protesting
against socialism, but against evils which had
-':-?.-E;)read. in our social system. The attempt to present
tnepa;nful tragedy of Poznan as the work of im-
perialist agents and provocateurs was politically
very naive. The causes must be soughtin the lead-
ership of the pary and the government.»

The Soviets were worried and frightened
about the events in Poland, because they saw that
the «new course», which they themselves proclaim-
ed, was taking the Polish leaders further than
they -desil’ed and that Poland was in danger of
escaping from their influence. During the days
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in which the plenum, that was to restore Go-
mulka to power, was held, Khrushchev, Molotov,
Kaganovich and Mikoyan went urgently to Po-
land. At the airport Khrushchev shouted angrily
at the Polish leaders: «We have shed our blood
to liberate this country, while you want to give
it to the Americans.» The concern of the Russians
was increased, because the Soviet Marshal Rokos-
sowsky, who was of Polish origin, and other mem-
bers of the Political Bureau who were considered
pro-Soviet, like Minc, etc., were being squeezed
out and in fact they were expelled from the Pol-
itical Bureau. However, the Poles did not submit
either to the pressure of the Soviet leaders or to
the movement of Russian tanks; they did not even
invite them to the plenum. Talks were held, at
which Gomulka was present, but nevertheless
for the time being Khrushchev and company
were left biting their fingers. Pressure was exert-
ed, an article was published in «Pravda» to which
the Poles gave an arrogant reply, but, in the end,
Khrushchev gave Gomulka his blessing and, after
he made a «pilgrimage» to Moscow, Gomulka re-
ceived credits and spoke about the Soviet-Polish
«Leninist friendship»>.

Gomulka implemented his «program», set up
his «workers’ councils», «self-administrative coo-
peratives», and «rehabilitation committees», sti-
mulated private trade, introduced religion in the
schools and the army and opened the doors to
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foreign propaganda; he, too, spoke about the
«national road» to socialism.

Gomulka’s views and actions were so extre-
mely open and undisguised that many did not
accept them, or could not accept them openly.
Even Khrushchev was obliged from time to time
to throw some small stone at Gomulka’s garden.
The Czechs, the French, the Bulgarians, and the
East-Germans, who kept one eye and ear on
Moscow, likewise adopted stands of reserve or op-
position. Obviously we were opposed to Gomulka
and his actions and this we had made known to the
Soviet leaders with whom we had talked. The Po-
les did not like this attitude and their press com-
plained openly that the other parties did not under-
stand the changes that were occurring in Poland.
An article published in those days mentioned our
press and that of some other countriesas examples
of this «misunderstanding», in contrast to the
Italian, Chinese, Yugoslav and other parties which
had «properly understood the profoundly socialist
character of the changes in Poland».

The Yugoslavs welcomed these «socialist»
changes with enthusiasm and shouted that «those
forces which fought for political democratization,
economic decentralization and the system of self-
administration had triumphed» in Poland.

The Soviets did not give us any information
about the events in Poland, either, but only sent
us a letter in which they told us that the situation
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was very grave and informed us that a SOVI}(it
delegation was to go there. Apart from _thls not ;
ing more, no news, no infot‘matl(_m. In the Sowe
press we found an occasional article which attacc-i
ked the events in Poland, but we a}so four_l
articles which supported them. As I.nave said,
from the talks with Krylov, the Soviet ambas-
sador in Tirana, we had nathing definite. In one
meeting which I had with him i spoke abo_ut thi
question of Poland and our concern about wha
ras occurring there. :

i «How isbit possible,» I asked hn‘.n, «that we
are not kept informed? How is it possible that we
are left in the dark about these matters, which
concern all of us? This is not right.» |

«That is a fair request,» Krylov replied.

«Transmit our view to your Central Com-

ittee,» I concluded.

mltteﬁ‘; the context of the events which were tak-
ing place, the differences of lopinion between us
and the Soviets were becoming ever clearer. In
connection with this, the stand of our Party was:
we must not make these differences_pubhc. be-
cause this would harm the Soviet Union and the
socialist camp, but on the other hand, we must
make no concessions of principle, must adhere to
our stands and express our views openly to the
Soviet leaders.

When I was in Moscow in December ot that
year, among other things, I talked with the Soviet
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leaders about the question of Poland. I shall deal
separately with the talks of December 1956, but
here I want to mention the support which Khrush-
chev and company gave Gomulka to consolidate
himself in power. When we put forward our views
and doubts about Gomulka to Khrushchev and
Suslov, they tried to convince us that he was a
good man and should be supported, while we
were convinced that the disturbances which had
occurred in Poland and which were very like the
Hungarian counter-revolution, were the work of
Gomulka and served to bring this fascist to power,
where he remained until he was purged by the
Khrushchevites and Gierek. The latter is a fero-
cious enemy of the Party of Labour of Albania. In
Poland all of them fell one after the other!. Cyran-
kiewicz, this old agent of the bourgeoisie, lasted
Iongest and pulled the strings with the Soviet ar-
my which had occupied Poland.

The events in Hungary and Poland quite
rightly worried our Party and its leadership be-
cause they damaged the cause of the revolution
and weakened the positions of socialism in Euro-
pe and the world.

After these events ended, or more precisely,

1 Gomulka and a group of his collaborators, among whom
the notoirious Spvcheslski and Kliszko, were relieved of their
functions in 1970, while Gierek who replaced Gomulka was

discharged from the post of the first secretary of the PWUP
in 1980.
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lost their open and acute form, because now they
were carried on in secrecy, the moment came to
make the necessary analyses and draw the proper
conclusions. Both Khrushchev and Tito made ana-
lyses according to their own interests and reckon-
i}lgs and the anti-Marxist views which they held.
In essence, the Titoites and the Khrushchevites
were united in their «analysis», laying the blame
on the mistakes of the leadership of the Hungarian
party and Rakosi, in particular. Kadar, too, as the
servant of two masters, sang in harmony with
them, declaring that «the revolt of the masses was
justified because of the mistakes of the criminal
clique of Rakosi and Ger6.»

To the extent it was acquainted with the de-
velopment of eventsand based onthe factswhich
had emerged from the darkness which shrouded
the plot, our Party had analysed these events and
had drawn its own conclusions. In our opinion, the
counter-revolution was provoked and organized
by world capitalism and its Titoite agency at the
weakest link in the socialist camp, at the moments
when the Khrushchev clique had still not conso-
lidated its positions. The Hungarian Worker-s’
Party and the dictatorship of the proletefriat in
Hungary melted away like snow in the rain atits
first stern confrontation with reaction. From all
that had occurred, certain facts drew our attention:

In the first place, the events revealed the
weak and superficial work of the Hungarian party
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for the education and leadership of the working
class. Despite its revolutionary traditions, the
working class of Hungary did not know how to
defend its power during the counter-revolution.
On the contrary, a part of it became a reserve of
reaction. The party itself did not react as a con-
scious organized vanguard of the class. It was
liquidated within a few days, and this gave the
counter-revolutionary Kadar the possibility to
bury it once and for all.

The events of October and November 1956
underlined once again the vacillating character of
the Hungarian intellectuals and student youth.
They became the cat’s paw of reaction, and the
assault squad of the bourgeoisie. An especially
base role in this was played by the counter-revo-
lutionary writers headed by the reactionary and
anti-communist Lukacs, who also became a mem-
ber of the Nagy government.

The case of Hungary proved that the bour-
geoisie had not lost its hopes of restoration but,
on the contrary, had prepared itself in illegality,
even preserving its old organizational forms,
which was shown by the immediate formation of
clerical and fascist bourgeois parties.

What occurred in Hungary further convinced
our Party of the correctness of the stand we had
maintained towards the Yugoslav revisionists. The
Titoites were the inspirers and main supporters
of the Hungarian counter-revolution. Official per-
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sonalities and the press of Yugoslavia welcomed
these events with enthusiasm. The inflammatory
speeches delivered in the «Petéfi» Club were
published in Belgrade and the «theories» of Tito
and Kardelj, together with the theses of the 20th
Congress, were the banner of these speeches.

To us these things were neither new nor
unexpected. What worried us most was the role
which the Soviet leadership played in these events,
its co-ordination of plans with Tito, its backstage
deals hatched up to the detriment of the Hunga-
rian people, which had profound and bitter re-
percussions for them.

The counter-revolution in Hungary was put
down by the Soviet tanks because Khrushchev
could not fail to intervene (that would have ex-
posed him once and for all), and here the im-
perialists and Tito did not make their calculations
well. However, experience showed that this coun-
terrevolution was suppressed by counter-rev-
olutionaries who restored capitalism, but in a
more camouflaged way, retaining their colour and
disguise, as the Soviet Khrushchevites did in
their own country.

The facts in Hungary increased our doubts
about the leadership of the CPSU and worried
and saddened us. We had always had great faith
in the Bolshevik Party of Lenin and Stalin and
we had expressed this faith together with our
sincere love for it and the land of the Soviets.
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With this feeling of doubt and worry I went
to Moscow in December 1956, together with Hys-
ni, who supported and assisted me in the difficult
talks and discussions with the Khrushchevites, in
which the poison was mixed with hypocrisy.

As we had decided earlier in the Political
Bureau, we went to the Soviet Union to discuss
with the Soviet leaders the acute problems of the
situation, the events in Hungary and Poland, as
well as relations with Yugoslavia.

It must be said that at that period Khrush-
chev and company were not getting along so well
with Tito. Their friendship seemed to have cooled
off somewhat. Meanwhile, Tito had delivered his
notorious speech at Pula, which had aroused a
great deal of opposition in many parties of the
socialist camp. In this speech, the Belgrade chief-
T,ain attacked the Soviet system, attacked social-
ism, attacked the parties which did not follow the
«original Marxist-Leninist» course of Tito and also
condemned the Soviet intervention in Hungary.
These theses were not to the advantage of Khrush-
chev and company, or were too open, and they
were obliged to take a stand for appearances’ sake.

Thus the Khrushchevites had made one or
two attacks in the newspapers, although not very
strong ones (in order to avoid making Comrade
Tito too angry!) and indeed even with some praise,
and, as was their custom, they had begun to exert
economic pressure on Yugoslavia, a thing which
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Khrushchev admitted to me in the talks. At that
time «Pravda» had also published an article of
mine in which Yugoslav «specific socialism» and
its spokesmen were attacked in harsh terms.

I am relating all this to explain why the wel-
come for us at that time was more «cordial» and
why our views, especially with regard to the Yu-
goslavs, were not opposed, and indeed, even
scemed to be approved by the Soviet leaders.

From the moment weleft the ship in Odessa
we noticed this atmosphere in the conversation
we had with those who came to welcome us and
the talks we held with the leaders of the organs
of the party and the state in the Ukraine.

We travelled from Odessa to Moscow by train.
We still had not recovered properly from the jour-
ney, when we were informed that the Presidium
of the Central Committee of the Communist Par-
ty of the Soviet Union had put on a dinner in
honour of our delegation. AsIhavesaid elsewhere,
the Soviet leaders were unrivalled for lunches
and dinners that went on for hours on end. We
were still tired from the trip, but, of course, we
went to this «dinner», which began at about four
o’clock in the afternoon. As far as I recall, all
the members of the Presidium, apart from Brezh-
nev, Furtseva and one other, were there. The
dinner continued for several hours and Khrush-
chev and the others strove to create an atmos-
phere which would seem as friendly as possible.
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Nearly all who were present proposed toasts
(Khrushchev alone proposed five or six) and in the
course of the toasts* fine words were said about
our Party and Albania and I was praised espe-
cially. Especially zealous in these praises was Pos-
pyelov who had been at the 3rd Congress of our
Party in May.

The toasts proposed were frequently political
speeches, especially those proposed by Khrush-
chev, for whom it was nothing to speak for half
an hour in proposing a toast. In any case, from
these speeches we got a preliminary signal about
the stand they would take in the talks.

That evening Khrushchev did not spare his
attacks against the Yugoslav leaders.

«Their positions are anti-Leninist and op-
portunist,» said Khrushchev among other things.
«Their policy is a mishmash. We shall make no
concessions to them. They suffer from megaloma-
nia,» he continued. «When Tito was in Moscow,
he thought that with the majestic welcome put
on for him, the people were saying he wasright,
and that they condemned our policy. In fact we
need only have whispered one word to the people
and they would have torn Tito and company to
pieces.»

Speaking about our attitude to the Titoites,
he said, «The Albanian comrades are right but

* English in the original.
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they must keep cool and maintain their self-
control.

«Your hair is going gray, but we are bald,»
said Khrushchev, concluding his toast.

While the feast continued, «the bald head»
told us that Albania was a small country, b_ut
had an important strategic position. «If we build
a submarine and missile base there, we can con-
trol the whole Mediterranean.» Khrushchev and
Malinovsky repeated this same idea when they
came to visit our country in 1959. It was the idea
which was concretized in the Vlora base, which
the Khrushchevites used to put pressure on us,
later.

t As I said, Khrushchev and the other Soviet
leaders showed themselves very «cordial», there
was no lack of flattery, and all this was done to
soften the just revolt of our Party over thelr
wrong stands. I remember that during the evening
we had some discussion about Khrushchev’s com-
ing to our country, because although he had left
hardly any country unvisited, he had not come
to us, either openly or secretly. However, the_it
evening there was a predisposition to reply posi-
tively to our request. Not only Khrushchev, but
many other members of the Presidium expressed
their desire to come to Albania and someone, I
don’t remember who, jokingly proposed they
should hold a meeting of the Presidium or even of
their Central Committee in Albania! There was

319



talk there, also, about the «love» which Khrush-
chev allegedly had for our country (which he dis-
played later!) and they nicknamed Khrushchev
«Albanyets»".

Among many others I remember that Molo-
tov, too, proposed a toast: ]

«I belong to that category of people who have
not given much importance to Albania and have
not become acquainted with it,» he said. «Now our
people are proud that they have such a loyal, re-
solute and militant friend. The Soviet Union has
many friends, but they arenot all the same. Alba-
nia is our best friend. Let us drink this toast wish-
ing that the Soviet Union will have iriends as
loyal as Albanial»

In general our correct line was praised and
the Yugoslav revisionists were condemned by all
the Soviet leaders that evening. Indeed Marshal
Zhukov told us that they had proofs that the lea-
ders in Belgrade had supported the counter-revo-
lution in Hungary not only ideologically, but also
organizationally, and that the Yugoslavs were
operating as an agency of American imperialism.

In brief, the dinner continued and ended in
this spirit. Two or three days later we had a pre-
liminary meeting with Suslov, secretary of the
Central Committee, who was considered a-spe-
cialist in ideological matters and, if I am not mis-

# The Albanian (Russian in the original).
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taken, was also charged with international re-
lations.

Suslov was one of the greatest demagogues
of the Soviet leadership. Clever and cunning, he
knew how to wriggle out of difficult situations
and perhaps that is why he was one of the few
who had escaped the purges carried out time after
time in the Soviet revisionist leadership. Several
times I have talked with Suslov and I always had
a feeling of unease and annoyance from the meet-
ings with him. I had even less desire to talk with
Suslov now, following the Hungarian events, after
that debate which I had had with him earlier
about Nagy, the situation in Hungary, etc., and
knowing his role in those events, especially in
the decision for the removal of Rakosi. However,
the work required this and I met Suslov.

Brezhnev took part in this meeting, too, but
in fact, he was merely present, because only Sus-
lov spoke during the whole talk. From time to
time Leonid moved his thick eyebrows, but sat
so immobile that it was difficult to gather what he
was thinking about what was being said. I had
met him for the first time at the 20th Congress
in intervals between sessions (and then later, on
the occasion of the 40th anniversary of the Octo-
ber Revolution in November 1957), and from the
time of that brief, chance meeting he had im-
pressed me as a conceited, self-satisfied man. As
soon as he was introduced to us he immediately
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brought the conversation around to himself and
told us «in confidence» that he was engaged with
«special weapons». From the tone in which he
spoke and the expression of his face, he implied
to us that he was the man in the Central Commit-
tee dealing with the problems of atomic weapons.

The 20th Congress elected Brezhnev an al-
ternate member of the Presidium of the Central
Committee, and about a year later, the Plenum of
June 1957 of the Central Committee of the CPSsU,
which condemned and purged «the anti-party Mo-
lotov-Malenkov group», promoted Brezhnev from
alternate to full membership of the Presidium.
Apparently he was rewarded for the <«meritse
which he must have displayed in the elimination
of Molotov, Malenkov and others from the lea-
dership of the party.

After these events, up till 1960 I had to go
many other times to Moscow, where I met the
main leaders of the Soviet party but, just as be-
fore the 20th Congress, I never saw Brezhnev or
heard him speak anywhere. He always remaired
or was kept in the background, «in reserves, you
might say. After the inglorious end of Khrush-
chev. precisely this ponderous, stern-faced ver-
son was brought out of the shade in place of the
renegade, in order to carry on the filthy work of
the Khrushchevite mafia, but now without
Khrushchev.

It seems that Brezhnev was brought to the
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head of the party and the Soviet social-imperial-
ist state, not so much on account of his abilities,
but as a modus vivendi, to balance and even up
the opposing groups which were feuding and
squabbling in the top Soviet leadership. But let
us give him his due: he is a comedian only in his
eyebrows, while his work is tragic from start to
finish. Ever since this Khrushchevite took power
our Party has continually had its say about him
and his aggressive, hostile, anti-Marxist work. But
this is not the place to dwell at length on Brezh-
nev. Let us return to the meeting of December
1956.

At thestart Suslov suggested that we should
speak briefly about the problems we were going
to discuss, especially about the historical aspect,
while he gave us an exposition about the events
in Hungary. He criticized Rakosi and Gero, who,
with their mistakes, had «caused great discontent
among the people», while they left Nagy outside
their control.

«Nagy and the Yugoslavs,» he continued,
«have fought against socialism.»

«But why did they re-admit Nagy to the par-
ty?» I asked.

«He had been unjustly expelled, because his
faults did not deserve such a punishment. Now,
however, Kadar is following a correct course. In
vour press there have been some notes critical of
Kadar, but it must be borne in mind that he should

323



be supported because the Yugoslavs are fighting
him.»

«We are not well acquainted with Kadar. We
know that he was in prison and was with Imre
Nagy.»

Replying to our complaint that we had not
been informed about the development of events in
Hungary, Suslov said that the events took place
without warning and there was no time for con-
sultations.

«No consultations were held with the other
parties, either. Only when we intervened for the
second time we consulted the Chinese, while
Khrushchev, Malenkov and Molotov went to Ru-
mania and Czechoslovakia,» he said.

«How was time found to consult Tito over the
appointment of Kadar, while we were not in-
formed about anything?» I asked.

«We did not consult Tito about Kadar,» he
said. «We simply told him that there wasno longer
any place for Nagy’s government.»

«These are issues of principle,» I stressed. «It
is essential to hold consultations, but they are net
being held. The Consultative Political Council of
the Warsaw Treaty, for example, has not met for
a year.»

«A meeting had been set for January, while
in those days, every day’sdelay would cause great
bloodshed,» he replied.

Amongst other things I told him that the term
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which was now being used, the «criminal Rakosi-
Gerd gang», seemed astonishir}g_ to us and we
thought this did not help in uniting all the Hun-
garian communists. ) ;

«The mistakes of Rakosi created a grave S1-
tuation and discontent among the people and the
communists,» said Suslov.

We asked him to tell us concretely about the
mistakes of Rakosi and Gerd, and Suslov h'sted a
number of general things, by means of which he
tried to lay the blame on them for all that had
occurred. We demanded a concrete example, and

5
o toi%*ci* example, the question of Rajk, who was
described as a spy without any documentary proof: »

Were these things discussed with Rakosi?
Was he given any advice?» I asked.

«Rakosi did not accept advice,» was the reply.

Likewise, we had opinions quite opposite to
Suslov about the attitude towards Gomulka and
= vfil“:vosﬁralka removed the communists, the qld
loyal leaders and officers, and replaced them W1th
others, who had been condemned by the dicta-
torshif) of the proletariat,» 1 told Suslov. :

«He relies on the men whom he knows,» said

Suslov. «Gomulka must be given time and then
judge him.»

e ci%&g hgi-s views and activities can be judged

very well already,» I objected. «How can you €X-
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plain the anti-Soviet slog:
oviet slogan
el gans he used when he
S}lSl(JV scowled and said quickly:
«It was not Gomulka who did . I
. id th
and n(l_))w he is stopping them.» ot
«But what about his stands : ;
( s sta and stateme
aboué the church, for example?» N
Suslov went into a Iong rig '

; g rigmarole, «arguing»
thd{:k'th(.‘i‘?e were «pre-election tactics», thgt G%—
gnur_ a v\;as. «taking correct stands» towards the

rm-;et L.mon_: the socialist camp, ete., etc. We
parterlc‘i still disagreeing with each other. '

i Eat same day we held the official talks with
- ‘rug che}r, Suslov and Ponomaryov, I opened
the dlscuss%on bylpresenting the views of our Party
;n Iconnectmn with the events in Hungary angl
YO and, as wel_l as in connection with relations with
_ugosgwa. Right at the start I said:

«Our delegation will express the vi

ik : ; press the views of the
-j(f-:}m}i fxl Committee of our Party on these matterz
118{1\ d_j,, even althpugh on a number of issues we
1ave ifferences with the Soviet leadership. These
opinions, whether pleasant or otherwise.» I con-
j:l?ued, “«we Shall_ state openly, as Marxist-Lenin-
ists, and dlsculss In a comradely way whether or
not we are right, and if we are not right, we

must be convinced why.» e
In connection with Hung:

0 . gary, once again I

stressed the lack of information and consu]ﬁqtions

over this painful problem of the socialist camp
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«We believe the Consultative Political Coun-
cil of the Warsaw Treaty should have been called
together in that situation,» I said. «At such mo-
ments, consultations are essential to co-ordinate
our actions and stands. This would demonstrate
our strength and unity.»

I continued on the Hungarian problem and
conveyed tothem our impressionsabout the Hun-
garian party, Rakosi and Gerd. Here I stressed in
particular, that the assessment which Kadar was
making of them, calling them «a criminal gang»
seemed to us astonishing. In our opinion the mis-
takes of Rakosi and Gert were not of that magni-
tude to warrant such a description. In regard to
the mistakes in the economic development of
Hungary, we were not aware that Hungary was
in such a serious situation as to justify the «revolt
of the masses~. Here the Soviets agreed with our
opinion and admitted that the economic situation
was not grave.

I went on to speak about the stand towards
Nagy, Kadar, etc. In regard to Kadar, I expressed
the distrust of our Party in him and added that,
nevertheless, our stand towards him had been
very prudent.

In regard to the events in Hungary, I un-
derlined the role of the Yugoslav revisionists and
exnressed the disapproval of the Party of Labour
of Albania that Tito had been vlaced in the role
of arbiter in connection with those events.
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In regard to relations with Yugoslavia, after
outlining the history of the problem, as was de-
cided in the Political Bureau, I declared in essence:

«The Yugoslavs have carried out hostile ac-
tivity against our Party and country for a long
time and they are continuing to do so now. We
believe that the Yugoslav leaders are anti-Marx-
ists, and together with the agencies of American
imperialism, are among the main inspirers of the
events in Hungary. Our relations with Yugoslavia
should be normalized only on a Marxist-Leninist
road, without making any concessions such as
have been made. The Party of Labour of Albania
thinks that the Soviet Union should not fulfil the
request for weapons, which Yugoslavia has made
through Gosniak. We, for our part, will maintain
only state and commercial relations, but will not
in any way maintain party relations with the
Yugoslavs.»

In particular, in the name of the Central Com-
mittee of our Party, I once again expressed our
opinion that Khrushchev’s visit to Belgrade in
1955 should not have been made without consul-

ing thesister partiesand without calling together
the Information Bureau, which had condemned
Tito as an anti-Marxist.

After I spoke, Nikita Khrushchev took the
floor, and began by telling us how he had criti-
cized the Yugoslav leaders over their stand to-
wards our Party and country. Khrushchev posed
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sh he approved and supported our views
:Islghsct}ggds, butpslct)'ill did not fail to rpake crlthsm
and give us «advice», Thus, speaking about my
article published in «Pravda-, he sald:‘

«Tito was furious about that artllcle. Int‘;kilﬁ
idium we thought about removing cerl
gggts;do&fl it but you glqrxad said that no alteyatmnls
should be made to it, and we published it as it
was. However, the article could have been done

i ifferent form.»
k. I(Ii'l regard to events in Hungary and Poland,
Khrushchev continued to harp on his old tune, and
apart from other things, «instructed» us thaé:
Kadar and Gomulka must be supported. Inregar
- - he said:

. thiéa(;i[rilﬂia is in a difficult sitqaticm, b_ecause
reaction is mobilizing itself. The t}}mgs which are
written in the press are notthe views of the Cen-
tral Committee, but the views of_some WI’}O havTe
risen against Gomulka. The situation th_er_'e Is grad-
ually being stabilized. Now the elections 'Wh1ch
will be held in Poland are important. That is why
we have to support Gomulka. To this end, Zhou
Enlai is to go there and this.wﬂl greatly assist 1...(2
strengthen Gomulka’s positions. We thoug?t i
would be better for the Chinese to speak and not
us. because reaction is mobilized ag;il_nst us.»

" And Zhou Enlai went to Poland'in agreement
with Khrushchev and to his aid.

1 In January of 1957,
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Then Khrushchev «advised» us to keep our
tempers with the Yugoslavs, and posing as a «great
politician~, told us of the difference amongst the
Yugoslav leaders.

At the end of hisspeech Khrushchev tried to
«sweeten~ the atmosphere by promising that they
would study our economic demands and would
help us.

So ended these talks in which we told them
of our opinions and the Soviet leaders tried to
avoid any responsibility for what had occurred.
So ended the discussion of this tragic page in the
history of the Hungarian and Polish people. The
counter-revolution was suppressed, here with So-
viet tanks, there with Polish tanks, but it was
suppressed by the enemies of the revolution. How-
ever, the evil and the tragedy did not come to
an end. Only the curtain came down, while behind
the scenes Kadar, Gomulka and Khrushchev con-
tinued their crimes until they completely consum-
mated their betrayal by restoring capitalism.
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10. TEMPORARY RETREAT IN ORDER
TO TAKE REVENGE

The Soviels demand «unity». The Moscow
Meeting of 1957. Khrushchev’s negotiations to
bring Tito to the meeting. Khrushchev’s short-
lived «anger~. Debate over the formula: «Head-
ed by the Soviet Union.» Gomulka: «We are not
dependent on the Soviet Union.» Mao Zedong:
«Qur camp must have a head because even a
snake has a head.» Togliatti: «We must open
new roadss, «we are against a single leading
centre», «we do not want to use Lenin’s thesis
’the party of the new type’». Mao’s sophistiry:
80 per cent, 70 per cent and 10 per cent «Marx-
ists». The Moscow Declaration and the Yugoslav
reaction. Khrushchev disguises his betrayal
under the name of Lenin.

The aim of the Khrushchevites, who were
restoring capitalism in the Soviet Union, was to
make it a great social-imperialist power, and
hence, it had to be armed to the teeth, because the
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storm which they raised would not only destroy
the unity of the socialist camp but would also
make the contradictions with American imperial-
ism acute. The Khrushchevites knew that the
United States of America had greater strength
Fhan the Soviet Union, both in the economy and
in armaments.

The demagogic policy of the Khrushchevites
about the «new epoch of peace» and «disarm-
ament» was a policy to mislead the gogos® The
United States of America and world capitalism
took advantage of it to deepen the crisis of com-
munism, to avoid the rapid onset of the economic
f’md political crisis which was threatening America
1ts§=.1f, and to consolidate their markets and
alliances, and especially NATO. For their part
the Khrushchevites struggled for the consolidatior;
of t_he Warsaw Treaty, to turn it into a strong
Spwet means to shackle our countries. Under the
disguise of «defence against NATO», they man-
aged. ‘to turn the stationing of Soviet troops into
a military occupation of many countries of the
Warsaw Treaty.

: In fact, the imperialist threat had been and
still was real, but with the advent to power of
the Khrushchevites, our countries were considered
as battlefields outside the Soviet borders and
our peoples as cannon-fodder for the Soviet

# innocents (French in the originall.
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revisionists. They tried to put the army, the
economy, culture and everything under their
control and direction. All the parties of the social-
ist countries fell into this Khrushchevite trap,
with the exception of the Party of Labour of
Albania.

However, friction, disagreements and quar-
rels would inevitably arise, even amongst those
who followed and submitted to Khrushchev’s line,
all of them proceeding from unprincipled aims
and an unprincipled policy. The bourgeoisie and
international reaction fanned up these disagree-
ments in order to deepen the splits within the
«communist bloc».

Khrushchev and Co. saw this process and
used all means and ways to restrict and isolate it.

To achieve their strategic aims, the Khrush-
chevites needed the «friendship» of all, especially
of the parties and countries of the socialist camp,
therefore, they used various tactics to «consoli-
date their relations», to smooth over the disagree-
ments, to subjugate the others and establish their
leadership over them.

Their method of operation in the service
of their aims included meetings and contacts,
almost always in Moscow, in order to make Mos-
cow, if not de jure, at least de facto, the centre
of international communism, in this way, always
having the advantage of their bugging devices
and being able to work on, and keep one or the
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other under control through their men. It was
clear that things were not going smoothly for the
Khrushchevites. The Soviet Union had many dif-
ferent contradictions with Albania, China and
even other countries of people’s democracy. The
line of «freedom» and «democracy» bombastically
proclaimed at the 20th Congress, was now boome-
ranging back on the Soviet leadership itself. The
ranks had begun to disintegrate. However, the
Khrushchevites needed to preserve the political-
ideological «unity» of the socialist camp and the
international communist movement at all costs,
at least in appearance. In this direction and for
this aim, the 1957 Moscow Meeting was organized.

Khrushchev and Co. made feverish efforts
not only to ensure that the League of Commu-
nists of Yugoslavia would take part in that meet-
ing as a «party of a socialist country», but if
possible also, to ensure that Tito would reach
agreement with Khrushchev over the platform,
the method of procedure and the conclusions of
the meeting. In this way, the «unity» dreamed
of and urgently sought by the Khrushchevites,
would have looked more complete than ever. How-
ever, Tito was not one to be easily rounded
up with Khrushchev’s flock. Many letters were
exchanged and several bilateral contacts were or-
ganized between the men of Khrushchev and Tito
on the eve of the meeting, but just when it seemed
that an understanding had been reached, every-
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thing was upset and the gulf became even deepel:r.
Each side wanted to exploit the meeting for its
own aims: Khrushchev, to declare «unity», even
with painful concessions to satisfy and draw in
Tito, while the latter, to urge the othe%"s.to openly
and finally abandon Marxism-Leninism, the
struggle against modern revisionism and any prin-
cipled stand. Ponomaryov and _Apdrop_o_v vger}t
to Belgrade, engaged in free bargaining with Tito’s
representatives, displayed their readmess:. tq re-
treat from many of their apparently principled
former positions, but Tito from afar ordered:

«We shall come to the meeting, but only on
condition that no declaration is publ}shed, be-
cause the international atmosphere will become
tense and the imperialists will be angered and
accuse us of ‘'communist menace’. '

«We Yugoslavs cannot accept any }{mdl of
declaration, because our Western a}hes will think
that we are linked with the socialist camp, 'and
consequently might break off their close relations
with Yugoslavia. :

«We shall come to the meeting on condition
that no mention will be made of the terms op-
portunism and revisionism there, because, other-
wise, we are directly attacked. '

«We shall come to the meeting on the condi-
tion that the policy of the imperialist powers is
not attacked, because this would not serve the
policy of reducing tension,» etc., etc.
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In other words, Tito wanted the communists
of the world to get together in Moscow to drink
tea and swap stories.

However, it was precisely the declaration
that Khrushchev needed, a declaration which
would confirm «unity» and carry the maximum
number of signatures. The discussions came to
an end. Tito decided not to go to Moscow. Khrush-
chev’s anger erupted, the terms «were made
strong», the smiles and pats on the back for
the «Marxist, Comrade Tito», were replaced for
a moment with the epithet of the «opportunists,
who «has nothing at all to do with Leninism»,
etc., etc.

However, Khrushchev used these «strong
terms» about the chief of Belgrade only in the
corridors and chance contacts, whereas in meet-
ings he did not say one word against «Comrade

Tito». On the contrary, when he had to speak

«against» revisionists and all those who expressed
opposition to the Soviet Union, he mentioned
only two corpses thrown on the rubbish heap,
Nagy and Djilas.

He still hoped that Tito might come to
Moscow to confirm the «unity of the 13~ as he had
promised a little earlier, in Bucharest. But Tito
was suddenly «ill»!

«A diplomatic illness!» said Khrushchev
angrily, and asked us and the others what should
be done in the situation when the Yugoslavs
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did not agree even to take part in the first
meeting of the communist parties of socialist
countries, let alone sign the declaration.

«We have told you our opinion of them
long ago, and every day is proving that we were
and are right,» we replied. «We should not retreat
because the Yugoslavs do not want to come.»

«That is what we think, too, «Suslov told
us. And the meeting was held without the 13th,
the odd man out.

However, although the Yugoslav revisionists
did not take part in the first meeting, the meeting
of parties of the socialist countries, they were
present at its proceedings, because they were
represented by their ideological brothers, Gomul-
ka and Co. They came out openly in favour of
Tito’s theses and demanded advance from Khrush-
chev and others in the direction of further
corruption and disorganization.

«We do not agree that we should speak of
’the socialist camp headed by the Soviet Union’,»
declared Gomulka. «In practice we have given
up the use of this term, in order to show that
we are not dependent on the Soviet Union as in
the time of Stalin.»

«Soviet leaders themselves engaged in a cun-
ning manoeuvre around this problem. In order
to demonstrate their alleged adherence to prin-
ciples in relations with the other sister parties,
they had «proposed» that the term «headed by
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the Soviet Union» should not be used, because
allegedly we are all «equal». However, they made
this proposal only tentatively, in order to sound
out the others on this, because in essence they
were not simply for the term «headed by...», but
if possible «under the direction of the Soviet
Union,» hence «dependent on the Soviet Union».
This was what they intended and fought for,
and time fully proved what the aims of the
Khrushchevites were.

When Gomulka made his proposal at the
meeting, the Soviet representatives scowled
angrily and without coming out openly themselves
first, urged the others to attack Gomulka.

A lengthy debate broke out around this
problem. Although the opinion was being crystal-
lized amongst us more and more clearly each
day that the leadership of the Soviet Union was
deviating from the road of socialism, we con-
tinued to defend the thesis «headed by the Soviet
Union» for reasons of principle and tactics. We
were well aware that in coming out against this
expression, Gomulka and his supporters, in fact,
wanted to reject openly and without hesitation
everything proven good and valuable from the
decades of experience of the Soviet Union led by
Lenin and Stalin, to reject the experience of the
October Revolution and the socialist construction
in the Soviet Union in the time of Stalin, and
to deny the role which it was up to the Soviet
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Union to play for the triumph and progress of
jalism in many countries.

SOCla}n this way, the revisionists, Gomulka, To-
gliatti and others, added their voices to fbhe
furious attack which imperialism and reaction
had unleashed in those years against the Soviet
Union and the international communist move-
ment. :

To us, the defence of these important Marx—
ist—Leninis;t achievements was an international-
ist duty, therefore we strongly. o_pposec‘i G(‘)mglka
and the others. This was a matter of principle.
On the other hand, the defence we made of the
Soviet Union and the thesis «headed by the
Soviet Unions, both in 1957 and for twlo or three
vears after this, was one of the tactics o_f our
Party to attack Khrushchevite modern revision-
' itself.

i l?\lthough Khrushchev and the others knew
our views and stands, at that time we had not
yvet come out openly before all the parties against
the revisionist line which they were crysta_ll}zm‘g,
therefore, by strongly opposing the revisionist
theses of Tito, Gomulka, Togliatti apd .others
in the eves of all, at the same time, indirectly,
we found the opportunity to attack the thes_es,
stands and actions of Khrushchev himself3 which
in essence were identical with those of Tito and

CO‘ . .
For entirely different aims and reasons, alien
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to Marxism-Leninism, Ulbricht, Novotny, Zhiv-
kov of course, Dej, etc., also attacked Gomulka.
They were wooing the favour of the Soviet Union
and Khrushchev and, to this end, they left their
ideological brother in the minority.

From the place he sat Mao Zedong brought
out his «arguments-.

«Our camp must have a head, because even
the snake has a head, and imperialism has a
head,» he said. «I would not agree that China
should be called the head of the camp,» Mao
went on, «because we do not merit this honour
and cannot maintain this role, we are still poor,
We haven’t even a quarter of a satellite, while
the Soviet Union has two. Then, the Soviet Union
deserves to be the head because it treats us
well. See how freely we are speaking now.
If Stalin were here, we would find it difficult
to speak like this. When I met Stalin, before
him I felt like a pupil in front of his teacher,
while with Comrade Khrushchev we speak freely,
like equal comrades.»

And as if this were not enough, he continued
in his own style:

«With the criticism against the cult of the
individual, it seemed as if a heavy roof, which
was pressing down on us and hindered us from
understanding matters correctly, was lifted from
us. Who lifted this roof from us, who made it
easier for all of us to understand the cult of the
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individual correctly?!» asked the philosopher,
who was silent for a moment, and there and then
supplied the answer: «Comrade Khrushchev, and
we thank him for this.»

This is how the «Marxist» Mao defended the
thesis «headed by the Soviet Union» and he
defended Khrushchev in the same way. However,
at the same time, in order to avoid angering
Gomulka, who was opposed to this thesis, Mao, as
the equilibrist he was, added:

«Gomulka is a good comrade and must be
supported and trusted!» !

Very long debates were held, also, in con-
nection with the stand towards modern revision-
ism.

Gomulka, in particular, supported by Ochab
and Zambrowski, in the first meeting of the
12 parties of the socialist copntries, and la‘ter
Togliatti, in the second meeting of 68 parties,
in which Tito’s envoys also took part, were
strongly opposed to the attack on moc_lern revi-
sionism, against defining it as the main dangex;
in the international communist and workers
movement, because, as Ochab said, «with these
formulations we alienated the wonderful and
valiant Yugoslav comrades, and now you are
alienating us Poles, too.» ¥

Palmiro Togliatti got up in the meeting and
proclaimed his ultra-revisionist theses:

«We must go further with the line of the
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20th Congress to turn the communist parties into
1br_oad mass parties, must open new roads, and
oring out new slogans,» he said in essence. ;Now
we need great independence in working out
slogans and forms of collaboration,» he continued
«therefore we are opposed to a single leadiﬁé
centre. This centre would not be advantageous
to the development of the individuality of each
party and to bringing the broad masses of cath-
olics jand others closer around us.» : |
acques Duclos, who v itti ide
could not contain himsell]fc:' Yo E e
«I am going to get up and attac i
Opeply,» he said to me. «Do iou hear thelj'.hihnlgg
he is saying, Comrade Enver?!» .
«Yes,» I said to Duclos. «He is expressing
"y Th = . i 3 o ] : 2
;1812(;1 gmﬂiie.lle has been thinking and doing for
. «In 1945,» continued Togliatti, «we declared
thgt‘ we wanted to create a new party. We sa
a ‘new party’ and do not want to use Le‘nin’);
thesis, ’the party of the new type’ because if we
were to put it in this way, this Would, mark
a great theoretical and political error, would mean
to create such a communist party, which would
break with the traditions of S()cialidem(hracy If
we h.ad P::uilt a party of the new type,» contim'led
Togliatti, «<we would have alienated the parf
from the masses of the people and we Woulg
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never have created the situation we have today,
when our party has become a great mass party.'»

After these and other theses of Togliatti,
tempers flared up. Jacques Duclos rose to speak:

«We listened carefully to Togliatti’s speech,»
he said among other things, «but we declare
that we do not agree in the least with what
Togliatti said. His views open the way to op-
portunism and revisionism.»

«Qur parties have been and are hindered by
sectarianism and dogmatism,» interjected To-
gliatti.
At one moment Mao Zedong got up to calm
the tempers, speaking in his style of allegories
and implications. He said:

«On every... human issue one must go into
battle, but also towards conciliation. I have in
mind the relations between comrades: when we
have differences let us invite each other to talks.
In Panmunjon we had negotiations with the
Americans, in Vietnam with the French.»

1 As soon as he set foot on Naples, on his return from
the Soviet Union in March of 1944, Palmiro Togliatti imposed
on the party his line of class collaboration with the bourgeoi-
sie and its parties. Also in Naples Togliatti put forward for
the first time the idea, and indeed the platform, of what he
arty different from
ass compo-

called «the new party of the massesw, a D
the communist parties of the Leninist type in its cl
sition, ideology and organization forms.
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After several phrases of this type, he came
to the point:

«There are people,» he said, «who are 100
per cent Marxists, and others who are 80 per
cent, 70 per cent or 50 per cent, indeed there
are some who may be only 10 per cent Marx-
ists. We ought to talk even with those who are
10 per cent Marxists, because there are only
advantages in this.»

He was silent for a moment, looked around
the room as though a little lost, and continued:

«Why should we not gather, two or three
of us, in a small room to talk things over? Why
should we not talk, proceeding from the desire
for unity? We have to act with both hands, with
the one we must fight against those who make
mistakes, and with the other we must make
concessions.»

Suslov got up and was obliged to maintain
a «principled» stand, to stress that the struggle
against opportunism and revisionism is important,
as is the struggle against dogmatism, but «revi-
sionism constitutes the main danger, because it
leads to splits, damages unity,» etc., ete.

The whole concern of the Soviet Khrush-
chevites was «to preserve unity», to keep the
socialist countries and the communist parties of
different countries in check, therefore if they
«accepted» and «defended» a series of correct
theses on this occasion, they did this, first of
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all, because they were compelled by t.I_le 1_"9.5011?11;e
struggle of the genuine Marxist—LemI‘usts takmg
part in the meeting, but they did this, also, for
the sake of their strategic plan. They retreated,
held back temporarily, in order to gather strength
and take their revisionist revenge in the future.

Our delegation had its Marxist-Leninist say
about all the problems raised at the meotmg,
especially in regard to the struggle against mo-
dern revisionism, against American imperialism
as the main threat to peace and the peoples, ’Fhe
roads of transition to socialism, the preservahgn
of the Marxist-Leninist unity in the communist
and workers’ movement and the defence of the
experience of the October Revolution and the so-
cialist order, etc.

In the face of the struggle which was waged
in the meeting against opportunist views on the
problems discussed, the revisionists retreated. As
a result, the 1957 Moscow Declaration, in general,
was a good document,

At this meeting, revisionism, right opportu-
nism, was defined as the main danger in the
international communist and workers’ movement.

This infuriated the Yugoslavs. They had held
long debates with Khrushchevs’ men before the
meeting, especially over this thesis. !

«What are you worrying about?» said the
Khrushchevites, trying to calm them. «Your name

345



is not mentioned. We shall speak about revision-
ism in general, without any definition.»

«Yes,» replied the Yugoslavs, «but look at
the articles by Enver Hoxha, which you pu-
blish even in 'Pravda’! When Enver Hoxha speaks
against revisionism, he has us in mind and men-
tions us by name. But even when we are not
mentioned by name, everybody understands that
we are implied, and that is why we do not take
part in the meeting or sign the declaration of
parties of socialist countries.»

And they did not sign this declaration.

Mao Zedong expressed his deep regret:

«They are not going to sign the 12 parties
declaration,» he said. «As a rule, there ought to
be 13 countries, but the Yugoslav comrades stood
aside. We cannot force them. They are not going
to sign. I say that in ten years’ time they will
sign the declaration.»!

The declaration which was worked out
jointly and adopted at the meeting, summed
up the experience of the international com-
munist movement, defended the universal laws of
the socialist revolution and socialist construction,
and defined a series of common tasks for the

1 Mao was wrong only in the time he set. In fact, not ten
years, but twenty vears later a «declaration» was signed with
the Yugoslavs in Beijing. The Maoists signed fheir submission
fo Tito (Author’'s note).
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communist and workers’ parties, as well as the
norms of relations among them.

Thus the adoption of the declaration was a
victory for the revolutionary Marxist-Leninist
forces. Over all, it constituted a correct program
of joint struggle for the coming battles against
imperialism and revisionism.

Nevertheless, although the modern revision-
ists were checked, and temporarily drew in their
horns, they did not cease their evil work and
had no intention of doing so. Khrushchev was
to exploit the Moscow Meeting of 1957 as a means
to prepare the terrain for the implementation
of the diabolical anti-communist plan which
he was to carry further.

He did his utmost to disguise his betrayal
under the name of Lenin and, therefore, he made
use of pseudo-Leninist phraseology, mobilized all
the liberal pseudo-philosophers, who were await-
ing the moment to adapt to revisionist lines
(which they drew from the old social-democratic
arsenal) Leninist disguises appropriate to the
modern situation of the economic development of
«our epoch of the superiority of socialism» and
«the attainment, especially in the Soviet Union,
of the stage of the construction of communism.»

Khrushchevism distorted Marxism-Leninism,
considered it outdated, therefore it was to consider
the phase of the dictatorship of the proletariat
outdated, too, and would announce its replace-
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ment with the «state of the entire people». Con-
sistent in his course of betrayal, Khrushchev, like-
wise, was to replace the party of the proletariat
with the «party of the entire people». Conse-
quently, according to Khrushchev, the Soviet
Union was going over to «a higher phase, com-
munism», at a time when, in reality, that country
was still backward in industry and agriculture
and its markets were empty. «The Soviet Union
was going over to the phase of communism»
only in the declarations of the Khrushchevites,
because the reality testified to the opposite. Abo-
ve all, that country especially needed a strong
Marxist-Leninist party which would undertake
the education of the Soviet man .and the Soviet
society which was degenerating.

This liberal bluff was trumpeted by Khrush-
chev and his theoreticians from daylight to dark.
In the press, the radio and the whole of the Soviet
propaganda, a great hullabaloo was made in this
direction; in the streets, on the facades of buil-
dings and the industrial projects, they put pla-
cards written in big letters, «Dognat i peregnat
S.SH.A.»* From the tribunes of meetings, the
traitor shouted: «We have overtaken America
in this or that sector, we shall outstrip it in agri-
culture (and even set the dates), we are going
to bury capitalism,» etc. The revisionist theories

* Overtake and outstrip the USA (Russian in the original).
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were developed, elaborated and spread by the
traitorous leaderships of pseudo-Marxist parties
and a motley crowd of pseudo-Marxist philoso-
phers, Trotskyites like Serven, Garaudy, Krivin,
Fischer, and others, in all the capitalist countries,
who had been lurking in the ranks of the com-
munist parties, and who sprang up as Khrush-
chevite revisionists like mushrooms after the rain.

The genuine communists were taken by sur-
prise. In this direction, the unhealthy anti-Marx-
ist sentimentality, which prevented them from
raising their voices against their parties which
were degenerating, against old leaders who were
betraying, against the Soviet Union, which they
loved so much, from realizing the catastrophe for
which the homeland of Lenin and Stalin was
heading, played a negative role.

The capitalist bourgeoisie helped to deepen
this confusion as much as possible with all its
forces and economic and propaganda means.

In this way, Khrushchev’s cunning plan was
developed in detail through intrigues, pressure,
demagogy, blackmail, false accusations and vio-
lation of the treaties, agreements and accords,
which had existed between the Soviet Union and
China, as well as between the Soviet Union and
Albania, until the Khrushchevites arrived at the
«famous» Bucharest Meeting.
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11. «THE CARROT» AND «THE STICK»

Our Party and Government delegation goes
to the Soviet Union. Khrushchev’s manoeuvres:
the «earrot» in evidence — the Soviet govern-
ment converts the eredits into grants. Lenin-
grad: Pospyelov and Kozlov censor our speeches,
«We should not mention the Yugoslavs.» Our
official talk with Khrushchev and others. Khru-~
shchev gets angry: «You want to take us back
to Stalin’s course», «Tito and Rankovic are
better than Kardelj and Popovic. Tempo is an
ass..., is unstable.» A chance meeting with
the Yugoslav ambassador in Moscow, Micuno-
vie. Khrushchev’s visit to Albania, May 1959.
Khrushchev and Malinovsky ask us for military
bases: «We shall control the whole Mediterra-
nean from the Bosporus to Gibraltar.» The
adviser on the extermination of dogs. The
Soviet Embassy in Tirana, a centre of the KGB.

Our Party and its Central Committee saw
the tragic course on which the Khrushchevites
were leading the Soviet Union and other socialist
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countries, as well as the directions which events
were taking, and therefore they were in a great
dilemma. The steps that we took had to be care-
fully measured: we should not be hasty, but
neither must we go to sleep. Foreseeing difficult
moments, we were greatly interested in streng-
thening the situation within the country and
building up and further developing the economy
and strengthening the army. In the first place and
above all, we had to keep the Party on the rails
of Marxism-Leninism, to fight the penetration of
revisionism, and wage this fight by persistently
defending the Leninist norms and protecting the
unity in the leadership and in the Party. This
was the main guarantee to keep us immune from
Titoism and Khrushchevism. The Khrushchev-
ites were keeping up their disguise and had no
way to attack us openly in this field. Quite cor-
rectly, we defended the Soviet Union when all
were attacking it. As I have written above, this
was another important question of principle and,
at the same time, our tactic against the Khrush-
chevites, who did not find weak spots in our
stands.

They could not or did not want to exacerbate
the contradictions with us. Perhaps, underrating
the strength of our Party and the vitality of
the ‘Albanian people, they thought that they
would strangle us because we were small, or that
they would take the fortress from within by
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preparing their agency (as time showed, they had
acted in this direction with Panajot Plaku, Beqir
Balluku, Petrit Dume, Hito Cako, and other colla-
borators and conspirators, whom we uncovered
later).! But irrespective of their efforts to «be on
good terms» with us and to avoid hot-tempered
actions, both they and we saw that the gulf was
widening.

As before, the Yugoslav question was one
of the main issues that divided us from the
Khrushchevites, who did everything in their pow-
er to have us reconcile ourselves to the Yugo-
slav revisionists. Khrushchev wanted our re-
conciliation with them, because by means of this
reconciliation he wanted us to relinquish our
resolute Marxist-Leninist course, to relinquish
any correct and principled stand on the internal
and international planes, that is, to submit to the
Khrushchevite line.

We had long understood this and did not
give any ground in the face of the demagogy,
the blackmail and the threats of Khrushchev.
Apart from the instances which I related above,

1 As was later proved, these plotters were headed by the
multiple agent Mehmet Shehu, who acting behind the scenes
on orders from his patrons — the American CIA and the
Yugoslav UDB, set them in motion for a counter-revo-
lutionary change in Albania, (See Enver Hoxha, «The Titoi-
tes» (Historical Notes) the «8 Néntori» Publishing House,
Tirana 1982, Eng. ed., pp. 620-621.)
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our meeting with the Soviet leadership in Mos-
cow in April 1957 is typical in this direction.
It was the period after the events in Hungary and
Poland and after the plenum of the Central
Committee of our Party, held in February 1957.°

At this plenum, we once again made a pro-
found analysis of the bitter events in Hungary
and in Poland. We openly expressed our views
abo_ut the tense international situation at this
period, spoke about the true causes of the distur-
bances which were occurring in the socialist
camp, hit hard at the manoeuvres of imperial-
ism, headed by American imperialism, exposed
modern revisionism, and expressed and defended
the basic principles of Marxism-Leninism. The
whole report, which I delivered at this plenum
on behalf of the Political Bureau, opposed many
of the theses of the 20th Congress, without
mentioning it by name. Immediately after the
plenum we made this report public, printed it
in «Zéri i popullit~ and broadcast it over the
radio. Without doubt this infuriated the Khrush-
chevites. They were unable to oppose our prin-
cipled theses and stands openly, because they
were trying to preserve their disguise. Inwardly,
however, they were seething. It was necessary
to «settle matters» with us, to clamp down on
us. They asked us to send a top level delegation

1 See note in p. 161 of this volume,
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to Moscow in the context of «strengthening our
friendship».

We left for the Soviet Union in April 1957.
The delegation consisted of Mehmet Shehu, Gogo
Nushi, Rita Marko, Ramiz Alia, Spiro Koleka,
Xhafer Spahiu, Behar Shtylla, me and others.
Great astonishment: as soon as the ship on which
we were travelling entered the territorial waters
of the Soviet Union, a group of Soviet warships
appeared, surrounded us, greeted us with flags,
and escorted us to Odessa. The deputy prime mi-
nister of the Ukraine, the deputy foreign minister
of the Soviet Union, Patolichev, leaders of the
party and the state of Odessa, and hundreds of
people with flags and flowers had come to the
port to welcome us. We stayed one day in Odessa,
looked arcund the city, they took us to the ballet
and that night we left by train for Moscow. At the
Kiev station Kirichenko, Kalchenko (the prime
minister of the Ukraine) and others were awaiting
us. We had a cordial talk with them, they wished
us a good trip and we went on our way. The
atmosphere at the «Kievsky» railway station in
Moscow was even warmer. Thousands and thou-
sands of Moscovites, carrying flowers and flags,
had turned out to welcome the arrival of the top
level Albanian delegation and to express their
sincere love and respect for our people, our Party
and our country. I have felt this special love and
respect of the Soviet people for us, built up

355



in the years when Stalin was alive, whenever
1 lhave had the opportunity to come into contact
with the rank-and-file Soviet people in industrial
ent.erprlses, collective farms, and the cultural
artistic and scientific centres, which I have visi:
ted. In our Party and people the ordinary Soviet
people saw their true and sincere friends, saw
a party and a people which whole-heartedly
lovgd tl?e Soviet Union and defended it with all
their might, and which loved and honoured the
names of Lenin and Stalin.

'«Comrade Enver,» said Patolichev, «at this
station we have welcomed other top level repre-
sentatives of people’s democracies, but a welcome
like this, which the Soviet people are putting
on for you, I have never seen before.»

MY Khrushchev, Bulganin, members of the Pre-
sidium of the Central Committee of the party
members of the government of the USSR etc’
were on the platform to welcome us. We éhool'{’
hands and embraced them, and although their
expressions of joy came nowhere near and could
not be compared with those of the people, who
cpntinued to cheer round about us, still w,e no-
ticed that this time the welcome of the Soviet
leaders was several degrees warmer than on
othertoccaiions. Both at the station and at the
reception to welcome us, they were unspari
with their flattering words. E

«We are proud of the friendship we have
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with you; your Party is a young party but it
has shown itself to be very mature; you are
playing a very great role...» Khrushchev, Bulga-
nin, Pospyelov and the others hastened to declare.

Very quickly we realized that this was the
«carrot», They would bring out the stick a little
later.

«We must assist you in a more organized
way. We have given you something, but we have
not thought well enough about what we have
done,» said Khrushchev, trying to sweeten us up
at the first priyom, and here, too, he did not
forget to repeat his great «desire» that Albania
should become an «example for the countries of
Asia and Africa, for Greece and Italy.»

After stressing several times «we shall assist
you more» and «better», Khrushchev considered
it appropriate to test the effect of his promises
there and then.

«We roared with laughter in the Presidium,»
he said, «when we read Tito’s speech at Pula.
He abused Comrade Enver there, but Tito’s eyes
have been blinded.»

«We immediately gave him the reply he
deserved,» I said.

«Of course, of course,» said Khrushchev and
his smile faded, «but we must restrain our legiti-
mate anger and show ourselves generous towards
them, for the sake of the peoples of Yugoslavia
and the unity of the camp.
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«We shall go among the people and speak
to them,» he continued, «we must show ourselves
to be reasonable. We should not mention the
E{ugos.lavs ‘by name, but should speak about re-
visionism, in general, as a phenomenon...»

It was the welcoming reception and I did
not oppose him. However, the Yugoslav problem
was }I(‘J pu;sue us everywhere.

wo days later we went to Leningr -
lov welcomed us with the friendliegn\i:;igé ‘KOZ
1 «I:I; am crazy about Albania,» he told us. «I
1aw_3 ecome a great admirer of your country!»
{It was this same Kozlov who, two or three yeai“s
later, in the unforgettable events of Buchafest
and Moscow, was to prove that he was such &
great ‘«admirer» of our country, that, apart fl“OI:ll
anything else, he threatened us with the loss
of the frgedom and independence of the }iome-
Land, saying to us: «One atomic bomb dropped
by the Americans would be enough to snuff 1z)ut
A.lbaiia and its population.»)

Amongst others we visited «Lenin»
machrne—building plant, a big plan;gh(?f Pﬁ:?ci?lc
1mp0.rt.ance. There, in the grave conditions of
C:élglsm, I:ienin had set up the first communist
tgo thgsw.—,;r;kegld many times delivered speeches

«No other foreign delegation has visited this

plant,» said Pospyelov, who ac i
this visit. : i ccompanied us on
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The workers had not been prepared, because
our visit was a spontaneous one, but they gave
us a really warm welcome. One worker, who
worked on a turbine for our hydro-power sta~
tion on the Mat River, gave us some tools which
we were to give as a souvenir fo an Albanian
worker. The workers of the plant to whom we
talked, told us that they knew Albania, that they
nurtured a special love for the Albanian people
and considered them an heroic people, ete.

They immediately organized a rally at the
plant, in which 4,000-5,000 people took part,
and asked me to speak. I spoke and expressed
the profound love and gratitude which the Alba-
nian people and the Party of Labour of Albania
nurtured for them and the whole Soviet people.
I told them about the struggle of our people and
Party against imperialist and revisionist enemies.
These enemies were real, had names, had enga-
ged in concrete activities against us. I had to
speak openly to the workers, although this was
not going to please Khrushchev. At the first
reception he had given us his «orientation» on
the question of Yugoslavia. But neither I nor
my comrades would have had a clear conscience
if we had not spoken out, therefore in my speech
1 told the workers that the Yugoslav leaders were

anti-Marxists and chauvinists, that they had done

hostile work, etc.
The workers listened to me attentively and
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cheered with great enthusiasm. However, after
the mfzet’cfilpgf{ Pospyelov said to me: ,

«l think we should tidy up the part about
Yugoslavia a little, because it seems a bi
ik ; use it seems to me a bit

«’I:here is nothing exaggerated,» I said.

; «Tomorrow your speech will be published
in the press,» said Pospyelov. «The Yugoslavs
will be very angry with us.»

_ «It’s my speech. You are in order,» I said to
him.
it «Comrade Enver, you must understand us.»
ims%ited Pc;:spyeloxli. «Tito says that it is we wl';o
ncite you to speak openly agai ike thi
We must soften tha%c) big.» s il i

This dialogue took place in one of the rooms
of th(? «Kirov> Opera Theatre in Leningrad. It
was time for the performance to begin, the o'er)-
ple were waiting for us to enter the hall. o

«Let us postpone this discussion till after the
performance,» I said. «Time is getting on.»

«We’ll postpone the beginning of the per-
formance,» he insisted, «I’ll tell the comrades.»

We argued a bit and in the end we reached
a «compromise»; the word «enemy» would be
replaced with <«anti-Marxist».

The revisionists were jumping for joy as if
they had gained the heavens. After a little reflec-
tion, Kozlov wanted another «concessions:

«’Anti-Marxist’ does not sound too good
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either,» he said, «how about if we alter it to 'non-
Marxist’.»

«All right, then,» I said in an ironical tone.
«Do as you wish!»

«Let us go out to the foyer of the theatre,»
Kozlov then proposed, and we circled once or
twice among the people, so that Kozlov could
greet them. Meanwhile the others went to make
the «correction» and Ramiz accompanied them.
However, when Ramiz returned, he told me that
they had removed all T had said about the Yu-
goslavs. I instructed him to tell them that we
insisted on our opinions, but Khrushchev’s men
replied:

«It is impossible to make any change now,
because we would have to inform the comrades
at the top again in order to do such a thing!»

In one of the intervals of the performance
I expressed our dissatisfaction to Pospyelov.

«The truth is that they are what you say,»
he told me, «but we must not be hasty, because
the time will come.. .»

Thus, what I said at the meeting in connec-
tion with Yugoslavia, came out differently in
«Pravda».

Although the Soviet leaders were very well
aware of our stand towards the Yugoslav re-
visionists, we had decided in advance to raise this
problem in Moscow again and to tell Khrush-
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chev and company why we disagreed with them.
We met on April 15. Mehmet Shehu, Gogo Nushi,
Ramiz Alia, Spiro Koleka, Rita Marko and I
were at the talks from our side; from the Soviet
side there were Khrushchev, Bulganin, Suslov,
Ponomaryov, as well as Andropov. The latter,
following the disturbances which occurred in
Hungary, was now no longer an ambassador, but
a top functionary in the apparatus of the Central
Committee of the party, I think a director or
vice-director in the sector for relations with the
parties of socialist countries.

Right from the outset, I told Khrushchev
and his associates that I would speak mainly
about the Yugoslav problem.

«We have discussed these matters continu-
ally in our Party,» I said amongst other things,
«and have done our utmost to be as patient,
cool-headed and prudent as possible in our opi-
nions and actions towards the Yugoslav leader-
ship.

«For their part, the Yugoslav leaders have
gone on in the same old way. I do not intend
to go over all the bitter history of our relations
with them over 14 years, because you know
about it, but I want to stress that, even to this
day, the Yugoslav leadership is continuing its
hostile secret activities against us and perma-
nently maintains a provocative stand.
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«We believe that these persistent stands on
the part of the Yugoslav leadership, and espe-
cially on the part of their legation in Tirana,» I
continued, «are intended to completely destroy
relations with us in order to put usin a difficult
position in regard to our friends, on the pretext
that *we have achieved good relations with all the
other parties, while it is not possible to reach
agreement with the Albanians’.»

I went on to tell them of new facts in con-
nection with a number of activities of the mi-
nister and the secretary of the Yugoslav legation
in Tirana, spoke about the underhand work they
were doing to organize anti-party elements and
activate them against our Party and people and
told them of our efforts to make them stop their
anti-Albanian activity.

«These activities cannot be done on their
personal initiative,» I told Khrushchev, «but are
done on the orders of the top Yugoslav leader-
ship. This is the conclusion we have drawn from
their actions.»

Further on, I raised the problem of the
harmful activity which the Yugoslav leaders con~
tinued to carry out in Kosova.

«This is a delicate and important questicn
for us,» I said, «because they are not only organ-
izing intense activity against our country from
Kosova, but are also trying to liquidate the Alba-
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nian population of Kosova, by displacing them
en masse to Turkey and other countries.»!

After speaking in detail about the efforts of
the staff of the Yugoslav legation in Tirana to or-
ganize the internal enemies of our Party and peo-
ple, about the plot they had tried to organize in
the Tirana Conference in April 1956, and about
the subsequent hostile activity with Tuk Jakova,
Dali Ndreu, Liri Gega, etc., I pointed out:

«All these facts and others, of which we have
ample, have convinced us that, to this very day,
the Yugoslav leadership has never given up its
aim of overthrowing the people’s power in Alba-
nia. Thus, the Yugoslav revisionists are a danger,
not only to our country but also to all the other
socialist countries because, as they themselves
have declared and as their activity towards us
confirms, they are not reconciled to our socialist
system, are opposed to the dictatorship of the
proletariat and have totally abandoned Marxism-
Leninism.

«We have always wanted to have good rela-
tions with Yugoslavia,» I continued, «but to put
it bluntly, we do not trust the Yugoslav leaders,
because they speak against the social system in
our countries and are opposed to the foundations

1 After the Second World War, the Titoites have forced
over 400,000 Albanians to emigrate to Turkey. (See Enver

Hoxha, The Titoites (Historical Notes), the «8 Néntori» Publi-
shing House, Tirana 1982, Eng. ed. pp. 3-20, 74-122, 283-289).
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of Marxism-Leninism. In all their propaganda,
they do not say one word against imperialism, on
the contrary, have joined the chorus of the Wes-
tern powers against us. In 14 years, we have not
seen the Yugoslav leadership make the slightest
change that would make us think it has under-
stood any of its grave mistakes and deviations,
which have long been under attack. Therefore,
we cannot put any trust in this leadership.

«But what stand are we to maintain towards
it?» I continued. «We shall keep our temper, we
shall be patient and vigilant. But there is a limit
to patience. We are not going to take any step
which would damage the interests of socialism
and Marxism-Leninism, we are not going to wage
war on them and neither will we interfere in the
internal affairs of Yugoslavia. We are not and
never have been for such actions, but we consider
it our permanent duty to defend our correct ideo-
logical and political line and to unceasingly ex-
pose opportunism and revisionism.

«These were the things I had to tell you,»
I said in conclusion. «In regard to our political
situation, it is very good. The people stand firmly
united around the Party and have mobilized them-
selves in the work to implement its line. That is
all I have to say.»

Khrushchev, who up till now had listened in
silence to what I presented, his face flushing red
and turning pale alternately, although he ma-
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naged to maintain his «aplomb», began to speak.
Appa‘renﬂy he wanted to show us that «one can
remain silent» even when one does not agree with
what one’s counter-part is saying.

«I wanted to stress our opinion,» he began.
«We are in complete agreement with you and
support you.»

Immediately after this phrase, however,
Khrushchev showed us how they «supported» us:

«We thought that this party meeting would
end more quickly and had no idea that you would
present matters in this way.

«You are somewhat touchy in your view of
relations with Yugoslavia,» he continued. «When
you speak, you present the question of relations
with Yugoslavia as hopeless. The way you speak
about the Yugoslav leadership implies that this
leadership has betrayed, that it is completely off
the rails, that nothing can be done with it, and
therefore we should break off relations. I dz) not
think that it has betrayed, but it is true that it has
slipped seriously from the course of Marxism-
Leninism. According to you, we ought to return
to what Stalin did, which caused all these things
we know about. If we take things as you present
them, it turns out that Yugoslavia is against the
Soviet Union, in the first place, and also against
you and the others. When I listen to you speaking
I see that you are seething with anger against
them! The Italians, Greeks and Turks are no bet-
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ter than the Yugoslavs. I would like to ask you:
With whom have you the best relations?»

«We have no relations with the Greeks and
the Turks,» I replied.

«Let us examine how the Yugoslavs behave
towards us,» he continued. «They attack us more
than the Greeks, the Turks and the Italians! But
there is something specific, proletarian, about
Yugoslavia. Hence, can we break off relations
with Yugoslavia?»

«We do not say this,» I replied.

«You did not say it but from your words it is
obvious that you think it. Certainly Yugoslavia
will not become the cause of a war against our
camp, like Germany, Italy or any other country.
Do you consider Yugoslavia as the enemy number
one?!» he asked me.

«We are not speaking about Yugoslavia. We
are speaking about the revisionist activity of the
Yugoslav leaders,» I said. «What are we to do
after those things which they hatch up against us?»

«Try to neutralize their work. What else can
you do? Are you going to war with them?» he
asked me again.

«No. we have not made war on them and
we are not going to do so. But if the Yugoslav mi-
nister goes tomorrow to photograph — military
objects, then what are we to do?»

«Take the film!» answered Khrushchev.

«They will use such a measure as a pretext
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to break off relations and put the blame on us,»
I said.

«Then what do you want from us, Comrade
Enver?» he said angrily. «Our views differ from
yours and we are unable to advise you! I do not
understand you, Comrade Hoxha! Adenauer and
Kishi are no better than Tito, but nevertheless.
we are doing everything in our power for rap;
prochement with them. Do you think we are
wrong?»

«This is not the same issue,» I replied. «When
there is talk about Tito, the improvement of rela-
tions on the party road is implied, while he is an
anti-Marxist. However, the Yugoslav leadership is
not correct even in state relations. What stand
are we to adopt, if the Yugoslavs continue to
hatch up plots against us?»

’ «Comrade Hoxha,» shouted Khrushchev an-
grily, «you are constantly interrupting me. I lis-
tened to you for an hour without interrupting
you once, while you do not allow me to speak
even for a few minutes, but interrupt me con-
tinually! I have nothing more to say!» he declared
and stood up.

«We have come to exchange opinions,» I said.
«Then, as soon as you express an idea, you ask my
opinion. Are you annoyed that I reply to you?!»

«I have told you and I am telling you again:
I listened to you for an hour, Comrade Hoxha,
while you did not listen to me even for a quarter
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of an hour but interrupted me again and again!
You want to build your policy on sentiments. You
say there is no difference between Tito, Kardelj,
Rankovic, Popovic, and so on! As we have told
you previously, they are people and differ from
one another. The Yugoslavs say that they are all
of the same opinion, but we say otherwise: Tito
and Rankovic maintain a different, more reasona-
ble, more approachable stand towards us, while
Kardelj and Popovic are totally hostile towards us.
Tempo is an ass..., is unstable. Let us take Eisen-
hower and Dulles. They are both reactionaries, but
we must not lump the two of them together. Dulles
is a savage war-monger while Eesenhower is
more human.

«We told you at the first meeting: we are not
going to attack anyone and not going to provoke
any attack. Our attacks and counter-attacks must
be made in such a way as to ensure that they are
in favour of rapprochement and not alienation.

«We have asked Zhou Enlai to become the
intermediary to arrange a meeting between our
parties in which the Yugoslavs will take part.'

1 The reference is to Khrushchev's efforts, in collaboration
with the Chinese leadership, to organize a meeting of all the
communist parties of socialist countries in which Tito was (o
take part, too. This meeting was organized in Moscow 1
November 1857, but despite the efforts of Khrushchev and
Mao Zedong, the Yugoslavs did nof {alkke part in it. For more
details see this volume pp. 334-337.
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He was pleased to undertake this task. Such a
meeting can be held. The Yugoslavs have agreed
to it. But it should not be thought that everything
will be achieved at such a meeting. However, with
opinions like yours, why should we go to such a
meeting?! I do not understand what you are
aiming at, Comrade Enver! Are you trying to
convince us that we are not right?! Have you
come here to convince us that we, too, should
adopt the same stand as you towards Yugoslavia?
No, we know what we are doing! Do you want
to convince us that your line is right?! This does
not lead to any good solution and is not in the
interest of our camp. In connection with the coun-
ter-revolution in Hungary we have considered
the stand of the Party of Labour of Albania cor-
rect, but your tactic in connection with Yugosla-
via is wrong. I had thought that you should meet
Micunovic (the Yugoslav ambassador in Moscow),
not to exacerbate relations but to improve them.
However, seeing the way you treat the problem,
I doubt that anything will emerge from it. You
talk about the provocations of the Yugoslav mi-
nister in Tirana. In our country, too, the Yugoslav
minister has gone in a demonstrative way to pho-
tograph military objects. Our militiaman took his
camera and bid him good day!

«Let me repeat: we shall follow the line of
improving both state relations and party relations
with Yugoslavia. Whether or not we achieve it,
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that is another matter, but the fact is that we shall
have a clear conscience and will serve our party
and all the other parties well. We must not make
matters worse. The Rumanian comrades are right
in describing you in ’Scinteia’ as 'quarrelsome’.»

«We are opposed not only to this grave in-
sult, but also to the spirit in which a sister party,
such as that of Rumania, deals with this problem
in its central organ,» I told Khrushchev. «To be
quarrelsome means that you make unprincipled
attacks. We have never acted with anyone in this
way ’Scinteia’ itself and those who wrote that
article are inciting unjust and unprincipled ac-
tions. We have our criticisms and reservations
about many stands of the Polish comrades, too,
but we have not criticized them in the press, be-
cause we do not want to become inciters of quar-
rels and splits. We have had and still have criti-
cisms of the Italians, and certain stands of the
Rumanian comrades themselves. But we have
displayed prudence, have not criticized them in
the press, because we do not want to settle the
problems outside the norms and rules governing
relations between sister parties.»

Having received his answer for his «agree-
ment» with «Scinteia», Khrushchev continued,
but in a somewhat lower tone:

«Take things quietly, comrades, always quiet-
ly, and we shall triumph. Do you know what Sta-
lin used to tell us?» he continued. «'Before we
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take decisions we should take a cold shower, as
the Romans did.” This is what Stalin advised us
to do, but he never took a shower himself. Let us
do what Stalin did not do!»

Having said these things, he was silent for a
moment and then launched off into his accusa-
tions again:

«You do not take a shower before taking
decisions, either,» he said. «You condemned Dali
Ndreu and Liri Gega. We consider this action of
yours a grave mistake, very grave.»

«We have discussed the question of these
agents on another occasion,» I said. «Nevertheless,
if you wish, I can give you endless details about
their anti-party and anti-Albanian activity. They
have acted continually to the detriment of our
country .-

«Nevertheless, nevertheless!» shouted Khrush-
chev. «They should not have been condemned so
severely. The Yugoslavs are furious.»

«Of course! They were their loyal agents,»
I said, and I could see that Khrushchev had been
just as infuriated by the verdict of our court as
the Yugoslavs were.

«When we heard what you intended to do we
sent an urgent radiogram to our ambassador in
Tirana, Krylov. We told him that the decision of
your court must be annulled without fail. Ap-
parently, you did not listen to him. That order
was ours.» -
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«I am hearing this for the first time and I
am astonished that you could have given such an
order,» I said, trying to control my anger. <fH0\w*«
ever, you ought to know that during the trial the
criminal activity of these dangerous agents was
proved to the full. Our people would not pardon. a
soft stand towards them. We do not pat enemies
on the head, but give them what they deserve,
according to the laws for which the people have
voted.» )

Khrushchev was squirming in his seat.

«After Tito’s speech at Pula,» put in Pono-
maryov, «we sent a radiogram to Krylov, that he
should tell you to keep cool in your reply, that we
would publish an article and it should not appear
as an organized action. We also told him what you
should do about Dali Ndreu and Liri Gega.»

«He told us about the article,» I replied, «but
we could not leave matters without replying to
Tito, and therefore we wrote it.! As for Dali
Ndreu and Liri Gega, I know that your ambas-
sador asked us after we arrested them and we told
Krylov about the activity of those a_gents.'He
did not mention any kind of order, and it was just
as well he did not. However, even if he had told

1 Reference to the article «About the Recent Speech by
Josip Broz Tito» published in the «Zéri i popullit» newspaper,
November 23, 1956.
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us 'c_lb_out it, we could never come out against the
decision of the people’s court.»

Turning to his comrades, Khrushchev said:
_«Our ambassador has not carried out his task.
That ac_tlo_n should have been stopped.»

~ This individual always openly took our ene-
mies un@er hls_ protection, imagining Albania as a
country in which his orders, and not the laws of
our state, had to be applied. I remember that
another time he said to me:

«I have received a letter from a per
J : : . person cal-
]"’.d Panajot Plaku, in which he asked me to help
him.» i

«Do you know this man?» I asked him. (I
}mew that he was well acquainted with the trai-
éorf an'(J:E{' agent Jof the Yugoslavs, Panajot Plaku

ugitive in Jugoslavia, who wanted t ,
the Soviet Union.) T e

«No,» replied Khrushch <«

Mehen ev, «no, I do not

He was lying.

. ‘«He is & traitor,» I said, «and if you accept
hn:n in your country we shall break off our friend-
s]yp will you. If you admit him you must hand
him og;er to us to hang him publicly.»

«You are like Stalin who killed pe » sai
Khrushchev. s
«Stalin killed fraitors, and we kill
too,» I added. i

Since there was nothing else he could do, he
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retreated. He still hoped to make us submit by
using other ways and means. After pouring out
all he had to say, he fell silent, laid his hands on
the table, softened his stern tone and began his
«advice» again.

The tactic of the «stick» was finished. At the
discussion table Khrushchev again resorted to the
«carrot».

«You must understand us, comrades,» he
said, «we speak in this way only with you, be-

cause we love you greatly, you are close to our

hearts,» etc., etec. And after all this he made a
‘gesture of «generosity»: he excused us from re-
‘paying the credits, which the Soviet Union had
provided for our country up to the end of 1955

for its economic and cultural development. Of
-course, we thanked them, thanked the Soviet

working class and the fraternal Soviet people, in
the first place, for this aid which they gave a
small, but valiant, industrious and indomitable
country. However, we all clearly understood what
«motives» lay behind this «generosity» of Khrush-
chev. He wanted to «smooth us over», to relieve
the tense atmosphere which had been created
during the talk, to some extent, wanted to bribe us
with this «aid,» which to Khrushchev was not aid
but charity, a bait which he threw us to deceive
us and make us submit to him. However, he was
soon to be convinced that we were the sort of
people who would even accept to eat grass but
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would never bend the knee to him or any other

traitor.

A few days after this «generous» gesture
Khrushchev also invited Micunovic to a big din-
ner for our delegation. He saw him standing
somewhat apart and called to him:

«Come over here! Why do you stand so far
off 71

He introduced us and laughing said to us:

«Try to understand each other!» And off he
went, glass in hand, leaving us «to understand
each other». We quarrelled.

I reeled off to Micunovic all the things I had
told Khrushchev at the meeting and said to him:

«We have been and are ready to improve
our state relations and, for our part, have made
every effort, but you must give up your anti-Al-
banian activity once and for all.»

«You call us revisionists,» said Micunovic.
«How can you have relations with revisionists?»

. «No,» I said, «we shall never have relations
with revisionists, but I am speaking about state
relations. We can and should have such relations,
In.regard to the ideological contradictions whic};
exist between us, you must understand clearly
that we will never give up the struggle against
opportunism and the revision of Marxism-
Leninism.» .
' «When you speak of revisionism you have us
in mind,» said Micunovie. ¥
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«That is true,» I said, «whether or not we
mention Yugoslavia, the reality is that we are re-
ferring to you, too.»

Micunovie stuck to his point of view. The
debate was becoming heated. Watching us from
a distance, Khrushchev sensed the mounting ten-
sion and rejoined us.

Micunovic began to repeat to him what he
had said to me previously and continued to make
accusations against us. However, at that dinner
we had Khrushchev «on our side».

«When Tito was in Corfu,» he said to Mi-
cunovic, «the King of Greece said to him: 'Well,
shall we divide up Albania? Tito did not reply,
while the Queen pointed out that they should not
talk about such things.»

Micunovic lost his head and said:

«That was only a joke.»

«Such jokes should never be made, especial-
ly with the monarcho-fascists, who have been
claiming Southern Albania throughout their exist-
ence. And you have made similar ’jokes’ before
this too,» I told him. «We have a document of
Boris Kidric in which he has included Albania
as the 7th republic of Yugoslavia.»

«This was something done by one individ-
ual,» replied Micunovic.

«One individual, true, but he was a member
of the Political Bureau of your party and chair-
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?an of the State Planning Commission,» we told
im.
This was too much for Micunovic and he

walked away. Khrushchev took me by the arm
and asked me: )

~«How did this come about? Did you quarrel
again P
«How else could it go? Only badly, as with
the revisionists.» J

«You Albanians astound me,» he said. «You
are stubborn.»

«No,» I said, «we are Marxists,»

We parted displeased with each other. But
Khrushchev was versatile in his scheming. As I
have said, sometimes he softened the situation
Wi.th Tito, sometimes he exacerbated it. When
things were tense with Tito he was gentle with
us. I remember when Khrushchev spoke at the
7th Congress of the Bulgarian Communist Party,
he attacked Tito in strong terms and everyone
applauded him. When we came out at the interval
all the heads of the delegations went to a room’
to drink coffee. There Khrushchev said:

«And for all I said about Tito, Comrade
Enver Hoxha is still not satisfied.»

«You are right,» I said, «Tito must be ex-
posed more vigorously and ceaselessly.»

However, it was not always like this. Before
Khrushchev came to visit Albania in May 1959,
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the Soviet leadership sent us a radiogram in
which it informed us that «for understandable
reasons he will not touch on the Yugoslav ques-
tion in his speeches and hopes that in their spee-
ches the Albanian friends will bear this properly
in mind.»

This was a condition which they imposed on
us and they were awaiting our reply. We discus-
sed this problem at length in the Political Bureau,
where all of us expressed our regret and anger
over such a visit with conditions and made a ba-
lance of the benefits and evils which would result
from our acceptance or non-acceptance of Khrush-
chev’s condition. We knew that the Yugoslavs
and all reaction would rub their hands and de-
clare:

«See, Khrushchev went to Albania and shut
the Albanians’ mouths. And where? In their own
home!»

However, the visit to Albania of the chair-
man of the Council of Ministers of the USSR and
first secretary of the Central Committee of the
Communist Party of the Soviet Union was of
special importance for strengthening the interna-
tional position of our country.

Therefore we decided unanimously to agree
to Khrushchev’s condition just for the days that
he would stay in Albania and as soon as he left
Albania we would continue our unwavering fight
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as before against the Yugoslav revisionists. Fear-
ing that something might occur as in Leningrad
in April 1957, as soon as he arrived in our country
on his visit at the end of May 1959, Khrushchev
spoke first, without waiting for me to welcome
him, saying:

«You must know that I am not going to
speak against Tito.»

«We consider a guest a guest and impose
nothing on him,» I replied.

I spoke, said what we had to say, naturally
in a friendly manner, but he did not fail to grasp
the allusions.

Nevertheless we behaved in a friendly way
with him and tried to create the best possible im-
pressions about our country and our people. On
every occasion he behaved as was his habit: some-
times with jokes and sometimes in a grave tone
he poured out all he had in mind.

We talked about our economic problems.
Besides information about the achievements up to
date, I was speaking about our prospects for the
future. Among the main branches I mentioned oil,
and informed him that in recent days we had
struck a new gusher of oil.

«Is that so?» he said. «<But what quality is it?
I know you have bad, heavy oil. Have you calcu-
lated how much it will cost to process it? Then,
where will you sell it? Who needs your oil?»

I went on to speak about our mining industry
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and its very good prospects, mentioning our iron-
nickel, chromium and copper ores. i

«We have ample amounts of these minerals
and we think that we should follow the course
of processing them at home. We have ra.ised the
necessity for building the metallurgical 1ndL}stry
in Albania with you last year and several_ times
in the meetings of Comecon,» I said. «Up till now
we have received no positive reply, but we are
persisting.» sl

«Metallurgical plants?» he interrupted me.
«I agree, but have you considered the matter
well? Have you calculated what a ton of smelted
metal will cost you? If it is going to cost you dc.ear
it is no good to you. I repeat: one day’s production
in our country will fulfil all your needs for se-
veral years.»

This is how he replied to all our requests and
problems.

When I finished, Khrushchev began to speak:

«Comrade Enver’s exposé made the situation
in your country clearer to us,» he said. «<However,
in regard to your needs, I want to tell you that
we have not come to examine them. We haye
not been authorized by our government to dis-
cuss such matters. We have come to get to know
you, to exchange opinions.» _ ,

Then laughing, he cracked a joke which was
not simply a joke: _ s

«We think that things are going well with
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you. Albania has advanced, and if you offered
us a loan we would accept it with the greatest of
pleasure.»

«We have ample stones, sea and air,» we told
him.

«We have much more of those than you.
Have you any dollars?» asked Khrushchev, and
then, in a different tone:

«Enough of this,» he said. «The truth is that
you have made progress, but you are not satisfied.
We gave you a credit last year and now you want
another one. But we have a popular saying: ’Cut
your coat according to your cloth’.»

«We have the same saying,» I said, «and we
know it and implement it well.»

«But,» he said, «you are asking for credits
again.» He shrugged his shoulders, was silent for
a moment and resumed his jocular tone:

«Or is it that you gave us a good lunch and
thought it a fine opportunity to ask us for another
credit? If we had known this we would have
brought our own lunch.»

«The Albanians have a special respect for a
guest,» I said. «Whether they have plenty and
whether they have nothing, they always provide
for their guest. They treat him with every respect
when he comes to their home and even swallow
something that they do not like.»

«I was joking,» he said and burst into a
laugh. But it was more a snarl than a laugh.
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Wherever he went he criticized us. About the big
vineyards at Shtoi he said:

«Why do you throw your money away? You
will get nothing from this land.»

Regardless of the opinions of this «agricul-
tural expert», however, we continued the work
and now the vineyards at Shtoi are marvellous.

He criticized the work to drain the Térbuf
swamp, In Vlora he summoned the main Soviet
oil expert in our country and he, no doubt «we}l
prepared» by the Soviet Embassy in Tirana, deli-
vered a report in our presence which was extrem'e-
ly pessimistic, saying that Albania had no oil.
However, a group of Albanian oil expert also
came there and refuted what the Soviets said with
many facts and arguments. They spoke in detail
about the history of the oil industry in our coun-
try, about the great interest of the foreign impe-
rialist companies in Albanian oil in the past and
about the great and encouraging results which had
been achieved in the 15 years of the people’s
power. We, for our part, spoke in detail abqut the
great prospects for oil extraction in Albania and
also mentioned to Khrushchev the recent dis-
coveries in this field.

«Fine, fine,» repeated Khrushchev, «but
yours is a heavy oil and contains Sulpl_mr. Have
you calculated things properly? You will process
it, but a litre of benzine will cost you more than
a kilogram of caviar. You must look closely at
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J‘Eﬂetcommercialhaspect. It has not been decreed
at you must have everything yoursel
are your friends for?!» e
In Saranda he advised us to
plant only oran-
ges and lemons for which the Sovi ion h
jomdngonay oviet Union had
: «We shall supply you with wheat. The mice
In our country eat as much wheat as you need,»
he said, repeating what he had said in Moscow in
1957. He also gave us a lot of «advice.
«Dont_waste your land and marvellous cli-
mate on maize and wheat. They bring you no in-
come, _The bay—trfee grows here. But do you know
what it is? Bay is gold. Plant thousands of hec-
tares Hof bay because we shall buy it from you.»
b e went on with peqnuts, tea and citrus
«These are what you should i
. plant,» he said
«In this way Albania will become a flourishing
oA y ania will' become a flourishing
In other words he wanted Albani
: ] ania fo be
turned into a _fru1t-gr’owing colony which would
serve the revisionist Soviet Union, just as the
baqana republics in Latin America serve the
United States of America.
But we could never allow oursel
C-But - ves to take
this SUICldal'FO'U.I‘SG which Khrushchev advisaedC
He even criticized our archaeological work as.
«dead.tyhmgs». When he visited Butrint he said:
«Why do you employ all these forces and
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funds on such dead things! Leave the Hellenes
and the Romans to their antiquity!»>

«Apart from the Hellenic and Roman cul-
ture,» I told him, «another ancient culture, the
Tllyrian culture, developed and flourished in these
sones. The Albanians stem from the Illyrian
trunk and our archaeological studies are confirm-
ing and providing evidence of our centuries-long
history and of the rich and ancient culture of a
valiant, industrious and indomitable people.»

However, Khrushchev was truly an ignora-
mus in these fields. He could see only the «profi-
tability»:

«Why are these things of value to you? Do
they increase the well-being of the people?» he
asked me. He called Malinovsky, at that time mi-
nister of defence, who was always at hand:

«Look, how marvellous this is!» I heard them
whisper. «An ideal base for our submarines could
be built here. These old things should be dug
up and thrown into the sea (they were refer-
ring to the archaeological finds at Butrint). We
can tunnel through this mountain to the other
side,» and he pointed to Ksamil. «We shall have
the most ideal and most secure base in the Medi-
terranean. From here we can paralyze and attack
everything.»

They were to repeat the same thing in Vlora
a day or two later. We had come out on the veran-
dah of the villa at Uji i Ftohte.
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«Marvellous, marvellous!» Khrushchev cried
apd turned to Malinovsky. I thouqhtfgl ({2\1;1(1’3 1zlflef
g;ng.to the tr'L}ly. breath-taking iandscape of dur
duvelfflin I:But their mind was working in another

«What a secure bay at the foot of these
??.ountal.ns!>> they said. «With a powerful ﬂee;tu
q1 om here we can have the whole of the I-\-Iedite:
rranean, from Bosporus to Gibraltar, in o
hands! We can control everyone,» ’ i
o It rpa-c}e my flesh creep to hear them talk like
his, as if they were the masters of the seas. coun-
trl'es and peoples. «No, Nikita Khrushcﬁev » I
said to myself, «we shall never allow yvou i‘o, set
out f;o enslave other countries and sheddtheir; €0~
ples’ bloogi from our territory. You will ngver
haw.e Butrint, Vlora, or any inch of the Albanian
termt%l;y, ft.otuse for those evil purposes.»

e fictitious «peace» was being ' '
more thoroughly rocked to its igoél:i%r;ti(?r?g
Khlrushchev and his followers were seeing our:
rgsmtance ever more clearly and tried to. fnake u
yield by exerting economic pressure, while c:ef
cretly ogchestrating a discrimination égainst C;U.t‘
Ieade?shlp by means of their specialists who were
working in all sectors in our country, such as in
oil and the economic enterprises in! ;ﬁrhich W
lacked sufficient experience, in the army Wherg=
we had advisers, ete. The Soviet Embassy ’\Vith it
innumerable «councillors», who were ::liplomat:
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only in name, because in reality they were secur-
ity officers, maintained contact with all these «ex-
perts», and gave them the necessary instructions.
The first thing they did was to issue instructions
to the Soviet experts in the economy to neglect
their work in Albania. To a greater Or lesser
degree, these experts began to become more inte-
rested in buying suit lengths and other things,
which they sent to the Soviet Union to sell on
the black market, than in working with our com-
rades.

Those experts who remained sincere with us
were removed by the embassy, one after the
other, on fabricated pretexts and against their will.
When they parted from our people, these special-
ists expressed their dissatisfaction. Those who
remained in Albania, of course, had received or-
ders to sabotage the key sectors of our economy,
especially the oil industry and geological prospect-
ing. As was proved later, the Soviet oil «experts»
had recruited some agents from the ranks of our
geologists and, as they themselves eventually ad-
mitted, had charged them with the mission of
keeping from our Party and Government accurate
data about the discoveries which they made, of
hiding the results of these discoveries, of using all
the means of sabotage, so as to make us start dril-
ling in the wrong places, of violating the rules of
prospecting and extracting technique and wasting
hundreds of millions of leks, etc. The Khrushchev-
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ite revisionists taught the agents they had re-
cruited in our country various methods of sabot-
age. And the agents carried out the instructions of
their patrons. These oil «experts» and «geologists»
made two reports: an accurate one, with exact and
positive data on discoveries of different minerals,
and a false one which said that the prospecting had
allegedly yielded negative results, i.e., the mine-
rals sought were not discovered. The first report
was sent to Moscow and Leningrad through the
KGB centre, which was called the Soviet Embas-
sy in Tirana, and the second report was sent to
our Ministry of Industry and Mines. This whole
vile business was discovered and proved after the
Soviets cleared out of Albania. Convinced that
there had been sabotage, our Central Committee

gave orders that the reports must be studied, that

our geological teams must go to all those places

where the Soviet saboteurs had said the results

were negative, and begin prospecting. This was

done. Precisely in those places where they had

declared «there was nothing», we found oil, chro-
mium, copper, iron-nickel, coal, ete.

This was an economic pressure which they
exerted on us in order to force us to accept their
views. But they broke their heads. Our Party’s
resistance steadily increased but still without
burning the bridges. The Soviet revisionists also
operated prudently to avoid burning the bridges
with us. The Soviet ambassador came frequently
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to sound us out on some intgrpati(mal %r'oblszr?:
on which I would give my opinion fran[l?ﬂy:doil 11;1
learn about some internal matter anth 1b e t thﬁe
up with reports about the weathm,‘ a otu om(=
planting, about the harvests, and gbou 8 ami
general decision of the Party about economic
cultuéﬁcgatéizz the Soviet ambassadors aft‘er
Khrushchev mounted the throne. They‘tho&g(l;l‘i
we were blind. They never expressed an};opl-_iﬂ_
on the questions we asked ther_n. On thves\, o%if -
ons their stand was: «I shall inform y qu»t ks
shall ask Moscow». Their task was t.hat1_o : 1(fe L
former. They rarely had any unae;-stanmng, of t
problems of our industry and agrlculture.1 i
The Soviet ambassador Krylov, who pr -
ceded Ivanov in Albania, visited some regxqr&sme
Southern Albania. When he returned he pai
A VleAre you satistied with what you saw?» I
aSkec}{El;;i.d nothing concrete, 'bccause it was ddpt(_)
gerous to tell me about the things he I_'lag goni,co“
see there. All he said was something...
105&&1:1. have noticed that you keep many dorg; \111
the villages and in the towns an?l I‘h_‘ha\n(a1 H;SL 1: i
calculation that there COl‘lld be suc alg o
number of dogs in Albania, which nflu; 1ec)1? (‘)d -
and such quantity of food..., and if this fo
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reckoned in grain it comes t
0
number of quintals.» (e e
«Well, well,» I said to myself
: : A aid to myself. «Look what a
ambaa;ador they have sent us!» And I said to himr%
«You may be right, but in our countr .
2 5 1 2 i : Tou
‘donl t fmd. barber’s shops and restaurants fm}: djon"s
as in Paris. But what measures do you advis%
Comrade Ambassador?» J e
«You‘shm_ﬂd kill them!» he said.
o «?‘he "Society for the Protection of Animals’
]'\:ela dplo’;eSt’; Esﬂthey are accusing us enough al-
eady about Kkilling traitor: re
Ll g itors and agents of reac-
This same ambassador once t
: e told me not to
speak in hgrsh terms about Tito in a meeting of
the Peé)ple"s Assembly. I replied: 5
«Comrade ambassador, I do not take or
from %{;yone except from my Party.» e
«We understand this, but if Tito is goi
be attacked I shall not attfe : e
< : nd the m
Assem%:‘)ly,» he protested. B s
«Tito will be exposed even more th
) . > than fro
m}h;até havE written and the session of the I;L(I;I}
e’s As 7 Wi °n i
? iy ssembly will open even if you do not come,»
And the «famous» Soviet amb
| : S» assador ca
Ec(}) the AFsiglblg and tucked himself away inm:
orner of the box, behind other ass
which was not his place. e e
It was clear that this threatening gesture of
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the ambassador, which we slapped back, came

from Moscow.

After a short time the «adviser» on the exter-
mination of dogs in Albania was recalled from Ti-
rana and became a director in the Central Com-
mittee of Khrushchev’s communist party!

Day by day, Khrushchev and his gang were
increasing their pressure on us in the direction of
the economy. Not only did they not provide us
with all the aid we sought, but even what they
did provide was quite insufficient. They supplied
only a few cases of tractor spare parts, which they
sent by aircraft. In this way they sought to force
us to our knees, but in vain, because they had no
success. To put pressure on us to accept their con-
ditions, Khrushchev said to us once (while we
were talking about our economic problems): «In
our relations with the Yugoslavs it has always
been our principle to give them half of what they
ask for. When they behave well we act more
generously. This is how we act with all those who
behave badly towards us.» The implication was
quite clear, they were openly putting pressure on
us. We quarrelled so fiercely that time that the
talks were almost broken off.

All over the country the Soviets began to
commit many provocations against our people
everyday. Once, a person complained to the head
of his office that a Soviet «expert» had made a
proposition to recruit him as an agent. Our com-
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rade refused indignantly. Our Ministry of Foreign
Affairs protested to the Soviet Embassy about
this. Naturally, the embassy denied that there
were such people among the Soviet experts, but
a few weeks later it removed its exposed agent
from the country. This was the first time we had
to do with such a denunciation and therefore
our Party and Government recommended vi-
gilance, prudence and the greatest cool-headed-
ness. It was quite obvious that with the passage of
time the situation was getting worse, although
the leadership in Moscow preserved the external
forms of «friendship».

For us, the leadership of the Communist
Party of the Soviet Union was finished. Khrush-
chev and the Khrushchevites were revisionists.
traitors. War would be declared. The time of the
declaration of war was only a matter of months.
while our relations continued to hang on a thread.

2
e
fias)

12. FROM BUCHAREST TO MOSCOW

February 1960: Mikoyan on the Chinese-
Soviet differences. Exacerbation of the sitnation
between Moscow and Beijing. The Bucharest
plot. Hysni Kapo does not bat an eyelid %t
Khrushchev’s pressure. The Soviets set their
secret agents in motion and establish the bloc-
kade to starve us. The struggle in the prepa-
ratory commission for the Moscow Meeting. Our
delegation in Moscow. Icy atmosphere. The
Soviet Gargantuas. Pressure, flattery, provoca-
tions again. The Kremlin marshals. A brief
meeting with Andropov. Khrushchev's tact.ic:
«There should be no polemics.» The mercenaries
react against our speech. The last talks with the

Khrushchevite renegades.

All the representatives of the communist and
workers’ parties, who were at the Congress t').f the
Rumanian Workers’ Party, know tl}e stand of our
Partv in connection with the diabolical plot which
the Khrushchevites had hatched up there. I shall
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not go into details here because Volume 19 of my
Works tells about the struggle of our Party,
which opened fire on the Khrushchevites and
fought with revolutionary Marxist-Leninist cou-
rage.

Judging from the aims which the Khrush-
chevites sought to achieve, politically, ideological-
ly and organizationally, the Bucharest Meeting
was a Trotskyite, anti-Marxist, revisionist putsch.
From the form of its organization too, this meet-
ing was a plot from start to finish.

The revisionist renegades needed another
meeting of international communism to gain ap-
proval for their old plan for the final legitimiza-
tion of modern revisionism, which was defeated
at the Moscow Meeting in 1957. Therefore they
raised the need for the organization of a new
meeting of communist and workers’ parties, where
we would allegedly discuss the «problems of
the movement», which had come up since the pre-
vious meeting in 1957. To this end, at the begin-
ning of June 1960, the Central Committee of the
Communist Party of the Soviet Union sent us a
letter in which it was proposed that the meeting of
the communist and workers’ parties of the coun-
tries of the socialist camp should be held, tak-
ing advantage of the occasion, of the 3rd Congress
of the Rumanian Workers’ Party. We replied to
this proposal in positive terms and decided to
send a delegation, which I was to head.
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Meanwhile we had been informed about the
disagreements which had developed between the
Soviets and the Chinese. In February that year,
Mehmet Shehu and I went to Moscow for a con-
sultation of the representatives of parties of the
socialist countries about the development of agri-
culture, as well as for a meeting of the political
consultative committee of the Warsaw Treaty. As
soon as we arrived at Moscow airport, a function-
ary of the apparatus of the Central Committee
of the Soviet party introduced himself to me.

«I have been sent by Comrade Mikoyan, who
wants to meet you personally tomorrow morning
about a very important matter,» he told me.

This urgency surprised me, because Mikoyan
could have met me later. We were to stay several
days in Moscow. Nevertheless I said:

«All right, but I shall bring Mehmet Shehu
with me.»

«They told me the invitation was only for
you,» replied Mikoyan’s chinovnik, but I re-
peated:

«No, I shall come together with Mehmet
Shehu.»

I insisted on not going alone because I gues-
sed that in this urgent meeting about a «very
important problem», Mikoyan would speak to me
about complicated and delicate matters. The fact
that I was well-acquainted with Mikoyan and his

395



anti-Marxist and anti-Albanian stands made me
all the more determined.

The next day we went to meet Mikoyan in
his villa in Leninskie Gori. After the usual greet-
ings, Anastasiy entered directly into the theme of
the talk:

«I am going to inform you about the disagree-
ments we have with the Communist Party of
China, I stress, with the Communist Party of Chi-
na. We had decided to tell these things only to the
first secretaries of the sister parties. Therefore, I
ask Comrade Mehmet, not to misunderstand us,
but this is what we had decided and not that we
did not trust him.»

«Not at all » replied Mehmet Shehu. «Indeed
I can leave.»

«No», said Mikoyan, «stay!»

Then Mikoyan spoke to us at length about
the differences with the Chinese party.

Mikoyan spun his tale in such a way as
to create the impression that they themselves
stood in principled Leninist positions and were
fighting the deviations of the Chinese leadership.
Amongst other things, Mikoyan used as argu-
ments several theses of the Chinese which, in
fact, for us, too, were not right from the view-
point of the Marxist-Leninist ideology. Thus,
Mikoyan mentioned the pluralist theories of «one
hundred flowers», the question of the cult of
Mao, the «great leap forward», etc.
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Of course, we had our own reservations
about these things, to the extent that we were ac-
quainted with the activity and concrete practice
of the Communist Party of China at that time.

«We have Marxism-Leninism and do not
need any other theory,» I told Mikoyan, «while
as to the ’one hundred flowers’ we have neither
accepted this view nor have we ever mentioned
it.»

Among other things, Mikoyan spoke about
Mao and compared him with Stalin, saying:

«The only difference between Mao Zedong
and Stalin is that Mao does not cut off the heads
of his opponents, while Stalin did. That is why
we could not oppose Stalin,» continued this re-
visionist. «At one time, together with Khrushchev
we had considered organizing a pokushenie®
against him, but we gave up the idea because we
were afraid that the people and the party would
not understand.»

We made no pronouncement about the prob-
lems which Mikoyan raised, and after we had
heard him out, I said:

«The major differences which have arisen
between you and the Communist Party of China
are very serious matters and we do not understand
why they have been allowed to reach this point.
This is neither the time nor the place to discuss

% assassination attempt (Russian in the original).
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them. We think that they should be solved be-
tween your parties.»

«That is what we shall do,» said Mikoyan,
and just as we were parting he asked us: «Please
don’t discuss these matters I raised with you, even
with the members of your Political Bureau.»

From this meeting we understood that the
differences and contradictions had come to a head
and were serious. Since we were already acquaint-
ed with Khrushchev and Mikoyan, we were
quite clear that they did not proceed from prin-
cipled positions in the accusations they were mak-
ing against the Chinese party.

As became even clearer later, the differences
were over a series of matters of principle towards
which, at that time, the Chinese seemed to main-
tain correct stands. Both in the official speeches
of the Chinese leaders and in their published
articles, especially in the one entitled «Long Live
Leninism», the Chinese party treated the problems
in a theoretically correct way and opposed the
Khrushchevites. This was particularly damaging
to the latter and therefore they were trying to
forestall the evil.

We discussed what Mikoyan told us only with
the comrades of the Bureau, because the matter
was extremely delicate and we had to act with
caution and patience. Then there was also the re-

quest of the Soviet leadership that this problem

should be kept secret.
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Thus, on the eve of the Bucharest Meeting
we had been informed of the Sino-Soviet differ-

ences.

At that time, I think, at the end of May or
the beginning of June, Gogo Nushi, who was in
Beijing at a meeting of the General Council of the
World Federation of the Trade Unions, informed
us by radiogram of the contradictions which had
erupted in Beijing between the Chinese and the
Soviet delegations. The Chinese delegation to the
meeting opposed many theses of the report which
was to be delivered, because in essence they were
nothing but Khrushchev’s revisionist theses about
«peaceful coexistence», war and peace, the sei-
zure of power in a «peaceful way», etc.

The Chinese invited the heads of several de-
legations (those who were members of the lead-
erships of the communist and workers’ parties)
to a dinner, which they wanted to turn into a
meeting, at which they would once again express
their views in connection with the erroneous
theses of the draft-report of the meeting. Liu
Shaoqi and Deng Xiaoping spoke first, followed
by Zhou Enlai.

Gogo Nushi's stand was that these things
should not be discussed at that gathering, but
should be settled through party channels, becau-
se the delegations had gone to attend the meeting
of the General Council of the Trade Unions and
not to: discuss those matters. Many of the other
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delegations were of the same view. As a result,
Zhou Enlai retreated and said: «All right, we
shall find another occasion.»

All these things, together with what Mikoyan
had told us in Moscow in February, as well as
the indirect attacks which were being exchanged
in the Soviet and Chinese press, showed that
matters were being exacerbated in a way which
was not at all Marxist-Leninist. The indications
were that the joint mecting which was to be held
in Bucharest, to which we had agreed to go,
might reach an impasse or be a complete failure.

In this situation, a few days after the first
letter we received another letter from the Central
Committee of the Soviet party, which said that
several parties proposed that the meeting of the
communist and workers’ parties should be post-
poned and that the parties of the countries of the
socialist camp should meet in Bucharest only to
set the date and place of the future meeting of all
parties. «Apart from setting the date and the pla-
ce, at this meeting,» said the Soviets, «opinions
could be exchanged without taking any decision.»
We agreed on this proposal and decided to send
a party delegation to Bucharest, headed by Com-
rade Hysni Kapo, to take part, both in the congress
of the Rumanian party and in the joint meeting to
set the date and the place for the coming meeting.

Why did I not go to Bucharest? I, personally,
and the other comrades of the Political Bureau
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who knew about it, suspected that the problem of
the differences which had emerged between China
and the Soviet Union would be discussed there.
We were not in agreement with such a thing be-
cause, first, we had heard only of one side of the
argument, the Soviet side, and were not ac-
guainted with the objections of the Chinese; se-
cond, the differences had to do with cardinal
problems of the theory and practice of the inter-
national communist movement and we could not
go to a meeting of such responsibility and make
pronouncements without discussing and deciding
our stand in the plenum of the Central Commit-
tee. However, we were unable to do this, because
such problems could not be put forward in the
Central Committee hastily. They had to be thra-
shed out thoroughly, had to be studied carefully,
and time was required for this.

Therefore our Party sent Comrade Hysni
Kapo to Bucharest to discuss only the date of the
future meeting, as well as to take part in the free
exchange of views on problems of the interna-
tional situation after the failure of the Paris Con-
ference!, as our parties had agreed.

As we saw later, the Bucharest Meeting was

1 The conference of the heads of the states of the Soviet
Union, France, the USA, and Great Britain was to be held
in May 16, 1960, but it failed to take place as a result of the
downing of the American «U-2» spy plane in Soviet air space
by the Soviet armed forces on May 1, 1960.
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to be transformed into a piot, which the Khrush-
chevites had prepared in advance. In our direc-
tion, too, intensified efforts were made, some-
times openly, sometimes in disguised form (be-
cause the Khrushchevites knew how our Party
adhered to principle), in order to involve us in
that plot.

When Comrade Gogo Nushi was returning
to Albania from Beijing, in Moscow Brezhnev,
who at that time had become chairman of the
Presidium of the Supreme Soviet, sought a meet-
ing with him. Gogo met Brezhnev, who spoke to
him at length about the differences with the Chi-
nese.

Four to five days before the meeting in Bu-
charest began, when Hysni and I were discussing
the stand he was to take in the congress of the
Rumanian party, we received a radiogram from
Mehmet Shehu, who had been for some days in
Moscow for medical treatment. In the radiogram
he informed us about an unexpected <«visit»
which Kosygin had paid him.

He had spoken for an hour and a half about
the contradictions they had with the Communist
Party of China. Mehmet Shehu listened and lis-
tened and then said: ;

«All these things you have told me are very
grave. We are astonished that they have been
allowed to become as serious as this.»

Kosygin had pointed out:

402

«We are not going to make any concession
at all,» and had added: «We were very pleased
with the courageous, heroic stand of Comrade
Belishova in the talks with the Chinese in Beij-
ing. The counsellor of our embassy in Beijing in-
formed us of what she had told him after the
talks with the Chinese.»

Mehmet Shehu still had no knowledge of
these actions and intrigues of Liri Belishova, but
he told Kosygin coldly and bluntly:

«I do not know what Liri Belishova has told
you, I know that when we talked with Mikoyan,
he instructed us not to discuss these matters with
anyone.»

Now everything had been made clear to us:
Khrushchev was preparing the Bucharest plot
and wanted to manipulate us, to compel us at all
costs to agree with his revisionist views and
stands.

Here in Tirana, too, the Soviet Ambassador,
Ivanov, came almost every other day, sometimes
to bring some book catalogue, sometimes for some
unimportant information, but in fact, he came to
sound us out, to learn whether I would go to Bu-
charest, what stand we would take, etc., etc.
However I sent him off with the usual talk with-
out telling him anything apart from what was
known officially.

I remember that in the middle of June, Iva-
nov came to me in my office to «inform» me of
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a news item which I had heard two or three hours
earlier over the radio. I understood that he was
after something else, as usual. It was the period
when the Soviets and Khrushchev were giving
great publicity to the Paris Summit Conference,
which was to bring «peace» to mankind. If I am
not_mistaken, Khrushchev had already gone to
Parls,_ although the U-2 incident, in which an
Arpencan spy-plane was shot down by a Soviet
missile, had occurred. d

«What is your opinion of the Paris Confe-
rence?» Ivanov asked me,
_«Since they have gone there let them meet,»

1 sa1c}, «but in our opinion nothing will come Olilt
of this conference. The imperialists are what they
have always been, aggressive and dangerous to
the peoples and the socialist countries. Thus, I do
not think that the Paris Conference will yield any
result.»

‘ After two days or so the conference burst
like a bubble, because the Americans not only did
not apologize, but, on the contrary, declared that
they would continue their espionage, and Khrush-
chev was obliged to go home after hurling a few
«smoke bombs» against the imperialists. Ivanov
came back and said to me:

«Things turned out just as you said, Com-
rade Enver! Did you read Khrushchev’s state-
ments ?» '

«I read them,» I replied. «And that is how
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he should always speak against the imperialists,
because they have not become ‘reasonable’ and
'peace-loving’, and never can do s0.»

Such was the situation on the eve of the Bu-
charest meeting, which, from beginning to end,
was to remain a blot on the history of the inter-
national communist and workers’ movement. The
Khrushchevites were organizing it allegedly to set
the date of the future meeting, but the setting of
the date was a formality. The Khrushchevites
had another objective. What was important to
them was the taking of a series of decisions to go
«as a bloe» to the future meeting of all parties.
«As a bloc», according to them, meant to go clo-
sely united around the Khrushchevite revisionists
in order to give unquestioning support to their
betrayal of the Marxist-Leninist theory and the
correct revolutionary Marxist-Leninist practice in
all international and national problems. In short,
Khrushchev thought that the time had come to
establish his iron law over the herd he wanted to
command.

However, the Khrushchevites were seeing
and were convinced that two parties, in particu-
lar, the Party of Labour of Albania and the Com-
munist Party of China, were not joining this herd,
which they wanted to have completely under their
control. What is more, in our resolute and princi-
pled stand they saw the danger of the exposure
and defeat of their secret counter-revolutionary
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plans. Therefore Khrushchev had made his cal-
culations like this: in order to make the meeting
of all parties a meeting of «unity» and «solidari-
ty», that is, total submission, accounts first had to
be settled with Albania and China. Since he was
an inveterate revisionist, Khrushchev’s logic went
even further: «As to the Party of Labour of Al-
bania,» he deceived himself, «I shall leave it aside
for the time being, will not attack it directly,
because after all it is a small party of a small
country. The Albanians are stubborn,» he
thought, «they will get angry and jump up and
down, but in the end they will surrender, because
they have no one else to turn to. Whatever they
do, I have them in my pocket.» This was his re-
visionist superpower logic. China remained the
urgent problem for Khrushchev. This is how he
saw things: «Either China will submit and quiet-
ly and tamely join the herd, or I shall condemn it
and throw it out of the camp forthwith. On this
way I condemn China as a splitter, and neutralize
the Party of Labour of Albania, and I tighten the
screws on any other head-strong element who
wants to kick out.» In short, Khrushchev had to
have a preliminary meeting to clamp down on the
«disobedient», so that the future meeting would
be crowned by «unity» without any splits. This
is why he wanted and organized the meeting at
Bucharest.

All the parties of the European people’s de-
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mocracies sent their first secretaries to Bu?hallr'(zigtci
therefore Khrushchev was not pleased that I di
E %?\R?gl? fll;}:;qt Comrade Enver come? Could
you inform him that he should come?»
reni told him: !
E(}}iﬁ}ade Enver is not coming now. He wﬂ;
come to the meeting of pgrties, the time an
place of which we shall decide here.» 4
At first we knew nothing about vs:-'hat Khrush-
chev and company were hatching up in Bucf}ares‘t.
However, the first radiograms from Hys&;qsoo:;
arrived. All we had foresecen was being con[u}ne 4
The Bucharest Meeting, which set out to decide a
date, was ending up in a crusade. Khrushch.e\;
insisted that the disagreements bctween th? Somed
Union and China should be t*alsec'l and dlscusii
at the meeting, of course, in the direction and th'e
wav he wanted. «Decisions can be taken» gt {h 1§[
meveting, said Khrushchev, and demande‘ % k%s
the other parties speak about the «grave mls a I;,d
of China», express solidarity with the Som‘c.ts 31:._
«come out with a common stant;i».. I was cor?% }(;
tely convinced that we were facing one gl tele
most perfidious and savage plo?s_ and 1mfr:e iately
raised the question in the Pol}tlcal Bgma}l. ;
There were days and nights of cedsehe?,s,
careful, intensive work, weﬂ—conmdt_fred anél tb 1&:
shed out from all angles. The dice had bee
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cast, the «peace» with the Khrushchevites had
come to an end. They had opened fire and we
would reply to their fire with all our strength.
Now there was not and could not be any further
conciliation and tactical «agreement» with the
Khrushchevites. The great fight had begun. It
would be a great and extremely difficult fight,
full of sacrifices and repercussions, but we would
carry on to the end with confidence and opti-
mism, because we knew that right was on our
side, on the side of Marxism-Leninism.

Everyone knows how the meeting developed:
a voluminous material from the Soviet against
China was handed out quickly, it was decided
that the meeting of the parties of the camp would
be held a few hours later, and then all the heads
of the delegations of the communist and workers’
parties that took part in the congress of the Ru-
manian party would be brought together and
Khrushchev would confront them with his desire
that the «Communist Party of China should be
condemned as anti-Marxist, as a Trotskyite par-
ty,» etc., etc.

In the former meeting which was organized
by Khrushchev, Comrade Hysni Kapo, in the
name of the Party and on the basis of detailed
directives, which we sent him every day and
frequently twice a day, attacked Khrushchev and
the others for their anti-Marxist aims and the
conspiratorial methods which they used, defend-
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ed the Communist Party of Ch_ina and opposed
the continuation of such a meeting.

Khrushchev did not expect this. In the m'eeL~
ings which were held he tz_ll.ked‘alll‘ the time,
stamping his feet and thu_r_npmg; h__l_s fist, beca_lme
angry and spluttered with 1_11d1gnat1on. Bl__lt- _Comjf
rade Hysni Kapo, armed with the correct line o
our Paurty and the special instructions lxc ser;t
him continually, and with his cl’uara_stemsblc_ cool-
ness and courage, not only did not }-*_110.1(51 , but gave
Khrushchev as good as he got with his cutting
fepll?fl. appearance Khrushchev aimed his n\l